
 

 
 

Peter Sloman 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | www.facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | www.twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 

To: All Members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

 
 

 Our Ref:  
Your Ref:  
 
Direct:  0118 937 2112 
e-mail: 
nicky.simpson@reading.gov.uk 
 
30 September 2021 

 
Your contact is: Nicky Simpson - Committee Services 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 8 OCTOBER 2021 
 
A meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on Friday, 8 October 2021 at 2.00 
pm online via Microsoft Teams. The Agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
 
AGENDA Page No 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

2. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 JULY 2021 
 

5 - 16 

3. QUESTIONS 
 

 

 Consideration of formally submitted questions from members of the 
public or Councillors under Standing Order 36. 
 

 

4. PETITIONS 
 

 

 Consideration of any petitions submitted under Standing Order 36 in 
relation to matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties 
which have been received by Head of Legal & Democratic Services no 
later than four clear working days before the meeting. 
 

 

5. IMPACT OF COVID-19 IN READING 
 

17 - 40 

 Presentations will be given on the impact of Covid-19 in Reading  
 

 

6. FLU VACCINE 2021-22 OVERVIEW 
 

41 - 46 

 A report detailing the plan for the 2021/22 Flu Vaccine Campaign and 
the uptake in the 2020/21 Flu season.  
 

 



7. "BUILDING BERKSHIRE TOGETHER" - UPDATE ON ROYAL BERKSHIRE 
HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT 

 

Verbal 
Report 

 The Programme Director will give an update on progress at the 
meeting.  
 

 

8. BERKSHIRE WEST HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY 2021-30 
 

47 - 138 

 A report presenting the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
for 2021-30, for the Board to endorse and recommend to full Council 
for adoption. 
 

 

9. REFRESH OF THE FUTURE IN MIND BERKSHIRE WEST LOCAL 
TRANSFORMATION PLAN, IMPROVING THE RESPONSE TO CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLES EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH 

 

139 - 154 

 A report providing an overview of the refreshed Future in Mind Local 
Transformation Plan (LTP), giving an update on how the local system is 
improving the emotional wellbeing and mental health of all Children 
and Young People (CYP) across Reading, West Berkshire, and 
Wokingham. 
 

 

10. SEND STRATEGY AND INSPECTION UPDATE 
 

155 - 252 

 A report providing a brief update on the updated SEND Strategy 2022-
2027 which incorporates findings from the recent local area inspection 
of SEND in Reading and shares a copy of the letter from Ofsted 
regarding this inspection. 
 

 

11. BERKSHIRE WEST STOP SMOKING SERVICE AND E-CIGARETTE 
POSITION STATEMENT 

 

253 - 294 

 A report giving an overview of the new Berkshire West Stop Smoking 
Service which commences on 1 October 2021, setting out the context 
for commissioning this service as part of the wider system approach to 
Tobacco Control, the key features of the new service model and the 
plans being developed to ensure the service is aligned with the new 
NHS Tobacco Dependency Treatment services currently being 
developed.  It also includes a description of the recent position 
statement on e-cigarettes, produced by the South East Association of 
Directors of Public Health.  
 

 

12. BERKSHIRE SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY 2021-26 
 

295 - 344 

 A report presenting the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26 
for approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

 

13. ICP UNIFIED EXECUTIVE - SEPTEMBER CHAIR'S REPORT 
 

345 - 350 

 A report giving an update on discussions and developments from the 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Unified Executive meeting, the 
most senior ICP meeting within Berkshire West. 
 

 

14. INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 

351 - 368 



 A report giving an update on the Integration Programme 
– progress made within the Programme itself and 
performance against the national BCF targets for the 
financial year so far. 
 

 

15. HEALTH AND WELLBEING DASHBOARD - OCTOBER 2021 
 

369 - 408 

 A report presenting an update on the Health and Wellbeing 
Dashboard, which sets out local trends to provide the Board 
with an overview of performance and progress towards 
achieving local goals as set out in the 2017-20 Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Reading. 
 

 

16. DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 21 JANUARY 2022 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

Present:  

Councillor Hoskin 
(Chair) 

Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport, Reading Borough 
Council (RBC) 

Mandeep Bains Chief Executive, Healthwatch Reading (substituting for David 
Shepherd) 

Councillor Brock Leader of the Council, RBC 
Andy Ciecierski Clinical Director for Caversham Primary Care Network and 

Clinical Lead for Urgent Care, Berkshire West CCG 
Councillor Ennis Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, RBC 
Deborah Glassbrook Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children 

(BFfC) 
Paul Illman West Hub Group Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service 
Meradin Peachey Director of Public Health Berkshire West 
Rachel Spencer  Chief Executive, Reading Voluntary Action  
Katie Summers Berkshire West Vaccination Lead and Director of Place 

Partnerships, Berkshire West CCG 
Councillor Terry  Lead Councillor for Children, RBC 

Also in attendance: 
 

Kielan Arblaster Policy Officer, Alzheimers’ Society 
Katie Badger Public Health Programme Officer, RBC 
Niki Barton Strategic Communications Manager, RBC 
Ramona Bridgman Chair, Reading Families Forum 
Karen Buckley Acting Consultant in Public Health, RBC 
Niki Cartwright Interim Director of Joint Commissioning, Berkshire West CCG 
Dom Hardy Chief Operating Officer, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 

(RBFT) 
Amanda McDonnell Media & Communications Manager, RBC 
Steve McManus Chief Executive, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 
Councillor Mpofu-
Coles 

RBC 

Gail Muirhead Prevention Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 
David Munday Consultant in Public Health, RBC 
Councillor 
O’Connell 

RBC 

Bev Nicholson Integration Programme Manager, RBC 
Jo Rice Dementia Connect Local Services Manager, Alzheimers’ Society 
Nicky Simpson Committee Services, RBC 
Laura Vicinanza  Regional Public Affairs and Campaigns Officer, Alzheimer’s 

Society 
Melissa Wise Deputy Director for Commissioning & Transformation, RBC 
Sarah Wise Primary Care Contract Manager, Berkshire West CCG 

Apologies: 
 

Seona Douglas Director of Adult Care & Health Services, RBC 
Teresa Bell Independent Chair, West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults 

Partnership Board 
David Shepherd Chair, Healthwatch Reading 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

1. MINUTES  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2021 were confirmed as a correct record. 

2. QUESTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER 36 

The following question was asked by Tom Lake in accordance with Standing Order 36: 
 
a) GP Phone Systems 
 

Last November/December South Reading Patient Voice carried out a survey of 
the experiences of older patients with regard to the new electronic forms of 
access to GP surgeries. 
 
In the course of that work we discovered that a couple of pharmacies that we 
visited had patients who were failing to obtain repeat prescriptions for long term 
conditions, even to the extent of abandoning their medications. Difficulties in 
contacting their GP surgeries, to arrange repeat prescription or required 
medication reviews were the cause of this difficulty.  We contacted Berkshire 
West CCG about this. 
 
We would like to congratulate Reading Healthwatch on their investigation of this 
problem, which, as the paper on today's agenda shows, is illustrated by plentiful, 
eloquent evidence. 
 
We would like to draw the Board's attention to the provision of telephone systems 
as a Systems Design problem. An inadequate system can leave its controllers 
unaware of the harsh difficulties being experienced by its users. It may be asking 
too much of a GP or practice manager to be the designer of a system which 
avoids such indirect communication bottlenecks. 
 
Will the Board urgently call for an external review of the telephone systems in 
use at our GP surgeries to check that they present timely and representative 
management information in an easily accessed and digestible form so that 
patients’ difficulties in gaining access are clear to the surgery management and 
their PPGs? Also to check capacity against demand. 
 

REPLY by the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board (Councillor Hoskin): 
 
Thank you for your question Mr Lake and I’m also very grateful for the attention 
that South Reading Patient Voice has been paying to this issue and ones about 
access to primary care in Reading.  
 
In my role as chair of this board and Reading’s lead councillor for Health I am 
taking a keen interest in the developing picture of access to primary care 
services in the changed world that the Covid pandemic ushered in. Work is taking 
place more widely around this and I am keen that this Board, the council, 
partners and residents input into that work. 
 
A telephony project is underway which will evaluate the platforms being used 
by GP Practices with the aim of identifying the best telephony solutions to be 
deployed across sites.  Once deployed it is envisaged that this will support 

Page 6



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

collaborative working across practices and Primary Care Networks, improve 
demand and capacity capabilities as well as greater resilience within primary 
care.  The initial evaluation stage is due to be completed by March 2022. 

3. IMPACT OF COVID-19 IN READING 

David Munday, Niki Barton, Andy Ciecierski and Dom Hardy gave presentations and 
answered questions on the latest impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Reading and how 
various services had responded. The presentation slides had been included in the 
agenda papers. 

The presentations covered the following areas: 

 Public Health information with details of the latest data on Covid-19, which 
included: 

o Data for Reading on confirmed cases of COVID-19 per 100,000 population 
compared to the South East and England and mortality per 100,000 
population, as well as recent data on cases by age group and school-based 
cases, noting that the latest data was now showing 4.9% of individuals 
testing positive and 239.2 cases per 100,000 population, so both figures 
had reduced in the previous week.  The highest numbers of cases were in 
the 19-24 age group and, although this had reduced in the most recent 
data, as restrictions were lifting, it was the lower age groups who did not 
have full vaccination cover whose numbers were higher.  

o Information on Covid vaccination in Reading, listing vaccination sites and 
showing the increase in vaccination rates, with Reading coverage 
improving over time and getting closer to the national and nearest 
neighbour comparators. 

o Information about Step 4 in the Recovery Roadmap, based on government 
announcements on 5 and 6 July 2021. 

 Communications Approach on Covid, giving examples of local communications 
planned from 19 July 2021, when Covid restrictions would be eased. 

 NHS Berkshire West CCG – information on the impact on Primary Care Services, 
including: 

o Increases in demand and changes to Access routes to GP services and the 
effects of these. 

o An update on plans for recovery, including the step down of the 
Respiratory Hub and planning for the autumn booster vaccinations. 

o Continued work on remedial actions to address Primary Care demand. 

 Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust - information on the current position and 
future modelling of Covid admissions and diagnoses and an update on key issues 
for the Trust, noting that there was currently a minimal Covid impact, with few 
admissions and low Covid hospital bed use, but a significant increase in A&E 
attendances and that good headway was being made on getting through the 
backlog of elective work.  

Resolved – That the presentations be noted. 

Page 7



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

4. "FROM DIAGNOSIS TO END OF LIFE: THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF DEMENTIA 
CARE AND SUPPORT" ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY REPORT AND IMPLICATIONS FOR 
READING 

Karen Buckley submitted a report with, attached, a report by the Alzheimer’s Society 
“From Diagnosis to End of Life: The Lived Experiences of Dementia Care and Support”.  
The covering report summarised current work in Reading on dementia and set out 
recommendations in the report to consider and take forward in Reading.   

The report had appended:  
Appendix 1 - Alzheimer’s Society Report Executive Summary 
Appendix 2 - Alzheimer’s Society full report 
Appendix 3 – Alzheimer’s Society Local Authority Briefing “Recovery 

Planning for People Affected by Dementia” - June 2021 

Kielan Arblaster (Policy Officer), Jo Rice (Dementia Connect Local Services Manager) & 
Laura Vicinanza (Regional Public Affairs and Campaigns Officer) from the Alzheimer’s 
Society attended the meeting and Laura Vicinanza presented the Alzheimer’s Society 
report.  

The report from the Alzheimer’s Society looked at four stages of NHS England’s ‘Well 
Pathway for Dementia’ – Diagnosing Well, Supporting Well, Living Well and Dying Well. 
It explored in detail what NICE and the Government said people in England should be 
receiving at each stage of the dementia pathway and benchmarked it against the 
experiences of people affected by dementia.  

The report explained that the Society had spoken with 75 people affected by dementia 
to better understand their experiences of care and support from pre-diagnosis to end 
of life. They had also spoken with a range of health and care professionals to identify 
the barriers to providing effective care.  The research had revealed that people were 
not consistently receiving high quality, integrated care and support that enabled them 
to live well, with a recurring theme at each stage of the pathway being a sense of 
disjointed, fragmented care. Whilst there was good practice happening in parts of the 
country, and significant progress had been made on improving dementia care and 
support over the years, there was still work to be done. 

The key finding was to improve the quality, consistency and integration of care for 
people living with dementia to better enable them to live well. However, the research 
had been done pre-COVID and so it was recognised that the dementia care pathway also 
needed to be improved as services continued to respond and recover from COVID.  The 
report listed detailed issues and findings and set out recommendations for each of the 
four stages of the pathway; diagnosing well, supporting well, living well, and end of 
life.  

The covering report stated that making Reading a place where people could live well 
with dementia was one of the priorities under the current Reading Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy. Whilst some of the work on dementia had been impacted by COVID, efforts 
had continued to support diagnosis and support people with dementia and their carers. 
Services included memory clinics, dementia champions, dementia friends, dementia 
cafes and strategic work. However, there was more that could be done in Reading and, 
as response and recovery continued, the recommendations in the national report 
needed to inform the dementia actions in the new Berkshire West Joint Health and 

Page 8



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

Wellbeing Strategy. It was also noted that there was an existing Berkshire West 
Dementia Strategy but this was now out of date and needed to be refreshed. 

It was noted at the meeting that there could be a big variation in dementia diagnosis 
rates in communities depending on ethnicity and other social and economic factors such 
as deprivation.  For example, BAME communities tended to have lower diagnosis rates 
and in some communities there were no words for dementia and those words which 
were used were stigmatised and taboo. It would therefore be important to consider 
how addressing these issues would be factored in when developing the local dementia 
strategy. Jo Rice reported that there was an empowerment group of people with 
dementia in Berkshire West who could be involved in dialogue on and co-production of 
a new Dementia Strategy.  Also, as the Manager of the local Dementia Care Advisory 
Service, she was already assisting in the creation of a dementia action plan in West 
Berkshire and she would be happy to help with a Reading plan. 

Resolved -   

(1) That the report and the recommendations in the Alzheimer’s Society 
report be noted and further conversations and work with the Alzheimer’s 
Society be welcomed; 

(2) That it be endorsed that dementia would be included as a theme within 
the action plan that would sit under the new Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
under Priority 2 “Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes 
to live healthy lives”; 

(3) That it be endorsed that further work be carried out to refresh the 
Berkshire West Dementia Strategy and action plan; 

(4) That it be endorsed that the development of the Health & Wellbeing 
Action Plan should also consider Covid recovery, supporting people living 
with dementia and their carers to recover from the effects of the 
pandemic. 

5. ROYAL BERKSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE - READING BOROUGH LOCAL 
SAFETY PLAN 2021/22 

Paul Illman and Gail Muirhead gave a presentation on the Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue 
Service’s (RBFRS) Reading Borough Local Safety Plan for 2021/22. 

The presentation covered the following areas: 

 Reading’s Profile – noting that people and communities facing health, financial 
and housing challenges were more likely to have fires in their homes and become 
injured and therefore the need for a focus on fire prevention 

 Incidents Attended – RBFRS had attended 1,578 incidents in Reading Borough in 
2020, covering fires, road traffic collisions, other incidents and false alarms.   

 Local Safety Plan – analysis of local risks, data, demographics and trends had 
been done to create a targeted plan to reduce risks from fire and other 
emergencies 

 Preventing Fires in the Home – mostly cooking-related or electrical fires 

 Preventing Other Fires – working in partnership with other agencies to reduce 
deliberate fires and threats of arson 

Page 9



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

 Reducing the numbers of fires – listing the ways RBFRS would do this, including 
delivering safe and well visits, fire safety education and targeted campaigns and 
using events and social media to reduce electrical and cooking fires 

 Preventing other emergencies – road safety and water safety 

Gail Muirhead said that RBFRS was working closely with partners to raise awareness of 
water safety.  The number of drownings had increased in lockdown as people had visited 
waterways rather than going on holiday and people were expected to increasingly visit 
waterways and surrounding areas as lockdown eased and people needed to be more 
aware of potential risks, such as jumping off bridges.  A Water Safety Partnership had 
recently been established in West Berkshire and it was suggested that a similar 
partnership could be set up in Reading. 

Resolved -   

(1) That the presentation be noted; 

(2) That the West Berkshire Water Safety Partnership model be explored to 
see how it was working and what could work for a Reading Water Safety 
Partnership. 

6. BERKSHIRE WEST JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY – UPDATE ON 
DEVELOPMENT 

Further to Minute 6 of the meeting held on 22 January 2021, David Munday submitted 
an update report on the development of a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
Berkshire West, including the process by which five priorities had been identified for 
the new strategy and giving details of the latest consultation on the draft strategy. 

The report had appended: 

 Appendix 1 – the Berkshire West Health & Wellbeing Strategy Public Engagement 
Report 

 Appendix 2 – the draft Berkshire West Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

The report explained that public engagement, on the shortlist of potential priorities for 
the strategy which had been set out in the report to the 22 January 2021 meeting, had 
been carried out between 4 December 2020 and 28 February 2021 and the following 
five priorities had been selected through this engagement process: 

 Reduce the difference in health between different groups of people; 

 Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes; 

 Help children and families during the early years of life; 

 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people; 

 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults. 

There had been consensus across the three boroughs on the top five priorities from the 
shortlist and a draft strategy had now been developed around this selection of strategic 
priorities.  There was ongoing engagement to develop Delivery Groups and Action Plans 
for each of the three localities, in support of the new Strategy, and these would then 
be brought to the Health & Wellbeing Boards for adoption.   

Page 10



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

The report gave details of the online survey on the proposed priorities for the new 
strategy, which had been hosted on West Berkshire Council’s website with links 
published on the Reading and Wokingham local authority websites.  It stated that a 
formal public consultation on the draft strategy itself had been launched on 23 June 
2021 and would be running for six weeks through to 3 August 2021. As previously, an 
online survey was being hosted by West Berkshire Council and Reading Borough Council 
had published and promoted the link. Given the breadth of previous engagement, it 
appeared unlikely that the further consultation would indicate any need to make 
substantial changes to the priorities in the strategy, but feedback would be used to 
refine language, clarify aims and so help with the development of Action Plans. 

Resolved -  That the progress towards finalising a Berkshire West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-30 be noted. 

7. HANGING ON - A REPORT ON GP PHONE ACCESS FOR READING PEOPLE IN THE 
SPRING OF 2021 – HEALTHWATCH REPORT 

Mandeep Bains submitted a report setting out the findings of an online survey conducted 
by Healthwatch Reading between 25 March and 25 April 2021, which aimed to find out 
what was happening when local people phoned their doctor’s surgery during the latter 
stages of England’s third Covid lockdown. 

The survey had been run at the request of Healthwatch’s board of volunteers with an 
interest in health and care services after they had raised concerns that people were 
experiencing long waits trying to get through to book appointments, despite the local 
NHS telling the public that GPs were ‘still there for you’ during the pandemic, and the 
survey had been extended to investigate GP phone access more widely.  The survey had 
been run online but giving people the option to phone in their answers if they did not 
have internet access or needed help completing it. 

The survey had been answered by 339 people, mostly Reading residents. The responses 
had shown more than half had found phoning their GP surgery difficult, with the 
majority of negative experiences reported by people living south of the river. Many 
comments of frustration about phone systems had been received, as well as some 
worrying case studies about barriers to face-to-face appointments with GPs that 
affected people’s health. A smaller number of people feared that Covid was being used 
as an excuse to normalise phone-only access to doctors.   

Positive comments about certain practices had also been received, praising polite and 
helpful staff and ‘amazing’ doctors and clinical care. 

Full details of the survey findings were set out in the report, including case studies and 
quotes from patients, as well as discussion of the results, covering: 

 Survey method and sample 

 Comparisons with other research 

 Covid pressures and resources 

 Phone systems, triage and online access 

 Health inequalities 

 Lack of face-to-face consultations  

Page 11



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

As the success of the Covid vaccination programme was helping open up society, 
Healthwatch Reading recommended that GP services started offering more face-to-face 
appointments and opened up access routes such as online booking for routine 
appointments in advance. If changed ways of working were to become permanent, 
these needed to be communicated clearly to the public to help reframe the relationship 
between doctors and patients in a post-lockdown world. 

The report set out detailed recommendations to Berkshire West CCG, as the 
commissioners of GP services in Reading, and it had appended a response from the 
Director of Primary Care at Berkshire West CCG, addressing each of the 
recommendations and setting out the work being carried out to improve telephone 
access to primary care and further actions being taken following the survey report to 
improve patient experience in this area.  Reference was also made at the meeting to 
the question on GP Phone Systems asked earlier in the meeting and the reply (see 
Minute 2 above). 

Resolved -   

(1) That the report be noted; 

(2) That further information on how access to Primary Care was developing 
be requested to be submitted to a future meeting of the Board or to the 
Council’s Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Education Committee 
as the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

8. HEALTHWATCH READING ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 

Mandeep Bains submitted the 2020/21 Annual Report for Healthwatch Reading, which 
gave details of the work carried out by Healthwatch Reading in 2020/21. 

The report explained who Healthwatch Reading were, set out highlights from the year, 
and detailed how Healthwatch had responded to the Covid-19 pandemic, including: 

 Supporting asylum seekers placed in a Reading hotel and writing a report on their 
experiences 

 Running targeted Zoom sessions about Covid vaccinations  

 Carrying out a Lockdown 1 Survey 

It gave details of how Healthwatch had provided people with information, advice and 
advocacy, striving to provide advocacy in challenging times. 

The report also set out how Healthwatch had worked hard to influence the shape of 
future health and care services, including: 

 Holding Reading focus groups to inform a new Berkshire West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

 Contributing to a five-borough Healthwatch-led review of health inequalities 

 Responding with other local Healthwatch to Care Quality Commission plans on 
future regulation 

 Jointly responding with other local Healthwatch to NHS England plans for 
integrated care systems 

 Jointly responding with other local Healthwatch to government plans for A&E 
targets. 

Page 12



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

The report also gave details of Healthwatch Reading’s finances, and set out its priorities 
for 2021/22: 

 Understanding access to GPs as we move out of pandemic restrictions 

 Ensuring people’s voices are heard as commissioners focus on health inequalities 

 Launching a hospital discharge experience project to see if services join up for 
people 

Resolved -  

(1) That the report be noted; 

(2) That the Health and Wellbeing Board’s thanks to the Healthwatch Reading 
team for their hard work, flexibility and responsiveness be recorded and 
passed to the team. 

9. UPDATE REPORT ON THE BREATHING SPACE (MENTAL HEALTH CRISIS CAFÉ) 
FOR BERKSHIRE WEST  

Further to Minute 7 of the meeting on 9 October 2020, Nicki Cartwright submitted a 
report giving an update on the progress made in setting up a Breathing Space (Mental 
Health Crisis Café) in Berkshire West and the services that would be offered. 

The report explained that the review of mental health crisis services, which had been 
carried out from July 2019 to March 2020 and reported to the Board on 9 October 2020, 
had recommended setting up a Breathing Space for people in mental health crisis and 
the report set out why the service was needed.   

The Breathing Space had been co-designed in partnership with people who would use 
the service and with the support and advice of Mental Health professionals. A service 
specification for the pilot site of the Breathing Space service had been drafted and 
approved and the procurement process had been completed in May 2021, with the 
contract being awarded to Together for Mental Wellbeing, a national charity which 
Berkshire West CCG already commissioned to provide local services at Berkshire West 
Your Way, working alongside people with mental health issues to help them lead 
fulfilling and independent lives. 

The contract would start at the end of July 2021, premises had been obtained in Friar 
Street and the provider was furnishing them; it was reported at the meeting that the 
service would be opening at the end of September 2021. 

‘The Breathing Space’ would be open each Friday to Monday in the evening (5pm – 
11pm) including bank holidays, offering short term crisis support to people who had 
been advised to attend by a professional or who wanted to get in touch directly. It 
would provide a safe, supportive, inclusive and homely environment where people 
could talk to others who had had mental health problems and gain support by sharing 
their experiences. 

The Breathing Space was for all adult residents of the three local authorities in 
Berkshire West, who were registered with a Berkshire West GP. There was, however, a 
‘no wrong door approach’ to access, which meant that any young person (under 18) 
accessing the service would be offered immediate support according to operational 
protocols and signposted to appropriate Children and Young Person’s services. 

Page 13



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

There would be a minimum of three non-clinical staff at the premises at all times, 
including a Team Leader and two Peer support workers. The service would be open to 
and encourage additional volunteers. The staff would have direct access to Crisis Line 
and Mental Health Practitioners at Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust (BHFT) and 
this post was currently being recruited by BHFT and should be operational by 
September 2021.  BHFT were supporting the provider with the setup of the service and 
arranging the necessary joint working and to access clinical notes and support, 
including managing of risk. 

The model would use a recovery approach, which encouraged self-care and well-being. 
It would offer 1:1 therapeutic support for all service users including a digital offer for 
remote areas. There would be refreshments available, and people could also use the 
space to have a break from the outside world when all became too much, with 
volunteer peer supporters, who had all had their own experiences of mental health 
crisis, available for support and to listen. 

Visitors would be helped to access community resources such as the recovery colleges 
or secondary care mental health services, and it was hoped the service would provide 
better and timely support for people experiencing mental distress, as well as help ease 
pressure on the hospital’s Emergency Department and other emergency services. 

The CCG would collect and use qualitative feedback and quantitative reports to 
improve the service and understand the impact it was having on the wider crisis 
response and the demography and social make-up of people accessing the space, to 
aid future planning and interventions.  The aim was to support a 15% reduction in 
urgent mental health. 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

10. CQC READING LOCAL SYSTEM REVIEW (JANUARY 2019) – ACTION PLAN 
CLOSURE 

Melissa Wise presented a report which explained that the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) had led a Local System Review across Health and Social Care system in Reading 
during October 2018. The focus of the Review had been on services for older people 65 
and over. Progress on the resulting Action Plan, produced in January 2019, had been 
reported previously to the Health and Wellbeing Board and the actions agreed with 
system partners had been completed and the Action Plan was now closed. 

The final update would be submitted to the Department of Health & Social Care with 
a recommendation to close the CQC Action Plan, which was attached at Appendix 1 to 
the report. 

Resolved -  

(1) That it be noted that the actions identified from the CQC System Review 
had been completed; 

(2) That it be noted that the final System Action Plan would be sent to the 
Department of Health & Social Care with a recommendation that the 
review be closed. 

Page 14



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

11. ICP UNIFIED EXCECUTIVE – JUNE CHAIR’S REPORT  

Andy Ciecierski presented a report on a new standing item for the Board, giving an 
update from the Chair of the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Unified Executive on 
discussions and developments at the most recent meeting of the Unified Executive, 
held on 10 June 2021. 

The report addressed the following key points: 

 Update from BOB ICS System Leader’s Group 

 ICP Priorities 2021/22 

 Future Development of Place 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

12. BETTER CARE FUND 2020/21 END OF YEAR RETURN 

Bev Nicholson submitted a report outlining the progress made and assurance of spend 
in respect of the Better Care Fund (BCF) 2020/21 in the form of an End of Year Return. 
The report provided assurance that the BCF National Conditions had been met in 
respect of the BCF funding and the return had been submitted in line with the deadline 
of 24 May 2021. 

The report stated that the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health, Seona 
Douglas, in consultation with the Lead Member for Health, Wellbeing and Sport, Cllr 
Graeme Hoskin (Chair of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Board) had  approved 
the return on behalf of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Board and it had been 
submitted by the deadline.   

The Better Care Fund End of Year return for the period from 1 March 2020 to 31 March 
2021 was attached at Appendix 1. 

Resolved -  

(1) That the contents of the End of Year Return for Better Care Fund 202/21 
and the compliance with the BCF National Conditions be noted; 

(2) That it be noted that the return had been formally signed off and 
submitted by the deadline of 24 May 2021. 

13. INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 

Bev Nicholson submitted a report giving an update on the Integration Programme and 
on progress made against the delivery of the national Better Care Fund (BCF) targets 
for the financial year so far.  The Reading Integration Board (RIB) Programme Plan, 
signed off at the RIB meeting on 16 June 2021, was appended for information. 

The report gave details of the four national BCF targets and explained that the targets 
had been met in all but the reablement target, and further details were set out in the 
report. 

The report stated that the RIB was also keen to progress with a number of Health 
Inequalities-focused projects in addition to the existing schemes funded through the 

Page 15



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 16 JULY 2021 

BCF. A working group had been formed to identify three to four projects that would be 
supported by the Integration Board and feed into the wider Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) and Integrated Care System (ICS) priorities. 

A Voluntary Care Sector Forum had also commenced, in collaboration with Reading 
Voluntary Action, to enable the voluntary sector to engage with the ongoing 
development of the Reading Integration Programme and the Health Inequalities-
focused projects. 

Resolved -  That the report and progress be noted. 

14. HEALTH AND WELLBEING DASHBOARD – JULY 2021 

David Munday submitted a report giving an update on the Health and Wellbeing 
Dashboard (Appendix A), which set out local trends.  The report therefore gave an 
overview of performance and progress towards achieving local goals as set out in the 
2017-20 Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

The report summarised the performance against the eight priority areas in the Action 
Plan and paragraph 2.1 of the report set out details of updates to the data and 
performance indicators which had been included in the Health and Wellbeing dashboard 
since the last report. 

The report explained that the Health and Wellbeing Dashboard would be reviewed in 
future to reflect the priorities in the new 2021-2030 Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
following completion of the consultation period in August 2021. 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

15. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

Resolved – That the next meeting be held at 2.00pm on Friday 8 October 2021. 

(The meeting started at 2.00pm and closed at 5.05pm) 

Page 16



Covid-19 – Update to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board

Becky Pollard
Consultant in Public Health 

October 2021

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 5



Latest case rate compared to neighbouring local 
authorities

Situational awareness indicators from the 16/09/2021 to 22/09/2021
- in comparison to previous 7-day period
https://www.berkshirepublichealth.co.uk/covid-19-dashboard is updated daily. “Information 
Centre” weekly report

PH Berkshire Covid-19 Surveillance Dashboard – 28th September 2021

• Case rate in Reading remains slightly higher than most Berkshire LAs. Case rates across Berkshire 
are lower than the England average.

• Rate of testing is currently higher in Reading than elsewhere and positivity (% of tests that have a 
positive result) slightly lower.

• Early data suggests there is likely to be an increase in Reading's case rate before 1st October

Area Individuals tested per 100.000 
population (7-day moving average)

Percentage individuals test 
positive (weekly)

Cases per 100.000 population - all 
ages (weekly)

Cases per 100.000 population - 60+ 
(weekly)

Bracknell Forest 642.3  5.6  253.7  43.2 

Reading 794.9  5.2  295  109.3 

Slough 603.4  6.8  282.1  142.1 

West Berkshire 623.8  5.2  228.4  107.4 

Windsor and Maidenhead 755.7  6.9  364.2  130.4 

Wokingham 723.1  5.4  277.7  111.8 

South East 665.8  5.8  270.3  80.8 

England 676  6.7  313.7  115.9 

P
age 18

https://www.berkshirepublichealth.co.uk/covid-19-dashboard


PH Berkshire Covid-19 Surveillance Dashboard – 28th September 2021

Changes in case rate in Reading over time

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

01
-S

ep
08

-S
ep

15
-S

ep
22

-S
ep

29
-S

ep
06

-O
ct

13
-O

ct
20

-O
ct

27
-O

ct
03

-N
ov

10
-N

ov
17

-N
ov

24
-N

ov
01

-D
ec

08
-D

ec
15

-D
ec

22
-D

ec
29

-D
ec

05
-J

an
12

-J
an

19
-J

an
26

-J
an

02
-F

eb
09

-F
eb

16
-F

eb
23

-F
eb

02
-M

ar
09

-M
ar

16
-M

ar
23

-M
ar

30
-M

ar
06

-A
pr

13
-A

pr
20

-A
pr

27
-A

pr
04

-M
ay

11
-M

ay
18

-M
ay

25
-M

ay
01

-J
un

08
-J

un
15

-J
un

22
-J

un
29

-J
un

06
-J

ul
13

-J
ul

20
-J

ul
27

-J
ul

03
-A

ug
10

-A
ug

17
-A

ug
24

-A
ug

31
-A

ug
07

-S
ep

14
-S

ep
21

-S
ep

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

Weekly rate of confirmed cases of COVID-19 per 100,000 population

Reading (shading shows 95% CIs) South East England

P
age 19



Case rate per 100,000 by age group – PHE LA Report – 27th September 2021

Age-specific 7-day rolling case rates per 100,000 population, Reading, 29th August to 25th September, highlighting age 
groups of interest. The red dashed line denotes the 4 most recent days data are provisional.

Case rate by age group

• Case rates in Reading appear to be falling in all age groups except school age, which have 
increased since the beginning of September.

• Very recent data suggests an increase in 17-18 year olds, but not yet returning to rates seen 
in this age group during the summer

P
age 20



Comparison of case rate by age group - 19th-25th 
September

Case rate per 100,000 by age group – PHE LA Report
ONS MYE 2020

P
age 21



• In recent weeks, Kentwood, Southcote and Thames and Mapledurham wards have had case 
rates significantly higher than the Reading average.

• This is a change compared to earlier in the pandemic, when central areas of Reading and areas 
adjacent to University of Reading saw the highest case rates.

Thames and 
Mapledurham 
wards 

Kentwood 

Southcote

www.coronavirus.data.gov.uk – 27th September 2021

P
age 22

http://www.coronavirus.data.gov.uk/


Mortality rate in Reading

PH Berkshire Covid-19 Surveillance Dashboard – 28th September

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

06
-M

ar
13

-M
ar

20
-M

ar
27

-M
ar

03
-A

pr
10

-A
pr

17
-A

pr
24

-A
pr

01
-M

ay
08

-M
ay

15
-M

ay
22

-M
ay

29
-M

ay
05

-Ju
n

12
-Ju

n
19

-Ju
n

26
-Ju

n
03

-Ju
l

10
-Ju

l
17

-Ju
l

24
-Ju

l
31

-Ju
l

07
-A

ug
14

-A
ug

21
-A

ug
28

-A
ug

04
-S

ep
11

-S
ep

18
-S

ep
25

-S
ep

02
-O

ct
09

-O
ct

16
-O

ct
23

-O
ct

30
-O

ct
06

-N
ov

13
-N

ov
20

-N
ov

27
-N

ov
04

-D
ec

11
-D

ec
18

-D
ec

25
-D

ec
01

-Ja
n

08
-Ja

n
15

-Ja
n

22
-Ja

n
29

-Ja
n

05
-F

eb
12

-F
eb

19
-F

eb
26

-F
eb

05
-M

ar
12

-M
ar

19
-M

ar
26

-M
ar

02
-A

pr
09

-A
pr

16
-A

pr
23

-A
pr

30
-A

pr
07

-M
ay

14
-M

ay
21

-M
ay

28
-M

ay
04

-Ju
n

11
-Ju

n
18

-Ju
n

25
-Ju

n
02

-Ju
l

09
-Ju

l
16

-Ju
l

23
-Ju

l
30

-Ju
l

06
-A

ug
13

-A
ug

20
-A

ug
27

-A
ug

03
-S

ep
10

-S
ep

17
-S

ep

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

Mortality in Reading per 100,000 population
(2021 compared to 2015-19 average)

Non COVID-19 deaths COVID-19 deaths Av. weekly deaths in 2015-19 (all causes)

P
age 23



Cases in schools in Reading

Number of confirmed Covid-19 cases reported to CV19 notifications each 
week in 2021– 28th September

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

03
/0

1/
…

10
/0

1/
…

17
/0

1/
…

24
/0

1/
…

31
/0

1/
…

07
/0

2/
…

14
/0

2/
…

21
/0

2/
…

28
/0

2/
…

07
/0

3/
…

14
/0

3/
…

21
/0

3/
…

28
/0

3/
…

04
/0

4/
…

11
/0

4/
…

18
/0

4/
…

25
/0

4/
…

02
/0

5/
…

09
/0

5/
…

16
/0

5/
…

23
/0

5/
…

30
/0

5/
…

06
/0

6/
…

13
/0

6/
…

20
/0

6/
…

27
/0

6/
…

04
/0

7/
…

11
/0

7/
…

18
/0

7/
…

25
/0

7/
…

01
/0

8/
…

08
/0

8/
…

15
/0

8/
…

22
/0

8/
…

29
/0

8/
…

05
/0

9/
…

12
/0

9/
…

19
/0

9/
…

26
/0

9/
…

Confirmed cases in schools reported to Reading Borough Council

Confirmed positive - pupils Confirmed positive - staff

P
age 24



Covid-19 patients in Royal 
Berkshire Hospital

www.coronavirus.data.gov.uk/PH Berkshire Covid-19 Surveillance Dashboard – 28th September
* Frimley ICS System Insights – 28th September

• Hospital admissions have started to rise, but not yet at levels seen in previous waves.
• Not all admissions to Royal Berkshire Hospital are from Reading. Currently 40 people from 

Reading are in hospital with Covid-19, approximately a third are fully vaccinated*. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

04
-S

ep
11

-S
ep

18
-S

ep
25

-S
ep

02
-O

ct
09

-O
ct

16
-O

ct
23

-O
ct

30
-O

ct
06

-N
ov

13
-N

ov
20

-N
ov

27
-N

ov
04

-D
ec

11
-D

ec
18

-D
ec

25
-D

ec
01

-Ja
n

08
-Ja

n
15

-Ja
n

22
-Ja

n
29

-Ja
n

05
-F

eb
12

-F
eb

19
-F

eb
26

-F
eb

05
-M

ar
12

-M
ar

19
-M

ar
26

-M
ar

02
-A

pr
09

-A
pr

16
-A

pr
23

-A
pr

30
-A

pr
07

-M
ay

14
-M

ay
21

-M
ay

28
-M

ay
04

-Ju
n

11
-Ju

n
18

-Ju
n

25
-Ju

n
02

-Ju
l

09
-Ju

l
16

-Ju
l

23
-Ju

l
30

-Ju
l

06
-A

ug
13

-A
ug

20
-A

ug
27

-A
ug

03
-S

ep
10

-S
ep

17
-S

ep

Patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 - Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust

Daily admissions 7 day average

P
age 25

http://www.coronavirus.data.gov.uk/


Vaccination in Reading

NHS Statistics reported via RBC Vaccinations Dashboard – 27th September

P
age 26



• 70.9% of people aged 16 and older in Reading have had at least one dose of a Covid-19 
vaccination 

• 64.6% have had both doses. (From coronavirus.data.gov.uk) 
• 90% of those aged 75 and over have had both doses.
NHS Statistics reported via RBC Vaccinations Dashboard – 27th September

Vaccination in Reading
% vaccinated with at least one dose by age group

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Vaccination Programme 

Update

Reading Health and Wellbeing Board

8th October 2021

Katie Summers

Berkshire West Vaccination Lead

Director of Place Partnerships

NHS Berkshire West CCG

P
age 29



Covid-19 Vaccination: Timeline to date

P
age 30



Covid-19 Vaccination: Priority cohorts

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 - Boosters

Staged from December 

2020

Staged from April 2021 Staged from September 2021

Residents in care homes for 

older adults and their carers

Frontline care workers

Clinically extremely vulnerable

16-64 years with underlying 

health conditions

50+  years

18+ years

16-17 years (since August 2021)

12-15 years clinically extremely 

vulnerable (since August 2021)

12-15 years (from September 2021)

Third Dose for immunosuppressed 

patients: 

• 2 months after 2nd dose

• Can be same vaccine as 1st /2nd dose

• 6 months after 2nd dose

• Pfizer

Stage 1

Residents in a care home for older adults 

16+ years and over who are immunosuppressed

70+ years 

16-64 years with underlying health conditions

Frontline care workers

Stage 2

50+  years

16 – 49 years who are in an influenza or COVID-19 at-risk 

group

Adult household contacts of immunosuppressed 

individuals

P
age 31



Covid-19 Vaccination: Delivery mechanisms

Primary Care Networks Mass Vaccination 

Centres

Pharmacies Health on the Move 

Van

Specialist

Phase1

All Reading PCNs opted into 

national contract 

Circuit Lane

Eldon Square

Emmer Green

Tilehurst Village

University 

---

Phase 2

Tilehurst PCN opted into 

national contract 

---

Phase 3

All Reading PCNs

Commissioned by 

NHS England

Madejski Stadium 

from February 2021

Replaced by 

Broad Street Mall 

From July 2021

Commissioned by 

NHS England

Sites including:

Tilehurst Triangle

Western Elms

Erleigh Road

Boots Reading

Phase 3

Tilehurst Triangle

Erleigh Road

Boots Reading

Mortimer

Newdays Wensley Rd 

Commissioned by BOB ICS

Mobile unit deployed 

across ICS

Clinical provider Oxford 

Health

Sites and organisation by 

WBC and CCG

Targets area of lower take-

up

Sites including:

Acre

Reading University

The Warehouse

Oracle entrance

Homeless 

Lead GP

Housebound

Berkshire Healthcare

(1st vaccination) 

Religious centres

Surge vaccination

16-17s

Broad Street MVC (Walk ins)

12-15 CEV (from w/c 6 Sept 2021)

Berkshire Healthcare (special schools)

Phase 2 PCN sites

12-15s

Berkshire Healthcare (Schools)

P
age 32



Covid-19 Vaccination: Take-up

Vaccine take up

Reading PCNs 

Population Size

1st

Vaccine

2nd

Vaccine

Reading PCNs BOB ICS Reading PCNs BOB ICS

Phase 1 81,413

71,547

87.9% 92.6%

69,169

85.0% 90.3%

Phase 2

18-49
102,782

66,828

65.0% 73.9%

59,542

57.9% 67.0%

Phase 2

16-17 4,507

2,222

49.3% 58.3%

Only for Rising 18s

* as of 26th September 2021

P
age 33



Seasonal Influenza vaccination 2021/22

Those eligible for NHS influenza 
vaccination in 2021 to 2022 are:

all children aged 2 to 15

those aged 6 months to under 50 
years in clinical risk groups

pregnant women

50+ years

those in long-stay residential care 
homes

carers

close contacts of 
immunocompromised individuals

frontline health and social care 
staff

• All Wokingham general practice have opted in to 

national contract for influenza vaccination.

• Community pharmacies can vaccinate those 

aged 18 and over.

• Berkshire Healthcare will vaccinate school 

children. 

P
age 34



Vaccination: Take-up comparison

Cohort
Eligible for NHS 

Covid-19 vaccine

Covid-19 vaccine 

take up to date

Eligible for NHS 

seasonal influenza 

vaccine

Seasonal influenza 

take up Sept 20 –

Mar 21

Residential Care Home Patients Yes 94% Yes 79%

Age 80+ Yes 95% Yes 85%

Health or Social Care Workers Yes 98% Yes 31%

Age 75-79 Yes 95% Yes 83%

Age 70-74 or Covid High Risk Yes 90% Yes 69%

Age 65-69 Yes 89% Yes 69%

Age 16-64 with UHC Yes 85% Yes 56%

Age 60-64 no UHC Yes 86% Yes 51%

Age 55-59 no UHC Yes 84% Yes 42%

Age 50-54 no UHC Yes 81% Yes 33%

Age 40-49 no UHC Yes 71% No 10%

Age 30-39 no UHC Yes 63% No 7%

Age 18-29 no UHC Yes 60% No 4%

Age 16-17 no UHC Yes 45% No 4%

Age 12-15  Covid High Risk Yes 15% Yes 32%

Age 12-15 with other UHC Yes 5% Yes 40%

Age 12-15 no UHC Yes 2% Yes 13%

Age 2-11 no UHC No 0% Yes 28%

Age 6 m –11 with UHC No 0% Yes 36%

P
age 35



orward plan

Cohort Where When Who

Covid - 12-15s School Sept/Oct 2021 Berkshire Healthcare

Covid –Phase 3 (Boosters) General Practice From Sept 2021 All GP practices

Pharmacy From Sept 2021 Reading pharmacies x5

Covid – Phase 3 

(Boosters)

Front-line health and 

social care staff

Hospital Hubs (trust staff)

Mass Vaccination Centres 

Pharmacy

Registered GP practice

From Sept 2021 RBFT, BHFT (trust staff)

Broad St. (Mass Centre)

Reading pharmacies x5

GP practices

Flu - Adults General Practice From Sept 2021 All GP practices

Pharmacy From Sept 2021 Most pharmacies

Flu – School Children School After Autumn half-term Berkshire Healthcare

Flu – Pre-school Children General Practice From Sept 2021 All GP practices 

Flu – Front-line health 

and social care staff

Occupational Health (if 

provided

Pharmacy

Registered GP practice

From Sept 2021

P
age 36



Role of Children’s 

Social Care

Brighter Futures for 

Children: Covid update

September 2021 

P
age 37



Schools

• Increased numbers being identified as positive 

for Covid-19 – children and teachers.

• Vaccinations in schools.

• CYP disenfranchised from school.

• Second Mental Health Support Team.

P
age 38



Social Care

Ongoing issues in relation to the following:

• Continued increased demand on the front door. 

• Increase in poverty, family dysfunction and 

mental health. 

• Continued challenges in securing local 

placements.

• UASC.

P
age 39



Early Help and Prevention

• 0-2 years old not experiencing socialising.

• Serious Youth Violence.

• Education Welfare Service.

• Projects in schools and RBH. 

P
age 40



Flu vaccine 21-22 overview 

Overview 

As a result of non-pharmaceutical interventions in place for COVID-19 (such as mask-wearing, 

physical and social distancing, and restricted international travel) influenza activity levels were 

extremely low globally in 2020 to 2021.   This may lead to a lower level of population immunity 

against influenza is expected in 2021 to 2022.  

In the situation where social mixing and social contact return towards pre-pandemic norms, it is 

expected that winter 2021 to 2022 will be the first winter in the UK when seasonal influenza virus 

(and other respiratory viruses) will co-circulate alongside COVID-19.  Therefore is a significant drive 

across the population to protect local residents from influenza,  with update eligibility criteria 

Eligibility 

 all children aged 2 to 15 (but not 16 years or older) on 31 August 2021 

 those aged 6 months to under 50 years in clinical risk groups 

o chronic (long-term) respiratory disease, such as asthma (requires continuous or 

repeated use of inhaled or systemic steroids or with previous exacerbations 

requiring hospital admission), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) or 

bronchitis 

o chronic heart disease, such as heart failure 

o chronic kidney disease at stage 3, 4 or 5 

o chronic liver disease 

o chronic neurological disease, such as Parkinson’s disease or motor neurone disease 

o learning disability 

o diabetes 

o splenic dysfunction or asplenia 

o a weakened immune system due to disease (such as HIV/AIDS) or treatment (such as 

cancer treatment) 

o morbidly obese (defined as BMI of 40 and above) 

 pregnant women 

 those aged 50 years and over 

 those in long-stay residential care homes 

 carers 

 close contacts of immunocompromised individuals 

 frontline health and social care staff employed by: 

o a registered residential care or nursing home 

o registered domiciliary care provider 

o a voluntary managed hospice provider 

o Direct Payment (personal budgets) and/or Personal Health Budgets, such as 

Personal Assistants. 

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



Vaccines 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flu-immunisation-programme-

plan/national-flu-immunisation-programme-2021-to-2022-letter 

Uptake ambition 

Eligible group Uptake ambition 

Age 65 years and over At least 85% reflecting WHO target 

Under 65 years at risk in. Pregnant women At least 75% in all Clinical risk groups 

Aged 50-64 At least 75% 

Children 

Pre school aged 2-3 At least 70% 

School aged  At least 70% across all eligible school years 

All ages 

No group of community should have a vaccine uptake that is more than 5% lower than the 
national average 

Health and social care workers 

Both frontline health and front line social care 
workers  

100% offer with an 85% ambition.  

 

  

Page 42



BOB planning  

There is a system wide planning group that meets fortnightly to disseminate regional information, 

address any inconsistencies or highlight risk commonalities with the programme roll out.  

Berkshire West 

Berkshire West holds a weekly Vaccination Action Group where uptake, demographic data etc will 

be presented and discussed both in relation to Flu and Covid vaccination. Specific areas of risk are 

also highlighted to arrive at a combined pragmatic solution for the patient demographic.  

This is attended by all stakeholders inclusive of health, social and voluntary sector organisations. 

Plans have been discussed with our provider organisations regarding staff, inpatient and outpatient 

vaccinations of those at-risk patients.  

Uptake 2020-21 flu season- look back 

The response summary to the 20-21 survey included 41 out of 44 practices with Berkshire West, 

therefore 93.2% of practices responded.  

The graph below demonstrates the total percentage uptake in the categories highlighted. It can be 

noted that there was a significantly low uptake in the patients under 65 cohort  

 

For further comparison, the below table highlights previous flu season uptake percentage  

Berkshire West flu 
uptake rates  % 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21  

65+ 73.6 74.8 81.2 

U65 at risk 48.2 47.8 57.5 

Pregnant women 48.4 51.1 46.7 

Page 43



*reporting 
issues 

2 year olds 51.6 50.5 64.5 

3 year olds 55.6 48.8 64.7 

 

The below chart highlights the specific at-risk groups and percentage uptake by age. 38 practices 

within Berkshire West provided the data for the summary.  

The percentage uptake data is arrived at by the number of patients registered vs the number of 

patients vaccinated. Therefore, there may be instances within the data of a significantly high or low 

uptake depending on those numbers registered and vaccinated.  

 

The below table show the uptake percentage by practice. It can be noted that two practices did not 

respond to the survey and therefore their data set is incomplete and not included for comparison.  

The uptake ambitions were set at least 75% for all eligible groups with 100% offer for frontline 

health and social care workers.  

It can be seen from the percentage uptake that there was good engagement of patients with the 

practices for both groups 65 and over and 65 at risk. However, there is still some work to do this 

season coming with the other cohorts.  

Please can it also be noted that throughout the flu season there were discrepancies in the data 

relating to pregnant women, this is inclusive of accurate denominator, so should be taken with 

caution.  

  

Page 44



Org Name Summary of Flu Vaccine Uptake % 

65 and 
over (all 
Patients) 

65 
and 
over 
(at-
risk 
only) 

Under 
65 (all 
Patients) 

Under 
65 
(at-
risk 
only) 

Pregnant 
and NOT 
IN a 
clinical 
risk 
group 

Pregnant 
and IN a 
clinical 
risk 
group 

All 
Pregnant 
Women 

TILEHURST SURGERY  85.9 89.9 28.7 58.8 34.1 84.6 38.6 

LONDON STREET SURGERY 65.3 72.2 11.6 43.9 38.9 100.0 40.0 

BALMORE PARK SURGERY 85.8 88.4 23.5 61.9 50.3 57.9 51.1 

CHATHAM STREET SURGERY 70.1 73.1 17.6 49.6 44.7 33.3 44.0 

MILMAN & KENNET SURGERY 72.1 78.1 16.0 53.6 39.8 46.4 40.6 

EMMER GREEN SURGERY 83.9 87.7 29.1 60.9 52.7 76.9 55.3 

LONG BARN LANE SURGERY 80.6 88.1 21.5 63.6 45.5 100.0 50.0 

WESTWOOD ROAD SURGERY 82.7 86.0 23.0 58.0 60.5 16.7 54.5 

WESTERN ELMS & CIRCUIT LANE SURGERIES 76.2 83.2 19.0 51.2 39.3 52.2 40.5 

GROVELANDS MEDICAL CENTRE 83.9 87.4 25.9 65.8 41.1 68.2 43.8 

ABBEY MEDICAL CENTRE 79.6 84.5 19.1 62.9 51.9 
 

51.9 

PEMBROKE SURGERY 79.9 84.8 21.5 63.5 25.0 100.0 30.8 

UNIVERSITY MEDICAL GROUP 81.8 86.4 10.7 46.5 41.7 58.3 43.5 

TILEHURST VILLAGE SURGERY 76.8 80.2 21.8 50.6 34.6 57.1 36.7 

MELROSE SURGERY 75.3 80.8 18.0 53.0 52.2 53.3 52.3 

READING WALK-IN HEALTH CENTRE 70.5 78.9 12.5 50.2 43.2 87.5 45.5 

 

In conclusion, there is learning to be shared from the inequalities workstream that has been 

expedited due to the covid vaccination in order to reach those patients in the at risk groups to 

encourage attendance for vaccine.  

Uptake Data from the 2021-22 flu campaign will be available from Mid October.   

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



                                

1 

 

  
READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

DATE OF MEETING: 8th October 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: BERKSHIRE WEST HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: BECKY POLLARD  
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: INTERIM CONSULTANT IN 
PUBLIC HEALTH  
 

E-MAIL: becky.pollard@reading.gov.
uk  

ORGANISATION: READING BOROUGH 
COUNCIL 
 

  

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1  This report presents the Berkshire West’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which 
needs to be approved by full Council before adoption according to the 
constitution of Reading Borough Council (RBC). 

 
1.2 As required by statute, the Strategy sets a basis for commissioning plans across 

both the local authority and the local clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). It is a 
joint strategy across Berkshire West local authorities and its development to date 
has properly been driven by the Health and Wellbeing Boards in each authority. 
The report seeks endorsement of the 2021-2030 Berkshire West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  

 
1.3 The implementation plans are currently being worked on. It is intended that final 

implementation plans and future monitoring arrangements are brought back to 
the March 2022 meeting.  The implementation plans will always be working 
documents to respond to local needs.  

 
1.4  Appendices 
  Appendix A – Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 
  Appendix B – Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030: Equality 

Impact Assessment   
  Appendix C: Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030: Public 

Engagement Report 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Karen.buckley@reading.gov.uk
mailto:Karen.buckley@reading.gov.uk


 
  

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 That The Health and Wellbeing Board, having considered the feedback from the 
formal consultation on the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(annexed as Appendix C) together with the Equality Impact Assessment (annexed 
as Appendix B) and the climate assessment, endorses the 2021-2030 Berkshire 
West Health and Wellbeing Strategy as set out in Appendix A and recommends it 
to Council for adoption; 
 

2.2 To note the development of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Implementation 
Plans and that it is intended that final implementation plans and future 
monitoring arrangements are brought back to the March 2022 meeting for the 
Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the Health and Wellbeing Implementation 
Plans on behalf of the Council.  

 
 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 

3.1 Every Health and Wellbeing Board has a duty to prepare and publish a Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This sets out a consensus approach to inform and 
influence local decisions about supporting people to be well, promoting a whole 
system integrated approach. Local health and care systems together with the 
Local Healthwatch service provider have statutory representation on the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, so that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy combines these 
areas of commissioning and delivery as a minimum. In most localities, however, 
the Health and Wellbeing Board membership is expanded to facilitate action to 
address the broader determinants of health and address health inequalities. In 
Reading, additional members are Thames Valley Police, Royal Berkshire Fire and 
Rescue Service and Reading Voluntary Action. 

 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 

4.1 In April 2019, Health and Wellbeing Board chairs from West Berkshire, Reading 
and Wokingham agreed to the development of a shared Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy across the three boroughs. This was supported by the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Integrated Care System (ICS) leadership. The 
rationale for this approach was twofold – a desire to recognise the cross borough 
reality for many Berkshire West residents, who often live, work and use services 
across different parts of Berkshire West; and the aspiration to have an effective 
influence over planning which takes place on a Berkshire West footprint already.    
 

4.2 The strategy was planned to be developed in close collaboration and consultation 
with residents and local partners, including but going beyond the Health and 
Wellbeing Board membership in each area, and particularly to engage with the 
diverse range of voluntary sector and community groups operating across 
Berkshire West. 
 

4.3 A consultation was carried out between December 2020 to February 2021 on the 
11 priorities identified during the shortlisting process in 2019. Respondents 
identified the following 5 priorities as being the most important.  Those 5 
priorities – listed below not in any particular ranking order - are the foundation of 
the 2021-2030 strategy: 
 

Page 48



 Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 

 Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy lives 

 Help children and families in early years 

 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young 
people 

 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults 
 
4.4 A draft strategy was subsequently put to consultation for a period of 6 weeks 

 between 24th June to 4th August 2021 in West Berkshire and Reading (with 
Wokingham opting out of the consultation on the draft strategy). 
 

4.5 The aim is to agree to a final strategy which promotes a whole system approach 
to health and wellbeing by focusing partners on approximately 5 priority areas. 
There was a broad consensus across the three localities as to the highest ranked 
five areas as above. 
 
A thorough analysis was done to ensure that group responses in the survey returns 
were properly weighted and also to ensure that the views of all groups in the 
population were heard. 
 
The strategy has now been finalised and is being presented for approval.  

 
4.6 The strategy is being used to drive the content of the implementation plans that 

will represent the delivery tools of the strategy. In Reading, a number of delivery 
boards have been identified to shape the implementation plans and report on 
outcomes: 

 
 

Priority Delivery board 
Reduce the differences in health 
between different groups of people 

Reading Integration Board 

  
Support individuals at high risk of 
bad health outcomes to live healthy 
lives 

Reading Integration Board 

  
Help children and families in early 
years 

One Reading Partnership – 
Under 5s workstream 

  
Promote good mental health and 
wellbeing for all children and young 
people 

Brighter Futures for 
Children  

  
Promote good mental health and 
wellbeing for all adults 

Adult Mental Wellbeing 
Steering Group  

 
 

These implementation plans are currently in development. It is intended that 
final implementation plans and future monitoring arrangements are brought back 
to the March 2022 meeting.   

 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 
 

5.1     This proposal contributes to Reading’s strategic aims for health and wellbeing by    
    developing a new joint strategy to inform the priorities of the board in the coming   
    years. 

 
5.1.1  The 2021-2030 Berkshire West HWB Strategy is based on 8 core principles. These 

are intended to underpin all of the strategic priorities and be considered as part 
of all implementation plans. The core principles are: 

 

 Recovery from Covid-19 

 Engagement 

 Prevention and early intervention 

 Empowerment and self-care 

 Digital enablement 

 Social cohesion 

 Integration 

 Continuous learning. 
 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 acknowledges the importance of climate 
risks but is not specifically designed to address climate risks at this point in time.  The strategy 
has the potential for the implementing plans wherever relevant to include details actions to 
address those risks and the health implications of climate risks. 
 
 
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 

7.1 The Engagement Task and Finish Group supported the development of the 
Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The group was instrumental in 
making links to all our communities and in particular those who are harder to 
reach. The group includes representatives from the three Berkshire West local 
authorities, the CCG, Local Heathwatch providers and a range of community 
groups – See the Public Engagement Report as annexed at Appendix C. 
 

7.2 The draft strategy was put to consultation over a period of 6 weeks (24th July – 
4th August 2021) in Reading and West Berkshire and the Engagement Task and 
Finish Group helped disseminate and reach all communities in these areas to give 
their views (with Wokingham opting out of the consultation on the draft strategy).  

7.3  
A total of 162 responses were received – with 67% responding from West Berkshire 
and 26% from Reading.  The consultation was carried out to validate that the 
vision, aims and objectives set out in the strategy were in line with what 
residents wanted.  Overall, residents approved the identified priorities and the 
vision and aims. 
 

7.4 Stakeholder engagement to build the implementation plans related to the 5 
priorities is continuing. The implementation plans will always need to be working 
documents to respond to local needs. 

 
 
 

Page 50



 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 The consultation provided an opportunity to develop an understanding of how the 
Strategy might impact differently on protected groups. As a vehicle for addressing 
health inequalities, it is expected that any such differential impact would be 
positive, and accordingly will support the discharge of Health and Wellbeing 
Board members’ Equality Act duties. The full Equality Impact Assessment is 
annexed at Appendix B. 

 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 The production of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWBS) is a joint 
statutory duty for local authorities and CCGs, discharged through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. Once it is published, the organisations have a duty to have 
regard to the strategy in their own planning and service delivery. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1   Consultation feedback has informed the development of the Health and Wellbeing 
Implementation Plan. This will be delivered within existing resources, realigned 
where necessary. It is imperative that the Strategy drives the efficient use of 
resources and to deliver clear health benefits on investment so as to protect a 
sustainable local health and care system. 

 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 Reading Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2020 
 
  

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



BERKSHIRE WEST 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

STRATEGY (HWBS) 
2021- 2030 

Page 53



      
       INTRODUCTION

       OUR COMMUNITY
 
       WORKING TOGETHER

       OUR CHALLENGES

       OUR VISION 

       OUR PRINCIPLES 

       HOW THE STRATEGY WAS DEVELOPED

       OUR PRIORITIES 

       Priority 1: Reduce the differences in health between different    
           groups of people 

       Priority 2: Support individuals at high risk of bad health                     
           outcomes to live healthy lives 
 

       Priority 3: Help families and children in early years 

       Priority 4: Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children   
    and young people 

       Priority 5: Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults 

       NEXT STEPS
 
       APPENDIX

 
CONTENTS

Page 54



 
  INTRODUCTION

Health and wellbeing are fundamental for 
individuals and communities to be happy 
and healthy; providing the foundations to 
prosperous societies. Wellbeing has been 
defined as a state in which every individual can 
realise their own potential, can cope with the 
normal stresses of life, can work productively 
and fruitfully and is able to make a contribution 
to their economy1.

Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham Health 
and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) bring together 
local leaders from the health and social care 
system, along with voluntary and community 
organisations, in shared work to improve the 
health and wellbeing of their local residents.

Each Health and Wellbeing Board has a 
statutory duty to produce a Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, providing a commitment to 
improving health and wellbeing by setting out 
priorities for where members of the Board will 
work together in planning and delivering local 
services. 

The three HWBs come together with the 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership 
(ICP) to promote integrated working and strive 
to secure improvements in population health.

In 2019, the HWBs for Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham took the decision to develop a 
shared Health and Wellbeing Strategy with the 
ICP to make even more improvements in health.

IN
TRO

D
U

C
TIO

N

Although each of the individual Health and 
Wellbeing Boards for Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham are responsible for their own 
residents, all three boards have populations 
in common, with people living, working, 
socialising and being educated across the three 
local authorities.

This Strategy has been developed by working 
closely with local partners from health, social 
care, local authorities and the voluntary sector 
along with residents of the three areas. Our 
Strategy is ambitious, it identifies five key areas 
in which we will make a difference to people’s 
lives. It takes a ten-year view, understanding 
that we need a long-term perspective in order 
to drive real change on the underlying causes 
of poor health and wellbeing. It seeks to 
bring together individuals and communities 
along with professionals in a shared direction, 
targeting work and resources where they are 
needed and where we know we can have an 
impact. 

With closing health inequalities and recovery 
from Covid-19 at its very heart, the Berkshire 
West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021 – 
2030 establishes our priorities for the system, 
and aims to enable all of our residents to live 
happier and healthier lives. 

Page 55



East Ilsley Volunteer group

Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham 
make up Berkshire West – an area stretching  
from rural communities and local, vibrant 
market towns in West Berkshire and 
Wokingham, to the commercial urban hubs 
located in Reading. 

The three localities of Berkshire West hold 
a population of over 500,000 people. It is 
an area of great diversity and rich culture, 
representing all age demographics, religious 
affiliations and ethnicities. 

Across the three localities, people travel to 
work, go to school, socialise and engage with 
activities and attractions, and as neighbouring 
local authorities, the residents of Reading, 
West Berkshire and Wokingham share many 
services in common including the Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.

 
  INTRODUCTION

O
U

R 
CO

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

2 3

Page 56



Data collected from multiple sources. 
Sources found in Appendix A.

READING

161,780
Total Resident Population

100%
Urban population

25.3%
Ethnically diverse
population

12.5%
Population 
aged 65+

Children achieving 
a good level of 
development at 
early years

69%

7,090
Total number of 

businesses9.6%
Full time students 

age 18+

7.9%
Percentage of 
unpaid carers 
(1-50+ hours of 
unpaid care per week)

Unemployment rate

3.6%
50.2%
People with very 
good health

3

Page 57



Data collected from multiple sources. 
Sources found in the Appendix A.

HEADER
Sub-heading

158,450
Total Resident Population

63%

5.2%
Ethnically diverse
population

19.3%

Children achieving 
a good level of 
development at 
early years

75%

8,800
Total number of 

businesses2.1%
Full time students 

age 18+

9.3%
Percentage of 
unpaid carers 
(1-50+ hours of 
unpaid care per week)

Unemployment rate

2.4%
51.6%
People with very 
good health

Urban population

Population 
aged 65+

WEST BERKSHIRE

4 5

Page 58



Data collected from multiple sources. 
Sources found in Appendix A.

171,119
Total Resident Population

83%

11.6%
Ethnically diverse
population

17.6%

Children achieving 
a good level of 
development at 
early years

77%

9,005
Total number of 

businesses3.2%
Full time students 

age 18+

9.0%
Percentage of 
unpaid carers 
(1-50+ hours of 
unpaid care per week)

Unemployment rate

2.35%

54.3%
People with very 
good health

Urban population

Population 
aged 65+

WOKINGHAM

5

Page 59



WORKING TOGETHER: OUR LOCAL SYSTEM

The three Health and Wellbeing Boards for Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham work both 
alongside and within the Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership (BWICP), allowing collaboration 
between health and social care organisations to improve all services for the local residents. 

Established in April 2019, the BWICP brings together seven public sector organisations that are 
responsible for the health and social care of Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham residents, 
providing joined up and better coordinated care in the process.

The BWICP comprises of the Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group (BWCCG), Reading 
Borough Council, West Berkshire Council, Wokingham Borough Council, Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust and South-Central Ambulance Foundation 
Trust. This integrated system ensures people can smoothly access care across a number of different 
settings, moving between institutions and support settings as needed.

This shared strategy will serve to ensure greater collaboration between these organisations, 
empowering and supporting people to take care of their own health and wellbeing and also 
making sure that all services meet the diverse health and care needs of our residents. 

W
O

RK
IN

G
 T

O
G

ET
H

ER
: O

U
R 

LO
CA

L 
SY

ST
EM

Newbury Rugby Club delivering food parcels during the pandemic (2020)

6 7

Page 60



OUR CHALLENGESWORKING TOGETHER: OUR LOCAL SYSTEM

The three areas that make up Berkshire 
West have a lot to celebrate and be proud of. 
However, as people live longer with more 
complex health conditions; combined with 
the impact of Covid-19 and ongoing financial 
challenges, we must find new ways to deliver 
health and social care, strengthen partnerships 
and put all of our resources together to use in 
the best way possible. The growing population 
(with over 10,000 new houses across all three 
areas to be built by 2026) gives uncertainty of 
who will make up our diverse and vibrant local 
population in the future and what their needs 
may be. This will also mean new families too, 
giving us opportunities to focus on ensuring 
every child gets a good start to life. 
 
The three areas already have a growing older 
population of people aged 65 years and older. 
As this continues, it is likely to place more 
pressure on health and social care; with more 
people living with long term conditions or 
Dementia. People over 65 across Berkshire West 
are culturally and socially engaged; making up a 
large part of voluntary and community sectors, 
and so their life experience and knowledge 
adds enormous value to our communities. 
However, the way people need care and support 
is changing – we want to empower older 
people to manage their conditions, through 
encouraging and supporting healthy lifestyles.

       
     

Although the Berkshire West population 
is generally affluent and healthy, there are 
pockets of deprivation across the three areas 
where health outcomes tend to be worse. 
Health is not just about medicine and accessing 
health services, but also about the wider social 
and environmental factors that can influence 
a person’s health and wellbeing. Studies 
have shown that health services provide only 
10% of the influences on whether a person 
dies prematurely.2 Social and behavioural 
determinants of health such as housing, 
employment and education play a bigger, and 
sometimes more important role. 

These differences mean that the life expectancy 
of our population varies depending on where 
people live3; those living in the poorest parts of 
West Berkshire and Wokingham, will live seven 
years less of healthy life, compared with those 
people living in the richest areas. In Reading, 
the healthy life expectancy of those living in 
the poorest areas is 13 years lower for men and 
14 years for women when compared to those 
living in the richest areas. 

The map below shows the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) of Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham in 20194. This is the official 
measure of relative deprivation, with blue areas 
showing the most deprived and green areas 
showing the least deprived areas.  

WEST BERKSHIRE

READING

O
U

R C
H

A
LLEN

G
ES

WOKINGHAM

7

Page 61



Covid-19 has had a powerful impact across 
the three areas; businesses have had to shut 
and health services have been stretched - 
sometimes to their limit.  Covid-19 has affected 
segments of the local population differently, 
exacerbating existing inequalities.  

Yet  in times of adversity there has been ingenuity 
and wider digitisation in how we deliver health 
services and work together across the different 
areas. Additionally, Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham residents have benefitted 
from cleaner air, returning nature, and reduced 
greenhouse emissions during this time.

This pandemic has made it all too clear how 
intertwined the nation’s economic health is with 
its physical health – better social and economic 
conditions had led to better health outcomes 
and vice versa. Covid-19 has also shown us 
the importance of social cohesion, giving us 
opportunities to build community  resilience 
and collectively win the fight against the virus.

It is important that Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham reflect on this episode— the 
good and the bad — in order to take these 
lessons forward with a long-term view to 
“build back fairer” from Covid-195 . Enhanced 
integration and efforts to empower citizens to 
have everyday resilience, including emergency 
preparedness, and adaption to other long-term 
threats such as environmental and climate 
risk, are here to stay6; with the diagram below 
depicting the growing opportunities and  
how they should be actioned to rebuild from 
this pandemic and move forward together. 

OUR CHALLENGES: THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

Socioeconomic, cultural and 
environmental conditions

Living and working 
conditions

Societal and 
community

Lifestyle

Falling unequally across 
our population

Inclusive 
economy 

Air quality 
improved

Natural capital
 investment for 

ecosystem 
resilienceFlexible 

working and 
active travel

Reduced traffic 
and healthy 
high streets

Support 
tertiary 

education high-
productivity 

sectors

Relocalise 
food systems 

to be more 
resiliant and 
sustainable

Appropriate 
use of health 

services

Green economy 
employment

Multiagency 
working & 

data sharing

Accommodation 
for homeless

Build stronger 
relationships with 

children and 
adolescents

Social capital 
manifest in 
volunteer 
support 

networks

Self-organising 
community 

resilience

Connecting 
in different 

waysImproved 
work life
 balance

Increased 
motivation to 
quit smoking

Physical 
activity 

opportunities

Home 
Cooking, 
healthier 

eating

Built 
environment – 

pedestrianisation, 
reduced car 
dependency 

and
 shared 
space

8 9

Opportunities during Covid-19 recovery: rebuilding and moving forward together

O
U

R 
CH

A
LL

EN
G

ES
: T

H
E 

IM
PA

C
T 

O
F 

CO
VI

D
-1

9

Page 62



Achieving this vision will need strong partnerships between individuals, local communities and 
statutory and voluntary sectors. We welcome the aspirations of the NHS White Paper7 that promotes 
this greater integration. Integrated care means that care will focus not only on treating specific 
conditions, but will aim to prioritise healthy behaviours, prevention and supporting people to live 
more independent lives for longer. Developing this more joined up model of care will also enable the 
NHS, local government, voluntary sector and other partners in Berkshire West to work together to 
respond to the needs, priorities and challenges facing our local communities during post-pandemic 
recovery. 

Our vision for Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham over the next ten years is that all people will 
live longer, healthier and more richer lives. This involves reducing gaps in the differences of health 
outcomes between the richest and poorest parts of Berkshire West. This vision encompasses our 
mission statements, all shown below. 

OUR VISIONOUR CHALLENGES: THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

O
U

R VISIO
N

9

All our children 
and young 

people have 
the best 

possible start 
in life and the 

opportunity to 
thrive, no 

matter what 
their 

circumstance.

Children and 
adults most 
at risk from 
bad health 

outcomes are 
safe and 

safeguarded.

Everyone of 
working age 
has access to 

decent 
employment 

opportunities.

All people have 
the best 

opportunities 
for good 

mental health 
and wellbeing 

- to realise their 
potential and 
connect with 

the community.

Our 
communities 

are strong, 
resilient and 

inclusive, with 
all residents 
benefitting 

from a healthy, 
accessible 

environment.

All people 
will be able to 
gain access to 

integrated 
health and 
social care 
services.

Longer, Healthier and Richer lives for all

Page 63



OUR PRINCIPLES

       
ENGAGEMENT

Public engagement has been at the core of the development of this Strategy and will be 
essential to how it is delivered. Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham will work towards 
creating more permanent engagement structures and processes to ensure residents’ voices are 
heard as we roll out this plan over the next ten years. This may include the creation of citizen 
panels, specialist groups and committed champions in our communities who can lead with 
both their specialist knowledge and local commitment. 

       
PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION

Prevention and intervening early are key to reducing long term poor health and wellbeing. By 
shifting our approach away from treating ill-health to preventing it from happening in the first 
place, we can contribute significantly to reducing physical and mental ill-health.  

       

EMPOWERMENT AND SELF-CARE 
        
We want to support our local people to become more actively involved in their own care and to 
feel empowered and informed enough to make decisions about their own lives, helping them 
to be happy, healthy and to achieve their potential in the process.

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT 

The Covid-19 pandemic has led to many opportunities in digital transformation for health, social 
care, both at work and at home. But for those who are unable to participate in online services, 
it has resulted in greater social isolation and exclusion. We want to embrace the opportunities 
that digital enablement presents; improving digital literacy and access across the whole of 
Berkshire West while at the same time ensuring services and support are available for those 
who prefer not to or who are unable to access them digitally.

10 11

RECOVERY FROM COVID-19
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has presented an unprecedented challenge to Berkshire West’s health 
and care services and the way residents live their lives on a daily basis. As we move towards 
a recovery phase, we now have an opportunity to “Build Back Fairer”5, taking account of the 
widening health inequalities that have been highlighted by Covid-19 and working together to 
ensure that equity is at the heart of Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham’s local decision-
making to create healthier lives for all.

O
U

R 
PR

IN
CI

PL
ES

Page 64



* An Integrated Care System (ICS) brings together health and care organisations to take responsibility for the cost and quality of care for 
a defined population within an agreed budget. The BOB ICS brings together the Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) for Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West. The Berkshire West ICP includes: Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Royal Berkshire 
NHS Foundation Trust, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, Reading Borough Council, West Berkshire Council, Wokingham Borough 
Council and South Central NHS Ambulance Trust (SCAS).  

OUR PRINCIPLES 

O
U

R PRIN
CIPLES

       

SOCIAL COHESION

The diversity of our areas is an asset that we will aim to develop and leverage going forwards. 
There is already a wealth of community activity taking place across each region and we will 
work collaboratively with community members, service providers and statutory bodies to help 
eliminate community-specific health inequalities.

       

INTEGRATION

Whole systems integrated care is about ensuring every person in Berkshire West can have their 
needs placed at the centre – this is done through joining up the range of health, social care 
services and relevant community partners. The aim is to increase access to quality and timely care, 
supporting people to be more independent in managing their conditions and becoming less 
likely to require emergency care. To achieve this, we also need to build on existing relationships 
in the broader Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB) Integrated Care System 
(ICS)*, linking policies, strategies and programmes with those at the ICS level.

       

CONTINUOUS LEARNING 

The actions that will be delivered through this strategy in Berkshire West will be reviewed and 
adapted in a timely manner as the world around us changes. We need to accumulate 
experience, share best practices and learn from one another.

11

Page 65



The roadmap illustrates how we developed our priorities for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for  
Berkshire West. The development was overseen by a monthly steering group whose membership 
spanned the three local authorities, Berkshire West CCG, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, and representatives from voluntary and community 
organisations.
 
Public engagement has been at the very heart of this process.  A dedicated Consultation &  
Engagement Task and Finish Group* was created to lead community consultation and 
engagement efforts and included representatives from local communities (focusing upon 
typically underrepresented groups). Collectively, this team co-produced and delivered the public 
engagement strategy that was crucial to the creation of the HWBS. During the public engagement, 
residents could comment on 11 different potential priorities, which had been narrowed down 
from an initial number of approximately 30, during the early stages of the Strategy development. 
Participants were also invited to comment on whether they thought there were any missing 
priorities. The findings from this engagement were used to refine our final priorities for the Strategy.
 
A more detailed report on how the Strategy was developed and the outcomes of the public 
engagement can be found in the Berkshire West Engagement Report. 

*The engagement task and finish group included:  Healthwatch Reading,  Healthwatch Wokingham, Healthwatch West Berkshire,  Berkshire 
West CCG, Reading Voluntary Action,  Involve Wokingham, West Berkshire Volunteer Centre, Community United West Berkshire, Berkshire NHS 
Healthcare Foundation Trust, representatives from the public health teams in each of the three local authorities.

H
O

W
 T

H
E 

ST
RA

TE
G

Y 
W

A
S 

D
EV

EL
O

PE
D

HOW THE STRATEGY WAS DEVELOPED

April 
2019

March
2020The 

decision 

Evaluation 
of current 
strategies

Nov 
2020

Involving the 
public 

April 
2021

First draft of 
the strategy

April
2020

What are the 
needs of the 
population?

June
2020

A long list of 
priorities

August  
& Sept 
2020

Online Virtual 
Workshops

June 
2021

Public 
Consultation

October 
2021

The final 
strategy

12 13

Page 66



1  REDUCE THE DIFFERENCES IN HEALTH BETWEEN           
        DIFFERENT GROUPS OF PEOPLE.

2 SUPPORT INDIVIDUALS AT HIGH RISK OF BAD          
       HEALTH OUTCOMES TO LIVE HEALTHY LIVES.  

3 HELP CHILDREN AND FAMILIES IN EARLY YEARS.

4 PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING        
       FOR ALL CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE.

5 PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING        
       FOR ALL ADULTS.

 

  

OUR PRIORITIES 

O
U

R PRIO
RITIES

FIVE HEALTH AND WELLBEING PRIORITIES

13

These priorities are interrelated and interdependent, with priority number one of  reducing 
the differences in health between different groups of people and the eight principles 
driving all implementation plans that fall under the other four priorities.

Health inequities are the avoidable differences in health outcomes, often shaped by 
influences beyond medicine and access to health services.

This includes factors that are primarily social – the conditions in which people are born,  
grow, live, work, and age, meaning that economic, environmental and social inequalities 
can all determine people’s risk of getting ill. For this reason, reducing health inequity will 
act as a pillar, underpinning all that is done for the four other priority areas. 

The jointly agreed five priorities over the lifespan of this Strategy which we believe will bring the 
most positive impact to our health and wellbeing are as follows:

Page 67



1
WHY IS IT IMPORTANT? 

Health inequities are a matter of fairness and 
social justice8. It is the unfair and avoidable 
differences in people’s health across social 
groups and between different population 
groups, often expressed as the “social gradient 
in health”. In England, there are still significant 
unfair and avoidable inequities and in access 
to and experiences of NHS services. 

Many people in our area experience health 
inequities. This may include groups who are 
economically disadvantaged, isolated young 
people, refugees and asylum seekers and 
people with physical disabilities or those 
who may find it harder to communicate. The 
relationship between a person, their wider 
environment and their health is shown in the 
Dahlgren and Whitehead model9  on the right– 
health is influenced not only by choices that 
a person makes (such as smoking, or eating 
a healthy diet), but also by their living and 
working conditions and the community that 
surrounds them. 

We know that people who experience health 
inequities may often be those who are at high 
risk of bad health outcomes and so there is 
overlap between the groups identified above 
within this priority, and those who are also 
identified within Priority 2 of this Strategy: 
Support Individuals at High Risk of Bad Health 
Outcomes to Live Healthy Lives 

Local efforts to reduce health inequities means 
focussing on reducing gaps in healthy life 
expectancy amongst those who have the worst 
outcomes. Building fairer areas will ensure 
everyone has the best opportunity to live a 
long life in good health.

       
There are 3 key issues:

 i.   Inequities in opportunity and / or outcome: 
some people don’t get a good start in life, have 
fewer social opportunities, live shorter lives or 
have longer periods of ill health;
ii.  Inequities and lack of access – some people 
cannot access services, do not know about 
them cannot use them or need support to use 
them (for example, due to learning disability or 
sensory impairment).  
iii. Covid-19 – its impact has exacerbated 
existing health inequities

WHAT YOU TOLD US:   

Residents across Reading, West Berkshire 
and Wokingham considered reducing the 
differences in health to be an “extremely 
important” issue.

Model of social determinants of health 9

REDUCE THE DIFFERENCES IN  
HEALTH BETWEEN DIFFERENT 
GROUPS OF PEOPLE

 “Lack of income should not mean 
poor health

 “Make (health and social care) 
services available to everyone”

14 15

Page 68



WHAT ARE WE ALREADY DOING?  

Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham 
HWBs have all made significant efforts to 
reduce health inequalities. All three areas 
have worked with their residents, statutory 
organisations and  voluntary  groups to 
make sure that residents are empowered to 
decide where actions should be taken and 
in what manner to achieve fairness in their 
community. The three areas have also begun 
to use a Population Health Management 
approach; this makes use of rich local 
population health data to complement and 
inform these discussions and actions.

Model of social determinants of health 9

REDUCE THE DIFFERENCES IN  HEALTH BETWEEN 
DIFFERENT GROUPS OF PEOPLE

TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE, WE WILL:

l  Use information and intelligence to
 understand our communities, identify those
 who are in greatest need and ensure that
 they are able to access the right services 
 and support. 

l  Assess how Covid-19 has differentially
 impacted our local populations, including
 through the displacement or disruption
 of usual services. We have to ensure
 access to these services are available to all
 during Covid-19 recovery. 

l Take a Health in All Policies approach11

 that embeds health across policies and
 various services. The aim of this approach is
 that the impact on health will be considered
 for all of the work that the three council’s do,
 encouraging closer working relationships
 between statutory bodies and the voluntary
 and community sectors. 

l Address the variation in the experience
 of the wider social, economic and
 environmental determinants of health

l  Continue to actively engage and work with
 ethnically diverse communities, the
 voluntary sector, unpaid carers and self-help
 groups, ensuring their voices are heard.

l  Ensure services and support are accessible
 to those most in need through effective
 signposting, targeted health education,
 promoting digital inclusion and in particular 
 addressing sensory and communication
 needs. All in a way that empowers
 communities to take ownership of their 
 own health.  

The Alliance for Cohesion and Racial 
Equality  (ACRE)10 in Reading, is a 
voluntary organisation that  hosts an 
annual health inequalities conference. 

They work to promote equality across 
nine strands  including age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex 
and sexual orientation, all in order to 
build an increased sense of community 
in Reading.

Alafia, the ACRE Family Support Team, 
also works to support families caring 
for a child or young people between 
the age of 0-25 from all backgrounds.

SPOTLIGHT

15

Page 69



HOW DOES THIS IMPACT
HEALTH INEQUITIES?

In order to close the gap between 
groups with existing health inequities, it 
is important to adopt a “proportionate 
universalism” approach14. This means 
allowing some form of effective targeting 
or tailoring of services to different groups 
that are at greater risk of bad health. 
This should take place within a broader 
universal framework, i.e. where the 
general services or provision is already 
available for all.

2
WHY IS IT IMPORTANT? 

Differences in health status between groups of 
people can be due to a number of factors12, such 
as income, geography (e.g. urban or rural) and 
disabilities. The health needs of those groups at 
high-risk for bad health outcomes could place 
heavy and unpredictable demands on health 
services13, and must therefore proactively be 
identified and addressed. The broad issues 
impacting groups at high risk are:

i.  Lack of easy access to healthy activities and 
food;
ii.  Limited availability of information about 
health and wellbeing services;
iii. Increased loneliness and isolation 
(exacerbated by COVID-19).
iv.  Barriers to accessing GPs and primary health 
services;

People may experience different barriers to 
accessing services or support. Examples of 
these include physical barriers such as lack of 
transportation or barriers due to sensory or 
communication needs.

       
WHAT YOU TOLD US:   

Supporting people facing higher risk to live 
healthy lives is a very important priority across 
Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham. 
35% of all survey respondents agreed that 
significant change is required within this 
priority area. People facing higher risk of bad 
health outcomes were identified as having a 
continuing or new need for support (including 
before and during Covid-19). 

Our engagement with the public identified the 
following groups as being at high risk of bad 
health outcomes. We will prioritise supporting 
these groups to live healthy lives, depending 
on local context and need for each of the three 
local authorities:  

l Those living with dementia
l People with learning disabilities
l Unpaid carers
l Rough sleepers
l People who have experienced 
 domestic abuse

This is our Strategy for the next ten years and 
we recognise that the groups who are at higher 
risk may change over this time. We will actively 
engage with our communities during the life 
of this Strategy, continuously learning and 
understanding the needs of our population in 
order to ensure that we are supporting those at 
highest risk, even if they are different to those 
groups that we are starting with.   

SUPPORT INDIVIDUALS AT HIGH 
RISK OF BAD HEALTH OUTCOMES 
TO LIVE HEALTHY LIVES

16 17

Page 70



SUPPORT INDIVIDUALS AT HIGH RISK OF BAD 
HEALTH OUTCOMES TO LIVE HEALTHY LIVES

WHAT ARE WE ALREADY DOING?  

Although different groups may be targeted 
in Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham, 
considerable steps have been taken in each 
area to ensure nobody falls between the 
cracks through ways that are most suited to 
local needs as well as joint working to meet 
common needs.

TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE, WE WILL:

l  Raise awareness and understanding of
 dementia, and ensure support for people
 for who have dementia is accessible and
 in place for them and their unpaid carers.
 We will work together to ensure the
 Dementia Pathway is robust, including
 pre-diagnosis support, improving early
 diagnosis rates, rehabilitation and
 ongoing support.  

l  Improve identification and support for
 unpaid carers of all ages. Work with
 unpaid carers and partner agencies to
 promote the health and wellbeing of
 unpaid carers.

l  Work together to reduce the number
 of rough sleepers and improve the mental
 and physical health of rough sleepers
 and those who are homeless, through
 improved access to local services

l   Prevent, promote awareness and provide
 support to those who have experienced 
 domestic abuse in line with proposals
 outlined in the Domestic Abuse Bill.

l   Support people with learning disabilities,
 engaging with and listening to them,
 through working with voluntary
 organisations, in order to concentrate on
 issues that matter most to them.

l  Increase the visibility of existing services
 and signposting to them, as well as
 improving access for people at higher risk
 of bad health outcomes, working with
 and alongside voluntary and community
 organisations who are supporting these
 groups.

In Wokingham, provisions are in place 
to identify and effectively support 
those with Special Education Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND); a co-produced 
2020-2023 SEND strategy is being 
executed to support CYP aged 0-25 
years, their parents and carers. SEND 
Voices Wokingham is an example 
of a successful parent-carer forum 
which promotes participation and 
co-production in local governance by 
regularly representing or advocating 
for service users to service planners, 
commissioners and providers to design 
and deliver better services.

West Berkshire has recently refreshed 
its Domestic Abuse Strategy (2020-
2023) to provide high-quality, 
evidence-based interventions for 
survivors of abuse and their families as 
well as training for local practitioners 
and communities to support those 
currently at risk. A2Dominion is the 
local Domestic Abuse Service provider 
that offers emotional and practical 
support through phone helplines, 
places of safety and independent 
domestic violence advisor support.

SPOTLIGHT

17

Page 71



HOW DOES THIS IMPACT HEALTH 
INEQUITIES?

Inequities in child health and development 
start early; they exist at pregnancy, birth and 
during the early years. Not all children and 
families have the support they need for their 
children to be physically healthy, emotionally 
secure and ready to learn. Reasons for this 
are often social, including income and poor 
housing quality, and these factors can often 
accumulate over the lifecourse18, having long 
term consequences on not only health, but also 
social outcomes such as educational attainment 
and employment. This is why it is so important 
to ensure we support families to provide as best 
a start as possible for their children, helping 
to break the cycle of reproducing health and 
social inequalities in the next generations and 
so building the foundations for a more equal 
society in the future. 

3
WHY IS IT IMPORTANT? 

Prevention and early actions are key to positive 
health outcomes. Setting the foundations for 
health and wellbeing for families and children in 
early years is crucial to ensure the best start in life for 
every child15. The first 1001 days16 - from pregnancy 
to the first two years of a child’s life - are critical 
ages for development. This sensitive window 
sets the foundations for virtually every aspect of 
human development – physical, intellectual and 
emotional17.

Key improvements need to be made in:
i. Supporting new parents, including single 
parents, in the transition to parenthood;
ii. Ensuring access to effective interventions 
throughout the first 2 years of a child’s life;
iii. Guaranteeing affordability and timeliness of 
services during and after Covid-19.

       
WHAT YOU TOLD US:   

Around 40% of all survey respondents across 
the three areas consider this priority to be an 
“extremely important” issue.

WHAT ARE WE ALREADY DOING?

It is evident that children and young people 
(CYP) are our asset and a very cherished part 
of Berkshire West from the sheer number 
of partnerships, actions and advocacy at 
different levels surrounding children, young 
people and their families locally. 

In addition to the spotlight below, the three
areas have committed to align the delivery 
of local health visiting and school nursing 
services (Healthy Child Programme), 
promoting a whole systems approach* to 
make it easier for children, young people 
and families to receive the care and advice 
they need.

*A whole systems approach is when partners and stakeholders, 
including communities themselves, are brought together to 
develop a shared understanding of the challenges they face, 
particularly looking at how different factors are interlinked. By 
taking the whole picture into account, actions and solutions are 
developed together, aiming to bring about sustainable, long term 
change.

HELP FAMILIES AND CHILDREN 
IN EARLY YEARS

“I would like to have help with 
childcare”.

“It’s unclear what support is 
available.”

18 19

Page 72



TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE, WE WILL:

l  Work to provide support for parents and
 carers, during pregnancy and the early
 years, to improve personal and collective
 resilience using research and good
 practice.

l  Ensure families and parents have access
 to right and timely information and
 support for early years health. Working
 with midwifery, Family Hubs, healthy
 visiting and school nursing to improve
 the health, wellbeing, developmental and
 educational outcomes for all children. 
 
l  Increase the number of two-year
 olds (who experience disadvantage)
 accessing nursery places.

l  Ensure that our early years settings
 staff are trained in trauma-informed*
 practice and care, know where to find
 information or help, and can signpost
 families properly.

l  Publish clear guidelines on how families
 can access financial help, including for
 childcare costs; tackling stigma around
 this issue where it occurs.

West Berkshire Children Delivery Group 
and the ONE Reading CYP Partnership 
are working towards system change 
in their respective areas. This includes 
coordinating the contribution of 
partner agencies to shared visions, 
principles and priorities, promoting 
shared workforce development 
and information sharing. These 
organisations have also pushed to 
embed trauma-informed approaches* 
to CYP services and in school education 
programmes.

At the community level, different 
groups have also been providing 
training sessions and guidance to 
help practitioners to meet the diverse, 
complex needs of families. Areas of 
work which harness the expertise 
of voluntary groups range from 
mentoring to the provision of essential 
needs. The increase in voluntary sector 
capacity has increased community 
resilience and has helped to reduce 
pressures on specialist services.

SPOTLIGHT

19

HELP FAMILIES AND CHILDREN IN EARLY YEARS

*The King’s Fund describes a trauma informed approach as aiming 
to provide an environment where a person who has experienced 
trauma feels safe and can develop trust. Individual trauma results 
from an event, series of events or set of circumstances that is 
experienced as an individual as physically or emotionally harmful or 
life threatening and has lasting adverse effects on the individual’s 
functioning and mental, physical, social, emotional or spiritual 
wellbeing19. 

Page 73



HOW DOES THIS IMPACT HEALTH 
INEQUITIES?

Children from households in the poorest areas 
of Berkshire West are four times more likely to 
experience severe mental health problems than 
those from the richest areas22. Besides social 
factors, other important contributors to mental 
health and wellbeing amongst CYP include 
general health and physical activity . Inequities 
in the rates of mental illness observed across 
ethnicities and sexual orientations of CYP also 
warrant urgent attention23. As stated, we know 
that mental health conditions that start at a 
young age often persist into later life and limit 
CYP’s opportunities to thrive in both education 
and in the job market. Closing the gap in CYP 
mental health and wellbeing in Reading, West 
Berkshire and Wokingham will therefore be 
key to ensuring all CYP have the best chance of 
making the most of the opportunities available 
to them and fulfilling their potential.

4
WHY IS IT IMPORTANT? 

The mental and emotional health of CYP is as 
important as their physical health and wellbeing. 
Mental health problems are a leading cause of 
disability in children and young people, and can 
have long-lasting effects; 50% of those with lifetime 
mental illness experience symptoms by age 1420. 
The three key issues affecting the mental and 
emotional welfare for local CYP are21:

i. Limited access to mental health education and 
services to support children and young people and 
prevention services;
ii. Limited resources, service cuts and the impact of 
Covid-19 and the lockdowns on the ability to access 
service;
iii. The waiting time to access Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS).

WHAT YOU TOLD US:   

Over 70% of people 45 years or younger and 
about 50% of all survey respondents considered 
good mental health and wellbeing for all 
children and young people to be an extremely 
important issue.

WHAT ARE WE ALREADY DOING?

The Berkshire West Future in Mind Plan, is a Local 
Transformation Plan for CYP Mental Health 
and Wellbeing in Reading, West Berkshire and 
Wokingham. Its priorities are to:

l Raise awareness amongst children and
 young people, families / carers and
 services to improve confidence in
 providing informal emotional
 wellbeing support, as well as better 
 identification and early intervention for
 children and young people needing
 additional support for their mental
 wellbeing.

l  Improve waiting times and access to  
 support, including developing support  
 to bridge the gap for those on waiting  
 lists for a mental health assessment or  
 intervention.

l  Recognise the diversity of the youth  
 population across Berkshire West and  
 improve both equality of access across  
 all services and reduce stigma attached  
 to mental health.

PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING FOR ALL 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

“Not enough support in schools 
(for mental health).”

“Many families struggle to support their 
children (with mental health issues)”.

20 21

Page 74



PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING FOR ALL CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

l   Develop a systematic approach to 
 hearing the voices of children and   
 young people.

l   Strengthen joint working to plan,
 commission, deliver and promote
 services which focus on the priority
 issues for children and young people  
 across Berkshire West.

l  Build Berkshire West 0–25-year-old
 comprehensive mental health offer
 and review transition arrangements for
 services offered.

TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE, WE WILL: 

l  Aim to enable all our young people to
 thrive by helping them to build their
 resilience and have the skills to
 overcome normal life challenges and
 stresses without long term harm.

l  Aim for early identification of those
 young people in greatest need, or at
 risk of developing a mental health
 condition, in order to intervene early to
 support them with their emotional
 wellbeing, build self-confidence and so
 prevent worsening mental health. 

l  Use evidence to support interventions
 at the individual, family and community
 levels to prevent and reduce the risk of
 poor mental health. We will also
 improve the equality of access across
 all services by recognising the diversity
 of our youth population

l  Engage with staff, students, parents,
 the community and mental health
 support teams to inform interventions
 for emotional health and wellbeing,
 supporting a Whole School Approach
 to Mental Health24 and embedding
 wellbeing as a priority across the school
 environment. 

l  Each local authority will proactively
 support the mental health and
 wellbeing of their looked after children 
 and care leavers, adopting behaviours
 and attitudes, acting as any good
 parent would do by supporting,
 encouraging and guiding their children 
 to lead healthy, holistic and fulfilled
 lives (Corporate Parenting Principles25). 

l  Expand our trauma-informed
 approach among formal and informal
 service providers, including charities
 and voluntary organisations,
 supporting recovery and resilience in
 our children and young people.

l  Improve the process for transition to
 adult mental health services for our
 young people, starting the planning
 early and including the young person
 themselves in order to ensure that the
 process is as smooth as possible. 

21

Page 75



WHAT YOU TOLD US:   

Over 70% of people of 35 years of age 
or older and about 50% of all survey 
respondents considered good mental 
health and wellbeing for all adults an 
“extremely important” issue, while more 
than 40% believe that significant further 
change is required.

WHAT ARE WE ALREADY DOING?

In times of a global pandemic, the 
lockdown social distancing and shielding 
measures meant that people had less 
opportunity to spend time with loved 
ones as before. Understanding their 
impact on mental health and wellbeing, 
voluntary and service sectors alike have 
prioritised combating loneliness and 
social isolation and expanded efforts to 
address mental health crises and suicide 
prevention as part of the Covid-19 
response.
 
Across Berkshire West, during this time, 
our local services have proactively 
reached out to existing users for wellbeing 
checks. There has been an overwhelming 
and heartening response from volunteers 
in expanding the capacity of charities 
for befriending support.  As we move 
forward, partner organisations of the 
three HWBs will remain vigilant and 
provide enhanced mental health and 
suicide prevention support around areas 
of heightened risk.

HOW DOES THIS IMPACT HEALTH 
INEQUITIES?

Inequities also exist in adult mental ill-health 
across protected characteristics, including 
sexual orientation, sex, ethnicity, and whether 
they belong in socially excluded groups (e.g. 
people experiencing homelessness, asylum and 
refugees).  People with severe mental illness (SMI), 
such as psychosis and bipolar disorder, have a life 
expectancy of up to 20 years shorter than the 
general population29.

Much like inequities in physical health, mental 
illness is also closely linked to broader social 
inequalities which are complex and interrelated, 
such as unemployment, discrimination and 
social exclusion. Therefore, tackling mental 
health inequalities also requires addressing these 
broader social inequalities.

5
“Ethnically diverse communities find 

it difficult to access mental health 
resources”.

“(physical health is) linked to 
mental health”

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT? 

Mental health problems in adults represent the largest 
single cause of disability in the UK26. Adults could be 
affected by mental health issues at any time. It impacts 
all aspects of our lives, and both influences and is 
influenced by physical health. Adult mental illnesses 
also have a ripple effect on their family, unpaid carers 
and wider society.  In 2019/20, an estimated 17.9 
million working days were lost due to work-related 
stress, depression or anxiety in Great Britain27. The key 
issues are28:

i.   Lack of early identification of and intervention with 
mental health problems;
ii.  Limited social networks have a significant impact on 
the health and wellbeing of people, and are a powerful 
predictor of death, with evidence that adequate social  
relationships can help improve life expectancy;
iii. Improving the access, quality and efficiency of 
current services, including post  Covid-19 mental 
health support.

PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING FOR
ALL ADULTS    

22 23

Page 76



TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE, WE WILL:

l  Tackle the social factors that create 
 risks to mental health and wellbeing, such
 as social stressors related to debt,
 unemployment, insecure housing, trauma,
 discrimination, as well as social isolation and
 loneliness.31

l  Work with local communities, voluntary
 sectors and diverse groups to re-build
 mental resilience and tackle stigma of
 mental health; all in order to promote an
 informed, tolerant and supportive culture. 

l  Continue to recognise the importance of
 social connection, green spaces and
 understanding of different cultural contexts
 for mental wellbeing.  We will increase social
 prescribing32 by promoting access and
 signpost to activities that promote
 wellbeing, such as physical activity and
 stronger social networking to improve
 health.

l  Improve access to, quality and efficiency of
 services available to all who need them,
 including improved digital offerings for
 those who can and prefer to use them. 

l  Work with professionals in workplaces and
 other settings; using a preventative
 approach to break down the barriers
 between physical and mental health, and
 ensure both are treated equally. 

l  Improve access to support for
 mental health crises and develop alternative
 models which offer sustainable solutions,
 such as peer mentoring or trauma-based
 approaches. 

SPOTLIGHT

PROMOTE GOOD MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING
FOR ALL ADULTS    

Wokingham’s Link Visiting Scheme 
is a charity  dedicated to reducing 
loneliness through enabling 
friendships. Thanks to the immense 
support from local communities, 
the charity has seen an 80% spike 
in growth and has managed to 
respond to the quadrupled demand 
in services during the pandemic. 
From one-to-one phone calls that 
match volunteers to older people 
based on personality and interests, 
to online Friendship Cafes and craft 
sessions, the charity has seen many 
friendships blossom during the 
pandemic.

West Berkshire have signed up 
to the Prevention Concordat for 
Better Mental Health30, working 
with different organisations to take 
a prevention focused approach 
to public mental health. A new 
Surviving to Thriving fund has also 
been set up in partnership with 
Greenham Trust to support projects 
that will help to reduce the impact of 
Covid-19 on mental health.

23

Page 77



THE ROAD AHEAD

As we transition into the post-pandemic era, we now need to look forward to the recovery of 
population health, rebuilding livelihoods and adapting to a new normal, whilst levelling health 
inequities across Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham. In order to do this, each Health and 
Wellbeing Board will develop their own local delivery plans to implement this Strategy. These plans 
will be specific to each area, understanding how the five priorities fit in their communities and what 
local actions need to be taken. This will include the governance and accountability arrangements 
that will oversee the work. 

This Strategy will actively engage with stakeholders to refresh itself on a cycle during its ten-year 
lifespan. This will ensure that the Strategy is able to meet the needs of our communities as they 
grow and change during this time.     

STRENGTHENING PARTNERSHIPS AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AS A 
PLACE-BASED APPROACH

Improving the health and wellbeing of Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham will always rely 
on local assets; it is not a task that can be achieved by the Health and Wellbeing Board alone. 
Faced with these challenges before us, now more than ever is the time to come together to work 
towards our common goals and recover from the pandemic. We want to strengthen existing 
partnerships, increase collective action, coordinate the management of common resources, share 
data and best practices and stimulate innovation at the local level. 

We also want to build upon the many conversations we have had with local people and continue 
directly engaging and involving residents as a way of empowering communities to have a say, 
take control of their health, find solutions that work for everyone and support one another in this 
time of crisis. By adopting this place-based approach to health, we can maximise our resources, 
skills and expertise to increase the pace and scale of change required.

N
EX

T 
ST

EP
S

NEXT STEPS

24 25

Page 78



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD COMMITMENTS

Each Health and Wellbeing Board will work towards the five priorities in different approaches 
to adapt to their local context and reflect on local issues and concerns. Whilst there are specific 
priorities contained within this Strategy, our ambition is to embed prevention in all that we 
do. We will achieve this through a public health approach and for each of the five identified 
priorities, the three HWBs will:

l  Assess the current provision and gaps in services compared to national guidance or best
 practices ensuring that this Strategy coordinates with other strategies across the system
 and is complementary to those, rather than a duplication of them.

l  Define how success may be measured by developing a robust outcomes and  indicators
 framework. This will be presented as outcomes when measuring progress (including the
 targets), to enable sharper focus and opportunities for the three Boards to discuss
 progress in their local areas.

l  Review the evidence on what works to get us to where we want to be.

l  Identify opportunities for improvement.
 
l  Consult the stakeholders for input on the draft implementation plan.

l  Identify resources for implementation.

l  Oversee implementation of the Strategy and review progress against agreed outcomes.

The diagram below represents a framework that will guide the work in delivering the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy

NEXT STEPS

25

l Understanding impact
l Sharing best practice
l Whole system impact assessment
l Evaluate cost benefit

l Design of Multi-disciplinary cross 
        organisational intervention/s
l Evidence based and cost effective
l Adoption of behavioural science 
l Quality improvement methodology

Define and 
understand the 

problem

Co-design the 
intervention/s 

or service

Implementation 
phase

Evaluate and 
widespread 

adoption

Service users
/ Community 
involvement

l Commissioning
l Change management
l Bio-psychosocial models

l Population analytics/needs 
        assessment
l Whole system mapping
l Behavioural insights
l Identify risk / protective factors
l Identify assets / community voice

1

2

3

4

N
EX

T STEPS

Page 79



1. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strength   
 ing-our-response
2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6827626/
3. https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 
4. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 
5. https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-re view
6. https://www.opml.co.uk/blog/five-lessons-for-local-governments-during-covid-19
7. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
 ment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-im prove
 health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf 
8. https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives
 the-marmot-review
9. https://esrc.ukri.org/about-us/50-years-of-esrc/50-achievements/the-dahlgren-whit
 head-rainbow/
10. https://rva.org.uk/organisation/readingcre/
11. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
 ment_data/file/560598/Health_in_All_Policies_overview_paper.pdf
12. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities
13. https://www.who.int/sdhconference/resources/ConceptualframeworkforactiononSDH
 eng.pdf
14. https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12939-015-0207-6
15. https://heckmanequation.org/resource/invest-in-early-childhood-development-r
 duce-deficits-strengthen-the-economy/
16. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
 ment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days
 pdf
17. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england-2018/cha
 ter-4-health-of-children-in-the-early-years
18. https://www.who.int/life-course/publications/life-course-approach-to-health.pdf
19. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2019/11/trauma-informed-care
20. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15939837/
21. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/AF/AECD6B/mhcyp_2020_rep_v2.pdf
22. https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-09/newcentury.pdf
23. https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/MHF-tackling-inequalities-report
 WEB.pdf
24. https://www.mentallyhealthyschools.org.uk/whole-school-approach/
25. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
 ment_data/file/683698/Applying_corporate_parenting_principles_to_looked-after
 children_and_care_leavers.pdf

REFERENCES

26 27

RE
FE

RE
N

CE
S

Page 80



  

REFEREN
CES

26. https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/
27. https://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/causdis/stress.pdf
28. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying
 all-our-health
29. https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/12/18/health-matters-redu
 ing-health-inequalities-in-mental-illness/
30. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-me
 tal-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
31. https://focus.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.focus.20150017
32. https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/

REFERENCES

27

Page 81



A
PP

EN
D

IX
 

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX

28

  MEASURE

Total Resident Population

Urban Population:

The percentage of people living in an urban area, based on the 
Rural-Urban Classification. The Classification defines areas as rural 
if they are outside settlements with more than 10,000 resident pop-
ulation, and as urban if inside such settlements.

Population Aged 65+

Ethnically Diverse Population 

Children achieving a good level of development 
at early years

Full time students age 18+

Total number of businesses

Unemployment Rate

Percentage of unpaid carers (1-50+ hours of 
unpaid care per week)

People with very good health 

 SOURCE

Office for National Statistics (2019)

Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs (2011)

https:¬/¬/www.gov.uk¬/government¬/collec-
tions-/rural-urban-classification Data 

Office for National Statistics (2019)

Office for National Statistics, Census (2011)

Department for Education (2019)- Statistics: 
Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 

https:¬/¬/www.gov.uk¬/government¬/
collections-/statistics-early-years-founda-
tion-stage-profile 

Office for National Statistics, Census (2011)

Office for National Statistics (2019)

Office for National Statistics (2019)

Office for National Statistics, Census (2011)

Office for National Statistics, Census (2011)

Page 82



Official PMO Template 

1 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
For advice on this document please contact Clare Muir on 72119 or email 
Claire.Muir@reading.gov.uk.  
 
Please contact the Project Management Office at pmo@reading.gov.uk for advice 
and/or support to complete this form from a project perspective. 

 
 
Name of proposal/activity/policy to be assessed: 
 
Adoption of the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 
 
Directorate:    
 
Directorates of Adult Care and Health Services and Council wide services 
 
Service:  Public Health and Wellbeing Team 
 
Name: Nina Crispin 
Job Title: Information and Engagement Officer  
Date of assessment:19/08/2021 
 
 

 
 

Version History 
 

Version Reason Author Date Approved By 

1.0 Creation Nina Crispin 19/08/2021  
2.0 Review Nina Crispin 01/09/2021  
2.3 Review Nina Crispin 16/09/2021  

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 83



Official PMO Template 

2 

 

 
 

 
Scope your proposal 
 
 

 What is the aim of your policy or new service/what changes are you 
proposing? 

The proposal is to adopt a Health and Wellbeing (HWB) Strategy for the period 
2021-2030 in accordance with the duties to publish strategic plans to promote and 
protect health and wellbeing as set out in both the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
and in the Care Act 2014.  

 

The Reading HWB Strategy 2021-2030 sets out agreed priorities across Berkshire 
West and the clinical commissioning groups which serve the Reading, West 
Berkshire and Wokingham localities. In Reading, the Strategy will underpin 
commissioning plans across Reading Borough Council, South Reading CCG and North 
& West Reading CCG (insofar as this CCG covers the Reading locality).  

 

The 2021-2030 Berkshire West HWB Strategy is based on 8 core principles. These 
are intended to underpin all of the strategic priorities and be considered as part of 
all implementation plans. The core principles are: 

 

 Recovery from Covid-19 
 Engagement 
 Prevention and early intervention 
 Empowerment and self-care 
 Digital enablement 
 Social cohesion 
 Integration 
 Continuous learning. 

 

The Strategy goes on to identify 5 priorities. These are: 

 Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 
 Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy lives 
 Help children and families in early years 
 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people 
 Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults 

  

Page 84



Official PMO Template 

3 

 

 
 Who will benefit from this proposal and how? 
 It is intended to be an important tool in: 
 - Improving the health and wellbeing of Reading residents; 
 - Reducing health inequalities; and 
 - Promoting the integration of services. 

 

 What outcomes does the change aim to achieve and for whom? 

 

Adopting the 2021-2030 Berkshire West HWB Strategy will give the Health and 
Wellbeing Board a focus on the 5 identified priorities (see above), and set a 
framework for ensuring that plans to address these are based on the three 
underpinning issues (‘building bocks’) of carer recognition and support, co-
ordinated information to support wellbeing, and safeguarding. In turn, the 
commissioning plans of individual HWB Board members over the next ten years 
should also be driven by and reflect HWB Strategy 2021-2030 priorities.    

The Strategy is aimed at the entire population and adopting it should co-ordinate 
efforts to improve health and wellbeing for any resident potentially affected by 
the priority issues.  

The HWB Board will drive performance forward in its chosen priority areas as set 
out in the Strategy. In addition, the HWB Board will continue to receive reports 
and requests from other local strategic partnerships involved in promoting health 
and wellbeing, e.g. the Reading Integration Board, the One Reading Partnership, 
the Mental Wellbeing Forum, the Loneliness and Social Isolation Steering Group, 
etc. 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 acknowledges the risks related to 
climate change but is not designed to address those risks at this point in time. 
However, the implementation plans will endeavour to include detailed actions 
wherever relevant to address those risks and the health implications of climate 
risks. 

 

 Who are the main stakeholders and what do they want? 

 

- Current users of care and support services 

- Carers and family of people with care and support needs 

- Reading residents, as potential future users of care and support services 

- Staff and volunteers across care and support providers in the statutory, private and 
voluntary sectors 

Page 85



Official PMO Template 

4 

 

 

 

 

Assess whether an EqIA is Relevant 
How does your proposal relate to eliminating discrimination; advancing equality of 
opportunity; promoting good community relations? 

 

 Do you have evidence or reason to believe that some (racial, disability, 
sex, gender, sexuality, age and religious belief) groups may be affected 
differently than others?  

 Make reference to the known demographic profile of the service user 
group, your monitoring information, research, national data/reports etc.  

 

EIA has been core to the development of the health and wellbeing strategy, and 
priority 1 and 2 specifically address reducing the health differences between 
groups based on the data analysis and consultation we have undergone to ensure 
all in the population benefit from the strategic aims. 

 

 

 Is there already public concern about potentially discriminatory 
practices/impact or could there be? Make reference to your complaints, 
consultation, feedback, media reports locally/nationally. 

 

No    

 

 
If the answer is Yes to any of the above, you need to do an Equality Impact 
Assessment. 

If No you MUST complete this statement. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is not relevant because: 

 

Page 86



Official PMO Template 

5 

 

16/09/2021

X Nina Crispin

Completing Officer
Signed by: Crispin, Nina  

 

16/09/2021

X Becky Pollard

Lead Officer
Signed by: Crispin, Nina   

Page 87



Official PMO Template 

6 

 

Assess the Impact of the Proposal 
Your assessment must include: 

 Consultation 

 Collection and Assessment of Data 

 Judgement about whether the impact is negative or positive 

Think about who does and doesn’t use the service? Is the take up representative of 
the community? What do different minority groups think? (You might think your 
policy, project or service is accessible and addressing the needs of these groups, 
but asking them might give you a totally different view). Does it really meet their 
varied needs? Are some groups less likely to get a good service?  

How do your proposals relate to other services - will your proposals have knock on 
effects on other services elsewhere? Are there proposals being made for other 
services that relate to yours and could lead to a cumulative impact?  

 

Example: A local authority takes separate decisions to limit the eligibility criteria 
for community care services; increase charges for respite services; scale back its 
accessible housing programme; and cut concessionary travel.  

Each separate decision may have a significant effect on the lives of disabled 
residents, and the cumulative impact of these decisions may be considerable.  

This combined impact would not be apparent if decisions are considered in 
isolation. 

 
  

Page 88



Official PMO Template 

7 

 

Consultation 

 

How have you consulted with or do you plan to consult with relevant groups and 
experts. If you haven’t already completed a Consultation form do it now. The 
checklist helps you make sure you follow good consultation practice.   

Consultation manager form - Reading Borough Council Dash 

Relevant groups/experts How were/will the 
views of these groups 
be obtained 

Date when contacted 

Reading residents, including 
but not confined to those 
with care and support needs 

Organisations across all 
sectors involving in 
promoting or protecting 
health and wellbeing 

The Strategy has been 
informed through the 
engagement of 
stakeholders to develop 
an approach and a 
strategy, and then a 
formal 12-week public 
consultation. 3967 
consultation responses 
were received, and 
verbal feedback was 
obtained via 246 meeting 
attendances. 

7 December 2020-28 
February 2021 

Reading residents, including 
but not confined to those 
with care and support needs 

Organisations across all 
sectors involving in 
promoting or protecting 
health and wellbeing 

A second consultation on 
the strategy was carried 
out to ascertain if the 
aims and priorities set 
out in the strategy met 
people’s expectations. A 
total of 162 people 
responded to the online 
consultation. 

24th July 2021-4th 
August 2021 

Page 89



Official PMO Template 

8 

 

Collect and Assess your Data 

Using information from Census, residents survey data, service monitoring data, 
satisfaction or complaints, feedback, consultation, research, your knowledge and 
the knowledge of people in your team, staff groups etc. describe how the proposal 
could impact on each group. Include both positive and negative impacts.  

(Please delete relevant ticks) 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on racial groups 
 Is there a negative impact? No  

No negative impact in terms of different racial groups has been identified. 

Where take up of other services is disproportionately low for some racial groups 
which may face particular barriers to access, there will be a focusing of resources 
on those communities as part of the drive to reduce health inequalities.  

There is an ongoing need to recognise that cultural norms and barriers such as 
language may impact on access to health and wellbeing support, and the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy should be a tool to address this.  

Responses to the consultation raised the importance of ensuring that information 
and advice about health and wellbeing is accessible to all groups. 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Sex and Gender identity 
(include pregnancy and maternity, marriage, gender re-assignment) 

 Is there a negative impact? No  

 

No negative impact in terms of gender has been identified. 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Disability 
 Is there a negative impact? No  

 

No negative impact in terms of disability has been identified. 

 

 

 

Page 90



Official PMO Template 

9 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Sexual orientation 
(cover civil partnership) 

 Is there a negative impact? No  

 

No negative impacts on the grounds of sexual orientation have been identified. 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on age 
 Is there a negative impact?  No  

 

No negative impacts on the grounds of age have been identified 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Religious belief 
 Is there a negative impact?  No  

 

No negative impact in terms of religion or belief has been identified. 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



Official PMO Template 

10 

 

Make a Decision 

If the impact is negative then you must consider whether you can legally justify it.  
If not you must set out how you will reduce or eliminate the impact. If you are not 
sure what the impact will be you MUST assume that there could be a negative 
impact. You may have to do further consultation or test out your proposal and 
monitor the impact before full implementation. 

 

 

No negative impact identified – Go to sign off 
 

 

 How will you monitor for adverse impact in the future? 

 

The long-term impact of adopting the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021-2030 should be a reduction in health inequalities. In order to track 
progress towards this goal, a dashboard of key performance indicators will be 
developed. This, alongside regular Health and Wellbeing Action Plan progress 
reports to the Board, will highlight any widening of health inequalities in future.    

 

16/09/2021

X Nina Crispin

Completing Officer
Signed by: Crispin, Nina

16/09/2021

X Becky Pollard

Lead Officer
Signed by: Crispin, Nina  

 

Page 92



BERKSHIRE WEST 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

STRATEGY (HWBS) 
2021- 2030 

Public Engagement Report

Page 93



Contents

Executive Summary

1. Background 

2. Overview and methodology

3. Results

3.1  Online survey 
 i. Demographics 
 ii. Responses to individual questions
 iii. Responses to the free-text questions 
 a. Themes surrounding issues in accessing help needed for health and 
  wellbeing problems

3.2  Focus group findings

4. Developing the final priorities 

5. Conclusion 

6. References

7. Appendix
 A. Scoring systems for priorities 
 B. Overall results on the ranking of priorities 
 C. Survey questions 

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
S

Page 94



Executive Summary 

In 2019, the Chairs of the Health and Wellbeing Boards for Reading, West Berkshire and 
Wokingham partnered to produce a Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Berkshire West. 
It was decided that public consultation and engagement would be a critical element to 
develop the final priorities for the strategy. The public engagement was co-produced and 
delivered through a Consultation & Engagement Task and Finish group. The engagement 
took place between 4th December 2020 and 28th February 2021 and was a key part of 
determining local priorities for the 2021-2030 period.

The public engagement consisted of focus group discussions and an online public survey. 
Through these, we asked members of the public about the importance of 11 potential 
priorities for helping themselves and their community live happier and healthier lives.  
These 11 potential priorities had been refined from a list of approximately 30, during 
an earlier stage of the Strategy development. Six main themes were identified from the 
responses to the free-text questions in online surveys, and discussions during focus 
group meetings. These themes were 1)Health inequalities, 2) Information and guidance, 
3) Service integration and appropriateness, 4) Targeted support, 5) Social and physical 
environment, and 6) Covid-19. Public feedback was largely supportive of the proposed 
priorities and five top priorities were identified. In no particular order, the top five priorities 
were found to be: 1) Reduce the difference in health between different groups of people; 
2) Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes; 3) Help children and families 
during the early years of life; 4) Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children 
and young people; 5) Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults.

1

E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 

Page 95



1. Background

In 2019, the Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) for Reading, West Berkshire and 
Wokingham took the decision to develop a shared Health and Wellbeing Strategy along 
with the Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), in order to improve population 
and community health. From the very beginning, it was agreed that public consultation and 
engagement would be key to developing the final priorities for the strategy. Therefore, the aim 
of this public engagement was to actively listen to people’s views and to work in partnership 
with the public to discuss and find consensus on the final priorities for the Berkshire West 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The strategy itself will guide the next ten years of work 
across the three local authority areas, to create a robust programme of community health 
and wellbeing priorities and to support the process of recovery from Covid-19. 

The vision for Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham over the next ten years, is to 
promote longer, healthier and enriching lives for all. The mission statements under this 
vision are as follows:

1. All our children and young people have the best possible start in life and the 
 opportunity to thrive, no matter what their circumstance.

2. Children and adults most at risk from bad health outcomes are safe and
 safeguarded.

3. Everyone of working age has access to decent employment opportunities.

4. All people have the best opportunities for good mental health and wellbeing –
 to realise their potential and connect with the community.

5. Our communities are strong, resilient, thriving and inclusive, with all residents   
 benefitting from a healthy, accessible environment.

6. All people will be able to gain access to integrated health and social care services.

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

2Page 96



2. Overview and Methodology

How we consulted 

A Public Consultation & Engagement Task and Finish Group was established to co-
produce and deliver a robust engagement process through a public survey and focus group 
discussions. The membership of the group spanned across the three local authority areas 
and included representatives from the public health teams for each council, Healthwatch 
Reading, Healthwatch West Berkshire, Healthwatch Wokingham, Reading Voluntary Action, 
West Berkshire Volunteer Centre, Involve Wokingham, Community United West Berkshire, 
ACRE, Berkshire West CCG and Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. By partnership 
working with these organisations, it was intended to ensure that diverse ethnic communities 
and those traditionally marginalised in these types of engagement were represented. The 
public engagement ran from 4th December 2020 to 28th February 2021. 

The engagement was intended to be far-reaching and comprehensive, hearing from as many 
residents as we could. It included a public-facing web page (on the Berkshire West CCG 
website) with information on the Strategy and a link to the survey, a generic inbox inviting 
comments, an online public survey, engagement with Town and Parish Councils and focus 
groups with targeted communities. An Engagement Toolkit was produced to support the 
public engagement, including a background narrative to each priority (both a facilitator and 
a public-facing version) and a feedback template. This was to ensure consistent and robust 
discussions throughout. This toolkit was used at the focus groups and was also offered to other 
organisations, to use if they wish, to facilitate discussions amongst their members. 

The survey was distributed through a number of different mechanisms. First, an extensive 
stakeholder list was mapped out by members of the Task and Finish group, each of whom 
were sent the survey link and asked to share with their contacts. Every Town and Parish 
Council across Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham was contacted and invited to engage 
with the strategy development through the survey and also to share it with their residents. 
The survey was regularly promoted on social media, including sponsored posts on purposely 
created “A Happier and Healthier Berkshire” Facebook and Twitter pages. The three local 
authority communications teams also promoted the survey through their respective Facebook 
and Twitter pages and also through regular resident e-newsletters. 

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W
 A

N
D

 M
E

T
H

O
D

O
L

O
G

Y

3Page 97



Focus groups formed another key part of the public engagement. These were planned 
by the Task and Finish group and facilitated by members including the three Healthwatch 
organisations. They were intended to ensure engagement with groups who were less likely 
to participate through different routes or those whose voice was often not heard in public 
engagement. This included specific focus groups for individuals with learning disabilities, 
unpaid carers (including young carers), older people, and diverse ethnic communities.  In 
addition, there were three virtual public meetings held which were open to everyone to attend. 
A number of other organisations chose to hold focus groups with their members and were able 
to use the Toolkit to do so. In total, 18 focus groups were conducted (Table 1).

Table 1: List of focus groups, by organisations facilitating and number of attendees

4

Organisation facilitating

West Berkshire Council – 
Young carers

Strategy group

Strategy group (Reading)

Patient Voice

Together UK

Strategy group

Talkback

Healthwatch West Berkshire 

Healthwatch West Berkshire 

Strategy group

Healthwatch Wokingham

Healthwatch Wokingham

Healthwatch Reading

Healthwatch Reading

Patient voice

Focus

Young carers

Older people

Older people 

General public

Parent, students, ethnic diverse 
communities, older people

General public (3 meetings)

Learning disability

Maternity/parents (2 groups)

Older people

Adults from Ethnic diverse 
communities

Learning disability

Carers

Ethnically diverse communities

Young people

Patients

Number of 
attendees

9

20

29

17

5

15

25

30

17

18

15

9

9

10

16

Page 98



What we consulted on  

During the public engagement, residents were asked to discuss and comment on 11 potential 
priorities for improving health and wellbeing in their communities. These 11 potential priorities had 
already been determined through a process of reviewing data on population need and through 
discussions with stakeholders and organisations. The potential priorities were as follows: 

l Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 
l Support vulnerable people to live healthy lives
l Help families and young children in early years
l Reduce the harm caused by addiction to substances (smoking, alcohol or drugs)
l Good health and wellbeing at work 
l Physically active communities 
l Help households with significant health needs 
l Extra support for anyone who has been affected by mental or physical trauma 
 in childhood 
l Build strong, resilient and socially connected communities 
l Good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people 
l Good mental health and wellbeing for all adults   

As part of the online survey, respondents were asked ‘how important do you think each of the 
potential priorities are to helping you and your community to live happier and healthier lives?’

At the end of each focus group, attendees were asked to rank the 11 priorities together in order 
of importance to the group.

5

Phases

Familiarising oneself 
with the data

Generating initial 
codes

Searching for themes

Reviewing themes

Defining and 
naming themes

Producing the 
report

Process

Reading and re-reading the data while noting initial ideas.

Systematically assigning codes (i.e. a word or a short phrase 
that capture the essence of a data segment) to interesting 
features across the entire dataset.

Collating codes and their relevant data to form potential themes.

Checking that the themes work in relation to (i) the coded 
extracts and (ii) the whole dataset. Generate a “thematic map” 
of how the themes and codes relate to one another.

Ongoing analysis to refine the themes and the overall story. 
Generate clear names and definitions for each theme.

Selecting vivid, compelling extract or quotes for examples; 
relating the analysis back to the research question and wider 
literature in writing up the report.

Methodology for the qualitative data analysis 

Qualitative data from the focus group and free-text within the survey were analysed using 
thematic analysis. This flexible and accessible method consists of the following six iterative 
phases:
Table 2: Description of the six phases of thematic analysis

Page 99



3. Results

3.1 The online survey

Demographics of respondents  

A total of 3967 responses were received via the online public consultation survey. Demographic 
data of the respondents was also collected as part of the survey, and the following results were 
obtained. However as seen in the below table, many of our respondents (over 50%) chose to 
not answer the questions specifying their demographic details. Therefore, this may not be truly 
representative of the demographic profiles of those who answered the survey. 

Of the 1786 people who specified, the majority of respondents were female (71.56%), followed 
by male (28.05%), and non-binary (0.39%). The most common age range specified was 
55-64 (21.78%), closely followed by 65-74 (20.49%) and 45-54 (20.32%). A small minority 
of respondents were 24 or below (3.29%). Most of the respondents who specified (1782) 
identified as White or White British (89.51%), with Asian/Asian British the next most selected 
ethnic identity category (4.26%). Black/Black British (1.57%), mixed/multiple ethnic group 
(2.02%), gypsy/traveller (0.06%), and other ethnic groups (2.58%) were relatively under-
represented.

6

R
E

S
U

LT
S

Page 100



Regionally, most respondents were from Wokingham (39.5%), jointly followed by Reading 
(30.3%), and West Berkshire (30.3%). The majority of respondents provided feedback as 
individual respondents, with a small proportion responding on behalf of an organisation (158 
responses).

Responses to individual questions

Q2. In order of importance, one being the most important, how would you rank the 
potential priorities?

7

Local Authority  Count of Which local authority area do you live in?

Wokingham   1566 (39.5%)

West Berkshire  1201 (30.3%)

Reading   1200 (30.3%)

Grand Total   3967

Page 101



Q3. Are there any other priorities you think we should consider including in the 
draft Strategy that we haven’t mentioned in previous questions?

Q4. How much change do you think is required for each priority?

8Page 102



Q7. Are you, your family, or other people you care for able to get all the help or 
support you/they need for any health and wellbeing problems?

Q8. Has the help or support been sought during the COVID-19 pandemic?

9Page 103



Responses to the free-text questions 

We also asked three open-ended questions to follow up on survey questions 3, 4, and 7: 

Free-text responses from the first two open-ended questions were analysed and explored in 
the “Developing the Final Priorities” section. In this section, we will focus on the third question 
which concerns access to health and social care support. We will first introduce a guiding 
framework based on a person-centred approach before presenting our findings by themes. 

Guiding framework to achieve person-centred health and social services 
To achieve a person-centred approach to health and social care access in Berkshire West, we 
sought to understand the issues people face with getting help and support needed for health 
and wellbeing problems (Figure 1). 

Are there any other priorities you think we should consider including in the draft 
strategy that we haven’t mentioned in previous questions? Please tell us what 
priorities you like to see included and why.

How much change do you think is required for each priority (“no change”, “some 
change”, “significant change”, “don’t know”). Please tell us the reasons for your 
response, including details of any changes you think are needed.

Are you, your family or other people you care for able to get all the help or support 
you/they need for any health and wellbeing problems? If no, please tell us about 
the issues you/ your family have encountered. 

“Are you, your family or other 
people you care for able to get all 
the help or support needed for any 

health and wellbeing problems? 

Figure 1: Survey question about issues in accessing help and support for health and 
wellbeing problems.

10Page 104



Using the framework in Figure 2, we define person-centred access to health and social care 
as the opportunity to have needs for health and social services or support fulfilled. This 
involves a series of identifying needs, seeking help, reaching and using the services, shown 
in the arrow.  

The red boxes represent the six themes from our analysis of the responses to this survey 
question, and where they sit within this framework. These are: 

i. Health Inequalities 
ii. Information and Guidance 
iii. Targeted Support 
iv. Service Integration 
v. Social and Physical Environment 
vi. Covid-19 

The boxes above and below the arrow represent some of the specific issues raised by 
respondents in more detail.  

From the Service Provider’s Perspective (Top Panel)

Accessible health and social care has to be:
 approachable, acceptable, available, affordable and appropriate

From the Service User’s Perspective (Bottom Panel)

Accessible health and social care systems have to empower services users 
to increase their: ability to perceive health needs, ability to seek help, ability to 

reach for help, ability to pay and the ability to engage meaningfully with services

11Page 105



Figure 2: Conceptualisation of the challenges to person-centred access to health and 
social care services in Berkshire West, as adapted by Chuah et al., 2018 from Levesque 
et al.’s framework. The red boxes indicate six themes from our public engagement survey 
and focus group findings.  

12

Providers

Information 
and 

guidance

Online face-to-
face delivery, 
culture and 
language

Availability 
of services, 
resources, 
gatekeeper

Out-of-pocket 
payments, 

private 
healthcare

Patient-
Provider

relationships

Social and 
physical 

environment

Health
care

needs

Perception 
of needs and 

desire for care

Health care
seeking

Health care
reaching

Health care
utilisation

Health care
consequences

Health literacy 
and awareness 

of what is 
available

Digital inclusion, 
navigating the 
health system

Wait times, 
referral, 

intermediate 
support 

transport

Livelihood, 
work schemes, 

welfare 
benefits

Empowerment, 
quality of care

Targeted support for 
individuals with high risk of 

bad outcomes

Inequalities in 
access to health 
and social care

Appropriateness and 
integrationApproachability Acceptability Availability Affordability

Ability to 
perceive

Ability to 
seek

Ability to 
reach

Ability to 
pay

Ability to 
engage

2

1

3

4

5

Impact of Covid-19
6

Service users

Page 106



Theme 1: Health Inequalities 

There are apparent inequalities in healthcare access along the lines of (a) public versus 
private healthcare, (b) physical versus mental health services, and specifically (c) Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 

(a) Public versus private healthcare

The main challenge begins with accessing primary health care (GPs) due to long waits for 
telephone and face-to-face appointments. Respondents also indicated the difficulty and the 
need to see a doctor in person because not everything can be diagnosed over the phone. 
When they do get hold of their GP, some feel unable to talk to their GPs to properly explain 
their health condition because of how busy the practice is. To get help, several respondents 
mentioned the need to be “persistent”, “assertive” and to “chase after help”, which has 
caused undue worry and stress. 

“Access to primary care has been challenging with very long waits for a telephone appointment 
and lack of response to emails despite this being the way the practice requests patients 
contact them.”

“Don’t feel I can talk to GP as they are so busy. Don’t know who else to turn to.” 

Since GPs are often the first point-of-contact between service users and the healthcare 
system, not getting timely access to primary care will have cascading effects on delaying 
secondary and tertiary referrals as well. As a result, some resort to sorting out issues 
themselves or opt for private healthcare if they can afford it. However, not everyone is able 
to afford private healthcare. 

“We basically get on with life and address the issues ourselves.”

“Only by paying privately for treatment. This feels like “queue jumping” to us.” 

(b) Mental health versus physical health 

There were some grievances over the lack of recognition of mental health issues to be 
treated equally as physical health issues. This is partly manifested in a very under-resourced 
mental health service provision. 

“When somebody is drowning / bleeding to death it is easy to see there is a problem. But 
with mental health you might not feel [or] acknowledge the problem and without the social 
interaction, there is no one to say: ‘you look like you are drowning, do you need a life jacket?’”

“Mental wellbeing problems are not perceived as serious enough for there to be support, or 
for there to be understanding in the community. Community members perceive their own 
exaggerated risks to physical health to be of greater importance than “invisible” mental 
health risks and issues.”

13Page 107



Respondents noted the difficulty in obtaining therapy and counselling, which could escalate 
to a crisis point before being seen. Furthermore, some expressed that the current, limited 
provision of counselling sessions are not enough.

“Mental health counselling is limited on the NHS. I don’t understand why.... If you had a 
heart defect, you have treatment until it was fixed, why is this not the same for mental 
health?”

(c) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

This was particularly so for Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS), where 
being under-resourced had led to waiting times for as long as 18 months to get assessments. 

“My role as Social Prescriber means I can research and connect with many available 
resources e.g. carers hub for my mum (although she declines). I was disappointed there 
wasn’t an apt equivalent for children to help manage my son’s anxiety as CAMHS said it 
was only for significant difficulties and I have patients waiting over 18 months for support 
even when in severe distress. Funding really needs to go to this area - healthy children 
have a better chance of better mental health as adults but currently I don’t feel there is 
enough support there. As a GP practice we are planning to develop support for teens to 
help address this gap for our patients.” 

In the meantime, parents and carers expressed their frustration that their children were 
not reaching their full potential. Still others were concerned about the high threshold to be 
eligible for support. 

“CAMHS told my daughter she wasn’t bad enough to get help, even when she was 
self- harming.” 

For those who were able to access CAMHS after the long wait, some respondents expressed 
that help was inadequate, ineffective or inappropriate, such as reliance on medication. This 
is partly dependent on which therapies are being commissioned.  

“My grandson needed help with his mental well-being due to bullying at school but was only 
offered telephone counselling which was of no use to him...”

14Page 108



Theme 2: Information and Guidance

Several respondents noted what they found helpful in signposting, provision of information 
and guidance, including postal community bulletins, contacting specific charities for advice 
and having a Mental Health Nurse or Health Visitor as a point-of-contact. 

With reference to Figure 2, improvements could be made on the approachability of health 
and social care services. Some respondents shared that admitting that they need help and 
seeking help may not come naturally to them. There is also the issue of stigma surrounding 
mental health challenges, which seems to be more acutely present among men.

“Huge stigma surround health and well-being issues which make them hard to talk to”

“Honestly, like a lot of guys, I didn’t really talk about my depression or seek help”

At times, a lack of sympathy among service providers have also discouraged users to seek 
help again.

“Too much stigma around the subject and a less than sympathetic doctor on previous visits 
had left him unable to lay himself on the line again, he would rather suffer in silence”

“Attempts to get help would be seen as interference and could provoke a very hostile 
reaction”

Respondents have also brought up the need for clearer information on what is on offer and 
how to navigate the health and social care system to get the support they need, as some 
have missed out on support options that they could have benefitted from.
 
“...maybe here there are lots of support groups around, but you need to spend a fair amount 
of time to dig the info out”

“I can get help and support because I know how to navigate and challenge the systems in 
place. Most people do not”

“We have a disabled son and I have become aware that other children at the same school 
have been offered many support options that we were not even aware existed until recently”

15Page 109



Theme 3: Service Integration and Appropriateness
 
A person-centred care takes a holistic approach to care that sees the whole person instead 
of a narrow focus on specific illnesses or symptoms. It includes the need for care to be 
based on the person’s unique needs and understood in the context of their social worlds. 
It means providing coherent care, treating the person with dignity, compassion and respect 
while encouraging greater autonomy in their own care. 

(a) Integrated Services 

Operationally, this involves moving towards more integrated services that consider an 
individual’s diverse health and social care needs in a seamless way. This means ensuring 
coordinated care and continuity of care across providers or between primary, secondary and 
tertiary and community-based services, or between CAMHS to adult mental health services. 
Based on survey responses, the services between mental health and other sectors remain 
siloed, care is generally fragmented, and needs are sometimes treated episodically. 

“GPs only see you for one problem at a time which is a problem for people with multiple 
health conditions. Also it’s hard to get appointments and never see the same doctor which is 
a problem as they don’t know your medical history and don’t have the time to fill them in. I had 
a doctor tell me to take something that would have been harmful because of my arrhythmia 
if I had taken it.”

Experiencing fragmented care has the potential to cause challenges, especially for people 
with complex needs and comorbidities. 

“My mother has a range of unmet needs and is very depressed. She needs input from a 
range of people, e.g. a counsellor experienced with dementia, physio, chiropodist and simply 
someone else to talk to. Social services are aware and have arranged care, but this is not 
enough to provide for the range of needs and anyone seen as a “carer” is rejected by her, as 
she associates it with loss of independence.”

Respondents also noted the need for follow-up after surgery and a longer-term approach to 
support people with mental health issues. 

“I personally suffer with mental health issues and have been referred to Newbury hospital 
previously only to be told there was no long-term support for me. So, I would have to pay to 
see a counsellor on a regular basis myself. Mental health conditions are normally not short 
term, so we need a much better long-term approach to support people that doesn’t cost them. 
No one chooses to have issues.”

(b) Appropriate care 

A second operational definition may include service users feeling listened to and enabled to 
make informed decisions to choose the type of care that is appropriate for themselves. While 
there are many excellent and compassionate GPs, health and social care providers, a sample

16Page 110



of the respondents noted experiences where some GPs “do not listen to the patient”, “lacked  
understanding”, “showed disinterest”, scepticism or hostility. This had dissuaded some patients 
from asking for further help. Other respondents understood that this could be due to very busy 
GP services, which is not their fault. 

Several respondents mentioned that they were not provided with sufficient information about 
their health condition.

“I have not been given any information about the condition [hypothyroidism] by the GP. I found 
everything out myself through the Thyroid UK website. The GP didn’t even tell me about that.” 

“...she was diagnosed with pneumonia, but communication was lacking so my father-in-law 
had no idea what was wrong. No care package in place...”

Respondents also raised the issue of appropriate treatment plans being dependent on the 
local offer, which may not be aligned with the patients’ preferences or needs. 

“I have tried to get help but all the doctors want to do is increase my medication and I don’t 
want to be a walking zombie, so although the help is there it is not the help I need.”

“[GP services] are constrained to whatever the local offer is that might not be the right treatment 
plan for some people... e.g. always referring for CBT when this has already been done.”

“not everyone responds well to [talking therapies]. The service should be dependent on the 
patient, and not the other way around.”

Theme 4: Targeted Support 

The respondents also highlighted several groups who are at risk of falling between the cracks 
when it comes to getting the health and social care they need. These include childcare support 
for parents with young children, people with autism spectrum disorder and other learning 
disabilities, and caregiving support for elderly parents and people living with dementia. 

“There is very little support for new parents….The help I need for the kids I have to really fight 
for and there is little to no free help.”

“Dementia support for my in-laws is based at West Berkshire hospital, but they have no 
transport. Fortunately, we were able to do a Dementia course online during Covid.”

It is important to note that carers themselves, who may be paid or unpaid, are also expressing 
their need for more support through increased social contact and appropriate advice.

17Page 111



“I as a carer would like a phone call or some form of contact every week. I would like people 
who work for dementia organisation to all live with someone with dementia for two weeks at 
least before they give advice to carers.”

There were several mentions of insufficient attention and support being given to people with 
type 2 diabetes. Finally, respondents have also flagged the need to provide targeted support 
for adults in vulnerable circumstances, such as people experiencing long term unemployment 
or have work restrictions due to chronic illness and disability. 

“Still waiting since June for government and pension to grant my wife disability payment as 
unable to walk. Meanwhile, am having to support her as she only has child tax credits to live 
on”

There were also concerns about eligibility criteria for support. 

“...there seems to be too many criteria for qualifying for support. Also, assessments for qualifying 
appear to try to exclude rather than include.”

Theme 5: Social and Physical Environment 

(a) Social Environment 

There is a recognition that we need a vibrant creative community to be part of for mental health 
wellness. We also need to continue addressing stigma surrounding health and wellbeing issues 
which makes people afraid to talk about them.  

In terms of social support, respondents have shown appreciation to friends, family and 
neighbourhood whom they can rely on. Nonetheless, not everyone is being supported equally. 

“I have been prescribed antidepressants over the phone but sometimes feel that if anything 
happened to me, no one would know as no one checks in... my kids only have me to rely on 
and I’m struggling to rely on myself.” 

(b) Physical Environment  

Several respondents drew a link between leisure facilities (e.g. swimming, youth clubs) 
and mental wellbeing. Other feedback concerned the built environment, such as the lack of 
accessible facility for those with mobility issues or with young children, as well as the request 
for safer, wider paths and slower traffic. 

“... we literally can’t open the car doors enough to get the infant carriers out in normal spaces”

18Page 112



Theme 6: Covid-19 

In many cases, respondents noted the cross-cutting impact of Covid-19 in exacerbating 
existing issues related to access to health and social care services. While there have been 
understandable delays, respondents have provided some insights into their experiences and 
perspectives on the displaced NHS services to prioritise patients with Covid-19, the transition 
to digital versions of care, the loss of existing social support structures, and the impact of 
closure in schools and leisure facilities. 

(a) Usual services being put on hold 

Due to the pressure of Covid-19 on the health and social care system, many usual services 
had to be put on hold or delayed to prioritise the management of the pandemic. These 
included outpatient services, preventive measures (e.g. routine screening), treatment for 
chronic conditions (e.g. cancer, dementia), and rehabilitation (e.g. physiotherapy). There 
were recognitions that the wider health system was already under-resourced, even before 
the pandemic. Although respondents raised concerns about not being able to see a doctor 
when needed, others have also expressed sympathy to NHS staff due to the pressure to cope 
with the increased demand in services. 

“It’s all about either having the virus or not. The rest of health seems to be ignored.”

“...cancellation of ongoing investigations due to covid, my husband had a delay of cancer 
follow-up due to covid... cancellation of the bowel screening programme, further delay of ASD 
assessment (now been waiting 3 1/2 years).”

“Suspect that access to tests and diagnosis isn’t as timely as it should be, possibly partly 
because of the current pandemic but also because of restricted funding for health over a 
number of years.”

As a result of prioritising Covid-19-related services, some respondents have delayed help-
seeking to shield themselves or to avoid adding extra strain on the NHS. Others responded 
with resignation. 

“Didn’t want to add more to an already overloaded NHS”

“I would have seen the Doctor, face to face to discuss my condition - arthritis - but I know it is 
probably going to be a ‘live with it’ situation.”

19Page 113



Those who have managed to access help for issues not related to Covid-19 have only been 
able to seek help for major health issues, sometimes only at the point of crisis, but not for 
minor ailments. Some anticipated that this delay in addressing minor or early-stage health 
issues may lead to more serious complications later on. Some respondents also stated that 
they were unable to access particular operations or medications during the pandemic.  

“Major issues have been addressed, but minor ones such as dental check-ups and 
appointment to see podiatrist have been postponed indefinitely.”

“My uncle has had a scan for acoustic neuroma growth cancelled twice now due to Covid 
19 and whilst not cancerous it can affect his hearing and facial palsy if it has grown. The 
quicker removed the better.”

“One essential operation refused by NHS, so I had to use all my savings to go private. 
Further surgery needed on separate matter, delayed due to Covid.”

(b) Digitisation of health and wellbeing services does not 
cater for all 

During the pandemic, GP services continued for patients, although an initial telephone 
triage system was introduced for most GP practices. Some respondents have stated their 
preference for face-to-face GP consultation, and for it to be restored as soon as possible. 
This is because those responding felt it was not as easy to discuss and provide a full picture 
of their health conditions over the phone and some were not comfortable with telephone 
communications.  

“This [telephone GP service] is not the same as a 10-minute consultation with a GP and I 
hope this is not the way of the future.”

“I don’t do phones. At all….Getting things to a point where I can get an appointment or 
online help is massively stressful - y’know...” 

“I’m not managing the internet ‘help’.”

(c) Targeted support during Covid-19 for the elderly or people 
who are clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) 

Respondents have shared their concerns about the isolation of the elderly due to shielding 
and elderly voluntary care services being stopped. Some had noted an impact on loneliness 
and mental health, especially for those living alone.  

“...many have been shielding to protect themselves and their mental health has suffered 
greatly”

20Page 114



A respondent who is clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) and also a single parent shared 
their concerns with employment and the risk of school-going children passing on the virus 
to them. 

“Employment concerns due to being a single parent with CEV and having to change to a 
zero hours when furlough was due to end at the end of October. Central government has 
provided no extra support/advice to those who are CEV with school age pupils. This is of 
particular concern to us if our children pass the virus on. Schools are to be applauded for 
the work they are doing in very difficult circumstances. However, the year group bubbles 
do not protect those year group pupils from each other. This is a real worry for any parent/
carer with CEV...”

(d) Changes in the social and physical environment during 
the pandemic

Some respondents felt that the social distancing measures and periodic lockdowns have 
eroded their support network and brought distress. For those who live and care for their 
family members, some have expressed a growing need for respite. 

“Lack of easy access to support. Lockdown is making it harder to use existing coping 
mechanisms”

 “All three children are distressed by the repeated lockdowns and school closures”

Respondents also voiced that reduced access to leisure and exercise facilities have affected 
their mental or physical health, including the management of chronic conditions such as 
type 2 diabetes.  

“The Berkshire MS Therapy Centre is closed all of the time due to the Covid lockdowns etc. 
I know they do classes online, but I am not getting enough exercise and my physical health 
is suffering”

21Page 115



3.2 Focus group findings 

In addition to the online survey findings, below are selected quotes from focus groups for 
them themes identified.

Theme 1: Health Inequalities 

(a) Waiting time

Waiting time for primary health care services, mental health services and maternity check-
ups was considered too long and often caused diseases or concerns to exacerbate further. 

“Seeing the GP is an issue unless it is an emergency and that was before Covid”

“I still haven’t had the 6-weeks check and the baby was born in August”

“Mental health support for teens is very poor, with huge waiting lists for CAMHS”

“Despite multiple overdoses and suicide attempts, my daughter faced a 2-year waiting list to 
access adult mental health services when she became too old to access CAMHS”

(b) Eligibility

Some respondents expressed difficulties in accessing NHS services that were deemed 
essential to their conditions 

“My flu jab I ended up having to get it privately…. and I had to explain how anxious I was, 
and I was getting upset about being told I was ineligible”

“Thresholds for support are too high for children who are impacted by trauma to be supported 
effectively”

(c) Differences in service provision and delivery depending on 
areas and population

Some participants noted that they see differences in service provision and delivery depending 
on people’s income levels, place of residence or schools they go to and how skilful they are 
in certain areas (e.g. digital literacy).

“Society seems to operate in tiers and that’s wrong”

“Accessibility needs to be improved to increase awareness of services amongst different 
groups and encourage contact”

22Page 116



“I think teachers do a good job in school; I know from experience that I have always been able 
to send an email saying I’m not feeling too good today, though I know from different schools 
that they do not have the same relationships”

“The food parcels for those advised to shield during the first lockdown were really unhealthy 
– white bread, tinned tomatoes and very little fresh food. Although advised to shield, I could 
afford to get other food, so I gave away those boxes, but charities need healthy food to give to 
those in need”

“Making sure services have non-digital offerings to meet the needs of those without equipment 
or digital literacy”

Theme 2: Information and Guidance

(a) Clear information that is easy to understand and follow

Many participants pointed out that there needs to be better information that guide people to the 
right services and to help people take care of their own health. 

“Lack of knowledge within community groups and services about what support is available for 
different groups within the community”

“Could local councils be used to distribute health and wellbeing information more effectively?”

“Look after yourself where you can but also need to have awareness and knowledge of how 
to get help when needed. All of those things together help me collectively to stay healthy or 
become healthy”

“You can go to the gym but then there is no one to help you to check if you are doing it right”

Clear, understandable signposting and guidance is especially important in times of health 
emergencies.

“Interpretation on helplines is really important”

“There needs to be a redefinition of ‘crisis’, that’s coming from the person that needs help”

“I think the government should make it clear on what message they are putting out to the public. 
In terms of Covid-19, like exams and other things, because some people don’t understand if 
they should be staying at home or going to work, if there are exams or not”

One person also noted that language barriers should be considered when delivering information 
across the borough.

“Language seems to be a major information barrier; how can you get information across if you 
have not got the language to communicate with”

23Page 117



(b) Training for healthcare and social care professionals

Participants highlighted the need to train healthcare and social care professionals about 
how to approach patients and service users with disability or additional needs and the 
importance of their constant efforts to increase awareness in the field. 

“I was once told by someone who works in the homeless sector that I don’t look autistic”

“Why isn’t the disabled blue badge recognised as the disabled parking card?”

“Education/support needed so that cycles of trauma are not continued through generations”

On the topic of addiction, participants also touched on the issue of stigma and gave insight 
into when people might be prone to adopt or engage in addictive behaviours.

“resource would be better spent on reducing the stigma around addiction and making it 
easier to ask for help, which would mean people could access support more easily, therefore 
reducing the harm caused”

“The gap / transition between formal education and first job is such a dangerous time for 
addictive behaviours”

For mental health, participants shared that de-stigmatisation, awareness-raising and training 
efforts need to continue. It was also noted that it is important that mental health support 
does not tail off after people leave school. Alternative support that is effective needs to be 
in place. 

“Mental health --there’s still a big stigma and increasing awareness will help”

“Not everyone gets on with Zoom etc. Phone networks and WhatsApp groups have been 
another useful way to offer alternative support.”

“In terms of secondary school, it (mental health support) starts to drift off, little bit less talked 
about. You have school nurses, they were less frequent which people didn’t really use. 
Especially now, college years it’s a lot less support…you have to find support yourself”

“We’re seeing more frontline staff take part in Mental Health First Aid training, but we need 
senior managers taking part too”

24Page 118



(c) Transparency in governance and resource allocation

Focus groups which contained healthcare professionals as participants, raised concerns on 
how the allocation of funding will be done for next few years to achieve priorities listed out 
in the strategy. They also wanted a clearer guidance on who will be part of which team, and 
how “working together” will be achieved.  

“Need to be clear who we see as partners in a Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This should 
be obviously more than a workplan for a Public Health Team or any other individual team”

“We don’t know which levers are free.  Health spending is large but much of it is already 
committed. What could be moved or changed? Are local authority budgets slightly freer?”

Theme 3: Service Integration and Appropriateness

Some respondents recognised the importance of approaching health in a holistic manner. 
Improving health requires looking at the whole person, beyond symptoms of one disease to 
broader health-promoting or health-harming factors influenced by social factors. 

“For instance, if you are going to have a programme of changing behaviour, you will probably 
want to look not just at physical activity but also things like diet, sleep, social connections, 
substance abuse and so on. So, you need to work through some of these possible strategies, 
look at what bits join up and what don’t, where the costs are and then you can start to 
prioritise”

By having a more well-rounded approach to health, it follows that silo working has to be broken 
to be effective in meeting complex health and social care needs. Particular attention should 
be paid to the service ‘boundary areas’ to ensure a smooth transition and continuity of care 
between services. This effort towards service integration could include sharing necessary 
information between providers (with the service users’ informed consent) to avoid having to 
repeatedly explain health conditions and to reduce the risk of re-traumatisation.  

“Joined up working between services and agencies and for people to be looked at as a 
whole, rather than their symptoms looked at and treated separately.”

 “Services are disjointed, and there are too many gaps, especially as people move from 
children’s services to adults”

“Often people have to go through multiple layers of re-explaining their trauma before receiving 
support”

Respondents also appreciated the ongoing effort to promote more joined-up services and 
the benefits to be reaped, including sharing ideas, funding, and exploiting economies of 
scale.  However, some respondents from the voluntary and community sector (VCS) noted 
the trade-offs between participating in partnership forums and frontline service delivery. 

25Page 119



“It is important to have a strategy and it is good that the organisations are coming together”

“From a VCS perspective, staying in touch with the various forums is a challenge. We want to 
collaborate, but partnership participation sometimes comes at the price of frontline delivery...”

Theme 4: Targeted support

Respondents have highlighted several groups of people who could benefit from tailored 
support, including ethnically diverse communities (EDC) and people who experienced trauma 
in childhood. 

(a) Culturally sensitive care 

A culturally sensitive, person-centred health and social care is one that emphasises providers’ 
behaviour and attitudes, health care policies and a physical environment that ethnically 
diverse patients identify as being respectful to their culture. Culturally sensitive care enables 
them to feel comfortable with, trusting of and respected by their service providers and staff. 
In practice, this could involve recognising and addressing language barriers by providing 
suitable interpreters; or providing women-only space for leisure activities.  

“Ethnically Diverse Community (EDC) needs to be a priority of its own (missed priority) as it 
has highlighted there is a lot to address”

“Professionals also need to be aware that language can also play a part in understanding 
someone who is not fluent. Sometimes they talk too fast and it’s hard to understand”

“access for women only fitness /swimming sessions for some cultural groups is an issue”

(b) Trauma-informed care (TIC) 

Several respondents also raised the need for recognising and supporting those who have 
experienced trauma in childhood. This is in line with the broader effort in Berkshire West to 
embed trauma-informed care (TIC) in health, social care services as well as in schools.  In 
essence, trauma-informed care recognises the prevalence and widespread impact of trauma; 
people who have experienced repeated, chronic or multiple trauma, even in childhood, are 
more likely to show symptoms of mental illness, health problems or risky health behaviours 
such as substance abuse.  TIC means recognising the signs and symptoms of trauma and to 
respond accordingly in practices and policy to actively resist re-traumatisation. 

“Extra support for anyone who has been affected by mental or physical trauma in childhood”

26Page 120



(c) Specific roles, identities and health conditions

The focus group discussions also reiterated the need to target support to specific groups of 
people, as mentioned by the survey respondents. This includes families with young children, 
carers, the elderly and people with autism or sensory sensitivities. 

“As an adult carer it is difficult to easily get to medical appointments, to get out to exercise 
and this all has an effect on my health and wellbeing in a way that doesn’t affect many other 
people who don’t have those difficulties”

“Because my arms and legs moved, I was considered fit to find a job, my mental health, 
autism and sensory sensitivities were completely overlooked.”

To achieve a truly person-centred health and social care that can effectively tackle health 
inequity, health systems can benefit from intersectionality theory. This means moving 
away from a one- or two-dimensional focus on ‘ethnicity’,  ‘age’, ‘income’, ‘caring roles’, or 
‘disability’, and instead recognising the multiple social roles and identities people hold, that 
may have a compounding effect in privileging or hindering access to health and social care. 

Theme 5: Social and Physical Environment 

(a) Social environment 

Focus group participants recognised the importance of community spirit in providing 
emotional and practical support for one another. Social support could come from friends, 
family members, workers or volunteers. 

“...it is important for people to have good relational connections with others - in families, in 
schools and the workplace and in their wider community... Having good relationships with 
others is key to mental wellbeing and also means that people have support in dealing with 
the problems of life.”

“people looked out for one another, there was less formal childcare - they looked after each 
other’s children and mothers tended to work part time - and there was more of a community 
spirit”

(b) Physical environment 

To some participants, having a health-promoting environment means having outdoor and 
indoor infrastructures for leisure activities (e.g. swimming) that are accessible and inclusive. 

“It’s important to include access to outdoors space, fresh air and sunshine as part of this”

27Page 121



“Our most vulnerable and disadvantaged, who tend to experience the most health issues, have 
the least space to be active in”

Participants from the third sector voiced the need for more infrastructure to be effective and to 
be able to deliver what they have to offer. 

“The third sector has a great deal to contribute and it would be wise to take note of that.  While 
to some extent it is free, that is not so totally: infrastructure has to be provided for it to be 
effective and to be really effective it needs a lot of infrastructure.”

Particular attention should be paid to providing safe, private spaces to people experiencing 
traumatic situations. 

“Not having safe spaces to communicate that support is needed around traumatic situations 
– advertising needed for organisations that can support those affected by trauma in private 
places”

Participants also raised issues on active transport and general safety.  

“Physical activity is about so much more than exercise. It’s about safe and healthy ways of 
travelling to and from school and work.”

“The roads need to be kept in a good state of repair for this.  Cycling in Reading, e.g. by St 
Mary’s Butts, is really hazardous now”

“People do not feel safe in Reading and there needs to be a greater response to make places 
safe, and make people feel safe, following incidents such as the attack in Forbury Gardens.”

“[Regarding] housing, I would add that rental culture and security for tenants could be discussed 
as an issue which makes a big impact on mental health.”

Theme 6: Covid-19

The pandemic has had an impact on everyone, albeit in different ways. For instance, some 
participants noted that Covid-19 has increased the risk of addictive behaviour and posed 
challenges to stay physically fit. 

“Covid has increased addictive behaviour.”

“It’s been extremely difficult to keep my weight this down.”

For many, the lack of social interaction, particularly face-to-face interaction as opposed to 
online meetups, has affected their mental health. 

“Having to isolate just because you’re over 70 has been hard”

28Page 122



“The pandemic really hasn’t helped my mental health and being cooped up all day with no 
escape is very disheartening”

“Usually I would go to the park or meet up in the community to take my mind off things, but 
I can’t do that now and it’s affecting my mental health”

“I’m an older carer and I’m not digitally connected, so with services reduced or closed and 
not digitally connected, on top of the extra caring I’ve found that together with reduction in 
community connectivity my mental health has been affected”

“Zoom is OK, but I have 8 hours in front of a screen for school and I don’t always want to 
spend more time in front of a screen in the evening as its can be exhausting. Lack of being 
able to meet face to face or variety in life unlike other children is affecting me mentally”

For others, staying at home all the time with their family poses a different set of challenges, 
especially those with caring responsibilities. Some participants expressed the occasional 
need for quiet, personal space. 

“My house is small and I’m sharing it with my entire family all the time so I’ve no escape 
from them. I feel I’m being watched and judged because I don’t work and yet the rest of my 
family are”

“I’ve had a lot of worry and sadness in the family, but I had support from one to one buddies 
just walking down my street for a while, just being able to share.”

“Life is more stressful, I can’t meet up with friends, school is shut, I’m in the middle of my 
GCSEs and the house is busy with everyone in live lessons. It’s chaos, I’m working in a 
shed in the garden. It is affecting my mental health more than usual as a young carer.”

Finally, there were discussions surrounding how to move forward from the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

“Post Covid, people are going to need a lot of support to re-adjust”

“It’s not clear how the impact of Covid is being considered. We need a ‘new deal’ for health 
and wellbeing because of this.”

“The strategy should take account of the possibility of future pandemics and the variety of 
guises in which they might appear”

29Page 123



4. Developing the priorities

Shortlisting of priorities 

In order to quantify the key priorities of residents, three ranking systems were devised (see 
Appendix A). This was in order to establish what survey respondents regarded to be most 
important to help them and their communities live happier and healthier lives. Quantitative 
outputs were then consolidated using findings from the focus groups. 

Through the three scoring systems to evaluate priority ranking of survey respondents; the 
top five (out of 11) priorities were found to be consistent across the three areas (Appendix 
B). This was corroborated by thematic analyses of focus group findings and free text survey 
analysis. The top five priorities were therefore identified as follows:

l Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 
l Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy lives
l Help families and children in early years
l Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people 
l Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults   

The outputs from the free text (from surveys) and focus groups showed a broad alignment 
with the survey findings. The focus group findings can therefore be used as a deep dive from 
which to ensure that supporting action plans address the issues raised.

Priority 1: Reduce the differences in health between different 
groups of people 

Reducing the differences in health between different groups of people was considered 
“extremely important” by 30% of survey respondents and consistently ranked as a top priority 
across the three local authorities. Below are the comments and feedback from participants 
or respondents who said “there were significant changes needed” in this priority. 

Many focus group participants and survey respondents raised the issue of unequal access to 
services, particularly for those most in need. As one survey respondent expressed, there is a 
need to “make it available to everyone”. For instance; sports clubs and gyms,  healthy nutrition 
and diet; and health education and promotion are often most accessible to those who are 
from high-income backgrounds. Participants outlined the impact of this, noting that “people 
in lower socio-economic groups tend to have worse health and nutrition”.  Participants also 
highlighted the need to examine the accessibility of facilities for “physically disabled people” 
who “do not have the access (some GP surgeries) or are not able to use all facilities (such 
as swimming) to improve their health”. Collectively, these responses point to the importance 
of addressing the social determinants of health to promote equality of access to services vital 
for health and wellbeing. 

30

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
IN

G
 T

H
E

 P
R

IO
R

IT
IE

S

Page 124



Given this, participants provided suggestions on ways to tackle these root causes, and 
therefore address health inequities. For example, one survey respondent commented that 
“reducing the gap in health problems between rich and poor must be a priority, and this 
starts with a proper living wage, affordable housing and access to healthy living choices e.g. 
teaching children basic cooking skills, access to subsidised or free sport, fitness opportunities 
etc.”.  Focus group participants also suggested introducing universal proportionalism; “at the 
moment things such as sports clubs, physical activity focuses etc are geared towards higher 
socio-economic groups or do not focus on other intersects who find it harder to be active 
such as women & girls or specific ethnic groups”.

Regarding access to health information, a number of focus group participants highlighted 
the need to work more closely with communities for whom English is not their first language 
and/or those with limited digital literacy.  One participant summarised that “those who have 
English language limitation should have options that best suit them such as interactive 
dummies, modules, video clips, level of understanding testing tools. Also, can use simple 
charts. FM radio and other means of accessing health and NHS health service information”.  
Survey respondents also noted that better information routes for those who may not own 
smartphones should be given, as “a significant proportion of these people - certainly, many 
more than the council members are aware of - have not been able to use contact-tracing 
for Covid”. This points to the need for innovative and diverse means of disseminating health 
information and education to ensure accessibility for all. 

Poverty was considered to be a major driver of health inequities; this encompasses issues of 
geography, housing, socioeconomic status and employment. For example, one respondent 
explained that “lack of income should not mean poor health… People living in deprived areas 
generally having poorer health, linked to poor housing, lower educational achievement and 
lower income”. Focus group participants highlighted the need to ensure access to services 
and support regardless of geography. Specifically, they noted that deprivation, isolation 
and poor health exist beyond areas populated by social housing.  One survey respondent 
commented that “Often they are aware how to live healthy lives, but lack the affordable 
amenities to do so it may need some support to take that first step”, Respondents therefore 
highlighted the importance of addressing the gap between awareness and availability of 
services across regions and income brackets. 

In order to address inter-group health inequalities and ensure locally-relevant services, 
participants highlighted the need for inclusion and prioritisation of community perspectives. 
As noted, “diverse communities have a range of knowledge and understanding about health 
and wellbeing issues in our local communities”, suggesting the value of incorporating local 
knowledge to understand community health needs. This includes involving ethnically diverse 
groups, who are already at higher risks of chronic diseases, and those who are disadvantaged 
by language and cultural barriers.  Poverty and low socioeconomic status (linked to housing, 
employment, education), racial disparities in health access and outcomes, and gender 
identity and sexuality were all identified as major drivers of health inequality during focus 
groups.

31Page 125



The impact of the built environment on health inequities and outcomes, including access 
to green spaces, good air quality, and safe cycle/walking paths, was also noted in focus 
groups. Participants highlighted the need to address disparities in access to a healthy 
external environment to promote health and wellbeing, with respondents suggesting that 
improving air quality was “associated with everything from dementia to asthma”. Focus group 
participants also specified that “affordable housing with green space could really improve the 
health and wellbeing for disadvantaged families”. A holistic approach to the built environment 
was expressed with participants noting its impact on both physical and mental health, and 
suggesting diverse ways to improve it, such as via changes to transport and outdoor spaces. 

Figure 1. Visualisation of words frequently used by focus group participants and survey 
respondents for priority 1

Priority 2: Support individuals at high risk of bad health 
outcomes to live healthy lives

Supporting people at higher risk of bad health outcomes was found to be a key priority 
across Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham. 35% of all survey respondents agreed that 
“significant change” is required within this priority area. Below are the comments and feedback 
from participants or respondents who said “there were significant changes needed” in this 
priority. 

During focus groups, people facing higher risk of bad health outcomes were outlined to have 
either a continuing or new need for support (including before and during Covid-19). Key groups 
identified as facing higher risk of bad health outcomes include but are not limited to: those 
living with dementia; rough sleepers; unpaid carers; people who have experienced domestic 
abuse; and people with learning disabilities.

32Page 126



In order to support people with dementia, respondents suggested “an offer of ongoing support 
pre and post diagnosis that is equitable to all ages and inclusive to all”. Consultees also 
noted the importance of a “timely diagnosis”, post-diagnosis care, and a strengthened “care 
pathway from diagnosis to death”. This includes “dementia-friendly” access to activities and 
facilities to support social contact and regular exercise. It was noted that although dementia 
should be “grouped with mental health”, it should also be “addressed as a standalone” 
issue. Participants felt that dementia should be “an identified priority in its own right” to 
ensure appropriate patient management and care. Several survey respondents suggested 
increasing social and mental health support for dementia patients and their carers, as well 
as for older people to prevent cognitive decline. 

Focus group participants emphasised a rise in homelessness in their communities, as well 
as those at risk of homelessness; “[I] still see homeless people on the streets and rapid rise 
in use of food banks indicates that many families are struggling with even the most basic of 
human needs”. Survey responses also pointed to the health risks associated with this rise in 
homelessness, and particularly the “need to end the cycle of homelessness, drugs and crime”. 
Solutions identified included supporting those Not in Education, Employment, or Training 
(NEET) into work; improving access to emergency and permanent housing, providing advice 
services (on issues ranging from budgeting to mental health); and encouraging  community-
based responses. For example, one survey respondent noted the “lack of adult education 
and its funding to further literacy and numeracy (in particular) amongst the unemployed and 
poorer sections of society”. Continuing, they suggested that addressing “this in itself would 
enhance employment opportunities, increase aspirations and thereby a better standard of 
living.” 

Many participants pointed to the importance of the promotion of a healthy diet and good 
nutrition to reduce poor health outcomes for those most at risk. One focus group participant 
noted that showing people “how to create nutrition and healthy meals on a budget” would 
be an opportunity to promote healthy diets. Further suggestions included promoting healthy 
eating and providing outdoor gyms and free exercise classes to equalise access to the 
knowledge and resources needed for a healthy lifestyle. Participants noted that this should 
be coupled with frequent and widespread advertisement of these services to ensure that 
high-risk groups are aware of available support. 

33Page 127



Importance was also placed on promoting the value of carers, particularly unpaid carers. 
Suggestions included raising community awareness of their importance and providing more 
services to support their health and carry out their responsibilities “These services need to 
be better funded, but also greater awareness is required by the public, so communities as a 
whole are more supportive”, suggested one focus group participant. Similarly, one respondent 
pointed to the need to redress the lack of recognition of “family unpaid carers especially for 
older adults”. Focus groups also highlighted an increased need in respite care for those 
acting as unpaid carers for a loved one. The importance of increasing social support and 
social cohesion was noted by several survey respondents; one of the comments suggested 
tackling “loneliness and isolation - this has an impact on many of the other priorities, if people 
feel connected, they will be more resilient to challenges which may make them less in need 
of other services”. 

Participants outlined the need for “greater support” for those who have experienced domestic 
abuse. In particular, consultees noted the need for improved visiting and ongoing support for 
those at home, as well as the importance of support for men who have experienced domestic 
abuse. Survey respondents pointed to the lack of awareness and access to services for 
those who have experienced domestic violence – “it would also be good to see more support 
for victims of domestic violence being advertised”. 

Survey respondents highlighted the need for learning disability-inclusive services and 
community activities. Respondents commented that “they need more activities, with transport 
included. Cooking, tailored exercise classes”, and that “more long-term support is needed, 
possibly a stepping stone program”. Better training for all health staff to understand the 
needs of people with learning disabilities and their carers were noted as key suggestions; 
“There is still a lot of work that could be done to improve the health of those with learning 
disabilities by simply working together with the local voluntary sector and without a huge 
investment of funding.”

Figure 2. Visualisation of words frequently used by focus group participants and survey 
respondents for priority 2

34

s

Page 128



Priority 3: Help families and children in early years

Around 40% of all survey respondents across the three local authorities considered this to be 
an “extremely important” issue. Below are the comments and feedback from participants or 
respondents who said “there were significant changes needed” in this priority. 

“Sometimes I would like to have help with childcare”. Focus groups identified how mothers 
feel isolated and unsupported, with issues exacerbated by Covid-19. Limited childcare and 
youth support services, including due to Covid-19 closures has meant increased challenges, 
particularly for young, single or new mothers. Some noted that “funding for youth service 
activities has been decimated. Better funding for local authority services for young people 
and for sports facilities is needed”. Focus group discussions highlighted barriers such as loss 
of self-esteem and expensive childcare; these were often worsened by mothers losing jobs 
and partners. Despite experiencing these challenges, there was also limited awareness of 
support services available to parents and families. Focus group participants said, “it’s very 
important that families are aware of the local opportunities and resources which are open to 
them”.  The need to support working parents was also noted in both survey and focus groups 
responses; some commented that “childcare for full time working parents outside of school 
hours is extremely expensive and options are limited”.

Focus groups touched on how the wellbeing of parents is largely linked to the development of 
their children – participants discussed how parents are able to influence their children when 
they themselves have good relationships and are emotionally and financially secure as part of 
a wider resilient community. A survey respondent noted that “maternal mental health” should 
be addressed, and the community should work on removing stigma around it.

Focus groups highlighted how families with young children often struggle economically. The 
lack of valuable structural and social support was described and included concerns that “family 
hubs [were] closed”. Focus groups also underlined the limited access and diversity of services 
offering help to young families. Some survey participants also noted that “children’s centres 
were a great hub and source of practical and emotional support” for children and that they 
“wish[ed] to see more provision”. Many noted that the family activities should include outdoor 
and/or exercise activities; one participant said, “Personally I am not active enough, I would like 
activities available for families and better facilities like parks and swimming pools to encourage 
this.”

It was also identified that “it’s very unclear what support is available” to families. Focus groups 
underlined that the replacement of universal services with targeted services has, in part, 
led to the stigmatisation of receiving child support. In addition to this, certain families do not 
immediately meet the criteria for requiring support within targeted services, and so it is easy 
for them to “slip through the net”.

35Page 129



Figure 3. Visualisation of words frequently used by focus group participants and survey 
respondents for priority 3

Priority 4: Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all 
children and young people

Over 70% of people aged 45 or younger, and about 50% of all survey respondents, considered 
good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people to be an extremely 
important issue. Below are the comments and feedback from participants or respondents 
who said “there were significant changes needed” in this priority. 

“Many families are struggling to support their children”. Focus groups discussed that people 
who live in deprived or disadvantaged circumstances are more likely to have a mental health 
problem than those who live in the most affluent areas. Focus groups also underlined that 
children in families at-risk of mental health conditions are more likely to develop a condition as 
adults. The importance of early prevention programmes was also highlighted. These would 
focus on ensuring the resilience of children and young people through services such as safe 
communication spaces, community-based activities and accessible youth clubs.  One survey 
respondent commented that “as part of the provision for the young, free access to arts and 
activities […] would all help build resilience to mental and physical health of the children and 
young people”. 

36Page 130



“Not enough support in schools.” Focus groups highlighted how children and young people 
require additional support during the Covid-19 pandemic due to the stresses of isolation; it 
has been recognised that young people are likely to be suffering more in the later, rather than 
earlier, stages of the pandemic due to ongoing lockdowns. With the reopening of schools, 
participants drew attention to the need for “dedicated support staff to draw on and support 
children and not just rely on teachers to do that in addition to their already busy roles.”

Several focus group participants and survey respondents noted the long waiting times for 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), and the implications of this for young 
people in need of urgent and/or long-term support. Access to such services was viewed as 
“important especially during the pandemic, as so many social interactions and relationship[s] 
have been affected.” Respondents also noted the need for “more specialist support” to 
safeguard the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people. As noted above, 
this included suggestions for the expansion of school-based mental health support, which in 
turn could help to reduce the pressure on CAMHS.

Figure 4. Visualisation of words frequently used by focus group participants and survey 
respondents for priority 4

37Page 131



Priority 5: Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all 
adults

Over 70% of people 35 years of age or older, and about 50% of all survey respondents, 
considered good mental health and wellbeing for all adults an “extremely important” issue; 
more than 40% of all respondents believe that “significant change” is required in this priority 
area. Below are the comments and feedback from participants or respondents who said 
“there were significant changes needed” in this priority. 

“Not everyone is online.” Focus groups revealed the impact of the digital divide on access 
to mental health and wellbeing support and particularly how this affects older people. For 
instance, participants highlighted that not all individuals know where and how to search 
for help online. Additionally, it was expressed how loneliness and isolation amongst older 
people could be overcome through forming both online and in-person community networks.
Focus group participants described that physical health is often “linked to mental health”; 
Individuals who have mental health conditions may end up in a vicious cycle of poor physical 
and mental health owing to  the challenges of maintaining a consistent income, housing and 
social connections - all critical for maintaining good physical and mental health . Participants 
commented on the need to improve non-clinical interventions, such as “social prescribing 
and green spaces”, accessible and subsidised exercise classes, and arts and wellbeing 
courses.

“Ethnically diverse communities find it difficult to access mental health resources”. Focus 
group discussions highlighted the challenges for non-fluent and non-native English-speaking 
communities in accessing mental health resources; these included the lack of communication 
of available services and culturally appropriate resources. In addition, there were opinions 
about the need to raise public awareness to reduce stigma surrounding mental health and 
care-seeking, especially for groups not previously familiar with mental health resources. For 
example, as “many BAME people find it difficult to access mental health resources”, there 
is a “need for more interpreting resources”. In addition, “cultural competency training” was 
suggested to improve the cultural sensitivity of mental health support workers when “dealing 
with all types of trauma”.

Improving the timeliness and quality of mental health services was considered a key priority 
by both focus group and survey participants. Similar to responses about CAMHS, focus 
group participants felt that “the wait time for referrals for mental health issues is too long”, 
while “the duration of treatment is inadequate to resolve the issue”. 

38Page 132



Figure 5. Visualisation of words frequently used by focus group participants and survey 
respondents for priority 5

39Page 133



5. Conclusion

Through the online survey and focus group discussions, public engagement has been at the 
heart of the development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Berkshire West. Residents 
were able to help identify key themes surrounding the current state of health and wellbeing 
of Berkshire West and what could be done better. Quantitative analysis of survey responses 
through a robust scoring system identified five priorities to improve health and wellbeing in 
their communities. 

In addition to this, extensive qualitative analysis of free text in surveys and focus group 
discussions ascertained the results of the quantitative data; allowing the public consultation 
to inform both the main areas of focus for the five priorities as well as the priorities themselves. 
These priorities as outlined in the health and wellbeing strategy are: 1) reduce the differences 
in health between different groups of people; 2) support individuals at high risk of bad health 
outcomes to live healthy live; 3) Help families and children in early years; 4) promote good 
mental health and wellbeing for children and young people; 5) promote good mental health 
and wellbeing for all adults.

40

C
O

N
L

U
S

IO
N

Page 134



6. References

1. The framework in Figure 2 has been adapted from Chuah et al., 2018 and
 Levesque et al., 2013 https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com
 articles/10.1186/s12939-018-0833-x ; https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com
 articles/10.1186/1475-9276-12-18

2. Epstein and Street, 2011. The values and value of patient-centred care. 
 https:/www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3056855/ 

3. Tucker et al., 2012. Patient-Cantered Culturally Sensitive Health Care.  
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3092156/

4. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), 2014.
 Trauma-Informed Care: A Sociocultural Perspective.  
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207195/ 

5. Trauma-Informed Oregon, 2016. What is Trauma-Informed Care? 
 https://traumainformedoregon.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/What-is-Trauma
 Informed-Care.pdf 

6. Resilient and Responsive Health Systems (RESYST), 2017.  Using
 Intersectionality to better understand health system resilience. 
 https://resyst.lshtm.ac.uk/sites/resyst/files/content/attachments/2018-08-21  
 Resilience%20and%20intersectionality%20brief.pdf 

41

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
S

Page 135



7. Appendices

Appendix A: Scoring Systems

Survey data analysis

1. The first ranking system used was to establish what respondents ranked as number 1.
 This allowed us to understand what people considered the most important issue.
 However, this was not an intuitive method to give an overview of all the priorities,
 as consideration would only be given to what responders placed as their number 1
 priority, rather than their top five.

2. The second ranking system allowed us to consider all 11 priorities equally when
 ranking them. This was done by assigning each priority a score (in accordance with
 where the priority ranked out of 11) and then totalling the scores. This allowed for a
 better understanding of the data spread in terms of the ranking. All 11 priorities were
 equally considered when ranking.
 
3. The third ranking system assumed that responders gave more importance to what
 they considered a top three priority when answering the survey. Thus, more weight was
 put on these responses. The scores were then totalled as they were in (2). 

Regardless of which scoring systems was used, the top five was consistently the same (in no 
particular order): 

l Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 
l Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy lives
l Help young children and families in early years 
l Good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people 
l Good mental health and wellbeing for all adults   

Focus group and free text analysis

Following the 18 focus group discussions, thematic analysis was done to categorise the issues 
raised into the 11 priorities. Top three priorities were ranked using the same scoring system as 
(2). 

42

A
P

P
E

N
D

IC
E

S

Page 136



Appendix B: Overall results on the ranking of priorities 

Footnote: The table shows that the top five priorities remain the same and this is shown 
in green. The red cells show the lowest three priorities. Number 1 represents the most 
important priority and 11 shows the least important priority.

43Page 137



Appendix C: Questions included in the online survey

1. How important do you think each of the potential priorities are to helping you and
 your community to live happier healthier lives?

 a. Extremely important, Very important, Somewhat important, Not so
  important, Not at all important

2. In order of importance, one being the most important, how would you rank the
 potential priorities?

3. Are there any other priorities you think we should consider including in the draft
 strategy that we haven’t mentioned in previous questions?

 a. Please tell us what priorities you like to see included and why

4. How much change do you think is required for each priority (asked for each
 individual priority)

 a. No change, some change, significant change, don’t know

 b. Please tell us the reasons for your response, including details of any
  changes you think are needed

5. Have you or your family had any health and wellbeing concerns recently

6. Would you like to tell us briefly what they are? You can skip this question if you
 would rather not tell us

7. Are you, your family or other people you care for able to get all the help or support
 you/they need for any health and wellbeing problems?

8. Has the help or support been sought during the Covid-19 pandemic

9. Are there any further comments you would like to make?

44Page 138



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 1 of 16 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Boards (Reading and Wokingham) 

Date  September 2021 

Title of Paper   
Refresh of the Berkshire West Local Transformation Plan, 
improving the response to Children and Young Peoples Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health 

Lead Director 
Niki Cartwright – Director of Joint Commissioning  
Berkshire West CCG 

Author(s) 
Andy Fitton – Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning  
Berkshire West CCG 

Paper Type To update for information 

Action Required None 
 

 

Executive Summary    

This report provides an overview of the refreshed Future in Mind Local Transformation 
Plan (LTP), the 6th such publication of our planning locally since 2015. 

The LTP provides an update on how as a local system we are improving the emotional 
wellbeing and mental health of all Children and Young People (CYP) across Reading, 
West Berkshire, and Wokingham in line with the national ambition and principles set 
out in a range of government documents and most recently in the NHS 10-year Long 
Term Plan. 

It has been a very busy time since the 2019 publication, delivering our transformation 
plan as well as responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are proud of what we have 
been able to achieve alongside young people, parents and our strategic partners from 
the local authority, health, education, and the voluntary sector. What follows are headline 
messages for this year. 

 We are proud about the choice of provision we commission and provide. That 
includes the establishment of 3 Mental health Support teams in our 3 Local 
Authority settings who have worked with 872 CYP since starting, mainly for help 
with anxiety. 

 We continue to increase the access and use of mental health services against a 
backdrop of increasing demand and complexity. All our providers are now flowing 
data onto the national dataset, and we consistently meet the national target. 

 Our range of strong outcomes reporting are evidencing that many children and 
young people have positive outcomes across providers. 

 We can evidence the impact of large-scale training across partners. A highlight is 

the successful implementation of the Trauma Informed/ adverse childhood 

experiences training, at School and a community level that has expanded rapidly, 

and in Reading this has impact significantly on reducing exclusion from school. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 9



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 2 of 16 
 

 A significant system review of the emotional wellbeing and mental health offer has 

been completed that significantly impacting on the forming of the 9 transformation 

priorities. Key headline from that review are: 

o We can evidence that most children and young people feel listened to 

across providers. 

o We need to coordinate information about our offer for help and simplify the 

access points 

o CYP and families do get the help they need when they navigate the offer 

and receive a set of interventions. 

o Need to tackle waiting times and provide more bridging support whilst 

waiting 

 BHFT and Berks West CCG have completed a review of Neurodiversity needs 

that identified trends of demand and necessary capacity to meet that demand. We 

continue to need to manage significant number of children and young people 

seeking autism and ADHD assessments in Berkshire West that in turn is affecting 

waiting times, and consequently remains a high priority. Significant investment 

has been agreed over the next 2 financial years enabling BHFT to recruit new 

staff and broker a longer-term deal with national digital providers of assessments 

that will support the ambition of bringing wait times for all CYP to be below 12 

months, as a maximum wait time. 

 2 significant system joint transformation programmes have been brought to 

conclusion: 

o Children in Care service offer has been co-produced with CYP, Local 

Authorities and BHFT, the offer is agreed and jointly funded by CCG and 

LAs. This progress is signalling a strategic shift for our partnership that will 

form a strong basis of work into the future. 

o An intensive community and home treatment offer that will build off and 

integrate with the existing Rapid Response offer.  

 BHFT have transformed their tier 4 offer, taking the existing 9 bed Willow house 

inpatient offer and re-created a hospital at home offer for 16 CYP, taking best 

practise from intensive community models that are demonstrating success 

elsewhere in the country.  CYP will continue to be able to access inpatient units 

in the Thames Valley region, and this will be an alternative that will provide 7-day 

specialist support, whilst still being at home, remaining in their community and 

with peers. 

The partnership between the NHS, Local Authorities and voluntary sector providers 
remains as strong as ever. However there does remain challenges in this area that 
COVID-19 has impacted: 

There continues to be increased demand which in turn is having an impact on waiting 

times, across providers. The impact of COVID-19 has increased demand across all 

emotional health and wellbeing services, as an example the highest rate of referral to 

our specialist CAMHs provider was seen in the March 2021, as school lockdown were 

easing. 

Page 140



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 3 of 16 
 

In addition to increased demand within the demand there is increased complexity of 

presentations. Notable is the increased in risk management for LD&A CYP and 

disordered eating/ eating disorder presentations that is impacting the time on RBFT 

wards as well as need for inpatient admissions.  

 
Availability of suitable skilled, qualified and experienced health workforce. There are 
recruitment and retention challenges for many parts of the wider children’s workforce 
e.g. social care. Difficulty in recruitment and retention of clinical workforce within our main 
provider fuelled by: 

 High system and regional competition for same pool of workforce 

 Lack of national planning and investment in training next workforce – not matching 
the LTP investment programme 

 Cost of living in SE (and London weighting salary offer) 
 

Over the last 18 months there is a consolidation of the joint governance arrangement 
across the health, social care, and education system, with the formation of the 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) CYP board. This has strengthened the resolve to 
improve the offer and outcomes of local CYP’s mental health. This sponsorship and 
leadership have created a single focus against 9 transformational priorities 
underpinned by financial investment from across the system.  The detail is on page 4 -6 
of this report. 
 
A programme architecture has been set up to govern and drive our progress going 
forward, led by the CCG and overseen by the ICP CYP board – the detail is on page 6. 
This will enable regular updates as needed. 

 

  

  

Page 141



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 4 of 16 
 

 

Summary of Transformation Priorities 
 
1 Building a 

formal delivery 
partnership 
arrangement  

This partnership will deliver: 

 A single access and decision-making point that all delivery 
aligns too (see point 2 below) 

 A joint communication approach and set of tools that explains 
to CYP, parent and carers, schools, and primary care 
colleagues how to access support and the type of response 
and offer they can expect 

 A joint workforce development programme that creates both a 
confident and knowledgeable wider CYP workforce in mental 
health as well as a robust and sustainable mental health 
workforce to deliver the services CYP needs. 

Evidence from other alliances across the county they are seeing: 

 Improved use of resources, avoiding duplication of offer 

 Greater communication and clarity of offer to CYP, families 
and professionals that are asking for help 

 Greater use of the Voluntary sector and third sector partners 
that become even more integral to the offer 

 Satisfaction rates of access to and use of services from CYP 
and families increase 

2 Create a single 
access and 
decision-
making 
partnership 
arrangement 

This seeks to align and integrate the variety of access points for 
CYP, families and professionals to improve first and earlier response 
and manage risk better. By achieving this we are expecting this to 
have a 3-FOLD impact: 

 An improved experience of key stakeholders in knowing 
where and how to access help and support. This will lead to 
coordinated communication and ensuring an appropriate set 
of offers within a Thrive approach is made, enabling choice.  

 The potential for a more efficient system across two domains: 
o reducing the individual organisation capacity currently 

being used to manage the range of access points,  
o improving the response time through a coordinated 

decision-making offer should lead ultimately to 
shortened waiting time to access an intervention to 
have an impact. 

 Greater opportunities for an earlier and more coordinated 
response across the range of partners to presenting CYP 
needs, preventing escalation of risk or being able to 
recognise risk earlier and providing the necessary specialist 
support. 

 

3 Tackling the 
waiting times 
in both 
specialist/ 
Core CAMHs 

The NHS has agreed an investment programme for 20/21 of 
over £2million to Improvement in waiting times from referral to 
intervention; improvement in recovery rates, decrease in overall 
crisis presentations. Increased confidence with early 
identification and risk management and confidence on the 
ward. 
  

Page 142



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 5 of 16 
 

4 Meeting the 
Eating Disorder 
waiting times 
for response to 
referrals 

Although there continues to be slow progress towards meet the 
waiting time standard for both urgent and routine referrals this has 
been hampered by the increase again in volume and complexity of 
eating disorder cases.  
Further work on the liaison and support work inside RBFT wards for 
specific CYP with ED whilst they stabilise ready for discharge or wait 
for an inpatient bed elsewhere 
The building of the hospital at home offer (the reshaping of the 
Willow House service) in Berkshire will support main escalating and 
higher need CYP. 
In addition to our recovery work, it is intended to invest more capacity 
into early identification work, that seeks to reduce the number of 
‘urgent’ cases being referred. (Balance of urgent to routine). The key 
strands of this work are: 

 To deliver the range of BEAT training to primary care and 
acute settings in Berkshire. 

 To enable our MHST, School nurses and other early 
intervention services to work with schools and families to 
seek help appropriately as possible. 

5 Mobilising a 
Community 
Home 
treatment offer 
24/7 access 
standard for 
Crisis cases 

By March 2023 there will be a new and integrated home and 
community treatment offer that will be offering the brief 6 to 10-week 
service to stabilise CYP post crisis and prevent further crisis 
presentations. The offer will be multi-professional including the ability 
to offer low, medium and high levels support that will at its maximum 
will be offering daily (inc weekend) support to families. Importantly we 
will offering a range of interventions from clinical and medical through 
to peer and family support.  
We are seeking support from our LA partners to contribute to this 
investment. 

6 Mobilising 2 
further Mental 
Health Support 
Teams 

Building from the successfully implementation of 3 MHSTs (one in 
each Local Authority) BW CCG has secured the resource to establish 
2 more teams. Using the same model of delivery and provider, the 
Local Authorities, a team will be set up in Reading (in the South and 
East school cluster) and West Berkshire (in the Newbury area). Work 
has started to mobilise the service already and it will be fully 
available by Sept 2022. 
 

7 Meeting the 
COVID-19 
surge demand 
as it arises 

Following the learning of the initial lockdown period There will be an 
operational group set up to create space for sharing and response 
within a ‘BW Partnership Operational Meeting’ to meet emerging 
operational pressures. This will be seeking to heightened 
collaboration, sharing of resources as necessary and agreeing on 
where short-term investment could be placed if a surge is being 
experienced. 

8 Addressing 
gaps in access 
and service 
offer due to 
inequalities 

Three inequality areas have been identified and separate but aligned 
work needs to be initiated in each area. It is: 

 Ethnic minority groups - With the high proportion of ethnic 
minority CYP in our schools we need to review the current 
access of these CYP. Then working with relevant local 
organisations and leaders co-produce an action plan to raise 
the profile and access arrangements for these CYP and their 
families to help and support. 

Page 143



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 6 of 16 
 

 Learning Disability - We need to scope the level of need not 
be met through our existing service arrangements, review 
other examples of targeted support to this cohort of CYP and 
working with the LDA initiatives (e.g. key workers and a 
intensive support service) propose the service offers we need 
to augment or set up fresh to meet this need. 

 LGBTQ+ - With growing numbers of CYP in the LGBTQ+ 
community we need to work with the relevant organisations 
and leaders co-produce an action plan to raise the profile and 
access arrangements for these CYP and their families to help 
and support. 

 

9 Strengthening 
our adolescent 
to young 
adulthood offer 
(16 – 25) 

Using the investment money available focus on 2 initiatives to 
support transformation in this area: 

 Pilot a ‘Managing Emotions Programme’ that is a programme 
of psychoeducational courses designed to support people 
who experience intense emotions that they find difficult to 
manage and which can have a negative impact on their 
quality of life. This will be delivered in partnership with a local 
VCS aiming to offer as response to the volume of referrals 
noted in the CPE from young adults seeking support to 
manage emotions related to life changes and uncertainty.  

 Working through the community mental health framework 
implementation model test how to target and meet mental 
health needs of care leavers. 

 

Governance to drive forward our transformation plan– both Berkshire West and BOB  
 
Fundamental to the success of our transformation programme is robust local, Berkshire West, 
and BOB (ICS) governance arrangements.  
 
Berkshire West has an Integrated Care Partnership well established now that covers the NHS 
and Local Authority network of key partners. Within the last 18 months a specific Children and 
Young People’s programme board has been created and currently lead by a local Director of 
Children’s Services providing a focused time 8 times a year for support and challenge to this 
LTP implementation. This programme board will be the key location of accountability for the 
9 transformation priorities ensuring they are making the impact needed. Further to this specific 
CYP board accountability our BW ICP unified exec has selected CYP MH as a flagship priority 
increasing both the transparency and accountability of this programme to the highest 
corporate officer level within the key delivery agents of improvement.  
 
As our Integrated Care System matures there is connectivity and governance arrangements 
being created for CYP Mental Health. Currently a Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Oversight group has been established in the last 18 months that includes the CYP mental 
health agenda.  There are 3 key areas of work for this board: 

 To scrutinise and assure the Long-Term Plan metrics as well as receive narrative 
update from our ICS Snr Responsible Officer (SRO) for CYP mental health 

 Issues are flagged by exception and very snr leaders in our ICS are available to 
support mitigating actions.  

 Key decisions are filtered to be taken at the BOB ICS level regarding allocation of 
resources  

 

 
 
 

Page 144



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 7 of 16 
 

The appendix provides a range of additional/ supportive information: 
 
Appendix A – the governance arrangements for this transformation plan (page (8) 
 
Appendix B – the key metrics that the NHS is tracking linked to CYP from its long-
term plan (page 9) 
 
Appendix C – an outline of the headlines from our Key community mental health 
provider (BHFT) annual report 2020/21 providing information on: 

 Referrals and waiting lists, including focus on urgent referrals 

 Focus on two areas of support providing ‘getting help’ and ‘risk support’ 

 Outcomes of the offer 
(Pages 10 – 14) 
 
Appendix D – Showcasing the success of our Mental Health Support Team in 
Berkshire West with evidence of their access, outcome as well as the building of the 
confidence and capacity inside targeted schools. (Pages 15 & 16) 
 

Page 145



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 8 of 16 
 

Appendix A - CYP MH & EWB Transformation Executive Delivery Group Governance Structure 
 

  

P
age 146



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 9 of 16 
 

Appendix B - Performance Dashboard Local Transformation Plan (Sept 21) 
 

 

MH LTP Metric Standard 
Latest 
Published 
Date 

BOB 
This month (Last Month) 

Berks West 
This month (Last Month) 

 CYP Access Rate % (2+ contacts) NA May-21 56.3% (53.2%)  ↑ 47.1% (43.5%) ↑ 

 CYP Access (2+ contacts NA May-21 15380 (14525) ↑ 4240 (3920) ↑ 

 CYP Access rate (1+ contacts) NA May-21 19985 (19485) ↑ 6110 (5835) ↑ 

 CYP ED Waits urgent (quarterly) >95% Jun-21 78.2 (84.0%) ↓ 68.8% (80%) ↓ 

 CYP ED Waits routine (quarterly) >95% Jun-21 59.3% (65.5%) ↓ 88.1% (93.9%) ↓ 

Mental Health Support Teams 
25% 
coverage 
minimum 

Aug-21 NA  
32% from 3 
teams 

 

24/7 Crisis support on offer includes 
assessment, brief response & home 
treatment. Linked to NHS 111 

NA Aug 21 

Berkshire west has: 
Access to crisis help via NHS 111 established with CYP 
practitioners available 8am to 10pm every day for CYP and 
families. 
Initial assessment and brief response is available 7 days a week 
via the Rapid Response Service. 
Home treatment service will be available by March 2022. 

  

P
age 147



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 10 of 16 
 

Appendix C - Berkshire Healthcare CAMHS Year end report West CCG, FY 2020/2021

 
  

P
age 148



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 11 of 16 
 

Referrals and Waiting Lists 

Following an initial reduction in referrals as the country went into the first national lockdown, total referrals increased by 6% in 2020/21 

compared to 2019/20.  This is in line with the national benchmarking data and follows a trend of increased demand totalling 40% since 

2014/15. 

 

Urgent referrals 

There has been a significant increase in the number of referrals coded as URGENT by the referrer, up to 15% in 2020/21 compared to 

only 1.7% in 2019/20. Note that this data is for mental health referrals to CAMHS CPE and does not include crisis referrals to the 

CAMHS Rapid Response team or referrals to the Neurodiversity teams. 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21

R
EF

S 
W

A
IT

IN
G

R
EF

S 
IN

CAMHS Berkshire West FY2020-2021
New Referrals IN Waiting Assessment Waiting Intervention Linear (New Referrals IN)

1st

national 
lockdown

Re-opening 
of schools

2nd

national 
lockdown

Re-opening 
of schools

P
age 149



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 12 of 16 
 

Adapted from THRIVE elaborated framework (Wolpert, M., Harris, R., Hodges, S., Fuggle, P., James, R., Wiener, 
A., McKenna, C., Law, D., York, A., Jones, M. and Fonagy, P. (2015) THRIVE elaborated) & Charlie Waller 
Memorial Trust (www.cwmt.org.uk)

All the CAMHS services providing more help have seen an increase in both the numbers and complexity of 
referrals over the last year.

An area of particular concern is that of eating disorders. A surge in the numbers of young people developing an 
eating disorder or complex disordered eating difficulties was seen nationally over the last year and the situation 
in Berkshire was no different.

Total referrals to BEDS CYP increased by 34.5% on the previous year with the number of referrals from Berkshire 
West rising by 31%.

This trend has continued with BEDS CYP referrals up by a further 40.4% YTD in CAMHS Berkshire West on the 
same period last year.

In addition to the increase in number of referrals, we have seen a rise in the number of urgent referrals, with 
significant numbers identified as at immediate physical risk and needing acute refeeding at the point of referral.

Getting More Help

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Referrals to BEDS CYP - Berkshire West

FY19/20 FY20/21 Linear (FY19/20) Linear (FY20/21)

 

P
age 150



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 13 of 16 
 

 
  

P
age 151



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 14 of 16 
 

 
  

P
age 152



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 15 of 16 
 

Appendix D - Mental Health Support Team in Berkshire West – showcasing our success 
 
With 3 operational MHSTs, one based in each local authority area serving a cluster school, there are initial signs of success that are worth 
acknowledging. The headlines across the 3 teams are: 
Currently we are working with 49 school, a cross section of Primary and Secondary setting. 
MHST staff organise and run Mental health surgeries for MHST schools. For example, West Berkshire held 134 such meetings that spoke about 512 
pupils, giving advice on how to support their mental health or agreeing actions to provide interventions to meet their needs. Example feedback from 
schools regarding MH Surgeries:  

 “It was extremely useful to meet to discuss individual students and the best way they should be supported.” 

 “It has been extremely useful to discuss children we are concerned about with professionals with wider experience and knowledge than we have. 
Sometimes just the explanation of what we observe highlights the next steps for us. 

 “Professional advice for children we feel we’ve exhausted all avenues gives us confidence that we are doing the right things a lot of the time.  

Good to regularly touch base about cases making sure no one drops off the radar (even if things are going well).  Nice that the EP is in contact 

with other schools- good to hear what they are doing and if any room for collaboration” 

872 CYP have been referred to the MHST over the last 18 months. the significant majority, over 60% are referred primarily for concerns over their 
anxiety levels.  
90%+ of these CYP are offered an intervention, all are evidenced based, and interventions include group work (e.g. friends for life, Overcoming) as 
well 1:1 work (e.g. behaviour activation, CBT) 
Not all complete the interventions but all MHSTs in the last 6 months now have developed strong outcomes data on the CYP that do complete their 
intervention. For example, Reading in Q1 this year can report per CYP the pre and post scores on RCAD improvements as well as pre and post. 
Producing results such as: 

o Separation Anxiety Score decreased on average by 4.9% 

o Social Phobia Score decreased on average by 4.4% 

o Panic Score decreased on average by 7.8% 

o Major Depression Score decreased on average by 4.7% 

o Generalised Anxiety Score decreased on average by 6.3% 

o Obsessive Compulsive Score decreased on average by 7.2% 

West Berks have a range of case narratives, some examples below that outline the outcomes they are achieving.  
- 16yo boy presenting with anxiety around vomiting and low mood also evident. Health related worries were identified and CBT) particularly 

cognitive restructuring) and some ACT based strategies were utilised. Parent sessions supported work around reassurance giving and also 

scaffolding outside of sessions. ESQ and RCADS highlight improvements in symptoms but also quality of life. 

P
age 153



 

Date: 20.11.21 
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21 

  Page 16 of 16 
 

- 9yo – CYP presented with difficulties around separating from parent, interpersonal challenges and emotions dysregulation, (namely following 

father’s death by suicide).  Attachment based intervention was offered  – intervention with parent (mother) and child initially, but also offering 

consultations to school and setting up TAC with other organisations involved in the families care to ensure needs are being met appropriately. 

Continued sessions over lockdown via Zoom. Mother is feeling more confident in her skills to implement strategies, improve communication and 

explore changes in her relationship with her daughter given the loss. In turn CYP is also better able to manage emotions and relational 

challenges. The intervention also encouraged Relationship building with school and parent. 

- 17 year old female referred via CAMHS due to low mood which she says was as a result of anxiety which she was unable to get help 

with.  Counselling over 12 weeks worked successfully using a variety of integrative approaches. Given the strained relationship with her mother, 

it seemed that the reparative part of the therapy worked successfully with this client and her mood lifted by the end of our sessions. RCADS 

and core form showed this impact. 

All 3 MHSTs are now regularly collating and using service user feedback. This is supported by annual peer audits to give qualitative information or 
performance and impact. 2 examples of feedback below: 

 “I find it very easy to talk to [the EMHP], she has a lovely manner about her, she listens really well, and never gives the impression she’s 

judging….  I found everything useful.  It’s great that she [the EMHP] reminds [the YP] that he can talk to me about anything and should never 

feel alone, or afraid to tell me anything that’s going on in his head…I am finding the sessions very helpful” 

 “It was really difficult for me to talk about the things/issues I have been and still am going through with my child as I have been keeping it bottled 

up for a long time, but [the EMHP] made me feel relaxed and once I started talking I didn’t stop 

Finally, MHST’s have been providing a range of training into schools and across clusters of schools. 3 examples are outlined below. 
- Online training for ELSAs on supporting c/yp’s return to school.  10 delegates attended and rated this training as useful (mean: 9/10, where 10 

indicated highly useful) and informative (mean: 9/10, where 10 indicated highly informative) 

- Online training to support c/yp with worries and anxiety to MHST school staff.  4 delegates attended the first session and rated that: they felt 

heard, understood and accepted during the training (mean: 9.75/10, where 10 indicated highly heard, understood and accepted); the training 

discussed what the delegates wanted (mean: 9, where 10 indicates that the training covered what the delegates wanted); the training was a 

good fit for them (mean: 9, where 10 indicates that the training was a good fit). 

- Online training for MHST school staff about how to support c/yp’s transition to secondary school.     

 

 

 

 

P
age 154



                                
  

READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

DATE OF MEETING: 8 October 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: SEND STRATEGY AND INSPECTION UPDATE 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Deborah Glassbrook 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: Director of Children’s Services 
 

E-MAIL: Deborah.glassbrook@brigh
terfuturesforchildren.org 

ORGANISATION: Brighter Futures for Children 
 

  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1  This report provides a brief update regarding the updated SEND Strategy 2022-2027 which 
incorporates findings from the recent local area inspection of SEND in Reading, and 
shares a copy of the letter from Ofsted regarding this inspection. 

1.2 The SEND strategy is included in Appendix 1, and inspection letter is included in Appendix 
2 of this report. 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 For Members of the HWB Board to note the contents of this report.  
 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 

3.1 The company’s SEND strategy sets out how the local area partnership will deliver support 
and services in collaboration with children, young people, families, carers to meet local 
needs and national responsibilities. 

3.2 The SEND local inspection report assesses the extent to which those needs and 
responsibilities are being met for children and young people with SEND in Reading.  

 

4. DETAILS 

4.1 SEND Strategy Update 

4.2 There has been considerable work undertaken to update the next version of the SEND 
Strategy which covers 2022-2027. We had anticipated the government publishing its 
review of SEND reforms earlier this year however, there has been a third delay in the 
publishing.  It is anticipated that this will now be available sometime in 2022, however 
there is no specified date agreed.   The SEND Strategy will be updated to incorporate the 
changes once the reforms have been published. 

4.3 In response to the SEND local area inspection, we have added two more strands to the 
five existing ones – strands 6 and 7. 

 Strand 1: Improving communication  

 Strand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision  

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



2 

 

 Strand 3: Consistent approaches to emotional wellbeing  

 Strand 4: Preparing for adulthood  

 Strand 5: Support for families / short breaks  

 Strand 6: Capital and School places  

 Strand 7: Revenue and funding  

4.4 SEND Local Area Inspection 

4.5 The joint local area inspection of SEND was conducted by Ofsted and CQC in June 2021 
and concluded that arrangements are sufficiently robust and effective so that no action 
of written statement was required for Reading. There has been a very positive response 
to the inspection outcome and findings from stakeholders.  Whilst being confident about 
what has been achieved, we are continuing to focus on key areas that need to be 
strengthened.  The actions have been outlined under the strands detailed in section 4.3 
and will be overseen through the SEND Strategy Group.   

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 

5.1 The information contained in this report and its appendices are in line with the overall 
direction of the Reading Health and Wellbeing Strategy, contributing to the following 
strategy priorities: 

 Priority 2: Reducing loneliness and social isolation 

 Priority 3: Promoting positive mental health and wellbeing in children 
and young people 
 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Not applicable for this report 
 
 
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1 Not applicable for this report 
 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 Not applicable for this report 
 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable for this report 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1  Not applicable for this report 
 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 Not applicable for this report 

Page 156



1 
 

  

 

 

Page 157



2 
 

 

Contents 

Vision ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Developing the strategy 2022-2027.................................................................................................... 6 

Alignment with other key strategies ................................................................................................... 6 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................... 9 

Workstrand 1 Improving Communications ....................................................................................... 10 

What does the data tell us? .............................................................................................................. 10 

What did the inspection say?............................................................................................................ 10 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 ................................................................. 12 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ...................................................................................................................... 13 

SEND Communications Work Group Terms of Reference .................................................................... 16 

Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 16 

Scope ................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Core Functions .................................................................................................................................. 16 

Features of the work group .............................................................................................................. 17 

Meetings ....................................................................................................................................... 17 

Membership .................................................................................................................................. 17 

Quoracy ......................................................................................................................................... 17 

Workstrand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision – ................................................. 18 

What does the data tell us? ............................................................................................................... 18 

Characteristics ................................................................................................................................... 19 

Gender .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

Free school meal eligibility ............................................................................................................ 20 

Ethnicity ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Types of school.............................................................................................................................. 22 

Elective Home Education (EHE) and Alternative Arrangements ................................................... 23 

Early years ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

Early Years Children in Reading Subject to Children in Need (CiN), Child Protection (CP) and 

Children Looked After (CLA) at January 31st each year ................................................................. 25 

Looked after children and children in need with SEND – prevalence and characteristics ........... 25 

Attainment of children and young people with SEND in Reading Schools ................................... 25 

Attainment at Key Stage 2: Quartile Banding A (12-50%), National Rank 6 ................................. 25 

Progress Scores at Key Stage 2 for children with SEND ................................................................ 26 

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -4.48%), National Rank 143 .............................................. 26 

Page 158



3 
 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN pupils – Writing ............................................................................ 26 

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -5.38%), National Rank 120 .............................................. 27 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN pupils – Maths ............................................................................. 27 

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -1.6%), National Rank 125 ................................................ 27 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils -Reading ............................................................... 27 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils –Writing ............................................................... 28 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils – Maths ................................................................ 28 

Attainment 8 Scores at KS4 by pupils with an EHCP ..................................................................... 29 

Attainment 8 Scores at Key Stage 4 for SEND support pupils....................................................... 29 

Progress 8 Scores at Key Stage 4 by pupils with an EHCP ............................................................. 30 

Progress 8 Scores for Key Stage 4 for young people with SEND support ..................................... 30 

Post-16 – attainment by age 19 .................................................................................................... 31 

Statutory Assessments .................................................................................................................. 31 

What did the inspection say? ............................................................................................................. 32 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 ................................................................... 36 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ....................................................................................................................... 37 

Workstrand 3 – Consistent approaches to emotional well being .................................................... 43 

What does the data tell us? .............................................................................................................. 43 

What did the inspection say in the June 2021 Local Area SEND Inspection? ................................... 44 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) ...................................................... 46 

Action Plan 2022/23 .......................................................................................................................... 47 

Workstrand: 4: Preparation for Adulthood (RBC lead Katie Laws) ................................................... 58 

What does the data tell us? .............................................................................................................. 58 

What did the inspection say?............................................................................................................ 60 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) ...................................................... 61 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ...................................................................................................................... 62 

Workstrand 5: Short Breaks and related family support .................................................................. 65 

What does the data tell us? ............................................................................................................... 65 

Reading data shows: ..................................................................................................................... 67 

What did the inspection say? ............................................................................................................. 68 

Overview ....................................................................................................................................... 68 

Strengths - Support for families/Short Breaks ............................................................................... 68 

Areas of development ................................................................................................................... 69 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) ......................................................... 70 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ....................................................................................................................... 71 

Work strand: 6. Capital and school places ............................................................................................ 76 

Page 159



4 
 

What does the data tell us? .............................................................................................................. 76 

What did the inspection say?............................................................................................................ 76 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) ...................................................... 77 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ...................................................................................................................... 78 

Strand 7: Funding and finance .......................................................................................................... 81 

What does the data tell us? ............................................................................................................... 81 

What did the inspection say? ............................................................................................................. 81 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) ......................................................... 81 

Action Plan 2022-2023 ....................................................................................................................... 82 

  

Page 160



5 
 

Vision 

Our strategy for SEND is rooted in our vision for Reading’s children and young people, it reflects the 

outcome of the June 2021 local area inspection and the key areas for development identified 

through that report: 

All children and young people with SEND will be supported through the provision of the right support 

at the right time to be as independent as possible and have their emotional, social and physical 

health needs met.  They will have choice and agency in adult life and be able to access and navigate 

services to lead rich and fulfilling lives and flourish in a healthy, thriving and inclusive borough. 

 

We will do this by ensuring: 

 SEND is everybody's business, embedded in the practice of all those that work with children, 
young people and families 

 "Co-production" happens at every level -"working with" families not "doing to". Co-production at 
the heart of what we do: changing the way in which we work together with families 
operationally and strategically. 

 We deliver the right support in the right place at the right time, ensuring the availability and 
development of high quality universal and specialist provision to meet needs locally.  

 We improve outcomes for children and young people. We focus on working together to identify 
and assessing needs early, and through transparent and evidenced based decision making, 
ensuring equitable resource allocation to meet agreed outcomes and support aspirations. 
 

 And unlocking all the resources in the borough of Reading 
 

The strategy is driven forward by the work of the workstrands.  These operationalise the strategy 

and enable it to be embedded in our work.  The strands are: 

 Strand 1: Improving communication (BFFC Lead Fiona Tarrant, Head of Corporate 

Communications and Marketing) 

 Strand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision (BFFC Lead Debs Hunter, 

Principal Child & Educational Psychologist and Mental Health Lead) 

 Strand 3: Consistent approaches to emotional wellbeing (BFFC Lead Debs Hunter, Principal 

Child & Educational Psychologist and Mental Health Lead) 

 Strand 4: Preparing for adulthood (RBC Adult Social Care to lead) 

 Strand 5: Support for families / short breaks  (BFFC Lead Claire Lewis, Service Manager – 

Childrens Disability Service) 

 Strand 6: Capital and School Places (BFFC lead Mandie Barnes, Education and SEND 

commissioner with support from Paul Gresty, Education Strategic Lead and RBC assets) 

 Strand 7: Funding and finance (BFFC Leads Nikki Stevens, Head of SEND and Steph Heaps, 

Schools & DSG Business Partner) 

 

As part of our commitment to ensuring families are at the heart of all we do, representatives of 

parent/carers forums  are active participants in all the workstrands. 

 

Page 161



6 
 

Our strategy is data driven and reflects our current performance and our ambition to be one of the 

best areas in the country for SEND.  The strategy will be revised once the outcome of the 

Government’s SEND review is known to ensure it meets governmental and local priorities. 

 

Developing the strategy 2022-2027 

Following a consultation exercise in the Spring 2021, the development of the strategy has ensured 

that it is both data driven and focused on Key Performance Indicators and that the lines of 

accountability for delivering on each strand are clear.  It is hoped that each work strand will have a 

strategic performance indicator (where will we be by 2027) to sit alongside the annual action plans. 

The SEND Strategy will be delivered through 7 Key Strands set out in the strategic framework set out 

below. Each strand will be supported by a workstream which will set out specific yearly action plans 

to deliver the priorities identified through the Self Evaluation and data analysis, and include key 

performance indicators (KPIs), timescales and intended impact/outcomes.  All workstreams will 

ensure that the work is coproduced and informs opportunities for joint commissioning.  The delivery 

of the actions will be kept under regular review, reporting progress and recommendations to the 

SEND Strategy Group. 

The SEND Strategy delivery will be supported by an overarching communication plan that: 

 communicates data and information to inform all partners actions 

 provides a summary of feedback received from parent / carers and young people 

 communicates progress of different strands of work and its impact 

 

Alignment with other key strategies 

The draft SEND strategy 2022-2027 has been developed with reference to: 

1. Joint local area SEND inspection in Reading – July 2021 
(letter attached) 

2. The BERKSHIRE WEST HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY (HWBS) 2021- 2030 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 

(see separate item on the agenda) 

3. Brighter Futures for Children Year 3 Business Plan 2021-2022 

 

https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Year-Three-BFfC-

Business-Plan-Feb-2021-FINAL-.pdf  

 

The alignment between these strategic documents is shown below: 

 

Page 162

https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Year-Three-BFfC-Business-Plan-Feb-2021-FINAL-.pdf
https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Year-Three-BFfC-Business-Plan-Feb-2021-FINAL-.pdf


7 
 

 

Joint Local Area Inspection HWBS 2021-2030 Brighter Futures for Children Business Plan -2021-2022 

Areas of development- 

 

 The early identification of children with complex needs 
under the age of two is not as strong as it is for older 
children because health services are not working as 
closely together as they could. As a result, 
opportunities to identify additional needs and plan 
early intervention are missed.  

 Some pathways to health services are not clear enough 
and can be confusing 

 Many parents are rightly concerned about the amount 
of time they have to wait for a diagnosis appointment 
for ADHD and ASD.  

 Parents are concerned that there are not sufficient 
specialist places in schools to meet the needs of 
children and young people with SEND, 

 and are not confident that social care services fully 
consider their children’s needs. Some parents are not 
confident that the local authority is willing to meet 
their children’s needs.  

 The very youngest children and their families in 
Reading do not benefit from shared focused priorities 
as seen across the other age groups. Opportunities 
to use shared models of support and co-production are 
missed. 

 Quality of health and social care contributions to EHC 
plans require improvement 

 The number of adults with learning difficulties in 
meaningful activity or paid employment needs to 

Priorities: 

1. Reduce the differences in 

health between different 

groups of people 

 

2. Support individuals at high 

risk of bad health outcomes 

to live healthy lives. 

 

3.  Help children and families in 

early years. 

 

4. Promote good mental health 

and wellbeing for all children 

and young people 

 

5. Promote good mental health 

and wellbeing for all adults. 

 

 Priority 4: Implement and embed the Early Help 

approach securing active commitment of 

community partners  

 

 Priority 5: Support education providers to give our 

children and young people the best start and to 

promote excellent teaching and learning, especially 

for those with SEND. 

P
age 163



8 
 

Joint Local Area Inspection HWBS 2021-2030 Brighter Futures for Children Business Plan -2021-2022 

increase. Leaders know that the offer for young people 
with very complex needs aged 18 to 25 is not as strong 
as for other young people who are more able to access 
work and education opportunities. There are limited 
options and insufficient places within adult social care 
for meaningful activities for young people with very 
complex disabilities. There is also a lack of regular 
respite for their parents/carers. While new facilities for 
day activities and overnight respite are planned, they 
will not be available for two years. Some parents and 
carers of older young people with more complex needs 
are exhausted and feel unable to continue caring 
without additional support. 

 

 

P
age 164



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

9 

Conclusion 

The draft strategy is attached as appendices 1 to 7.  The strategy will ‘go live’ from January 2022 and 

the responsibility for ensuring and monitoring progress will rest with strand leaders reporting to the 

monthly SEND strategy group.  The action plans will form the basis for the annual SEF update and  

the annual reports to Schools Forum and the Health and Well Being Board. Our over-riding key 

performance indicator for the new strategy is that any local area inspection in the future rates 

Reading as ‘outstanding’ and one of the best local areas in the country for children and young 

people with SEND and their families. 

  

Page 165



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND Strategy action plan for work strand 1: Communications | DRAFT 1.0 | FT 08/21  
      10  

Workstrand 1 Improving Communications 

 

What does the data tell us? 

Data on its own does not provide the key indicator for improved communications with parent carers 

of children and young people with SEND, professionals working in this field or, indeed, for young 

people with SEND. 

The key indicator is feedback from parent carers and young people on whether they can find the 

right information, at the right time and in the right place. 

Therefore, the key focus for SEND Strategy workstrand 1 has been to revisit the information and 

communication ‘as is’ and to make improvements working in partnership with parent carer 

representatives. 

This workstream’s responsibility is to ensure there is readily accessible information on services  

provided and that this is communicated in a clear and accessible way. 

The better the information available and improvements in the way that information is 

communicated will improve confidence. That confidence can be measured by surveys but also in 

parental feedback (and feedback from children and young people) in SEND local area inspections. 

Feedback from the 2021 local area SEND inspection in Reading recognises improvements in 

communications in recent years but we recognise there is still much more to be done and the 

narrative provided gives scope for many further improvements, all of which need to be 

communicated to the children, young people and their families who access these services. 

The reputation of the partner agencies involved in the provision of SEND in Reading will improve if 

there is better access to information and help for parent carers on where to go and how to find help 

at different stages of their child/ren’s development. 

This is where improved access to information and better communication of it will shine. The action 

plan for 2022/23, detailed below, may change as work is completed and further improvements 

identified during 2021/22 but the key aims are the same. 

  

What did the inspection say? 

Overview 

 In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with SEND is improving.  

 Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who receive support from 
more than one service, for example children looked after with SEND. This has led to stronger 
joint working between professionals for many individuals with complex needs. Consequently, 
there is greater protective support for these potentially vulnerable children and young people  

 This joint working was less evident for the very youngest children. It is important that this joint 
working now spreads to include the very youngest children in Reading.  

 Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to access the right 
support at the right time. This is being achieved through effective partnership working between 
services. There are now many examples of this beginning to emerge, for example in the multi-
disciplinary support available to parents and children when they are waiting for an assessment 
for ADHD or ASD. However, there is still more to do as too many children and young people are 
waiting too long for assessment in the ASD and ADHD diagnostic services. Some have been 

Page 166



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND Strategy action plan for work strand 1: Communications | DRAFT 1.0 | FT 08/21  
      11  

waiting over two years for an ASD appointment and others over three years for an ADHD 
appointment. While plans are in place to recruit the staff needed to tackle this backlog, area 
leaders do not have sufficient oversight of this situation.  
 
Strengths – Communication 

 Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier identification of 

children with SEND. Co-production (a way of working where children, families and those that 

provide the service work together to create a decision or a service that works for them all) and 

joint working are well established in the area and there are many examples of how this is helping 

to identify children’s needs in a timely way. 

 Improvements to services are planned and delivered in genuine partnership, with parents and 

young people included as standard 

 Leaders have identified that some families do not take up the offer of free early years places for 

their two-year-old children. This is making it difficult to ensure that the needs of all children are 

identified early. Leaders identified this issue through their routine data analysis, finding that 12% 

of children had not attended provision before they started school, with the majority of this 

group having a black and minority ethnic background. As a result, there is now a coordinated 

plan to address this issue, with staff and volunteers in place, leaflets translated into the 11 most 

commonly used languages and a social media awareness campaign 

 Schools and early years settings are well supported by professionals from both education and 

health services. This support, together with the good range of training available, is helping 

practitioners to more quickly spot children who may need some extra help. 

 There are examples of leaders acting swiftly during the COVID-19 pandemic to address specific 

issues. For example, the local area adapted an existing programme of support for families and 

young people struggling with anxiety into an accessible online course to help families to support 

their young people during the pandemic. 

 Increasingly, young people are centrally involved in the design of services. For example, those 

accessing CAMHS are involved in designing the environment and information about the service 

and are routinely participating in interview panels. As a result, services are more likely to be 

responsive to the needs of young people 

 Increasingly, working with families and young people is seen as an essential aspect of the 

development of services. For example, in the commissioning of an autism service, children and 

young people and their parents were involved from the start, from their involvement in 

tendering for a service to evaluating bids for a contract and setting key performance indicators 

that include ‘I feel’ statements, to measure successful outcomes.  

 Increasingly services for children and young people with SEND are delivered using a needs-led 

approach. This means that services aim to respond rapidly and ensure that the children who are 

in most urgent need get the help first. As part of this plan, schools have increasing access to 

regular support and advice from specialists. Examples of this approach include the regular 

mental health discussions and the SLTs linked to every school. Providers and parent 

representatives like the fact that they drive this work; it is not a distant project organised by 

leaders, and they are in the driving seat 

 EHC plans are produced in a timely fashion, with the vast majority being produced within the 

expected 20 week period. There is a consistent format that provides clear information about 

children and their needs. Practitioners say that these are useful documents. The views of 

children and young people and their parents are sought and plans are well informed by 

professional advice. 

Page 167



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND Strategy action plan for work strand 1: Communications | DRAFT 1.0 | FT 08/21  
      12  

 Parents of children and young people with SEND have access to good information and advice 

from the family information service and the local offer. There is widespread awareness among 

families of where to go to find information and advice. The local offer is responsive to families’ 

needs, following up all initial contacts to ensure that the identified needs have been met. 

Areas of Development- Communication  

 Some parents are not confident in leaders’ ability to resolve the current issues. Many remain 

very concerned about the long waits for ASD and ADHD appointments. Parents are concerned 

that there are not sufficient specialist places in schools to meet the needs of children and young 

people with SEND and are not confident that social care services fully consider their children’s 

needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is willing to meet their children’s 

needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns and have plans in place to address them. 

 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 

It is anticipated that year-on-year improvements to information about SEND services and better 

communication about how to access them will mean that, by 2027, this will be – if there was a SEND 

inspection rating – ‘outstanding’ in Reading.   

Commitment from all partner agencies involved to make improvements in the way services are 

communicated already exists. The expectation is that complaints about communication will reduce 

and that, as the partnerships in Reading strengthen, processes and channels set up will mean 

excellent communication will be the norm. 

 

. 

Page 168



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

     13 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Ongoing publicity campaign 

on 9 month and 2.5 year 

health checks by all agencies 

in Reading 

Social media interaction 

stats, visits to websites, 

increase in booked appts 

(shared KPI with 

operational leads) 

March 2023 Increased awareness of the 

checks, where to access 

them, why they’re important 

Health comms, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group 

Amend Terms of Reference 

for Work strand 1 to become 

a permanent working group 

 March 2022 Improved communication 

and information as ongoing  

BFfC Head of 

Communications 

Improved information and 

comms with parent carers 

while awaiting an ADHD or 

ASD assessment 

Increased visibility of 

information on ADHD and 

ASD assessments. Website 

and social media data on 

engagements with 

information provided 

March 2023 Less stress for parent carers, 

greater awareness of 

process, improved 

knowledge of conditions 

and/or future steps, fewer 

complaints during waiting 

time  

Health comms, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group 

Increase in co-production of 

collateral and website 

information 

Website and social media 

data on engagements with 

information provided. 

Increased and improved 

feedback from parent 

carers via Local Offer 

annual surveys 

March 2023 More information, which is 

more accessible and 

informative for parent carers 

and young people. 

Increased parent carer 

confidence in services 

BFfC Head of 

Communications, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group  

P
age 169



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND Strategy action plan for work strand 1: Communications | DRAFT 1.0 | FT 08/21        14
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

provided and how to access 

them 

Increased publicity campaign 

on free early years places 

Increase in applications (no 

starting data, so can’t apply 

a KPI) 

March 2023 Greater engagement with 

messaging and increased 

clicks to website to apply 

BFfC Head of 

Communications, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group 

Improve accessible 

information for parent carers 

and young people on 

preparing for adulthood and 

transition to adult services 

from children’s services 

Survey feedback via Local 

Offer/FIS surveys and 

quarterly reports 

Sept 2022 Less anxiety about the 

transition process and future 

provision, greater awareness 

of key transition stages    

Chair of Workstream 1 and 

Chair of Workstream 4, with 

co-operation and input 

across both workstreams 

Improve readily available 

mental and physical 

wellbeing resources and 

information for parent carers 

and young people on Local 

offer, FIS, with stronger 

signposting from partner 

websites and strengthening 

of engagement with 

ReadingYoungPeople 

Instagram  

Website and social media 

data on engagements with 

information provided. 

March 2023 Reduction in escalation of 

mental health cases, earlier 

access to support, greater 

engagement with young 

people in Reading 

FIS/Local Offer Manager and 

BFfC Head of 

Communications, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group 

P
age 170



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND Strategy action plan for work strand 1: Communications | DRAFT 1.0 | FT 08/21        15
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Rollout of EHCP comms 

strategy and engagement 

with all partner agencies, 

particularly schools 

More appropriate referrals, 

better engagement with 

correct processes 

Sept 2022 Better partnership working, 

clarity of roles and 

responsibilities 

BFfC Head of 

Communications, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group  

Update of SEND Comms 

strategy, in line with action 

plans for all other SEND 

Strategy workstreams 

Hard to identify a KPI for 

this one, although this will 

form the majority of 

workstream 1’s workload 

April 2022 Better communication about 

improvements made by all 

workstreams. Greater parent 

carer confidence in actions 

being taken and progress 

made 

BFfC Senior 

Communications Officer, 

with co-operation across the 

Work strand 1 Comms 

Group 

Establish a SEND 

communications protocol 

across all relevant partners 

in Reading 

Increase in visits to 

relevant FIS and Local Offer 

web pages and 

engagement with 

information provided 

May 2022 Information streamlined so 

other partners’ websites 

aren’t updated. Establish 

single source for key 

information and others 

signpost their website 

visitors to it 

BFfC Head of 

Communications, with co-

operation across the Work 

strand 1 Comms Group 

Ongoing communication 

with parent carers about 

new SEND school places in 

Reading 

Website and social media 

data on engagements with 

information provided  

March 2023 Fewer complaints, increase 

in early resolution of 

disputes taken to IASS. 

Greater parent carer 

confidence  

BFfC Senior 

Communications Officer, 

with co-operation across the 

Work strand 1 Comms 

Group 

P
age 171



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

16 

  

SEND Communications Work Group Terms of Reference 

Work strand 1 of the SEND Strategy Group 

 

November 2020. Updated March 2021  

 

Purpose 

The primary purpose of the SEND Communications Working Group is to be a short-term group (no more 

than 12 months) to establish a good working partnership and clear communication channels to help 

promote and communicate the effective delivery of the SEND Strategy.  

 

This group will ensure that SEND children, young people, parent carers and service providers have 

improved information to be able to access services and ensure their needs are met. 

 

A key part of this will be co-production  -  ensuring that parents/carers and partner agencies develop the 

communication strategy together. 

 

The Reading Families’ Forum, the Local Offer team and IASS will feedback young people and parent carer 

views back to the working group, which will ensure collateral produced is objective reviewed and is right 

for the audiences it serves. 

 

Scope 

The working group will focus on collateral and communication methods outlined in the BFfC SEND 

Communications Strategy and associated action plan. 

 

The working group will agree and sign off the strategy and action plan and will ensure the work is on 

track and on target, in terms of messaging and accessibility. 

 

The working group will monitor the development and delivery of communication and marketing collateral 

and will encourage the exploration of innovative approaches to improve communication of SEND services. 

 

The working group will not cross over into operational areas or the delivery of SEND services. 

 

Core Functions 

 

 View drafts and approve collateral 

 Develop effective solutions to current barriers to communication in delivering the SEND Strategy. 

 Approve approaches and innovative ideas on ways to communicate SEND services 

 Suggest new approaches, offer ideas and contribute to the strategy 

 Encourage and promote a culture of continuous improvement and a collegiate approach. 

 

Page 172



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      17  

Features of the work group 

 

Meetings  

The work group will meet bi-monthly, initially for a year, after which it will be reviewed. Meetings will be via 

Teams, chaired by the Head of Communications & Marketing. 

 

Membership 

Invited membership of the work group is as follows: 

Fiona Tarrant, BFfC Head of Communications & Marketing  fiona.tarrant@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

David Millward, BFfC Senior Communications Officer david.millward@brighterfututesforchildren.org 

Lesley Chamberlain, Reading IASS Manager lesley.chamberlain@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

Maryam Makki, Manager of Reading’s Family Information Service and SEND Local Offer 

Maryam.makki@reading.gov.uk 

Ramona Bridgman, Reading Families Forum rgebridgman@aol.com 

Claire Lewis, BFfC CYPD Service Manager claire.lewis@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

Ruth Pearce, Parenting Special Children ruth@parentingspecialchildren.co.uk  

Jessica Langdon, RBH/CCG Comms jessica.langdon@royalberkshire.nhs.uk  

Rachel Tetchner, Inclusion Leader/ The Ark Manager, Christ the King Primary School 

resourcemanager@christtheking.reading.sch.uk  

Nikki Stevens, BFfC SEND Manager nikki.stevens@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

nikki.stevens@brighterfuturesforchildren.org 

TBC, SENCO representative 
 

Quoracy 

A quorum shall be at least 6 members. 

 

The working group may invite any BFfC employees or agency to attend and/or provide information to support 

its work. 

 

The working group will assess its own effectiveness, including its Terms of Reference, every year.  

 

As part of the working group’s assurance process, it will routinely report on its activity and progress to 

the BFfC Board, BFfC Senior Leadership Team and SEND Board, via reports from the Head of 

Communications & Marketing. 

 

 

 

Page 173

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank


CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      18  

Workstrand 2: Early intervention through to specialist provision –  

 

What does the data tell us? 

The National context as outlined in key data sets (SEND2 return) June 2021 highlights key findings  

 The total number of EHC plans has continued to increase 

 The number of new EHC plans has increased each year since their introduction in 2014. 

 Pupils with special educational needs (SEN) increased to 1.37 million pupils in 2020. 

 

In Reading we know that in January 2020, the number and percentage of pupils with SEND in all 

Reading schools1was 15.3% and this has increased each year, since 2016. 

  
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Reading 4,237 3,819 3,229 3,368 3,499 3,766 4,025 

Reading % 18.5 16.1 13.1 13.5 13.7 14.6 15.3 

Statistical 
Neighbours % 

19.0 16.5 15.2 15.0 15.3 15.4 15.4 

England % 18.0 15.5 14.4 14.4 14.6 14.9 15.5 

South East % 18.1 15.3 14.2 14.2 14.5 14.9 15.6 

 

 Of these pupils, 19% with SEND had an EHC plan in Reading schools compared to 81% 

identified as receiving SEND support. 

 At January 2020, the percentage of pupils with an EHC plans in Reading schools increased 

slightly from 2019. The same is true of our statistical neighbours, the South East and 

England. Reading schools have a higher proportion of pupils identified as requiring SEND 

support and a lower percentage of pupils with EHC plans however for the first time in 

January 2020, the South East had a higher proportion of funded EHC plans than Reading, 

England or statistical neighbours. 

 

Type of need  

In Reading, the majority of children and young people have a primary need of autism (roughly 50% 

ASD and/or speech language and communication needs) lower than some of our statistical 

neighbours and in line with the South East average. Boys are over-represented in this autism and 

SLCD primary need cohort with over 50% of boys with plans having this as their primary need (this is 

similar to the South East average). For girls, the comparison figure is 39%. 

Figures show a likely over-representation of Asian pupils in the cohort with a primary need of ASD 

and SLCN (19% compared with a South East average of 7%).  

 

                                                           
1 Source: School Census, School Level Annual School Census (SLASC) and General Hospital School Census 2011-2019 (at 

January each year). Percentage of pupils with SEND (SEND support and a statement or EHC plan), based on where the pupil 
attends school at January, and expressed as a percentage of the total number of pupils on roll. All schools includes all 
academies, including free schools, maintained and non-maintained special schools, middle schools as deemed, all through 
schools, city technology colleges, university technology colleges, studio schools and general hospital schools, and excludes 
nursery schools, independent schools and pupil referral units. 

 

Page 174



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      19  

Breakdown of Maintained EHC Plans at 14th January 2021 by Primary Need Type/% 
 Social, 

Emotion
al and 
Mental 
Health  

 

Communication and 
Interaction Needs  

Cognition and Learning Needs  

 
Sensory and/ or Physical 
Needs  

 

Other 
 
 
 
 

Total 

ASD SLCN SPLD MLD SLD PMLD PD HI VI MSI 

Reading  19.60 35.80 14.60 0.60 14.30 2.80 4.00 4.8 2.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 1436 
South 
East 

18.30 32.80 16.80 2.90 14.20 5.10 1.80 4.3 1.7 1.1 0.2 1.0 56241 

SEND Benchmarking Data 2021 

On 1 July 2021, out of 1450 EHC plans with Reading named as the home LA: 

 522 had a primary need of ASD registered (36%).  

 275 had a primary need of SEMH registered (19%) 

 213 had a primary need of MLD registered (15%) 

 207 had a primary need of SLCN registered (14.2%) 

 70 had a primary need of PD registered (5%) 

 58 had a primary need of PMLD registered (4%) 

 41 had a primary need of SLD (2.8%) 

 28 had a primary need of VI (1.7%) 

 28 had a primary need of HI (1.7%) 

 8 had a primary need of SPLD (0.6%) 

 

There are an additional 59 EHC plans, where Reading is the funding LA but the EHC plan is 

maintained by another LA; the majority of these children and young people are children looked after 

with a high number in specialist provision: 

 29 have a primary need of SEMH (49.9%)  

 9 have a primary need of ASD (16%)  

 7 have a primary need of MLD (12%) 

 6 have a primary need of SLCN (10.2%) 

 3 have a primary need of SLD (5.1) 

 2 have a primary need of PD (3.4%) 

 1 has a primary need of PMLD (1.7%) 

 1 has a primary need of SPLD (1.7%) 

Breakdown of Maintained EHC Plans at 14th January 2021 by Primary Need Type/% 
 Social, 

Emotion
al and 
Mental 
Health  

 

Communication and 
Interaction Needs  

Cognition and Learning Needs  

 
Sensory and/ or Physical 
Needs  

 

Other 
 
 
 
 

Total 

ASD SLCN SPLD MLD SLD PMLD PD HI VI MSI 

Reading  19.60 35.80 14.60 0.60 14.30 2.80 4.00 4.8 2.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 1436 
South 
East 

18.30 32.80 16.80 2.90 14.20 5.10 1.80 4.3 1.7 1.1 0.2 1.0 56241 

 

Characteristics  

Gender  

Reading has a higher ratio of boys to girls who have EHC plans in comparison to the South East 

and England. 

Page 175



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      20  

Gender and SEN Support and EHC plans in Reading, SE and England 

  SEN Support EHC Plan 

  2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 

Reading Boys% 64.9 64.6 62.8 76 77.3 78 

Girls% 35.1 35.4 37.2 24 22.7 22 

South 
East 

Boys% 65 64.3 63.8 73.5 73.3 73.2 

Girls% 35 35.7 36.2 26.5 26.7 26.8 

England Boys% 64.9 64.6 64.2 73 73.1 73.1 

Girls% 35.1 35.4 35.8 27 26.9 26.9 
Totals include state-funded nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, non-maintained special 

schools and pupil referral units. Does not include independent schools 

Free school meal eligibility  

Nationally pupils with special educational needs are more likely to be eligible for free school 

meals. Reading is an outlier compared to geographical neighbours but in line with statistical 

neighbours.  

 

Free School meal % eligibility and SEN Support and EHC plans in Reading, SE and England 

Area SEN Support EHC Plan 

% eligible for free 
school meals 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Reading  26.7 29.6 33.3 30.6 33.7 39.7 

West Berkshire   15.6 17.9 22.7 21.6 21.9 27.5 

Wokingham   13.8 15.7 17.6 20.5 20.4 21.1 

South East  22 24.8 29.2 27 28.4 32.3 

England  27.3 29.9 34.3 32.8 34.6 38 

Sheffield   37.5 40.1 44.8 42.7 44.8 47.7 

Milton Keynes  24.3 27.5 32.1 27.7 29.5 33.8 

Bedford   23.1 25.4 29.3 29.9 32.4 34.8 

Brighton and Hove    27.9 31.7 34.9 34.2 36.3 40.5 

Bristol   32.4 35.5 39.8 42.4 44.8 47.9 

Southampton   35.7 40.1 45.8 41.0 41.7 46.3 

Derby  30.7 33.7 39.4 36.1 38.0 42.8 

Totals include state-funded nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, non-maintained special schools and pupil 

referral units. Does not include independent school 

This is reflected in the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) of Berkshire West, below, with bluer 

areas showing the most deprived and green areas showing the least deprived areas. 

Page 176



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      21  

 

 

 English as a first language  

CYP with SEND and first language English/not English – Reading 2020-2021 

  2020/21 

SEN Support First language known or believed to be English % 77.9 

 First Language known or believed to be not English % 21.4 

EHC plans First language known or believed to be English % 76.9 

 First Language known or believed to be not English % 22.1 
Totals include state-funded nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, non-maintained special 

schools and pupil referral units. Does not include independent schools 

Ethnicity  

The tables below show the ethnicity of CYP at SEN Support or with an EHCP.  

 

1.2
0.1
0.7

3.3
6.6

2.7
1.1

5.7
1.6

0.3
3.7

2
1.7

6
1.9

0.1
0.4
0.2

53.7
7

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Any other ethnic group (%)

Asian - Bangladeshi (%)

Asian - Pakistani (%)

Black - Any other Black background (%)

Black - Black Caribbean (%)

Mixed - Any other mixed background (%)

Mixed - White and Black African (%)

Unclassified (%)

White - Irish (%)

White - White British (%)

SEN Support - Ethnicity - Reading 2020/21

Page 177



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      22  

 

 

 

Types of school 

The majority of pupils in Reading, in January 2021 with EHC plans, attended a maintained 

mainstream school, academy or free school. The percentage attending resourced base provision, 

was 6.1%, significantly higher than compared to the South East or England. 

In January 2021, 28.8% of pupils with EHC plans attended a special school. This is a slightly lower 

percentage compared to England or the South East. However, the percentage of children with EHC 

plans attending Independent Non-Maintained schools with a Reading EHC plan is significantly lower 

(2.9%) compared to England (4.1%) and the South East (5.5%). This will have a positive impact on the 

High Needs Block in relation to the total spend on high cost placements and has been the result of 

our SEND strategy to reduce out of borough placements and increasing mainstream resource units.  

A number of these placements have been awarded post tribunal. 

% of CYP with an EHC Plan maintained at 14th January 2021, by 
Placement 

   Reading South East England 

Non-maintained EY settings in the private and 
voluntary sector  

0.4 0.4 0.5 

M
ai

n
st

re
am

 
Sc

h
o

o
l 

LA Maintained School 20.6 16.1 17.3 

SEN Unit 0.0 1.4 0.9 

Resourced Provision 5.0 1.7 1.5 

Academy School 11.2 13.8 16.2 

SEN Unit 0.0 1.5 1.0 

Resourced Provision 2.1 1.5 1.4 

1.3

0

1.1

3.5

6.1

4.9

1

6.8

1.1

0.1

5.2

1.2

1.3

4.7

3.4

0

0.4

0.1

50.4

7.3

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Any other ethnic group (%)

Any other ethnic group - Arab (%)

Asian - Bangladeshi (%)

Asian - Indian (%)

Asian - Pakistani (%)

Asian - any other Asian background (%)

Black - Any other Black background (%)

Black - Black African (%)

Black - Black Caribbean (%)

Chinese (%)

Mixed - Any other mixed background (%)

Mixed - White and Asian (%)

Mixed - White and Black African (%)

Mixed - White and Black Caribbean (%)

Unclassified (%)

White - Gypsy/Roma (%)

White - Irish (%)

White - Traveller of Irish heritage (%)

White - White British (%)

White - any other White background (%)

EHC plans - Ethnicity - Reading 2020/2021

Page 178



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      23  

Free School 3.8 0.8 0.7 

Independent School 0.0 1.2 1.1 
Sp

ec
ia

l 
Sc

h
o

o
l 

LA Maintained/Foundation 13.5 21.0 19.5 

Academy/Free  15.3 9.1 11.2 

Non-maintained 0.4 1.6 0.9 

Independent 2.9 5.5 4.1 

P
R

U
 

A
P
 LA maintained 0.0 0.2 0.4 

Academy or Free School 1.7 0.2 0.3 

P
o

st
- 

16
 General FE colleges/HE 17.4 14.4 13.2 

Other FE 0.0 0.6 1.2 

Sixth form college 0.0 1.3 0.6 

Special Institutions 0.0 1.6 1.6 

O
t

h
er

 Other Arrangement LA 2.0 1.4 1.0 

Other Arrangement Parent 0.0 0.2 0.2 

N
o

 
P

la
ce

m
e

n
t 

Excluded on Census day 0.1 0.0 0.3 

Awaiting Placement 2.8 1.7 1.3 

NEET 0.0 1.7 2.5 

Other 0.0 0.22 0.5 
SEN Benchmarking data – 2021 

 

 

% CYP with Maintained Statements/ EHC Plans at 14th January 2021 Placed in Independent/ 
Non-Maintained Special Placements* 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Reading 5.7 5.5 4.5 3.1 3.3 

South East 8.5 7.8 8.7 9.3 9.9 

England 7.4 7.2 7.4 7.6 7.7 

SEN Benchmarking data – 2021-*includes independent Mainstream Schools, Non-maintained Special Schools, Independent Special 

School and Independent post-16 provision. 

Reading’s previous SEND strategy has focused on the right provision in the right place at the right 

time; meeting needs locally; building skills and confidence in mainstream schools for children with 

complex needs. The emphasis on securing appropriate provision continues in this strategy and forms 

part of Workstrand 6.  The chart below shown the gap between demand and supply for places. 

 

Elective Home Education (EHE) and Alternative Arrangements 

Reading has a lower proportion of  children and young people in elective home education in 

comparison to England and the South East. Reading saw an increase in demand for EHE in 2020 – Jan 

2021, which reflects the national trend, but the total figure remains under the national percentage.  

For children and young people  with EHC plans awaiting provision/placement, Reading has increased 

the use of “other arrangements” (alternative provision) between 2020 and 2021. 

 

Page 179



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      24  

Elective Home Education (EHE) and Alternative Arrangements 

 

England Reading Wokingham 
 
West Berks 

 
South East 

SN  
range 

2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 
 
2020 

 
2021 

 
2020 

 
2021 

 
    20- 21 

Elective home 
education 

Number of 
EHC plans 2,983 3,660 6 10 6 11 

 
 
12 

 
 
18 

 
 
602 

 
 
719 

 
 

8-25 

Percentage 
of EHC 
plans 0.8% 0.8% 0.4% 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 

 
 
 
1.2% 

 
 
 
1.7% 

 
 
 
0.9% 

 
 
 
1.0% 

 
 
 

0-1.4 % 

Alternative 
Provision / 
arrangements 
by LA 

Number of 
EHC plans 3,984 4,284 11 29 3 7 

 
 
0 

 
 
0 

 
 
662 

 
 
1029 

 

Percentage 
of EHC 
plans 1.0% 1.0% 0.8% 2.0% 0.3% 0.6% 

 
 
0.0% 

 
 
0.0% 

 
 
1.0% 

 
 
1.4% 

 
 

0-1.6% 

In Reading, Education Welfare Officers have active involvement with those children with EHCPs who 

are not attending (currently 26 pupils out of 350 active cases – May 2021).  

Using our Young Carers Screening Tool, we have identified 15 young carers who are supporting a 

sibling with a physical or learning disability (and have an EHCP). 

 

Early years  

In Reading the percentage of children aged under 5 with an EHC plan has increased since 2017. 

% EHC plans, under 5s Jan 2017-Jan2021 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Reading 2.8% 2.6% 3.7% 3.3% 3.7% 

South East 4.1% 3.6% 3.9% 4.0% 3.7% 

England 4.0% 3.9% 4.0% 3.9% 3.8% 

  
In Reading, the early help service uses a multi-agency assessment to identify children in the early 

years sector. This assessment gathers information from a range of agencies who know the child and 

includes health needs including physical, emotional and social needs. The outcomes are then 

recorded in the mosaic system to enable those children with an EHCP to be supported. In April 2021, 

9% of the active cases within Early Help had an EHCP (50 cases), the majority of these were being 

supported by family workers. 

24 staff in the private, voluntary and independent sectors have completed a level 3 special needs co-

ordinator course to support their settings in identifying need. This is complemented by 10 settings 

who have completed the early years SEND inclusion award. Children with emerging needs also 

receive 2year funded places. 

The number of children who are children looked after or on Child Protection has remained steady 

over the last five years apart from 2018 when there was a spike (CP-36% and CLA- 40% increase) 

whereas the number of Early Years children registered as Child in Need has decreased significantly. 

Page 180



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      25  

Early Years Children in Reading Subject to Children in Need (CiN), Child Protection (CP) and 

Children Looked After (CLA) at January 31st each year 
 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Children Looked 
After 

49 47 59 51 48 

Child Protection 69 83 94 68 66 

Child in Need 360 347 309 260 227 

 

Looked after children and children in need with SEND – prevalence and characteristics  

In Reading – of the 71 children with an EHC plan who were CLA on 1 July 2021: 

 13% of children were in receipt of SEND support and 3% of children were undergoing 

statutory assessment (May/June 2021). Of the children who have an Education Health Care 

Plan 57.6% have a primary need of Social, Emotional Mental Health needs of which 16 are 

in an independent non maintained school, home or hospital. 17% of Cognition and Learning 

needs, 17% of Communication and Interaction needs and 8.4% of Physical and Sensory 

needs. 

 The number of children looked after has fallen over the last three years by 19% and the 

number of children in need has fallen by 28% although the number of children designated 

as requiring protection has decreased by 30%. During this same time frame the overall 

under 5 population is estimated to have fallen by 5%. 

 In Reading, the wards with the highest percentage of children with social care involvement 

are Whitley, Southcote and Minster.   

 

Attainment of children and young people with SEND in Reading Schools 

The data provides a mixed picture of attainment of children and young people with SEND across 

Reading:- 

 Key stage 2 pupils have significantly improved in achieving expected level of attainment 

 However, progress scores in reading, writing and maths in Key stage 2 for those with SEND 

have decreased 

 In Key stage 4 progress and attainment for SEND pupils is good 

 All School Standards work is focused on quality of curriculum & fully embedding principles of 

instruction, supporting shared model of learning.  

 

Attainment at Key Stage 2: Quartile Banding A (12-50%), National Rank 6  

The performance of children with SEND at Key Stage 2 is strong and some of the best performance 
of any local authority in the country. 
 
Significant improvement since 2017 at KS2 for children supported with EHC Plans achieving the 
expected level, with 17% of children achieving this in 2019 (up from 7% in 2017), and against the 
South East average of 9% (2019), statistical neighbours average of 10.7% (2019) and England average 
of 9% (2019).  

Page 181



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      26  

Between 2018 and 2019, school performance increased seven times above the South East average 

and more than three times the national average. The 2019 result ranks Reading as sixth and the top 

quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

 

 

 

Progress Scores at Key Stage 2 for children with SEND 

Reading’s performance for progress is not as strong as attainment at Key Stage 2.  Reading is in the 

bottom quartile and ranks one of the lowest local authorities in the county. 

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -4.48%), National Rank 143  

A pupils' progress score is the difference between their actual KS2 result and the average result of 
those in their prior attainment group. If Emily, for example, received 102 in reading at KS2 and the 
average KS2 reading score for her prior attainment group was 101 - her progress score would be +1.  
Average scores for reading has fallen since 2017 and significantly since 2018 at KS2 for SEN pupils, 
with a drop of -0.5.1 in 2017, a drop of -4.6 in 2018, and a drop of -6 in 2019. This is against the 
South East average of -3.9 (2019), statistical neighbours average of -3.3 (2019) and England average 
of +0.2 (2019).  
Between 2018 and 2019, in Reading schools, there was decreased performance of more than 1.5 

times compared to the South East average and the national average. The 2019 result ranked Reading 

– 143, and the bottom quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN pupils- Reading 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -5.1 -4.6 -6 -1.4 

South East -3.9 -4.0 -3.9 -0.1 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -4.13 -4.59 -3.3 1.29 

England -3.7 -3.8 -3.6 0.2 

 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN pupils – Writing 

 

0

5

10

15

20

2016 2017 2018 2019

Key Stage 2 Attainment of EHCP/Statemented Children

Reading South East Statistical Neighbours England

Page 182



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      27  

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -5.38%), National Rank 120  

 

Between 2018 and 2019, in Reading schools, there was a decrease in performance more than twice 

the South East average and more than four times the national average. The 2019 result ranks 

Reading 120 and the bottom quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN pupils- Writing 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -4.3 -4.8 -5.7 -0.9 

South East -5.1 -4.4 -4.8 -4.0 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -5.02 -4.28 -4.01 0.27 

England -4.3 -4.1 -4.3 -0.2 

 
 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN pupils – Maths 

 

LAIT DATA: Quartile Banding D (up to -1.6%), National Rank 125  

Performance in Maths is in the bottom quartile  and is some of the poorest in the country. Between 

2018 and 2019, the performance in Reading schools was roughly in line with the South East, but 

nearly twice as poor as our statistical neighbours and the national average. Our 2019 result ranks 

Reading 125 and the bottom quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN pupils- Maths 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -1.30 -2.50 -1.90 0.60 

South East -2.00 -1.60 -1.80 -0.20 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -1.06 -1.04 -1.06 -0.02 

England -1.10 -1.00 -1.00 0.00 

 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils -Reading 

Average progress scores for reading at key stage 2 have fluctuated between 2017 and 2019, 
although 2019 performance is higher than in previous years (-1.5 average score). This is lower that 
the South East (average of -1.4 (2019), statistical neighbours (average of -0.84, 2019) and England 
average of -1 (2019).  
Between 2018 and 2019, performance in Reading schools improved the average score by +0.6 which 

is significantly higher that its statistical neighbours (improvement of +0.1) and the South East and 

national average, both which did not change from the previous year. The 2019 result ranks Reading 

107 and the third quartile nationally for performance in this metric.  

 

 

Page 183



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      28  

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN SUPPORT  pupils-Reading 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -1.80 -2.10 1.50 0.60 

South East -1.50 -1.40 -1.40 0.00 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -0.81 -0.94 -0.84 0.10 

England -1.20 -1.00 -1.00 0.00 

 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils –Writing 

Reading is in the bottom quartile for performance in writing. Average progress scores for writing at 
by pupils at Key Stage 2 have fluctuated between 2017 and 2019, although 2019 performance is 
higher than in previous years (-2.3 average score). This is equal to the South East (2019), but lower 
than both statistical neighbours (average of -1.94, 2019) and England average of -1.7 (2019).  
In Reading, between 2018 and 2019, the average score improved by +1.4 which is significantly higher 

that its statistical neighbours (dropped -0.07) and the South East (+0.3) and national average (+0.1). 

The 2019 result ranks Reading 112 and the bottom quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN SUPPORT pupils-Writing 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -2.60 -3.70 -2.30 1.40 

South East -3.20 -2.60 -2.30 0.30 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -2.14 -1.87 -1.94 -0.07 

England -2.20 -1.80 -1.70 0.10 

 

Progress Scores at KS2 by SEN support pupils – Maths 

Reading is in the bottom quartile for progress and ranked 125 out of 152 local authorities. Average 

progress scores for maths at KS2 by pupils with SEN support have fluctuated between 2017 and 

2019, with an average score of -1.9 in 2019. This is a little lower than the South East (-1.8, 2019), and 

lower than both statistical neighbours (average of -0.02, 2019) and England average of -1 (2019).  

However, between 2017/18 and 2018/19, BFfC improved its average score by +0.6 which is 

significantly higher that its statistical neighbours (dropped -0.02) and the South East (-0.2) and 

national average (no change). The 2019 result ranks Reading -  125 and the bottom quartile 

nationally for performance in this metric. 

 

Progress Scores KS2 by SEN SUPPORT pupils-Maths 

 
2017 2018 2019 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading -1.30 -2.50 -1.90 0.60 

South East -2.00 -1.60 -1.80 -0.20 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -1.06 -1.04 -1.06 -0.02 

England -1.10 -1.00 -1.00 0,00 

 

Page 184



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      29  

 

Attainment 8 Scores at KS4 by pupils with an EHCP  

At Key Stage 4, Reading young people with SEND perform well with Reading ranked 25 out of 152 

local authorities. 

A student's Attainment 8 score is calculated by adding up their points for their eight subjects and 
dividing by 10 to get their Attainment 8 score. Students don't have to take eight subjects, but they 
score zero for any unfilled slots.  
Attainment 8 scores at the end of KS4 for pupils with an EHCP trended downwards between 2016 
and 2018, improving in 2019 and significantly improving in 2020, with an average score of 19. This is 
higher than the South East (16.3, 2019), statistical neighbours (15.8, 2019) and England (15.2, 2019).  
Between 2019 and 2020, BFfC improved its average attainment 8 score by 4.8 which is considerably 

higher than its statistical neighbours (increased by 2.66) and the South East (increased by 2.10) and 

more than three times the national average (increased by 1.5). Our 2019 result ranks us 25 and the 

top quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

Attainment 8 Scores - KS4, pupils with an EHCP 

 
2016 2017 2018 

 
2019 

 
2020 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading 17.50 15.60 13.60 14.20 19.00 4.80 

South East 17.50 14.20 13.90 14.20 16.30 2.10 

Statistical 
Neighbours  16.43 13.26 13.26 12.52 

15.18 

2.66 

England 17.00 13.50 13.50 13.70 15.20 1.50 

 

Attainment 8 Scores at Key Stage 4 for SEND support pupils 

For young people with SEND support, Reading is also performing in the top quartile at Key Stage 4. 
A student's Attainment 8 score is calculated by adding up their points for their eight subjects and 
dividing by 10 to get their Attainment 8 score. Students don't have to take eight subjects, but they 
score zero for any unfilled slots.  
Attainment 8 scores at the end of KS4 for pupils with SEN support have consistently improved in 
Reading since 2017, reaching 39.2 in 2019. This is higher than the South East (36.5, 2019), statistical 
neighbours (36.99, 2019) and England (36.40, 2019).  
Between 2019 and 2020, BFfC improved its average attainment 8 score by 4.2 which is higher than 

its statistical neighbours (increased by 3.8) and the South East (increased by 3.7) and national 

average (increased by 3.8). Our 2019 result ranks us 35 and the top quartile nationally for 

performance in this metric. 

 

Attainment 8 Scores - KS4, pupils with at SEN Support 

 
2016 2017 2018 

 
2019 

 
2020 

Change from 
previous year 

Reading 35.00 31.70 32.00 35.00 39.20 4.20 

South East 36.50 32.10 32.70 32.80 36.50 3.70 

Statistical 
Neighbours  36.51 32.59 32.85 33.19 

 
36.99 3.80 

England 36.20 31.90 32.20 32.60 36.40 3.80 

 

Page 185



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      30  

Progress 8 Scores at Key Stage 4 by pupils with an EHCP 

Reading is in the third quartile for performance for young people with an EHCP at Key Stage 4 for 
Progress 8. 
 
The Progress 8 score is based on pupil’s performance score across 8 subjects – this performance 
score is known as the “Attainment 8” score. Attainment 8 is a measure of a pupil's average grade 
across a set suite of eight subjects.  
Between 2016 and 2019, Progress 8 scores at the end of KS4 for pupils with an EHCP have 
fluctuated, with an average score of -1.31 in 2019. This is lower than South East -1.19, 2019), 
statistical neighbours (-1.24, 2019) and national averages (-1.17, 2019).  
Between 2018 and 2019, BFfC improved its average progress 8 score by +0.17 which is higher than 

its statistical neighbours (decreased by -0.1), the South East (decreased by -0.12), and the national 

average (decreased by -0.08). Our 2019 result ranks us 102 and the third quartile nationally for 

performance in this metric. 

Average Progress 8 score per pupil at end of Key Stage 4 for pupils with SEN Statement/EHCP 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 Change from previous year 

Reading -1.27 -0.76 -1.48 -1.31 0.17 

South East -1.02 -1.05 -1.07 -1.19 -0.12 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -1.08 -1.15 -1.15 -1.24 -0.10 

England -1.03 -1.04 -1.09 -1.17 -0.08 

 

Progress 8 Scores for Key Stage 4 for young people with SEND support 

Performance against this metric has remained relatively static. 
 
Between 2016 and 2018, Progress 8 scores at the end of KS4 for pupils with SEN support were fairly 
static and significantly lower than South East, statistical neighbours and national averages. The 
significantly improved in 2019, improving by +0.36 to reach -0.38. This is higher than the South East 
(-0.49, 2019), statistical neighbours (-0.41, 2019) and England (-0.43, 2019).  
Between 2018 and 2019, BFfC improved its average progress 8 score by +0.36 which is significantly 

higher than its statistical neighbours (decreased by -0.03) and the South East (decreased by -0.02). 

The national average remained unchanged between 2017/18 and 2018/19. Our 2019 result ranks us 

64 and the second quartile nationally for performance in this metric. 

 

Average Progress 8 score per pupil at end of Key Stage 4 for pupils at SEN Support 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 Change from previous year 

Reading -0.75 -0.79 -0.74 -0.38 0.36 

South East -0.39 -0.49 -0.47 -0.49 -0.02 

Statistical 
Neighbours  -0.35 -0.45 -0.38 -0.41 -0.03 

England -0.38 -0.43 -0.43 -0.43 0.00 

 

Page 186



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      31  

Post-16 – attainment by age 19 

National Data: 30.0% of pupils identified with SEND in year 11 achieved Level 2 (equivalent to 5+ A*-

C/ 9-4 at GCSE) including English and mathematics (GCSEs only) by age 19 in 2019/20, which is 44.6 

percentage points lower than pupils without SEN (74.6%). 

 

Statutory Assessments 

In Reading the percentage increase in new EHC plans is 56% since 2014 and a 5.2% increase in 2020 

(10.4% in England and 10.11% South East). 

  2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Jan-21 

 Percentage 

increase 
  2014-Jan 
2021 

Reading  919 963 998 1071 1173 1282 1364 1436 56% 

South 
East 38817 39843 42828 48883 54630 60860 67602 74438 91.77% 

England 237,111 240,183 256,315 287,290 319,819 353,995 390,109 430,687 81.6% 

In Reading there was a 9.2% decrease in requests for statutory assessment by December 2020 

although there has been a 21% percentage increase in the academic year 2020-2021 overall. 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Decrease on initial RSAs between 2019 and 
2020 

England 55,235 64,555 72,423 82,329 75,951 8.39% 

Reading 176 226 262 296 271 9.2% 

South East 9,628 12,304 12,860 14,265 13,869 2.85% 

 

The percentage of initial requests for assessment for an EHC plan that were refused during the 

calendar year 2020, was below the South East percentage, at 24.4 %. 

  2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
En

glan
d

 
Initial requests for an EHC plan z 55,235 64,555 72,423 82,329 75,951 

Initial requests for assessment for an EHC 
plan that were refused 10,935 14,795 14,586 17,890 18,755 16,406 

Percentage of initial requests for 
assessment for an EHC plan that were 
refused during the calendar year z 26.8% 22.6% 24.7% 22.8% 21.6% 

R
ead

in
g 

Initial requests for an EHC plan z 176 226 262 296 271 

Initial requests for assessment for an EHC 
plan that were refused 48 50 38 52 91 66 

Percentage of initial requests for 
assessment for an EHC plan that were 
refused during the calendar year z 28.4% 16.8% 19.8% 30.7% 24.4% 

So
u

th
 East 

Initial requests for an EHC plan z 9,628 12,304 12,860 14,265 13,869 

Initial requests for assessment for an EHC 
plan that were refused 1,722 2,738 2,835 3,742 3,826 3,554 

Percentage of initial requests for 
assessment for an EHC plan that were 
refused during the calendar year z 28.4% 23.0% 29.1% 26.8% 25.6% 

Page 187



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      32  

 
In Reading, the proportion of EHC plans issued within 20 weeks has significantly increased. In 2020, 

Reading was operating at 85.9% (excluding exceptions). This was also a significant improvement 

from 49.4% in 2019. 

  2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

En
glan

d
 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 1,177 19,712 30,942 36,702 45,145 49,519 54,175 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 757 11,675 18,140 23,805 27,111 29,895 31,446 

EHC plans including exceptions 1,359 24,624 36,019 41,250 48,543 53,327 59,097 

EHC plans including exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 836 13,451 20,045 25,302 28,178 31,313 32,863 

Rate of EHC plans excluding 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks 64.3% 59.2% 58.6% 64.9% 60.1% 60.4% 58.0% 

Rate of EHC plans including 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks 61.5% 54.6% 55.7% 61.3% 58.0% 58.7% 55.6% 

R
e

ad
in

g 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 0 68 70 151 193 172 185 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 0 62 67 142 143 85 159 

EHC plans including exceptions 0 79 91 159 201 174 190 

EHC plans including exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 0 68 69 142 143 85 160 

Rate of EHC plans excluding 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks z 91.2% 95.7% 94.0% 74.1% 49.4% 85.9% 

Rate of EHC plans including 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks z 86.1% 75.8% 89.3% 71.1% 48.9% 84.2% 

So
u

th
 East 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 199 2,615 5,545 6,333 7,882 8,792 9,166 

EHC plans excluding exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 65 1,485 2,390 3,344 4,021 4,164 4,465 

EHC plans including exceptions 235 3,779 6,168 7,047 8,324 9,281 9,614 

EHC plans including exceptions 
issued within 20 weeks 68 1,779 2,624 3,602 4,171 4,303 4,600 

Rate of EHC plans excluding 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks 32.7% 56.8% 43.1% 52.8% 51.0% 47.4% 48.7% 

Rate of EHC plans including 
exceptions issued within 20 weeks 28.9% 47.1% 42.5% 51.1% 50.1% 46.4% 47.8% 

 

 

What did the inspection say? 

Overview 

 In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with SEND is improving.  

 Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who receive support from 
more than one service, for example children looked after with SEND  
This has led to stronger joint working between professionals for many individuals with complex 
needs. Consequently, there is greater protective support for these potentially vulnerable 
children and young people  

Page 188



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      33  

 Effective joint working can also be seen in the area’s work to ensure that the requirements of an 
education, health and care (EHC) plan can be met if parents choose elective home education  

 This joint working was less evident for the very youngest children. It is important that this joint 
working now spreads to include the very youngest children in Reading.  

 Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to access the right 
support at the right time. This is being achieved through effective partnership working between 
services. There are now many examples of this beginning to emerge, for example in the multi-
disciplinary support available to parents and children when they are waiting for an assessment 
for ADHD or ASD. However, there is still more to do as too many children and young people are 
waiting too long for assessment in the ASD and ADHD diagnostic services. Some have been 
waiting over two years for an ASD appointment and others over three years for an ADHD 
appointment. While plans are in place to recruit the staff needed to tackle this backlog, area 
leaders do not have sufficient oversight of this situation.  
 
Strengths 

 Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier identification of 
children with SEND.  

 Co-production (a way of working where children, families and those that provide the service 
work together to create a decision or a service that works for them all) and joint working are 
well established in the area and there are many examples of how this is helping to identify 
children’s needs in a timely way e.g.  

 
 A well-established system in the neonatal unit ensures that babies who may have 

additional needs are referred promptly to the integrated therapy team  
 Each school has regular contact with a link speech and language therapist (SLT), enabling 

a quick response to requests for support.  
 A dedicated SLT and child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) provision in 

the youth offending service provide a specialist view at an early stage.  
 

 Schools and early years settings are well supported by professionals from both education and 
health services  

 Leaders have identified that some families do not take up the offer of free early years places for 
their two-year-old children. This is making it difficult to ensure that the needs of all children are 
identified early. Leaders identified this issue through their routine data analysis, finding that 12% 
of children had not attended provision before they started school, with the majority of this 
group having a black and minority ethnic background. As a result, there is now a coordinated 
plan to address this issue, with staff and volunteers in place, leaflets translated into the 11 most 
commonly used languages and a social media awareness campaign.  

 The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the local area’s ability to deliver support to children and 
young people with SEND. Some services stopped during the lockdown while others were 
reduced or were accessed online. The levels of referral for SLT and CAMHS have increased 
significantly following the lockdowns. SLT drop-in sessions stopped during the pandemic and 
were replaced with a telephone advice line. This resulted in waits of up to 12 weeks. A small 
number of children and young people have experienced long waits for CAMHS support as a 
result of the bulge in referrals following the last lockdown. Leaders have clear plans in place to 
deal with the backlog as quickly as possible  

 EHC plans are produced in a timely fashion, with the vast majority being produced within the 
expected 20 week period. There is a consistent format that provides clear information about 
children and their needs. Practitioners say that these are useful documents. The views of 
children and young people and their parents are sought and plans are well informed by 
professional advice.  

Page 189



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      34  

 The shared commitment of professionals in Reading is leading to improved support for children 
with less complex SEND. Staff in schools and early years settings appreciate the support and 
guidance they get from health professionals and the local authority. This is helping them to 
better support children and young people. For example, the early years SEND advisory service 
provided by Brighter Futures for Children has been strengthened and is leading work to further 
improve the support that young children receive. Almost all schools have participated in a free 
project to train staff in trauma-informed approaches, provide every school with a mental health 
worker and offer regular consultations on how best to support children and young people’s 
emotional well-being. As a result, staff have a greater awareness of the emotional needs of 
children and young people who are upset and distressed. This is improving outcomes for 
children and young people and reducing the likelihood of those with SEND being excluded.  

  A number of schools have collaborated to ensure that their curriculum supports all pupils to 
learn, including those with SEND. This work focuses on making it as easy as possible for pupils 
with SEND to learn, stressing the importance of sequencing learning, early reading and the 
development of language and communication. A wide range of curriculum support and training 
has been provided by local area partners to support this development. This is leading to pupils 
with SEND being able to learn more and remember more, and so make greater progress.  
 Increasingly services for children and young people with SEND are delivered using a needs-led 
approach. This means that services aim to respond rapidly and ensure that the children who are 
in most urgent need get the help first. As part of this plan, schools have increasing access to 
regular support and advice from specialists. Examples of this approach include the regular 
mental health discussions and the SLTs linked to every school. Providers and parent 
representatives like the fact that they drive this work; it is not a distant project organised by 

leaders, and they are in the driving seat.  

 The local area is improving outcomes for children and young people with SEND. This can be seen 
most clearly in the success of multi-agency efforts to improve behaviour and reduce the number 
of pupils being excluded from school. This success has been led by adoption of a therapeutic 
approach now being delivered in most schools. Not only is this work reducing the likelihood of 
exclusion but it is also increasing the quality and speed of support for children and young people 
with social and emotional difficulties. Good examples of this can be seen in the effectiveness of 
support in place to enable a pupil at risk of exclusion to succeed in school, often by supporting 
the school staff to know how to achieve this. Also that some health professionals measure the 
difference their work makes for children and young people to monitor how outcomes have 
improved for those they are working with. 

 Children and young people do well in school in Reading. Outcomes for pupils with SEND in year 
six have improved over the past three years. In secondary school, pupils with SEND attain well, 
although not all pupils make as much progress as they could. The recent joint working to 
successfully reduce exclusions has enabled children and young people with SEND to attend 
school for longer and achieve better results. In many schools, the principles of this approach 
now successfully underpin aspects of their curriculum. The success of this work is informing the 
next stage, to develop a more consistent approach to supporting children and young people with 
ASD. 

 Until recently, outcomes for some older young people were not as strong as for school-age 
pupils. This meant that too many 17-year-olds were not in education, employment or training. 
Also, too few young people with an EHC plan gained a level 2 or 3 qualification that included 
English and mathematics. Over the past few years, the options for school leavers have improved. 
Work has been carried out to ensure that the needs of young people with SEND can be met 
closer to home. Also, pre-work opportunities are given to students to enable greater success 
when they leave and take up work once they have completed their courses. Recent figures 
indicate that this work is leading to more young people staying in employment for longer. 

Page 190



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      35  

 There is evidence in Reading of a wide range of options being developed to enable young people 
with SEND to be supported into work from the age of 16. The ‘Ways into Work’ project began in 
November 2020 and partnership with the Department for Work and Pensions at Reading Youth 
Hub is expanding opportunities for young people. This is aimed at increasing the number of 
young people with SEND who are in education, training or employment. 
 
Areas of development 

 The needs of vulnerable young children are not being consistently identified by health 
professionals. The early identification of children with complex needs under the age of two is 
not as strong as it is for older children because health services are not working as closely 
together as they could. As a result, opportunities to identify additional needs and plan early 
intervention are missed. For example:  

 the health check on offer to all two to two-and-a-half-year-old children is not always 
identifying speech, language and communication difficulties in a timely manner  

 health visitors are not always notified when families move into the area  
 too few pregnant women receive an antenatal contact and of those that do, many of 

them are seen in a group.  
 

 Some pathways to health services are not clear enough and can be confusing. For example, 
health visitors are not able to directly refer to the paediatrician or occupational therapist but 
they can refer directly to SLT and the neurodevelopmental pathway. This adds delay and 
inconsistency to accessing services.  

 Many parents are rightly concerned about the amount of time they have to wait for a 
diagnosis appointment for ADHD and ASD.  

 Parents are concerned that there are not sufficient specialist places in schools to meet the 
needs of children and young people with SEND, and are not confident that social care services 
fully consider their children’s needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is 
willing to meet their children’s needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns and have 
plans in place to address them.  

 Some aspects of the EHC plan process could be strengthened: 
 ▪ findings from the audit process should result in improvements to the quality of plans, 

particularly when the quality of health contributions was found to need improvement 
 ▪ contributions from social care are too rare and often lack sufficient detail 
 ▪ plans do not routinely include consideration of preparation for adulthood outcomes 
 ▪ opportunities to coordinate statutory assessments with the EHC plan and annual 

review process for children looked after are sometimes missed, meaning that the often 
complex needs of these children and young people are not reviewed holistically. 

 The very youngest children and their families in Reading do not benefit from shared focused 
priorities as seen across the other age groups. Opportunities to use shared models of support 
and co-production are missed. 

 The number of adults with learning difficulties in meaningful activity or paid employment 
needs to increase. Leaders know that the offer for young people with very complex needs aged 
18 to 25 is not as strong as for other young people who are more able to access work and 
education opportunities. There are limited options and insufficient places within adult social 
care for meaningful activities for young people with very complex disabilities. There is also a lack 
of regular respite for their parents/carers. While new facilities for day activities and overnight 
respite are planned, they will not be available for two years. Some parents and carers of older 
young people with more complex needs are exhausted and feel unable to continue caring 
without additional support. 

Page 191



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      36  

 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 

By 2027, all key performance indicators will be in the top quartile and any local area inspection will 

rate Reading as one of the best areas in the country for children and young people with SEND. 

 

Page 192



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 
 

     37 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

1.  Ensure the needs of vulnerable pre-school children are 

being consistently identified by health professionals. 

 

This work is being led by the One Reading Partnership EY 

strategic group (Corinne Dishington) 

Regular updates to Strand 2 

 the health check on offer to all 

two to two-and-a-half-year-old children 

identifies speech, language and 

communication difficulties in a timely 

manner and improve the take up checks. 

 health visitors are notified when 

families move into the area  clarify who 

should do this 

 pregnant women receive an 

antenatal contact    

 better take up of 2yr old funding 

– Corrine leading on this?  

March 2023 identify additional needs 

and plan early 

 

Corinne 

Dishington, 

Early Help 

2. EY: Develop shared priorities, models of support and co-

production for the very youngest children and their families 

in Reading  

 

The ORP EY strand is coproduced, with EY families 

represented. 

 

The transition workstream develops shared framework for 

supporting children moving into primary school – Aimee 

Trimmer 

 

Shared models of support and co-

production are clear and evidenced 

multi-agency working will be improved in 

EY  

 

March 2023 The identification and 

meeting needs of EY 

children with SEND 

benefits from shared 

focused priorities across 

families and partners 

Children are better 

prepared for primary 

school 

Corinne 

Dishington 

P
age 193



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date          38
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

SALT communication pathway development is in place  

 

 

 

3. Liaise with Berks West SEND JIG to produce clear 

pathways to health services for children with and without 

an EHCP (CCG funding currently determines the system – 

different providers).  

 

(Schools would like to refer to SALT/OT/Physio as well as 

Health Visitors. Education settings can with EHCPs but not 

SEND support.) 

Clear pathways are in place. 

Health visitors and Education settings are 

able to directly refer to the paediatrician, 

physiotherapist & occupational therapist 

(in addition to existing agreement for 

referrals to SLT and the 

neurodevelopmental pathway). 

March 2023 Reduce delay and 

inconsistency to 

accessing services. 

Parents/carers are 

confident in pathways 

and access to services. 

Deb Hunter  

4. Liaise with Berks West SEND JIG re reducing the  wait for 

a diagnostic appointment for ADHD and ASD. 

 

Strand 2 has regular updates on waiting lists. 

 

 

Waiting times decrease.  

Parents report satisfaction with needs led 

support services. 

March 2023 Reduce waiting time for 

an efficient diagnostic 

service, whilst ensuring 

needs led services & 

support. 

Deb Hunter 

5. EY SCD Resources in Blagdon, Norcot & Snowflakes  Monitor costs, impact & demand for the 

SCD EY resource bases  

Produce reports & recommendations for 

the SEND Strategy Group 

July 2022  Vikki Lawrence 

6. Monitor and update the development of satellite classes; 

   

Ensure clear communication of plans and 

vision 

 Debs Hunter  

P
age 194



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date          39
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Produce reports & recommendations for 

the SEND Strategy Group 

7. Implement the Alternative Provision procurement 

framework  

The AP report gives recommendations to 

ensure there is sufficient AP to meet 

needs 

Children are offered AP if necessary to 

ensure as soon as possible if out of 

school. 

 

January 2022 Children and young 

people’s needs are met 

locally in appropriate 

settings 

Warren 

Manning 

8. Strengthen the health and social care aspects of the EHC 
plan process  
 
 

    ▪ evidence of findings from the audit 
process result in improvements to the 
quality of plans, particularly when the 
quality of health contributions was found 
to need improvement to Strand 2 report 
three times pa. 
    ▪ contributions from social care are 
reliable and of good quality  
    ▪ plans include consideration of 
preparation for adulthood outcomes 
   ▪ develop SOPs on the coordination of 
statutory assessments with the EHC plan 
and annual review process for children 
looked with  a pep and MHEW reviews.   

July 2022 The complex needs of 

these children and young 

people are reviewed 

holistically. 

Nikki Stevens 

9. The number of adults with learning difficulties in 

meaningful activity if unable to work needs to increase. 

 

Increased options and places within adult 
social care for meaningful activities for 
young people with very complex 
disabilities.  

March 2023 Increased opportunities 

for young people with 

complex needs unable to 

work 

Clare Martin 

P
age 195



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date          40
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Preparation for working life and other options are 

discussed as early as possible together with independence 

skills.  

 

Annual Review at Year 9 should focus on this but work 

should start asap. 

 

Link with Strand 4 for commissioning of day care options 

for those unable to work. 

 

 
EHCP includes plans for after college are 
in place in a timely manner 

10. Tackle Persistent Absence by ensuring caring 

responsibilities are addressed in Annual Reviews SEND 

team in conjunction with young carers’ manager 

EOTAS with EHCP being reviewed 

Children with EHCPs are attending 

school/college and that they have the 

support they need with any caring 

responsibilities  

July 2022  Education 

Welfare Service  

11. Roll out and embed Autism Growth project.  Schools take up training; networks are 

established; parents & CYP involved 

 CYP with autism have a 

more positive experience 

of education; lower MH 

needs in CYP with 

autism; schools feel 

supported and 

knowledgeable about 

recognising and 

supporting needs 

Alice Boon and 

Debs Hunter 

12. Ensure girls with neurodiversity are identified early   

 

Schools understanding of all CYP with 

neurodiversity will improve as a result of 

July 2022 Ensure robust 

assessment processes 

Debs Hunter 

and Alice Boon 

P
age 196



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date          41
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

the Autism Growth Project, including girls 

& those without a diagnosis.   

Link more closely with the Autism Board, 

CAMHS pathway, PSC, & Autism Growth.  

Coproducing guidance with parents for 

schools on masking.  

Schools listening to parents. 

are in place to support 

early identification of 

need to ensure that right 

children are accessing 

SEN support or statutory 

assessment if 

appropriate.  

 

 

13. Review all primary need for children and young people 

with plans. 

.  

All primary needs will have been 

reviewed and updated. 

Examine the updated data on primary 

needs 

July 2022 Confidence in and 

understanding of 

primary needs informs 

placement planning & 

services 

Nikki Stevens 

14. School standards team to provide support and 

challenge to school leaders to help them improve the 

quality of their curriculum so that SEND children  make 

better progress across each Key Stage. 

Support the SENDCO network to further develop and 

implement effective teaching and learning techniques that 

improve SEND progress in their schools 

 

Improve progress for children with SEND 

and EHCPs at KS2 in reading, writing and 

maths within locally maintained schools 

 

July 2022  Alice Boon 

 

15. SEMH is identified as an area of need  – continue TTS & 

Trauma Informed Approached  

 

Link to strand 3 & ORP Consistent approaches  

Networks, champion schools, are 

established and lead with partners and 

parents   

 

July 2022 Schools feel supported 

and skilled to help CYP 

with SEMH needs be 

successful in school, in a 

Alice Boon 

P
age 197



CLASSIFICATION: ENTER HERE 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date          42
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 

completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

 holistic range of areas.  

CYP benefit and have a 

positive experience of 

educational settings.  

16. Review the workstrand once the Government’s SEND 

Review is known and amend in line with Governmental 

priorities  

Refreshed workstrand reflecting changed 

priorities 

July 2022  Deb Hunter 

 

 

 

 

P
age 198



Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing.  

 
 
   

43 

Workstrand 3 – Consistent approaches to emotional well being 

 

What does the data tell us? 

Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing strategy (2021-2030) has a key focus on mental health 

and well being.  This is highlighted in Priority 4: Promote good mental health and well being 

for all children and young people. 

Their data shows: 

 Mental health problems are a leading cause of disability in children and young 

people, and can have long-lasting effects; 50% of those with lifetime mental illness 

experiencing symptoms by age 14.  

 

Mental health problems further widen health inequities with children from households in the 
poorest areas of Berkshire West four times more likely to experience severe mental health 
problems than those from the richest areas.  

 
Besides social factors, other important contributors to mental health and wellbeing amongst 
children and young people include general health and physical activity. Inequalities in the 
rates of mental illness observed across ethnicities and sexual orientations of children and 
young people also warrant urgent attention. Mental health conditions that start at a young 
age often persist into later life and limit children and young people’s opportunities to thrive 
in both education and in the job market. Closing the gap in mental health and wellbeing in 
Wokingham, Reading and West Berkshire will therefore be key to ensuring all children and 
young people have the best chance of making the most of the opportunities available to them 
and fulfilling their potential. 
 

 The three key issues affecting the mental and emotional welfare for local children 

and young people are: 

1) Limited resources, service cuts and the closure of the community hub and cut in 
the services and community hub as a result of the lockdown; 

2) Limited access to mental health education and services to support children and 
young people and prevention services; 

3) The waiting time to access child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS). 
 

The results from Berkshire’s survey on health and well being showed over 70% of people 45 

years or younger and about 50% of all respondents considered good mental health and 

wellbeing for all children and young people an extremely important issue.  However, the 

respondants raised concerns about insufficient support in schools and the struggles faced by 

many families. 

 

 

 

Page 199



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021     
     44  

What did the inspection say in the June 2021 Local Area SEND Inspection? 

Overview 

 In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with SEND is improving.  

 Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who receive support from 
more than one service, for example children looked after with SEND  
This has led to stronger joint working between professionals for many individuals with complex 
needs. Consequently, there is greater protective support for these potentially vulnerable 
children and young people  

 Effective joint working can also be seen in the area’s work to ensure that the requirements of an 
education, health and care (EHC) plan can be met if parents choose elective home education  

 This joint working was less evident for the very youngest children. It is important that this joint 
working now spreads to include the very youngest children in Reading.  

 Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to access the right 
support at the right time. This is being achieved through effective partnership working between 
services. There are now many examples of this beginning to emerge, for example in the multi-
disciplinary support available to parents and children when they are waiting for an assessment 
for ADHD or ASD. However, there is still more to do as too many children and young people are 
waiting too long for assessment in the ASD and ADHD diagnostic services. Some have been 
waiting over two years for an ASD appointment and others over three years for an ADHD 
appointment. While plans are in place to recruit the staff needed to tackle this backlog, area 
leaders do not have sufficient oversight of this situation.  

 

Strengths 

 Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier identification of 

children with SEND. Co-production (a way of working where children, families and those that 

provide the service work together to create a decision or a service that works for them all) and 

joint working are well established in the area and there are many examples of how this is helping 

to identify children’s needs in a timely way…a dedicated SLT and child and adolescent mental 

health services (CAMHS) provision in the youth offending service provide a specialist view at an 

early stage. This helps professionals to decide what further information will be needed and to 

prioritise the young person’s needs in the system. 

 Schools and early years settings are well supported by professionals from both education and 

health services. This support, together with the good range of training available, is helping 

practitioners to more quickly spot children who may need some extra help. This early 

identification of children and young people with less complex needs is, in turn, improving the 

recognition of children with more complex needs. The prompt detection and support provided 

by schools and early years settings frees up specialist practitioners to see pupils with more 

complex needs more quickly. 

 The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the local area’s ability to deliver support to children and 

young people with SEND. Some services stopped during the lockdown while others were 

reduced or were accessed online. The levels of referral for SLT and CAMHS have increased 

significantly following the lockdowns. SLT drop-in sessions stopped during the pandemic and 

were replaced with a telephone advice line. This resulted in waits of up to 12 weeks. A small 

number of children and young people have experienced long waits for CAMHS support as a 

result of the bulge in referrals following the last lockdown. Leaders have clear plans in place to 

deal with the backlog as quickly as possible. There are examples of leaders acting swiftly during 

the COVID-19 pandemic to address specific issues. For example, the local area adapted an 

Page 200



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021     
     45  

existing programme of support for families and young people struggling with anxiety into an 

accessible online course to help families to support their young people during the pandemic. 

 There is evidence of a commitment to co-production and joint working at a strategic level to 

meet the needs of children and young people with SEND. This is leading to some examples of 

very effective co-production, such as the approach to mental health support offered across the 

area. 

 Increasingly, young people are centrally involved in the design of services. For example, those 

accessing CAMHS are involved in designing the environment and information about the service 

and are routinely participating in interview panels. As a result, services are more likely to be 

responsive to the needs of young people 

 Senior leaders across health, education and care have worked together to agree what they want 

to achieve for children and young people with SEND. These shared priorities are ensuring the 

majority of the commissioning of services is strong. Groups who make decisions about the needs 

of children and young people with SEND include a range of professionals across education, 

health and care. This multi-agency approach allows for all aspects of a child’s needs to be 

considered when making a decision. Increasingly, working with families and young people is 

seen as an essential aspect of the development of services. For example, in the commissioning of 

an autism service, children and young people and their parents were involved from the start, 

from their involvement in tendering for a service to evaluating bids for a contract and setting key 

performance indicators that include ‘I feel’ statements, to measure successful outcomes. 

 Parents of children and young people with SEND have access to good information and advice 

from the family information service and the local offer. There is widespread awareness among 

families of where to go to find information and advice. The local offer is responsive to families’ 

needs, following up all initial contacts to ensure that the identified needs have been met. 

Children with the most complex needs benefit from effective multi-agency working. Community 

children’s nursing and specialist school nursing teams are co-located and work regularly with 

school staff to ensure children’s needs are identified and met effectively 

 The shared commitment of professionals in Reading is leading to improved support for children 

with less complex SEND. Staff in schools and early years settings appreciate the support and 

guidance they get from health professionals and the local authority. This is helping them to 

better support children and young people. For example, the early years SEND advisory service 

provided by Brighter Futures for Children has been strengthened and is leading work to further 

improve the support that young children receive. Almost all schools have participated in a free 

project to train staff in trauma-informed approaches, provide every school with a mental health 

worker and offer regular consultations on how best to support children and young people’s 

emotional well-being. As a result, staff have a greater awareness of the emotional needs of 

children and young people who are upset and distressed. This is improving outcomes for 

children and young people and reducing the likelihood of those with SEND being excluded 

 Increasingly services for children and young people with SEND are delivered using a needs-led 

approach. This means that services aim to respond rapidly and ensure that the children who are 

in most urgent need get the help first. As part of this plan, schools have increasing access to 

regular support and advice from specialists. Examples of this approach include the regular 

mental health discussions and the SLTs linked to every school. Providers and parent 

representatives like the fact that they drive this work; it is not a distant project organised by 

leaders, and they are in the driving seat. 

 The local area is improving outcomes for children and young people with SEND. This can be seen 

most clearly in the success of multi-agency efforts to improve behaviour and reduce the number 

Page 201



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021     
     46  

of pupils being excluded from school. This success has been led by adoption of a therapeutic 

approach now being delivered in most schools. Not only is this work reducing the likelihood of 

exclusion, but it is also increasing the quality and speed of support for children and young 

people with social and emotional difficulties. Good examples of this can be seen in the 

effectiveness of support in place to enable a pupil at risk of exclusion to succeed in school, often 

by supporting the school staff to know how to achieve this. Also, that some health professionals 

measure the difference their work makes for children and young people to monitor how 

outcomes have improved for those they are working with 

 

Areas of development 

 The needs of vulnerable young children are not being consistently identified by health 
professionals. The early identification of children with complex needs under the age of two is 
not as strong as it is for older children because health services are not working as closely 
together as they could. As a result, opportunities to identify additional needs and plan early 
intervention are missed. For example:  

 the health check on offer to all two to two-and-a-half-year-old children is not always 
identifying speech, language and communication difficulties in a timely manner  

 health visitors are not always notified when families move into the area  
 too few pregnant women receive an antenatal contact and of those that do, many of 

them are seen in a group.  

 Some pathways to health services are not clear enough and can be confusing. For example, 
health visitors are not able to directly refer to the paediatrician or occupational therapist, but 
they can refer directly to SLT and the neurodevelopmental pathway. This adds delay and 
inconsistency to accessing services.  

 Many parents are rightly concerned about the amount of time they have to wait for a 

diagnosis appointment for ADHD and ASD 

 Some parents are not confident in leaders’ ability to resolve the current issues. Many remain 

very concerned about the long waits for ASD and ADHD appointments. Parents are concerned 

that there are not sufficient specialist places in schools to meet the needs of children and young 

people with SEND and are not confident that social care services fully consider their children’s 

needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is willing to meet their children’s 

needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns and have plans in place to address them. 

 Children and young people do well in school in Reading. Outcomes for pupils with SEND in year 

six have improved over the past three years. In secondary school, pupils with SEND attain well, 

although not all pupils make as much progress as they could. The recent joint working to 

successfully reduce exclusions has enabled children and young people with SEND to attend 

school for longer and achieve better results. In many schools, the principles of this approach 

now successfully underpin aspects of their curriculum. The success of this work is informing the 

next stage, to develop a more consistent approach to supporting children and young people with 

ASD 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) 

See action plan below 

 

 

Page 202



Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing.  

     47 

Action Plan 2022/23 

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

1: Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention 

1.1 Set up a 2nd MHST 
that covers 17 
schools in the 
South & East of 
Reading 

Improving Children and 
Young People’s Mental 
Health in Schools and 
Colleges 
 

Staff full recruited and trained, 

delivering clinical activity, training and 

consultation - receiving referrals and 

delivering outcomes for CYP (Sept 

2022) 

By end of first quarter of activity - X 

referrals received, y consultation 

meetings held in schools and first 

MHSDS data flow indicates outputs and 

outcomes (Q3 22/23). 

•500 annual clinical contacts for CYP 

with mild to moderate mental health 

needs and their parents across the 16 

project schools annually.   

•CYP report progress using ROMS.  

•Service user feedback shows positive 

impact.  

•Wait list of <12 weeks.  

•Schools report improvements in their 

recognition & interventions for MH. 

 Quarterly reports to NHS England and 

CCG.  

 Upload MHSDS minimum datasets 

monthly.  

 Annual feedback from parents, carers, 

CYP, schools.  

 Case audits & learning. 

Deb 

Hunter 

Sept 

2022 

 

P
age 203



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          48  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

1.2  Develop MHST 1 Improving Children and 

Young People’s Mental 

Health in Schools and 

Colleges 

MHST 1 offers comprehensive early 

intervention (Getting Support, Advice, 

and Getting Help in THRIVE model) 

By end of first quarter of activity - X 

referrals received, y consultation 

meetings held in schools and first 

MHSDS data flow indicates outputs and 

outcomes (Q3 22/23). 

•500 annual clinical contacts for CYP 

with mild to moderate mental health 

needs and their parents across the 16 

project schools annually.   

•CYP report progress using ROMS.  

•Service user feedback shows positive 

impact.  

•Wait list of <12 weeks.  

•Schools report improvements in their 

recognition & interventions for MH. 

 Quarterly reports to NHS England and 

CCG.  

 Upload MHSDS minimum datasets 

monthly.  

 Annual feedback from parents, carers, 

CYP, schools.  

Case audits & learning. 

Deb 

Hunter 

Review 

qtly & 

annually 

Enter Qtly numbers here 

1.3 Continue Schools 
Link Mental Health 
project  
 

Offering training and 
support, school/college 
staff can recognise and 
support less severe 
mental health and 
emotional wellbeing 

- Mental health training modules  
- Develop modules for schools on 
adaptation of environments for good 
self-esteem and mental health.  
- Overcoming your child’s anxiety 
workshops for parents  

• Training – no. of participants 

 No. Schools participating 

 Training evaluations 

 Training 

offer Sep 

22 

 

P
age 204



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          49  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

issues in their pupils. A 
whole school approach 
to mental health.  
 

- Parent workshops planning 
underway for January 2021 onwards 
- Active signposting for CYP for self-

care and resources. 

• A comprehensive and responsive 

training offer has been shared with all 

settings  

No. of school MH surgeries 

No. of CYP discussed in MH surgeries.  

MH Dash board  

Quarterly reports  

 

 

1.4  Therapeutic 
Thinking Schools  

 

Schools respond 
compassionately to the 
emotional and mental 
health needs of children 
and staff. 

 

Supporting schools in promoting wellbeing 
(Ofsted framework) 
 
Include training on trauma informed 
approach in the schools training on 
therapeutic thinking.  
 
Training modules to be recorded and 

circulated to participating schools. 

 

Beacon School identified 

Exclusion KPIs are met and show below 

national average rates of exclusion for 

all children and vulnerable groups 

• TTS audit show that schools who 

received training have attempted to 

implement the approaches 

• Identify and establish mechanisms for 

capturing parent and pupil views in 

schools where the approach is 

embedding 

No. of Reflective Spaces & attendees.  

Included in Quarterly reports from data from 

the MH Dashboard  

 

Alice 

Boon 

Reviewed 

annually 

 

1.5 Senior MH Lead 
training  

      

1.6 Parent workshops 
and signposting to 
mental health 

  Parents will report good support and 

information 

   

P
age 205



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          50  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

resources and self-
care / self-help 
resources 

 Develop a Reading 
Wellbeing Charter 
Mark  

Educational settings will 
achieve the Reading 
Wellbeing Charter Mark 
in recognition of their 
approach to MHEW.  
 
Combine with a 
Resilience or MHEW 
curriculum offer; 
workshops for CYP/P;  
 
Audits (incl Oxwell).  

  Deb 
Hunter 

  

 Promote Kooth & 
Qwell 

Provision of online tool 
for support and 
information on MHEW 

 Continued growth in use of Kooth & 

Qwell 

Kooth national survey & local usage 

suggest we are targeting right areas 

including vulnerable groups, BAME, self-

harm, anxiety, suicidal ideation.  

Kooth usage nationally CYP increase 

42%  & 63% of CYP presented in the 

‘severe’ category on CORE. 

Reading had 449 new registrants in Q4, 

57% out of school hours in lockdown 

and 69% out of lockdown. 

Deb 

Hunter 

  

 Develop our pre-

school MHEW offer 

Improving pre-school 

children’s emotional 

Training modules are written and offered 

to pre-school settings. 

No. staff 7 settings attending training Deb 

Hunter 

 First training offered.  

P
age 206



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          51  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

wellbeing, and the abilities 

of pre-sch staff and parent 

/ carers to recognise and 

respond.  

        

2 Support settings and communities in being trauma informed.   
2.1 Continue to work 

with schools to 

ensure trauma 

informed approach 

becomes better 

understood and 

embedded in 

thinking and 

responses 

Promote schools that have 

embraced the trauma 

informed approach.  

Set up a TIA Schools 

Network and Sharing 

Platform.  

The Trauma Informed 

approach is implemented 

across all strategies 

including Early Help and 

SEND, Health, partners, 

Families and communities. 

 Increase number of schools using TIA, 

undertaking training, and attending 

networks. 

 

 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022  

        

3.0 Identify & provide services for targeted populations i.e. the most vulnerable children & young people 
 Learning Disabilities 

(& autism) 

Understand the MH needs 

of our vulnerable 

populations and 

commission/ provide 

targeted support 

accordingly based on 

identified need; to provide 

early intervention, 

management and Crisis 

Learning Disabilities 

~scope level of need not currently being 

met through existing services 

~review other examples of targeted 

support. 

~proposal for new/enhanced offers. 

Work with The Avenue special school with 

CYP with LDD and / or neurodiversity to 

develop offer of mental health support 

Specialised training offered (3 modules) 

Advice & support for adaptations to 

curriculum.  

Invite The Avenue to offer training to 

schools on managing self-regulation.  

 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022  

P
age 207



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          52  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

offers which is fit for all CYP 

and which caters for all 

ages, including adolescents 

to young adults (16-25) and 

diversities, such as CYP 

from diverse ethnic 

backgrounds, learning 

disabilities and from the 

LGBTQ+ communities 

 

Training for The Avenue being written & 

dates will be arranged shortly 

 

School link EP is offering training modules 

to the school staff March 21 

 Autism As above  Autism Growth Project:  

AET & Portsmouth ND Profile (see strand 2) 

CPD and links to universities 

Promote the voices of CYP with 

neurodiversity 

Support Special United with their blog/ 

Vlog on being autistic.  

Support the setting up of adult mentors/ 

role models for CYP with neurodiversity.  

Work with PSC & Autism Berkshire in their 

programme of support for CYP with autism 

and ADHD. 

Early intervention – work alongside CYP. 

AET training quotas met for Year 1 

Autism offer developed (S2) 

Universities contacted. Reading University 

have expressed interest in possibly offering 

awards (modular Masters degrees).  

AB & PSC joining with this offer. 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022  

 LGBTQI+ As above "LGBTQ+ 

~co-produce action plan to raise profile 

and access arrangements to help and 

support. 

Models of interventions are compared and 

local data analysed in order to make 

strategic decisions. 

Run minimum of 2 information events or 

workshops with local LGBTQI+ groups in the 

next 6 months. 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022  

P
age 208



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          53  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

 Diverse ethnicities  Asset-based community 

development involves 

working with communities 

and focusing on their 

strengths and the 

contributions they can 

make, rather than the 

problems they face. It is 

underpinned by theories 

and practices which focus 

on the roots of health and 

wellbeing, factors and 

resources (or ‘assets’) 

which enhance individual 

and community wellbeing, 

and community resilience, 

independence, 

involvement and 

empowerment (Rippon & 

Hopkins, 2015). 

Ethnic minority groups  

~review current access 

~co-produce action plan to raise profile 

and access arrangements to help and 

support. 

Contact Alafia (Acre) and faith group 

leaders; Close contacts within the BAME 

communities are made and training and 

workshops are agreed. 

Run minimum of 4 information events or 

workshops with our faith and community 

groups in the next year. 

Contact Birmingham City Council and 

Lewisham Council on how they developed 

their offer for young black men. 

Investigate Youth & Theatre Companies. 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022 DH sent further email to 

Shagufta in Acre March 21 

 Young men’s group As above Group run at Reading College • Restart Young Men’s groups at 

Reading College in Autumn term 2021. 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022  

 Develop the new CLA 

MHEW service  

There is an improved 

service offer for CLA – 

either within BFfC or 

through a Berks West CLA 

service. CYP who are CLA 

feel supported and know 

how to access services, 

  Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022 -Workshops with BFfC staff 

have been held to establish 

model of MH support for CLA.  

-Monthly EWB workshops for 

social workers are in place by 

EPS & PMHT 

 

P
age 209



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          54  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

support and help when 

they need it.  

 

 IFA  Foster carers and social 

workers have a regular 

service offer to identify and 

support EWB and MH 

needs; they feel supported 

and know how to access 

services, support and help 

when they need it. 

 • Have therapeutic support in place 

for the IFA. 

Deb 

Hunter 

July 2022 -Focus groups held with staff in 

BFfC who work with CLA to 

illicit the model of support they 

feel is needed. 

 Children on child 

protection plans and 

Children in Need. 

As above A systemic model of therapeutic support 

and advice is available to social care for 

CYP who are CiN or have CP plans 

 Deb 

Hunter 

March 

2023 

 

 Children not engaged 

in education 

      

4.0 Data & performance monitoring for MHEW services in BFfC 
4.1 Develop shared 

mental health 

dashboard for BFfC 

MHEW services 

To have a tool that enables 

oversight of all MHEW 

provision & KPIs, in order 

to improve services for 

CYP/F. 

MH Dashboard 

-Continue to develop accurate and robust 

data information and interrogation for 

informing outcomes and strategic 

developments 

MH dashboard developed for:  

- EPs, PMHW;  

- IFA;  

- EH&P 

MH dashboard now shows ‘live’ data and is 

informing Qt reports.  

May: working on MH data from CLA and 

adding to the dashboard. 

Deb 

Hunter 

March 

2023 

Developed for EPS & PMHW; 

measures agreed for IFA but 

not yet collated.  

5.0 Coproduction and communication 
 Clear system of 

communication of our 

local MHEW offer.   

CYP/F know how to easily 

find advice & support  

Clear pathways/ single point of access?  

Promote self-care, self-help for schools, 

CYP and parent/carers 

 Deb 

Hunter 

March 

2023 

 

P
age 210



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          55  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

 Start CYP and parent 

advisory groups 

Provide mental health 

support that children and 

young people and their 

families want to access 

where and when they want 

it ie options for within 

schools and colleges, 

community, online, at 

home.     

Contact Oxford Mind for support/ ideas.  •Meet regularly (at least 3 times over next 8 

months) with Special United to see their 

views. 

2 CYP reports being responded to.  

Regular meetings with RFF re mental health.   

You Said, We did responses to CYP/F’s views.  

Help CYP in Reading have a louder voice on 

mental health.  

High positive user feedback for all MH 

services. 

Deb 

Hunter 

March 

2023 

 

 Purchase the Oxwell 

mental health survey 

for 2021.  

Put in place OxWell 

2020 report 

recommendations 

(received Jan 2021): 

 1. Identifying the specific factors 

that contributed to lower wellbeing and 

happiness, increased loneliness and poorer 

sleep quality during lockdown for upper 

secondary age pupils 

2. Encourage physical activity 

amongst school students, especially those 

in older year groups, the populations 

reporting the least amount of exercise 

3. Provide online resources to 

promote the wellbeing of both primary and 

secondary school pupils 

 Deb 

Hunter 

January 

2022 

 

        

 Local Transformation Plan 
 Update Plan with the 

CCG, partners, 

schools and CYP and 

parent/carers. 

 - Schools attend the Health & 

Wellbeing Board 

- Schools know of the JSNA, LTP & 

commissioning plans 

- Papers and resources on mental 

health are widely shared and promoted 

 Deb 

Hunter 

October 

2021 

 

P
age 211



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          56  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

 Develop MHEW services within BFfC & across partners 
 Continue to develop 

good relationships 

between schools and 

other partners such 

as CAMHS, social 

care, voluntary 

organisations, to 

establish joint 

working 

arrangements, 

referral pathways, 

share skills, 

knowledge and 

expertise, and train 

and learn from each 

other. 

THRIVE Early identification work to reduce urgent 

cases: enable MHST, school nurses and 

other early intervention services to work 

with schools and families to seek help as 

appropriate. 

There are three layers to the work:   

- Whole school work for all pupils,   

- Targeted work in school for some 

children with extra needs and   

- Individual, therapeutic support. 

The therapeutic support can be in the form 

of staff consultations, group work, 

individual support or family consultations. 

 Deb 

Hunter 

September 

2022 

 

        

 CYP MHEW Transformation Plan across Berkshire West  
 9 priorities identified 

– see separate Action 

Plan.  

   Deb 

Hunter 

Dates in 

line with 

plan 

 

 Building a formal 

delivery partnership 

arrangement 

      

 Create a single access 

and decision-making 

partnership 

arrangement 

      

P
age 212



Strand 3: Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing. 

Brighter Futures for Children | Strand 3: Brighter Mental Health  | 1 | DH Aug 2021          57  

Action: 

 

Key performance 

indicator  

Impact Key performance indicator- what 

we count to demonstrate the 

deliverable 

Lead / 

who will 

do it 

Date of 

comple- 

tion (of 

action) 

Progress update 

 Tackling the waiting 

times in both 

specialist/ Core 

CAMHs 

      

 Meeting the Eating 

Disorder waiting 

times for response to 

referrals 

      

 Mobilising a 

Community Home 

treatment offer 24/7 

access standard for 

Crisis cases 

      

 Mobilising 2 further 

Mental Health 

Support Teams 

      

 Meeting the COVID 

surge demand as it 

arises (tied to 3 &5) 

      

 Addressing gaps in 

access and service 

offer due to 

inequalities 

      

 Strengthening our 

adolescent to young 

adulthood offer (16 – 

25) 

 Adolescent (16-25) pilot evaluated and 

recommendations made 

    

        

 

 

P
age 213



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

58 

 
Workstrand: 4: Preparation for Adulthood (RBC lead Katie Laws) 

What does the data tell us? 

Local Data in relation to National Data 

 
 
Quality 
performance 
SEND 16-24 
Data 

 
Cohort 

Proportion engaged in:  
Total 

 
 

NEET 

 
Current 
activity 
not 
known 

 
NEET and 
NK% 

Mainstream 
education 
and training 

ISPs Supported 
Internships 

September 2020 

England 134,191 34.2% 0.7% 0.5% 35.4% 8.4% 54.9% 63.4% 

South East 22,650 29.3% 0.2% 0.6% 30.1% 6.7% 62% 68.7% 

Reading 393 50.4% 
(198)  

0.0% 0.0% 50.4% 6.1% 
(24) 

41.2% 
(162) 

47.3% 
(186) 

December 2020 

England 131,562 49.4% 1.3% 0.6% 51.3% 9.3% 38% 47.3% 

South East 22,393 44.2% 0.5% 0.6% 45.3% 8.1% 45.3% 53.5% 

Reading 397 67.5% 
(268) 

1% (4) 0.0% 68.5% 
(272) 

8.8% 
(35) 

18.1% 
(72) 

27% 
(107) 

March 2021 

England 129,293 54.5% 1.5% 0.5% 56.5% 9.3% 32.7% 42% 

South East 22,830 50.4% 0.6% 0.5% 51.4% 8.2% 39.1% 47% 

Reading 396 69.9% (277) 1% (4) 0.0% 71% 
(281) 

11.9% 
(47) 

9.8% 
(39) 

21.7% 
(86) 

 

Data reporting for September 2020 demonstrates that: 

a) Out of a cohort of 393, 16-24 young people with EHC plans in Reading, 50.4% were engaged in 

mainstream education and training in comparison to 29.3 % in the South East. However, with 24 

registered as NEET, a key challenge identified was the high SEND unknown picture, highlighting 

that nearly half of the cohort’s situation was not known.  

b) A more robust tracking process was implemented, and closer working with the SEND Casework 

Team, has resulted in the reduction of unknowns by 31.4% (123 YP) by March 2021. 

c) This tracking exercise has positively impacted on Reading’s SEND participation rates, rising to 

71% (281 YP) engaged in education or training however it has also caused a rise in the number of 

SEND NEET, the numbers increasing by 5.8% (23 YP) at the end of March 2021, with a total of 47 

SEN YP registered as NEET. 

d) However, SEND participation in education and training in Reading is higher compared to the 

South East and nationally. In Reading, a transition project has now been developed to ensure our 

work on transition to adulthood is robust and secure. The key aims for the project include: 
• Preparing for Adulthood Service evaluation and implementing key recommendations 

• Early identification of need through embedding the joint transitions process from 14+ for 

young people with SEND 

• Providing support and advice for providers participating in the co-commissioned 

accommodation and support pilot 

A Preparing for Adulthood policy covering young people from age 14 to 25 has now been 

implemented.  As part of this, a Preparing for Adulthood panel has been established to deliver 

training, collate feedback and ensure the creation of ‘safe spaces’ across Reading for young 

Page 214



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      59  

people with SEND. This panel has developed our Child Sexual Exploitation protocol (CSE) and a 

monthly meeting is held to assess those young people at risk of CSE.  

e) At the end of March 2021 Reading’s “Not Known” performance was nearly 30% lower than 

South East LAs and just over 20% lower nationally.  Better identification and individual case 

management has allowed for earlier improved engagement with young people. 

f) To ensure ongoing accuracy, a data cleansing activity in underway where the SEND EHCP open 

and closed data is cross referenced and updated on the DFE NCCIS database. 
 

As of 10 May 2021, there were 389 young people with SEND, aged 16-25 years, with an open EHCP, 

living in Reading registered on the NCCIS database. Of these 79.9% - 311 young people with SEND 

are engaged in education, employment or training: 

 17.5% are attending sixth form School or Special School (Year12, 13, 14, 15) 

 1% are attending specialist post 16 education provision 

 47.3% are attending Further Education (encompasses various courses of study –i.e.  BTECs, 

Foundation programmes, Traineeships, Supported Internships) 

 0.5% have progressed onto a Higher Education course 

 1% engaged in an Advanced or Intermediate Apprenticeship 

 3.3% are engaged on a Study/Work Programme 

 2.1%  are participating in reengagement programmes 

 1.3% are engaged in Traineeships 

 0.5% are engaged in formal education through their custodial sentence 

 4.4% are in employment with no formal training 

 1% are engaged in work based-voluntary opportunities 

 

As of 10 May 2021, there were 12.6% - 49 young people with SEND 16-24, registered as NEET with 

an open EHCP: 

 8% are NEET available to labour market  
  4.6% are NEET not available to labour market due to various reasons such as illness, 

disengaged, complex barriers, anxieties. 

 

The age and gender breakdown of this cohort is shown below: 

 

 An analysis of the previous provider/destination attended prior to becoming NEET shows 

that a significant majority (57%) of this cohort have previously been in further education. 

 80% of this cohort have Entry Level 1 or below qualifications. 

Page 215



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      60  

 

What did the inspection say? 

Overview 

 In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with SEND is improving.  

 Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who receive support from 
more than one service, for example children looked after with SEND  
This has led to stronger joint working between professionals for many individuals with complex 
needs. Consequently, there is greater protective support for these potentially vulnerable 
children and young people  

 Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to access the right 
support at the right time. This is being achieved through effective partnership working between 
services. There are now many examples of this beginning to emerge, for example in the multi-
disciplinary support available to parents and children when they are waiting for an assessment 
for ADHD or ASD. However, there is still more to do as too many children and young people are 
waiting too long for assessment in the ASD and ADHD diagnostic services. Some have been 
waiting over two years for an ASD appointment and others over three years for an ADHD 
appointment. While plans are in place to recruit the staff needed to tackle this backlog, area 
leaders do not have sufficient oversight of this situation.  
 
Strengths 

 Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier identification of 
children with SEND.  

 Co-production (a way of working where children, families and those that provide the service 
work together to create a decision or a service that works for them all) and joint working are 
well established in the area and there are many examples of how this is helping to identify 
children’s needs in a timely way. 

 Increasingly, young people are centrally involved in the design of services. For example, those 
accessing CAMHS are involved in designing the environment and information about the service 
and are routinely participating in interview panels. As a result, services are more likely to be 
responsive to the needs of young people.  

 The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the local area’s ability to deliver support to children and 
young people with SEND. Some services stopped during the lockdown while others were 
reduced or were accessed online. The levels of referral for SLT and CAMHS have increased 
significantly following the lockdowns. SLT drop-in sessions stopped during the pandemic and 
were replaced with a telephone advice line. This resulted in waits of up to 12 weeks. A small 
number of children and young people have experienced long waits for CAMHS support as a 
result of the bulge in referrals following the last lockdown. Leaders have clear plans in place to 
deal with the backlog as quickly as possible  

 Parents of children and young people with SEND have access to good information and advice 
from the family information service and the local offer. There is widespread awareness among 
families of where to go to find information and advice. The local offer is responsive to families’ 
needs, following up all initial contacts to ensure that the identified needs have been met. 

 Until recently, outcomes for some older young people were not as strong as for school-age 
pupils. This meant that too many 17-year-olds were not in education, employment or training. 
Also, too few young people with an EHC plan gained a level 2 or 3 qualification that included 
English and mathematics. Over the past few years, the options for school leavers have improved. 
Work has been carried out to ensure that the needs of young people with SEND can be met 
closer to home. Also, pre-work opportunities are given to students to enable greater success 
when they leave and take up work once they have completed their courses. Recent figures 
indicate that this work is leading to more young people staying in employment for longer. 

Page 216



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | title of document | version number | author’s initials and date    
      61  

 There is evidence in Reading of a wide range of options being developed to enable young people 
with SEND to be supported into work from the age of 16. The ‘Ways into Work’ project began in 
November 2020 and partnership with the Department for Work and Pensions at Reading Youth 
Hub is expanding opportunities for young people. This is aimed at increasing the number of 
young people with SEND who are in education, training or employment. 
 
Areas of development 

 

 Some pathways to health services are not clear enough and can be confusing. For example, 
health visitors are not able to directly refer to the paediatrician or occupational therapist but 
they can refer directly to SLT and the neurodevelopmental pathway. This adds delay and 
inconsistency to accessing services.  

 Many parents are rightly concerned about the amount of time they have to wait for a 
diagnosis appointment for ADHD and ASD.  

 Parents are concerned that there are not sufficient specialist places in schools to meet the 
needs of children and young people with SEND,  and are not confident that social care services 
fully consider their children’s needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is 
willing to meet their children’s needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns and have 
plans in place to address them.  

 Some aspects of the EHC plan process could be strengthened: 
 ▪ findings from the audit process should result in improvements to the quality of plans, 

particularly when the quality of health contributions was found to need improvement 
 ▪ contributions from social care are too rare and often lack sufficient detail 
 ▪ plans do not routinely include consideration of preparation for adulthood outcomes 
 ▪ opportunities to coordinate statutory assessments with the EHC plan and annual 

review process for children looked after are sometimes missed, meaning that the often 
complex needs of these children and young people are not reviewed holistically. 

 The number of adults with learning disabilities in meaningful activity or paid employment 
needs to increase. Leaders know that the offer for young people with very complex needs aged 
18 to 25 is not as strong as for other young people who are more able to access work and 
education opportunities.  

 There are limited options and insufficient places within adult social care for meaningful 
activities for young people with very complex disabilities. There is also a lack of regular respite 
for their parents/carers. While new facilities for day activities and overnight respite are planned, 
they will not be available for two years. Some parents and carers of older young people with 
more complex needs are exhausted and feel unable to continue caring without additional 
support.  

  

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) 

To be developed. 

 

Page 217



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

     62 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of 
completion (of 
action) 

Impact Lead 

1) Exploratory work to understand the 
needs of the 4.6% of NEET that are not 
available and identify what support 
the families would require   
 

Target to improve outcome 
for 4.6% NEET  

September 2022 Sufficient and appropriate support is 
provided for families 

SEND Team 
Preparing for 
Adulthood Team 
Managers 

2) Identify and engage with the 
remaining young people whose 
“current activity not known”  

Target to reduce 9.8% to 0%  April 2022 Improve SEND participation rates 

engaged in education or training 

 

SEND Team  

3) Establish and promote pathways 
between the Preparing for Adulthood 
Team and Mental Health Social Care 
Team so that no young people with a 
disability and/or mental health need 
falls through the net and joint working 
is undertaken where appropriate 

Produce and launch practice 
guidance document for staff  
 
Update the Preparing for 
Adulthood Policy  

April 2022 
 

The needs of young adults with disability 
and/or mental health needs are met by 
the appropriate team in adult social care   

Assistant Director 
DACHS  

4a) Identify local services that provide 
post-employment support for SEND, 
undertake gap analysis and take action 
to address gaps 
 
b) Share information about available 
support via FIS / RSG / voluntary 
sector/ IASS 
 

Increase proportion of young 
adults in supported 
employment in line with 
national average (currently 
0%) 

June 2022 Increase in number of young adults with 
SEND in meaningful employment. 
 
Mechanisms to support for young adults 
is in place when the contract with Ways 
Into Work ends.   

Assistant Director 
DACHS – 
supported by an 
Officer  

P
age 218



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21          63
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 
completion (of 
action) 

Impact Lead 

5a) Information sharing and training to 
improve knowledge about the EHCP 
process and expectations on staff 
 
b) Actions to be identified to develop 
shared understanding and 
commitment across Children’s and 
Adult Social Care and Health about 
attendance and participation at EHCP 
reviews 
 

All staff to attend EHCP 
workshop led by SEND team 
 
 
All staff to attend EHCP 
workshop led by SEND team  

April 2022 Improved contributions by Health and 
Social Care to the EHCP process so that 
young people’s aspirations are captured 
and outcomes are tangible. This will 
inform commissioning intentions and 
help to scope and shape the market. 
 
 
  

SEND Team  

6a) Embed the Preparing for 
Adulthood policy and process to 
enable the Preparing for Adulthood 
Team to undertake much earlier 
planning for young people with 
complex needs  
 
b) Seek feedback from families to 
ensure planning is being undertaken 
from age 14   
 

All young people with SEND 
will have Preparing for 
Adulthood outcomes 
identified on their EHCP’s 
from Year 9 review 
 
 
 

Jan 2022 Earlier planning for children with very 
complex needs. This will inform 
commissioning intentions. 
 
 

Assistant Director 
DACHS 
 

7a) Needs analysis to be undertaken 
for the current cohort of young people 
aged 18-25 years. Joint planning to be 
undertaken with the Commissioning 
Team to see ensure all information is 
captured that would help inform 
service development and 
commissioning  

100% of 18 – 25 year olds 
with SEND will have a needs 
analysis undertaken 

Jan 2022 The needs of people aged 18-25 years 
are understood, and used to inform 
service development and commissioning 
intentions for them now and in the 
future 

Katie Laws on 
behalf of PFA 
Team, and 
DACHS 
Commissioning 
Team  

P
age 219



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21          64
  

Action Key performance indicator Date of 
completion (of 
action) 

Impact Lead 

 
b) Findings to be shared with Adults 
Commissioning Team and used to 
inform commissioning intentions for 
this cohort now and in the future 

8a) Undertake survey on day services 
availability and capacity. 
 
b) Information to be shared with 
Commissioning Teams and used to 
inform commissioning intentions and 
service development  
 

 June 2022 Increase in availability of day service 
activities 

Reading Mencap 
and DACHS 
Commissioning 
Team  

9) identify actions to expand and 
promote the role of occupational 
therapy in independence planning 
 

 June 2022 Young people are supported by 
occupational therapists to maximise their 
independence 

Lead OTs in 
Children’s and 
Adults’ social 
care  

 

 

 

P
age 220



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

65 

Workstrand 5: Short Breaks and related family support 

 

What does the data tell us? 

The national data published in August 2021 shows the following: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks/childrens-

homes-providing-short-breaks -  

 As at 31 March 2020, there were 167 short-break-only homes in England. 

 A third of all local authorities (LAs) (51, 34%) had no short-break-only homes within their 
boundaries. 

 Of the 100 LAs that had short-break-only homes within their boundaries: 64 had 1 home, 21 had 
2 homes and 15 had 3 or more, including in some of the geographically largest LAs. 

 Most short-break-only homes were LA- or voluntary-sector owned. This was different from 
children’s homes, which were mostly privately owned. 

 

 

Table 1: Regional breakdown of number of short-break-only homes and the number of places 

provided, as at 31 March 2020 

Ofsted region Number of short-
break-only 
homes 

% of short-break-
only homes 

Number of places % of places 

North East, 
Yorkshire and 
Humber 

34 20 227 23 

North West 27 16 135 13 

South East 25 15 171 17 

West Midlands 22 13 115 11 

East of England 19 11 119 12 

South West 19 11 99 10 

London 11 7 72 7 

East Midlands 10 6 70 7 

Total 167 100 1,008 100 

 

Around half of all short-break-only homes (87 homes, 52%) were located in predominantly urban 
areas. A further 39 homes (23%) were in areas defined as ‘urban with significant rural’ parts. A 
quarter of all short-break-only homes (41, 25%) were in predominantly rural areas. 

As urban areas are more densely populated, homes in these areas are likely to be locally accessible 
to a greater number of children and their families. The majority of densely populated areas were 
well served by short-break-only homes, though there are exceptions. However, there were only 41 
short-break-only homes in rural locations across the whole of England. It is possible that disabled 
children who live rurally may have to travel long distances to access short breaks, or go without 
them entirely. 

Page 221

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks


CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21    
      66  

Distribution of Short -break-only homes in comparison to statistical Neighbours: 

Local 
authority in 
which the 
home is 
located 

Local 
authority 

Voluntary Private Health 
authority 

 
Urban/rural 
classification 

Number of short-
break-only homes 

Reading 0 1 0 0 Urban with 
city and 
town 

1 

Barnet 0 1 0 0 Urban with 
city and 
town 

1 

Bedford 1 0 0 0 Urban with 
significant 
rural 

1 

City of Bristol 2 0 0 0 

 
Urban with 
city and 
town 

2 

Derby 1 0 0 0 

 
Urban with 
city and 
town 

1 

Milton Keynes 1 0 0 0 

 
Urban with 
city and 
town 

1 

Sheffield 3 0 0 0 Urban with 
minor 
conurbation 

3 

Southampton 0 1 0 0 Urban with 
city and 
town 

1 

 

Page 222



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21    
      67  

Nationally the provision of short-break care for children in their early years (0 to 4 years) was the 
least extensive. Only 24 homes (14%) were able to provide care to this age group. However, the 
number of homes that can provide children aged 5 to 7 with short breaks increases substantially. As 
at 31 March 2020, just over two thirds (114 homes, 68%) of all short-break-only homes offered care 
to children within this age bracket. The number of homes increases even further for children aged 8 
to 10. All short-break homes can accommodate this age group. There were 17 homes that did not 
indicate the youngest age group that they can accommodate. 

There was a lot less variation in the upper age limit for short-break-only homes. Almost all homes 
(155 homes, 93%) were able to provide care for children up to the 16 to 18 years old range. An 
additional 9 homes offered care into early adulthood (19 years and above), subject to the majority of 
short breaks being taken by children under 18. 

 In Reading we have Cressingham Short Breaks provision that provides overnight Short 
Breaks for children 8-18 years old.  Cressingham is a 6-bed residential provision that is open 
all year round with the exception of Christmas and New year bank holidays. Cressingham is 
rated ‘outstanding’ following its inspection August 2021 and is registered with Ofsted to 
provide Short Breaks for children with learning disabilities, physical disabilities and sensory 
impairment 

 

Reading data shows: 

 1,466 Children with an EHCP living in Reading  

 600 children named on the Reading Disabled Children’s Register  

 1528 children aged 5 - 18 years receiving Disability Living Allowance (DLA) or Personal 

Independence Payments (PIP)living in Reading. 

 533 children with SEND open to Childrens Social Care 

 164 children open to CYPDT 

 42 children accessing a Direct Payment 

 

Based on attendance figures for children attending short breaks in May/June 2021 we had 177 

spaces taken up by Reading children, attending one or more sessions per week. Covid had a big 

impact, regarding capacity of provision and also the confidence of parent carers to access short 

breaks. Also, children with complex needs may be more likely to have been clinically extremely 

vulnerable and not accessing short breaks as a result. 

Booking of short breaks in preparation for the school summer holidays started July 2021. Make 

sense theatre had already taken bookings for 216 spaces for the summer program by the end of July 

2021, Reading Football Club were also having a great response to their multi-sports programme. 

Based on attendance figures for children attending targeted short breaks funded by BFfC through 

the school summer holidays 2021; 

 Reading football club provided sport-based activities for children aged 7-17 years old over 5 

weeks. On average 16 children attended 15 sessions. Totalling 240 children. The sessions 

had catered for 20 children showing there were a further 60 spaces available. 

 Chance to Dance provided dance/action-based activities for children aged 5-17 years old 

over 5 weeks. On average 14 children attended 10 sessions. Totalling 140 children. The 

sessions had catered for 15 children showing there were a further 10 spaces available. 

Page 223



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21    
      68  

 Make sense provided theatre-based activities for children aged 5-17 years old (awaiting data 

at time of writing) 

There has been less provision offered for children with complex needs due to the closure of Mencap 

Saturday Club and Challengers.  

We forecast going forward Post Covid, we could expect to fill 200-250 spaces per week across the 

groups. 

Age groups have ranged from 7yrs to 17yrs across the groups. There is a demand for an increased 

provision for children 4-8yrs. This area is currently identified as a priority area of unmet need as is 

those with complex needs esp. those under 12. 

CYPD Resource and Short Breaks panel is holding a waiting list for children assessed as requiring 

overnight Short Breaks Foster carers. The waiting list currently has 7 children who have been waiting 

between 3-6 months. 

 

What did the inspection say? 

Overview 

• In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with SEND is 

improving.  

• Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who receive support 

from more than one service, for example children looked after with SEND  

This has led to stronger joint working between professionals for many individuals with complex 

needs. Consequently, there is greater protective support for these potentially vulnerable children 

and young people  

• Effective joint working can also be seen in the area’s work to ensure that the requirements 

of an education, health and care (EHC) plan can be met if parents choose elective home education  

• This joint working was less evident for the very youngest children. It is important that this 

joint working now spreads to include the very youngest children in Reading.  

• Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to access the right 

support at the right time. This is being achieved through effective partnership working between 

services.  

 

Strengths - Support for families/Short Breaks 

• Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier identification 

of children with SEND. Co-production and joint working are well established in the area and there 

are many examples of how this is helping to identify children’s needs in a timely way.  

• The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the local area’s ability to deliver support to children 

and young people with SEND. Some services stopped during the lockdown while others were 

reduced or were accessed online. Leaders have clear plans in place to deal with the backlog as 

quickly as possible. There are examples of leaders acting swiftly during the COVID-19 pandemic to 

address specific issues. For example, the local area adapted an existing programme of support for 

Page 224



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21    
      69  

families and young people struggling with anxiety into an accessible online course to help families to 

support their young people during the pandemic. 

• Improvements to services are planned and delivered in genuine partnership, with parents 

and young people included as standard. A good example of this can be seen in the redesign of the 

equipment policy to ensure that children and young people get the equipment they need promptly 

and that it is suitable for their needs.  

 

• Senior leaders across health, education and care have worked together to agree what they 

want to achieve for children and young people with SEND. These shared priorities are ensuring the 

majority of the commissioning of services is strong. Groups who make decisions about the needs of 

children and young people with SEND include a range of professionals across education, health and 

care. This multi-agency approach allows for all aspects of a child’s needs to be considered when 

making a decision. Increasingly, working with families and young people is seen as an essential 

aspect of the development of services.  

• Parents of children and young people with SEND have access to good information and advice 

from the family information service and the local offer. There is widespread awareness among 

families of where to go to find information and advice. The local offer is responsive to families’ 

needs, following up all initial contacts to ensure that the identified needs have been met. Children 

with the most complex needs benefit from effective multi-agency working. Community children’s 

nursing and specialist school nursing teams are co-located and work regularly with school staff to 

ensure children’s needs are identified and met effectively.  

• Increasingly services for children and young people with SEND are delivered using a needs-

led approach. This means that services aim to respond rapidly and ensure that the children who are 

in most urgent need get the help first. 

Areas of development 

•  Some parents are not confident in leaders’ ability to resolve the current issues. Many 

remain very concerned about the long waits for ASD and ADHD appointments. Parents are 

concerned that there are not sufficient specialist places in schools to meet the needs of children and 

young people with SEND, and are not confident that social care services fully consider their 

children’s needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is willing to meet their 

children’s needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns and have plans in place to address 

them. 

• Some aspects of the EHC plan process could be strengthened: 

▪ findings from the audit process should result in improvements to the quality of plans, particularly 

when the quality of health contributions was found to need improvement 

 contributions from social care are too rare and often lack sufficient detail  

▪ plans do not routinely include consideration of preparation for adulthood outcomes  

▪ opportunities to coordinate statutory assessments with the EHC plan and annual review process for 

children looked after are sometimes missed, meaning that the often complex needs of these 

children and young people are not reviewed holistically.  

Page 225



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development – Strand 5 | V1.5 | CL 07.09.21    
      70  

• The very youngest children and their families in Reading do not benefit from shared focused 

priorities as seen across the other age groups. Opportunities to use shared models of support and 

co-production are missed 

• The number of adults with learning difficulties in meaningful activity or paid employment 

needs to increase. Leaders know that the offer for young people with very complex needs aged 18 to 

25 is not as strong as for other young people who are more able to access work and education 

opportunities. There are limited options and insufficient places within adult social care for 

meaningful activities for young people with very complex disabilities. There is also a lack of regular 

respite for their parents/carers. While new facilities for day activities and overnight respite are 

planned, they will not be available for two years. Some parents and carers of older young people 

with more complex needs are exhausted and feel unable to continue caring without additional 

support 

 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) 

What do we want to be measuring? 

 Evidence of the positive impact co-production has made to Reading children accessing Short 

Breaks and parent carer and professionals understanding of Short Breaks.  

 Readings ambition – for 60% of children with SEND to be able to access a Universal, targeted 

or Specialist eligible for Short breaks to be accessing a short break. This is above the national 

average of 47%  

 An increasing offer for Reading children across all areas of need year on year until we can 

evidence needs are being met in line with legislative expectations. 

  ensure that we have full data on numbers of children, including age, ethnicity and level of 

need in the next 12 months to inform commissioning.  

 Diversity and inclusion – are short breaks accessible for all children with SEND across the 

diverse population in Reading? Use data regarding the demographic of Reading and compare 

to children accessing Short Break’s. 

How will BFFC ensure engagement with diverse groups who are currently considered ‘Hard to reach 

groups’ (English not first language/ non computer users) 

 Satisfaction indicator – are families aware of SB’s, and satisfied with the provision available

Page 226



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

     71 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Progress from spot 

purchasing to multi provider 

contract model for targeted 

short breaks. 

Ensure contracts are value 

for money 

This will require: Equality 

Impact assessment; eligibility 

criteria; Short Break 

strategy; Service model and 

specification; finance model. 

Increase in number of 

children with SEND 

accessing short breaks to 

40% 

Increase number of 

providers offering targeted 

short breaks 

Target gaps in short breaks 

rather than  

April 2022 Improved regulation of all 

commissioned short breaks 

Claire Lewis/ Warren 

Manning/ Mandie Barnes 

Progress from multi provider 

contract model to lone 

provider contract model for 

targeted short breaks. 

Ensure contracts are value 

for money 

Increase in number of 

children with SEND 

accessing short breaks to 

50% 

Increase commissioning 

outcomes achieved – 80%?  

Added value to contracts 

April 2023 Improved regulation of all 

commissioned short breaks 

Claire Lewis/ Warren 

Manning 

P
age 227



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    72  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Identify gaps in SB provision 

and ensure these are filled 

where possible through local 

providers. 

Increase in provision of SB’s 

for under 8’s and over 13’s. 

Increase in provision for 

children with complex 

needs. 

Data evidences increased 

number of children access 

short breaks by age. 

October 2021 Greater variety of provision 

for all eligible children on a 

graduated continuum. 

Mark Hobson and RFF 

 

 

Mark Hobson 

 

 

Mark Hobson 

 

Co-produce refreshed Short 

Breaks Statement that 

includes eligibility criteria for 

specialist Short Breaks.   

Short breaks statement 

available to access through 

the Local Offer and BFfC 

website. 

September 2021 Awareness raising of short 

breaks and how to access 

them. 

Claire Lewis and RFF 

Clear data is available 

regarding numbers and 

outcomes for services 

delivered. Also gaps/ waiting 

lists etc to evidence unmet 

need. 

Increase in take up of SB’s October 2021 There is transparency of cost 

against numbers and 

outcomes that supports 

future development of short 

breaks. 

Mark Hobson 

P
age 228



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    73  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Analysis of historical data 

and comparison to current 

data 

Work with partners to 

support recruiting 

volunteers and PAs 

Increase in numbers of 

PA’s and decrease on 

reliance on agency 

January 2022 Consistent relationship for 

the YP with their PA and 

outcomes achieved. 

Ben Boatman & Shaun 

Polley 

Undertake a training needs 

analysis for PA’s and provide 

a training offer for Childrens 

PA’s. 

Increase support for PA’s January 2022 Increase in quality and skills 

of PA’s 

Ben Boatman & Shaun 

Polley 

Develop tool for collating 

and monitoring feedback 

from families on targeted 

provision and publish 

response on Local Offer 

quarterly.  

Also need to hear from 

families that have not 

accessed a short break to 

find out what the barriers 

may be  

 December 2021 Raise awareness of quality of 

Short breaks  and evidence 

changes made as a result of 

feedback 

Mark Hobson RFF and Shaun 

Polley  

P
age 229



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    74  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Development of provision of 

overnight Short Breaks 

Cressingham 

SB foster carers 

Increase in numbers of 

children access specialist 

overnight short breaks 

June 2022 Consistent overnight breaks 

for parent carers to prevent 

family breakdown 

Helena Baptista, Seamus 

Jennings, Claire Lewis 

Co-production to be built in 

as a principle for developing 

short breaks and support for 

families. 

 December 2021 Services that accurately 

reflect the needs of the 

community 

Claire Lewis and RFF 

Forecasting for beyond 2027. 

Use increasing data to 

forecast need beyond 2027 

 March 2026 Accurate budget and needs 

met for eligible children to 

access services 

Claire Lewis, Mark Hobson & 

Maryam Makki 

Target hard to reach groups/ 

within the Reading 

community  

Use multiple forums and 

medias to communicate with 

families.  

 

Increased numbers of 

children accessing short 

breaks from across Reading 

November 2021 Children accessing short 

breaks from historically 

harder to reach communities 

Mark Hobson, Maryam 

Makki, RFF, Fiona Tarrant 

P
age 230



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    75  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Liaise with Strand 1 

regarding better 

communications and 

formatting for all identified 

documents that are 

produced regarding Short 

Breaks for service 

improvements (operational 

practice and wider 

circulation/ publishing).  

 August 2022 Fiona Tarrant to consider if 

inclusion in Strand 1 is 

required 

Claire Lewis/ Fiona Tarrant 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 231



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

76 

Work strand: 6. Capital and school places 

 

What does the data tell us? 

 Increasing numbers of children with EHCPs – rising at 7.6% per annum on average – current 

numbers 1500.  Assuming the average increase continues, we would see an additional 827 

pupils with plans by 2027.  The majority of these children and young people would continue 

to be educated in mainstream schools. 

 The additional 179 places to be delivered from September 2022 may not be sufficient to 

meet ongoing demand. 

 Majority of needs are speech, language and communications difficulties/autism followed by 

SEMH (50% and 20% of all plans respectively) 

 So roughly 1164 places are needed for SLCD/autism and 465 for SEMH if the current increase 

continues.  Not all of these would require specialist provision and our mainstream schools 

should be able to offer places for the majority of children in line with our commitment to 

supporting schools in local provision 

 Need for capital investment in short breaks to meet the needs of children and young people 

and their families 

The chart below show the demand and supply of special school places.  The orange line represents 

supply in the Greater Reading area (which sits outside of the Reading local area).  The demand line 

shows only the demand within the Reading local area. 

 

What did the inspection say? 

The local area inspection highlighted the increasing investment in specialist places and the need to 

continue the good progress made to date. 

Page 232



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    77  

 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) 

By 2027, we will: 

 Have increased places in for pupils with SLCD/autism and SEMH to meet demand with the 

majority of needs being met within mainstream schools. 

 As a result, have decreased the placement of children out-borough and in independent 

settings and thereby reduced the deficit in the high needs block. 

 

 

Page 233



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

     78 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Interrogate the data to 

ensure robust assumptions 

on likely demand for next 

five years. 

JNSA accurately reflects 

likely demand 

December 2021 Effective use of capital 

investment funding 

Performance and Data team 

Identify specific need and 

locality 

Need is broken down into 

planning areas 

March 2022 Effective meeting of need at 

a local level 

DoE 

Amend capital programme 

to reflect ‘new’ need 

Capital programme has 

strand of SEND school 

places 

March 2022 Effective meeting of need  DoE and RBC 

Roll out of programme of 

capital investment 

XX places created (number 

to be confirmed) 

From March 2022 with view 

to opening from September 

2022 onwards 

Additional local places 

funded from DfE capital 

(£955k) 

RBC 

Those purchasing SEND 

placements to use the 

funding that is available to 

support children and young 

people with SEND to enable 

the provision of 

personalised, integrated, 

high quality support that 

delivers positive outcomes 

Clear processes in place to 

secure individual 

placements. 

March 2022 Effective use of funding BFFC finance and DoE 

P
age 234



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    79  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

from early childhood 

through to adult life. 

Harnessing the views of 

children and young people, 

their families and carers 

Placements are based on 

evidence about which 

services provide the best  

support and which 

interventions are effective. 

On-going Improved outcomes Education commissioner 

Exploring integrated 

approaches towards key 

SEND pathways. 

Identifying scope for 

working more efficiently 

together across these 

areas. 

March 2022 Effective use of funding BFFC finance and SEND 

team 

Developing processes for 

joint review of SEND 

services. 

Closer monitoring 

(including reviewing 

EHCPs) of changing needs 

of the local population of 

children and young people 

with SEND in order to 

identify demand;  

Feedback from service 

users and families used to 

identify gaps in provision, 

and shape and change our 

March 2022 Sufficiency of the 

appropriate type of places 

Education commissioner 

P
age 235



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    80  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

commissioning priorities 

accordingly. 

P
age 236



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

 
 
   

81 

Strand 7: Funding and finance  

 

What does the data tell us? 

 Increasing number of EHCPs which will need to be funded. 

 Need to increase provision locally and reduce spending on out borough independent 

expensive placements 

 Recovery plan in place for High Needs Block deficit  - need to continue to monitor and 

ensure delivery 

 Schools ‘feel’ underfunded for pupils with plans 

 

What did the inspection say? 

 Building confidence in ‘the system’ 

 Confidence in BFfC’s willingness to meet needs 

 Improvements to quality of plans 

 Sufficiency of specialist placements 

 Transitions to adulthood / adult services 

 Support for complex needs 

 

Key performance indicators – where will we be by 2027 (data) 

By 2027, we will: 

 Have a funding regime that appropriately supports children and young people with plans 

 A consistent approach to funding academy and independent special schools with robust 

frameworks in place that are reviewed on an annual basis 

 Responded to the Government’s SEND review and realigned our funding regime if 

appropriate 

 

 

Page 237



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 
 

     82 

Action Plan 2022-2023 

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Bid for additional funding to 

support review of systems 

and processes 

Review of systems 

completed 

Autumn 2021 Greater capacity to review 

and implement positive and 

sustainable change, and 

measure impact 

Richard Harbord 

Briefing on Schools Funding 

to SENDCO Forum  

SENDCO Forum workshop on 

SEND Provision Mapping 

 

 Annually 

 

Spring Term 2022 

Increased understanding of 

funding system, high needs 

funding guidance and 

pressures  

Increased understanding of 

what ‘efficient use of 

resources’ means and how 

this is determined and 

evidenced across the whole 

of Reading, not just in 

individual settings 

Improved transparency 

improves schools and 

parental confidence in the 

system 

SEND Team Manager 

Finance Business Partner 

 P
age 238



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    83  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Establish regular SENDCO 

and Headteacher attendance 

at EHC Panel 

 

 Jan 2022 Increased understanding, 

partnership working, 

transparency and 

accountability re decision 

making 

Building confidence in the 

system 

School confidence will 

impact on parental 

confidence 

SEND Team Manager 

Review mainstream 

bandings – uplift costs for 

21-22 pending outcome of 

Government’s SEND review, 

publication date unknown. 

Include benchmarking 

nationally and with stat 

neighbours.  

 

Ensure funding level is 

reviewed at every annual 

review 

School have greater 

understanding of the 

banding system 

Uplift from Sept 2021 

Review completed by XX? 

Decision taken on funding 

bandings from 2022 

onwards XX?  

 

 

Schools will be funded at a 

level that reflects rising costs 

and is in line with 

benchmarked national 

arrangements 

School confidence will 

impact on parental 

confidence 

Improved monitoring of 

provision and spend and 

improved analysis of impact 

on outcomes for CYP 

DSG Finance Business 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

SEND Team Manager 

P
age 239



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    84  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Frequent monitoring of High 

Needs Block 

 Report to Schools Forum 5 

times per year, with 

monthly oversight to Strand 

7 meeting 

 DSG Finance Business 

Partner 

Review Health contributions 

to high cost placements and 

provision for children with 

EHCPs 

CHC / CCG referrals training 

for social care and education 

officers – annual 

Attendance at CHC panel – 

social care and SEND Team 

Manager 

 

  Reduced pressure on the 

high needs block 

Led by Shenis Hassan / 

Deborah Glassbrook 

 

 

Adult Social Care 

Childrens Social Care 

SEND Team Manager 

 

Develop process and 

mechanism for consideration 

of, and, agreement to 

joint/tripartite funding  

  Reduced pressure on the 

high needs block 

Clearer and more timely 

communication 

Led by Shenis Hassan 

Adult Social Care 

Childrens Social Care 

SEND Team Manager 

P
age 240



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    85  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

Negotiate INMSS / ISPs / 

Special academies costs for 

existing placements and 

future placements – consider 

block purchasing and SLAs 

with frequently used 

providers 

  Reduced pressure on the 

high needs block 

Improved financial planning 

and projection 

Education Commissioner 

(SEND Team Manager) 

Review of FE high needs 

funding and development of 

SLAs with Reading and 

Newbury Colleges 

 Agreement in place for xx (?) 

academic year by end of 

May 2022 

Reduced pressure on the 

high needs block 

Improved financial planning 

and projection 

Clearer and more timely 

communication with 

providers 

Education Commissioner 

(SEND Team Manager) 

Monitor implement of the 

Alternative Provision review 

and its impact on the High 

Needs Block  

   DSG finance business 

partner 

Update the policy on 

combined personal  budgets 

to include health and 

 Autumn 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

DCS for policy 

SEND team manager for 

processes 

P
age 241



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICIAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | SEND strategy development: next steps| V1 | KR 8/7/2    86  

Action Key performance indicator Date of completion (of 

action) 

Impact Lead 

processes sitting underneath 

policy 

Co-produce Education 

Personal Budget information 

for parents/carers and young 

people and publish on Local 

Offer 

End March 2022  Improved communication 

and confidence in the SEND 

system 

Greater choice and control 

for families 

Potential for more efficient 

use of resources 

Review financial systems 

used for accounting and 

payments and SEND Case 

Management System 

  More sustainable, efficient  

and robust systems 

Avoidance of increased 

staffing costs in SEND Team 

as EHCP numbers are 

projected to rise by around 

30%  over 5 years  

DSG Finance Business 

Partner 

 

 

 

P
age 242



 

 

 

 

 

27 July 2021   

Deborah Glassbrook,  

Director of Children’s Services, Brighter Futures for Children, 

Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading, Berkshire, RG1 2LU 

Sally Murray, Clinical Commissioning Group Chief Officer 

Fiona Betts, Local Area Nominated Officer 

Dear Ms Glassbrook and Ms Murray 

Joint local area SEND inspection in Reading  

Between 21 June and 25 June, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
conducted a joint inspection of the local area of Reading to judge the effectiveness 
of the area in implementing the special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) 

reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014.   
 

The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors from Ofsted, with a team 

of inspectors including an Ofsted Inspector and a children’s services inspector from 

the CQC. 

 

Inspectors spoke with children and young people with SEND, parents and carers, and 

local authority and National Health Service (NHS) officers. They visited a range of 

providers and spoke to leaders, staff and governors about how they were 

implementing the SEND reforms. Inspectors looked at a range of information about 

the performance of the local area, including the local area’s self-evaluation. 

Inspectors met with leaders from the local area for health, social care and education. 

They reviewed performance data and evidence of the local offer and joint 

commissioning.  

 

In reaching their judgements, inspectors took account of the impact of the COVID-19 

(coronavirus) pandemic on SEND arrangements in the area. Inspectors considered a 

range of information about the impact of the pandemic and explored how the area’s 

plans and actions had been adapted as a result. 

 

This letter outlines our findings from the inspection, including some strengths and 

areas for further improvement. 

Ofsted 
Agora  
6 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 
NG1 6HJ 

 T 0300 123 1231 
Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  
lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk
vvvvv.uk 

 

 

Page 243

http://www.gov.uk/ofsted
mailto:lasend.support@ofsted.gov.ukvvvvv.uk
mailto:lasend.support@ofsted.gov.ukvvvvv.uk


 

 

2 

 

Main findings 

◼ In Reading, the quality of care and help for children and young people with 
SEND is improving. Leaders across the area have worked together to make 

the support children receive better and to address areas of weakness. While 
there is more to do, most notably to reduce the long waiting times some 
children must endure while waiting for an assessment for autism spectrum 

disorder (ASD) or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD),the actions 
taken so far show the determination of leaders to make Reading a good place 
to be for children and young people with SEND.  

◼ Leaders have an accurate understanding of how well the area comes together 
to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND. Leaders recognise 
the concerns of parents and have plans underway to address the issues that 

worry parents most, such as the availability of specialist school places. 
Leaders are also aware that they need to improve the way that they 
communicate with parents. Leaders want to ensure that parents are fully 

informed of the actions being taken to strengthen the care and support 
available for children and young people with SEND.    

◼ Leaders are increasing their attention on children and young people who 

receive support from more than one service, for example children looked after 
with SEND. This has led to stronger joint working between professionals for 

many individuals with complex needs. Consequently, there is greater 
protective support for these potentially vulnerable children and young people. 
Effective joint working can also be seen in the area’s work to ensure that the 

requirements of an education, health and care (EHC) plan can be met if 
parents choose elective home education. This joint working was less evident 
for the very youngest children. It is important that this joint working now 

spreads to include the very youngest children in Reading. 

◼ In recent years, leaders have acted swiftly when they become aware of issues 
that affect children and young people with SEND. For example, three years 

ago there were concerns that young children with SEND were remaining in 
early years settings because there were insufficient suitable places in schools. 
More places have now been created as part of a wider plan to increase 

specialist school places. This includes 40 part-time places in early years 
provision so that young children with complex needs have an appropriate 
nursery school place.  

◼ Leaders have a clear view of how they want children and young people to 
access the right support at the right time. This is being achieved through 
effective partnership working between services. There are now many 

examples of this beginning to emerge, for example in the multi-disciplinary 
support available to parents and children when they are waiting for an 

assessment for ADHD or ASD. However, there is still more to do as too many 
children and young people are waiting too long for assessment in the ASD and 
ADHD diagnostic services. Some have been waiting over two years for an ASD 

appointment and others over three years for an ADHD appointment. While 

Page 244



 

 

3 

 

plans are in place to recruit the staff needed to tackle this backlog, area 

leaders do not have sufficient oversight of this situation. 

The effectiveness of the local area in identifying children and young 
people’s special educational needs and/or disabilities 

Strengths 

◼ Many professionals work well together and this is leading to better and earlier 
identification of children with SEND. Co-production (a way of working where 

children, families and those that provide the service work together to create a 
decision or a service that works for them all) and joint working are well 
established in the area and there are many examples of how this is helping to 

identify children’s needs in a timely way. For example, a well-established 
system in the neonatal unit ensures that babies who may have additional 

needs are referred promptly to the integrated therapy team. Each school has 
regular contact with a link speech and language therapist (SLT), enabling a 
quick response to requests for support. Also, dedicated SLT and child and 

adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) provision in the youth offending 
service provide a specialist view at an early stage. This helps professionals to 
decide what further information will be needed and to prioritise the young 

person’s needs in the system. 

◼ Schools and early years settings are well supported by professionals from both 
education and health services. This support, together with the good range of 

training available, is helping practitioners to more quickly spot children who 
may need some extra help. This early identification of children and young 
people with less complex needs is, in turn, improving the recognition of 

children with more complex needs. The prompt detection and support 
provided by schools and early years settings frees up specialist practitioners to 
see pupils with more complex needs more quickly. 

◼ Leaders have identified that some families do not take up the offer of free 
early years places for their two-year-old children. This is making it difficult to 

ensure that the needs of all children are identified early. Leaders identified 
this issue through their routine data analysis, finding that 12% of children had 
not attended provision before they started school, with the majority of this 

group having a black and minority ethnic background. As a result, there is 
now a coordinated plan to address this issue, with staff and volunteers in 
place, leaflets translated into the 11 most commonly used languages and a 

social media awareness campaign. 

◼ The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the local area’s ability to deliver support 
to children and young people with SEND. Some services stopped during the 

lockdown while others were reduced or were accessed online. The levels of 
referral for SLT and CAMHS have increased significantly following the 
lockdowns. SLT drop-in sessions stopped during the pandemic and were 

replaced with a telephone advice line. This resulted in waits of up to 12 

Page 245



 

 

4 

 

weeks. A small number of children and young people have experienced long 

waits for CAMHS support as a result of the bulge in referrals following the last 
lockdown. Leaders have clear plans in place to deal with the backlog as 
quickly as possible. There are examples of leaders acting swiftly during the 

COVID-19 pandemic to address specific issues. For example, the local area 
adapted an exisiting programme of support for families and young people 
struggling with anxiety into an accessible online course to help families to 

support their young people during the pandemic. 

Areas for development  

◼ In recent years, increasing numbers of young children with complex needs 

have arrived at school without the support they need to do well. While 
Brighter Futures for Children (the not-for-profit organisation delivering 

children’s services on behalf of the local authority) has a range of strategies in 
place to increase the take-up of two-year-old places, the needs of vulnerable 
young children are not being consistently identified by health professionals. 

The early identification of children with complex needs under the age of two is 
not as strong as it is for older children because health services are not 
working as closely together as they could. As a result, opportunities to identify 

additional needs and plan early intervention are missed. For example: 

▪ the health check on offer to all two to two-and-a-half-year-old children 
is not always identifying speech, language and communication 

difficulties in a timely manner  

▪ health visitors are not always notified when families move into the area  

▪ too few pregnant women receive an antenatal contact and of those 

that do, many of them are seen in a group.  

◼ Some pathways to health services are not clear enough and can be confusing. 
For example, health visitors are not able to directly refer to the paediatrician 

or occupational therapist but they can refer directly to SLT and the 
neurodevelopmental pathway. This adds delay and inconsistency to accessing 

services.  

◼ Many parents are rightly concerned about the amount of time they have to 
wait for a diagnosis appointment for ADHD and ASD. 

The effectiveness of the local area in meeting the needs of children and 

young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities  

 

Strengths 

◼ There is evidence of a commitment to co-production and joint working at a 
strategic level to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND. 
This is leading to some examples of very effective co-production, such as the 

approach to mental health support offered across the area.  

Page 246



 

 

5 

 

◼ Improvements to services are planned and delivered in genuine partnership, 

with parents and young people included as standard. A good example of this 
can be seen in the redesign of the equipment policy to ensure that children 
and young people get the equipment they need promptly and that it is 

suitable for their needs. Working in partnership has improved the provision of 
equipment for children with additional needs by agreeing funding and 
collective approaches to sharing equipment. This has resulted in more children 

and young people getting what they need both at home and at school.  
Consequently, many practitioners and families are now more positive about 
the provision of equipment in the local area.  

◼ Increasingly, young people are centrally involved in the design of services. For 
example, those accessing CAMHS are involved in designing the environment 

and information about the service and are routinely participating in interview 
panels. As a result, services are more likely to be responsive to the needs of 
young people.   

◼ Senior leaders across health, education and care have worked together to 
agree what they want to achieve for children and young people with SEND. 
These shared priorities are ensuring the majority of the commissioning of 

services is strong. Groups who make decisions about the needs of children 
and young people with SEND include a range of professionals across 
education, health and care. This multi-agency approach allows for all aspects 

of a child’s needs to be considered when making a decision. Increasingly, 
working with families and young people is seen as an essential aspect of the 
development of services. For example, in the commissioning of an autism 

service, children and young people and their parents were involved from the 
start, from their involvement in tendering for a service to evaluating bids for a 
contract and setting key performance indicators that include ‘I feel’ 

statements, to measure successful outcomes. 

◼ EHC plans are produced in a timely fashion, with the vast majority being 

produced within the expected 20 week period. There is a consistent format 
that provides clear information about children and their needs. Practitioners 
say that these are useful documents. The views of children and young people 

and their parents are sought and plans are well informed by professional 
advice.  

◼ Parents of children and young people with SEND have access to good 

information and advice from the family information service and the local offer. 
There is widespread awareness among families of where to go to find 
information and advice. The local offer is responsive to families’ needs, 

following up all initial contacts to ensure that the identified needs have been 
met. Children with the most complex needs benefit from effective multi-
agency working. Community children’s nursing and specialist school nursing 

teams are co-located and work regularly with school staff to ensure children’s 
needs are identified and met effectively.  

Page 247



 

 

6 

 

◼ The shared commitment of professionals in Reading is leading to improved 

support for children with less complex SEND. Staff in schools and early years 
settings appreciate the support and guidance they get from health 
professionals and the local authority. This is helping them to better support 

children and young people. For example, the early years SEND advisory 
service provided by Brighter Futures for Children has been strengthened and 
is leading work to further improve the support that young children receive. 

Almost all schools have participated in a free project to train staff in trauma-
informed approaches, provide every school with a mental health worker and 
offer regular consultations on how best to support children and young 

people’s emotional well-being. As a result, staff have a greater awareness of 
the emotional needs of children and young people who are upset and 

distressed. This is improving outcomes for children and young people and 
reducing the likelihood of those with SEND being excluded.  

◼ A number of schools have collaborated to ensure that their curriculum 

supports all pupils to learn, including those with SEND. This work focuses on 
making it as easy as possible for pupils with SEND to learn, stressing the 
importance of sequencing learning, early reading and the development of 

language and communication. A wide range of curriculum support and training 
has been provided by local area partners to support this development. This is 
leading to pupils with SEND being able to learn more and remember more, 

and so make greater progress. 

◼ Increasingly services for children and young people with SEND are delivered 
using a needs-led approach. This means that services aim to respond rapidly 

and ensure that the children who are in most urgent need get the help first. 
As part of this plan, schools have increasing access to regular support and 
advice from specialists. Examples of this approach include the regular mental 

health discussions and the SLTs linked to every school. Providers and parent 
representatives like the fact that they drive this work; it is not a distant 

project organised by leaders, and they are in the driving seat.  

Areas for development  

◼ Some parents are not confident in leaders’ ability to resolve the current issues. 

Many remain very concerned about the long waits for ASD and ADHD 
appointments. Parents are concerned that there are not sufficient specialist 
places in schools to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND, 

and are not confident that social care services fully consider their children’s 
needs. Some parents are not confident that the local authority is willing to 
meet their children’s needs. Leaders in the area understand these concerns 

and have plans in place to address them. 

◼ Some aspects of the EHC plan process could be strengthened: 

▪ findings from the audit process should result in improvements to the 

quality of plans, particularly when the quality of health contributions 
was found to need improvement  

Page 248



 

 

7 

 

▪ contributions from social care are too rare and often lack sufficient 

detail 

▪ plans do not routinely include consideration of preparation for 
adulthood outcomes  

▪ opportunities to coordinate statutory assessments with the EHC plan 
and annual review process for children looked after are sometimes 
missed, meaning that the often complex needs of these children and 

young people are not reviewed holistically.   

◼ The very youngest children and their families in Reading do not benefit from 
shared focused priorities as seen across the other age groups. Opportunities 

to use shared models of support and co-production are missed.  

The effectiveness of the local area in improving outcomes for children and 

young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 

Strengths 

◼ The local area is improving outcomes for children and young people with 

SEND. This can be seen most clearly in the success of multi-agency efforts to 
improve behaviour and reduce the number of pupils being excluded from 
school. This success has been led by adoption of a therapeutic approach now 

being delivered in most schools. Not only is this work reducing the likelihood 
of exclusion but it is also increasing the quality and speed of support for 
children and young people with social and emotional difficultes. Good 

examples of this can be seen in the effectiveness of support in place to enable 
a pupil at risk of exclusion to succeed in school, often by supporting the 
school staff to know how to achieve this. Also that some health professionals 

measure the difference their work makes for children and young people to 
monitor how outcomes have improved for those they are working with.  

◼ Children and young people do well in school in Reading. Outcomes for pupils 

with SEND in year six have improved over the past three years. In secondary 
school, pupils with SEND attain well, although not all pupils make as much 
progress as they could. The recent joint working to successfully reduce 

exclusions has enabled children and young people with SEND to attend school 
for longer and achieve better results. In many schools, the principles of this 

approach now successfully underpin aspects of their curriculum. The success 
of this work is informing the next stage, to develop a more consistent 
approach to supporting children and young people with ASD. 

◼ Until recently, outcomes for some older young people were not as strong as 
for school-age pupils. This meant that too many 17-year-olds were not in 
education, employment or training. Also, too few young people with an EHC 

plan gained a level 2 or 3 qualification that included English and mathematics. 
Over the past few years, the options for school leavers have improved. Work 
has been carried out to ensure that the needs of young people with SEND can 

be met closer to home. Also, pre-work opportunities are given to students to 

Page 249



 

 

8 

 

enable greater success when they leave and take up work once they have 

completed their courses. Recent figures indicate that this work is leading to 
more young people staying in employment for longer. 

◼ There is evidence in Reading of a wide range of options being developed to 

enable young people with SEND to be supported into work from the age of 
16. The ‘Ways into Work’ project began in November 2020 and partnership 
with the Department for Work and Pensions at Reading Youth Hub is 

expanding opportunities for young people. This is aimed at increasing the 
number of young people with SEND who are in education, training or 
employment. 

Area for development  

◼ The number of adults with learning difficulties in meaningful activity or paid 

employment needs to increase. Leaders know that the offer for young people 
with very complex needs aged 18 to 25 is not as strong as for other young 
people who are more able to access work and education opportunities. There 

are limited options and insufficient places within adult social care for 
meaningful activities for young people with very complex disabilities. There is 
also a lack of regular respite for their parents/carers. While new facilities for 

day activities and overnight respite are planned, they will not be available for 
two years. Some parents and carers of older young people with more complex 
needs are exhausted and feel unable to continue caring without additional 

support.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

Phil Minns 

 

 

Ofsted Care Quality Commission 

Chris Russell 

Regional Director 

Victoria Watkins Deputy Chief Inspector, 

Primary Medical Services, Children 

Health and Justice 

Phil Minns  

HMI Lead Inspector 

Tessa Valpy 

CQC Inspector 

Rosemary Henn-Macrae 

Ofsted Inspector 

 

 

Page 250



 

 

9 

 

 

Cc: Department for Education 

 Clinical commissioning group  

 Director Public Health for the local area  
 Department of Health  
 NHS England 

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



                                
  

READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

DATE OF MEETING: 8 October 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: Stop Smoking Service and E-cigarette Position Statement 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Christine Stannard 
 

TEL:  07813 405072 

JOB TITLE: Public Health Programme 
Officer 
 

E-MAIL: Christine.stannard@reading.
gov.uk 

ORGANISATION: Reading Borough Council 
 

  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the new Berkshire West Stop 

Smoking Service which commences on 1st October 2021.  The report sets out the context 
for commissioning this service as part of the wider system approach to Tobacco Control, 
the key features of the new service model and the plans being developed to ensure the 
service is aligned with the new NHS Tobacco Dependency Treatment services currently 
being developed. 

 
1.2 The report also includes a description of the recent position statement on e-cigarettes, 

produced by the South East Association of Directors of Public Health, which is relevant to 
all services that provide support to people wishing to quit smoking.  

 
1.3 Appendices: 

A. Delayed Procurement Committee Report; 
B. Waiver RBCW043; 
C. Officer Decision Form; 
D. South East Directors of Public Health E-Cigarette Position Statement 
E. Climate Impact Assessment  

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 To NOTE the new Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service and the South East 
Association of Directors of Public Health Position Statement on E-Cigarettes 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 The principle of jointly commissioning for Public Health services had been previously 

agreed by the three Chief Executives across all three local authorities in Berkshire West 
in 2019.  To that end, the commissioning of the next iteration of the Stop Smoking 
Service contract was carried out jointly, in partnership with the other two Councils in the 
Berkshire West area. 

 

Page 253

Agenda Item 11



3.2 The authority to enter Reading Borough Council into a contract for the Stop Smoking 
Service is delegated within the Council’s constitution to the Director of Adult Care and 
Health Services. 

 
 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current Position 
 
4.1.1 The Stop Smoking Service within the wider context of Tobacco Control  
 
Reducing the number of people who smoke requires a stop smoking service and all other public 
sector organisations taking action in partnership, as part of a system wide approach.   
 
The tobacco control plan for England launched in 2017 sets out the government ambition for 
England to be smokefree by 2030, with public sector organisations working together to: 
 

 Reduce the prevalence of 15 year olds who regularly smoke from 8% to 3% or less 

 Reduce smoking prevalence amongst adults in England from 15.5% to 12% or less 

 Reduce the inequality gap in smoking prevalence between those in routine and manual 
occupations and the general population. 

 
The Berkshire West Tobacco Control Plan 2021-23 sets out the local delivery plan to support 
these national ambitions and formalises the commitments of partners to work together to 
reduce the impact of tobacco on individuals and communities.  

 
In August 2021, a new allocation of funding was made to Berkshire West for Tobacco Dependency 
Treatment, as part of the NHS Long Term Plan.  
 
The new funding will enable tobacco control work to be carried out in maternity and acute 
inpatient settings at the Royal Berkshire Hospital and in mental health inpatient settings at 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.  A delivery plan and baseline review in acute 
inpatient settings is underway and delivery plans for tobacco dependence are also being 
developed for maternity and mental health inpatients for 2021/22. 
 
The delivery plans represent a vital step on the road to both NHS Trusts becoming fully 
smokefree.  Health professionals in the Trusts will be trained to deliver 1st level stop smoking 
brief advice and 2nd level behavioural support with nicotine replacement therapy (as required) to 
patients, thus increasing the opportunities available to help even more people quit smoking. 
 
Robust referral pathways and close working relationships between the new service provision in 
the Trusts and the community Stop Smoking Service are being developed. Referral pathways will 
need to be clearly communicated to all stakeholders, especially GPs and pharmacies, as well as 
service users and the general public.   

 

4.1.2 Procurement of the new Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service 
 
The contract for the new Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service was due to be in place with effect 
from 1st April 2021, with procurement starting in early 2020.  Owing to the impact of Covid-19 on 
both commissioners’ and potential providers’ capabilities to engage with a major procurement 
exercise, the Direct of Adult Social Care & Health, in consultation with the Lead Councillor for 
Health, Wellbeing & Sport, decided to delay the procurement of the Berkshire West Stop 
Smoking Service for up to 12 months and to extend the current contract to 31st March 2022.(A) 
 
A Waiver of Contract Procurement Rules (Ref RBCW043) (B) was approved in November 2020 and 
an Officer Decision (C) to make a Direct Award to Solutions4Health, the incumbent provider, was 
made on 29th January 2021.  The Direct Award was for an initial period of six months (from April 

Page 254



– September 2021), with an option to extend by a further six months (from October – March 
2022), in the event of any unanticipated further delays in procurement. 
 
The ITT for the Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service contract went out to advert in December 
2020.  The annual contract value is £100,000 for each of the three local authorities (in total 
£300,000 across Berkshire West).  The contract duration is for three years, with an option to 
extend by a further two years.  
 
Informal conversations with interested providers to test the market for the service took place in 
February 2021.   
 
As a result of the ITT, two bids were received. The winning bid was submitted by the incumbent 
provider, Solutions4Health, who scored highest on both quality and price.  
 
 
4.1.3 The South East Association of Directors of Public Health (SE ADsPH) Position Statement on 

E-Cigarettes (D) 
 
The SE ADsPH position statement on e-cigarettes was produced in Spring 2021.  Its aims are to:- 
 

 Provide a South East public health consensus on e-cigarettes. 

 
 Help organisations develop their own policies and practice which follow a similar approach 

and unify communication messages to the public on the promotion and advice on e-
cigarettes.  

 
 Provide smokers of tobacco across the South East region with the information to make an 

informed decision about any associated risks of e-cigarettes to their health and offer advice 
on a viable harm reduction option. 

 
 Steer through the latest evidence, best practice guidance, the relevant regulations and 

summarises the key communication messages 
 
The Statement reports that e-cigarettes are now the most popular aid to quitting smoking in 
England, with research showing that using an e-cigarette, along with behavioural support, can be 
twice as effective for quitting smoking compared to using nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), 
such as patches, gum and spray, at one-year follow-up.  
 
E-cigarettes are far less harmful than smoked tobacco. Nevertheless, there are misconceptions 
among a large proportion of the public that e-cigarettes are equally as, or more harmful than, 
smoking and has led to health and social care professionals delivering variable advice in relation 
to the products.   
 
The Statement goes on to make clear that based on the latest evidence available, while not risk 
free, e-cigarettes carry a fraction of the risk of tobacco smoking.  In response to some concerns 
in the media that e-cigarettes were acting as a “gateway” to smoking, the public health 
consensus is that there is little, if any, evidence (at least in the UK) that young people or non-
smokers are becoming addicted to nicotine or introduced to smoking through use of e-cigarettes. 
This evidence is borne out by data reported from 2020, that shows only 0.3% of people who have 
never smoked are current e-cigarette users.  
 
4.2 Options Proposed 
 
N/A 
 
4.3 Other Options Considered 

 
N/A 

Page 255



 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 Whilst the proportion of the population who smoke tobacco has fallen, tobacco smoking 

still remains the leading cause of premature death, killing 74,500 people in England in 
2019.  In Reading, whilst the prevalence of adult smoking in 2019 was similar to the 
England average at 13.9% (Fingertips, accessed 10 September 21), this figure masks 
significant inequalities amongst population groups.  

 
5.2 Smoking contributes to substantially to health inequalities, accounting for approximately 

half of the difference in life expectancy between the lowest and highest income groups.  
Harm from smoking is concentrated in our most disadvantaged communities (Department 
of Health [DH], 2011; Public Health England [PHE], 2019a).1Stop smoking services can 
contribute to reducing these health inequalities (National Centre for Smoking Cessation 
Training [NCSCT], 2013). 

 
5.3 The Stop Smoking Service directly contributes to Reading’s Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy priority 1: Supporting people to make healthy lifestyle choices (with a focus 
on tooth decay, obesity, physical activity and smoking).   

 
5.3.1 The new Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service will operate with effect from 1 October 

2021.  
 

In the light of the literature review carried out as part of the Stop Smoking Service Health 
Needs Assessment, a new service model has been developed.  The provider will operate a 
tiered service model so that the support offered to people can be more personalised, 
taking into account their needs and preferences.  

 
5.3.2 The tiered model of service will comprise three levels of intervention, each underpinned 

by evidence-based smoking cessation support. 
 

 Level 1 is digital based information and support for those who want to quit on their own.  
It includes clinical assessment and the person is routed to the most appropriate level of 
support according to their level of dependence. 

 Level 2 is brief advice and pharmacotherapy (NRT).  The person receives a minimum of 1 
30 min session and their smoking status is assessed at 4 weeks.  Smoking status will be 
validated by CO monitor. 

 Level 3 is specialist stop smoking support.  The smoker will receive a minimum of a 
weekly session for six weeks and their smoking status is assessed at 4 and 12 weeks.  
Smoking status will be validated by CO monitor at 4 and 12 weeks.  

 
5.3.3 People will be able to self-refer or be referred by other agencies, such as their GP. All 

people wishing to quit will be triaged to understand their level of nicotine dependence 
and in discussion with an advisor, they will be routed to the appropriate level of support.  
The full range of options will be explained, along with the likelihood of a successful quit 
and the commitment required at each level of intervention.  

 
5.3.4 People who are unsuccessful at quitting smoking will be able to re-enter the Service at 

the same or a different level of intervention.  
 
5.3.5 The Service will be available to all people in Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham 

who wish to quit smoking.  However, the Service will also target specific priority groups 
identified by the needs assessment as being at high risk of tobacco-related harm:- 

 

 Routine and manual workers 

 Pregnant women who smoke (including cohabitees)* 

                                                 
1 Stop Smoking Service Needs Assessment, 2020 Page 256



 People diagnosed with a long term mental health condition* 

 Individuals receiving treatment from substance misuse services 

 People currently admitted to secondary care acute settings* and/or living with one or 
more specific 

 long-term conditions 

 Children and young people under 18 years 

 Individuals from minority ethnic groups 
 
 Also target groups for the NHS LTP Tobacco Dependence Treatment funding. Service is already 

involved with discussions to ensure there are clear pathways for patients returning to stop 
smoking support in the community, if required.  

 
  Smokers in priority groups will be strongly encouraged to enter at Level 3 and their   

progress assessed up to 12 weeks. 
 
5.3.6 The Service will offer the full range of pharmacotherapy (NRT) and will be e-cigarette 

friendly. (NB: note the Service is currently unable to offer Champix (varenicline), due to 
a national shortage of the product. Smokers are being offered the recommended 
alternatives of pharmacotherapy plus behavioural support).  

 
5.3.7 The Service will operate 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year (excl. bank holidays), 

daytime, evenings and weekends.  
 
5.4 The proposal recognises that plans in support of Reading’s 2017-20 Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy should be built on three foundations - safeguarding vulnerable adults and 
children, recognising and supporting all carers, and high quality co-ordinated information 
to support wellbeing.  The proposal specifically addresses these in the following ways: 

 
5.4.1 Safeguarding vulnerable adults and children. 

 
All new staff in the Stop Smoking Service are required to undertake mandatory 
safeguarding training and staff are trained to level 1, 2 or 3, appropriate to their role in 
the organisation.  The Service has clear internal processes for communicating 
safeguarding concerns, with escalation as required to the Director of Nursing and 
Safeguarding and the Executive Director of Safeguarding.  The Director of Nursing and 
Safeguarding is a member of both Adult and Children Safeguarding Partnership Boards and 
subgroups. The Service has a Safeguarding Policy that is reviewed annually. Stop Smoking 
Advisors received ongoing safeguarding supervision with weekly drop-in virtual clinics. 

 
5.4.2 Recognising and supporting all carers 
 

Whilst the Health Needs Assessment did not identify carers as being at  greater risk of 
harm from tobacco than the general population, the new tiered model for the Stop 
Smoking Service offers improved flexibility and choice for those who wish to quit 
smoking.  As such carers’ preferences and needs for accessing support on days, at times 
and in ways that suit them will be supported.  

 
5.4.3 High quality co-ordinated information to support wellbeing 

 
The Service maintains detailed client records that capture information on each stage of 
their treatment, their motivation, quit history, and the outcome of their intervention 
(whether or not a successful quit has been achieved).   
  
The Stop Smoking Service will be required to report activity and outcomes to 
commissioners on a quarterly basis and will be audited annually.  This will enable 
commissioners to closely monitor the impact of the new tiered model in terms of 
numbers of people who are quit at 4 weeks and 12 weeks and the quality of the service. 

 

Page 257



 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute 48 

refers). 
 
6.2 Climate Impact Assessment Tool outcome was Net High Positive impact (E).  The impact 

of Stop Smoking Advisor travel on emissions will be managed by use of public transport, 
provision of telephone support and posting out of Nicotine Replacement Therapy.  There 
may be a supply chain disruption for NRT nationally due to transportation issues that are 
outside the control of the Service.  

 
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 

Community and stakeholder engagement took place as part of developing the Berkshire 
West Stop Smoking Service Health Needs Assessment and their views taken into account 
in the procurement process. 

 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 Not applicable. 

The need to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment was considered at the outset, when 

developing the Health Needs Assessment and the new service specification.  It was 

judged that an EIA was not required, as the proposal to recommission a new service using 

the tiered model, did not materially affect the nature of the Stop Smoking Service.  It is 

also the case that the new tiered model will offer all those who wish to quit smoking 

even greater flexibility and choice, based on individual preferences and needs.  The 

continued focus of the Stop Smoking Service on groups who are at high risk of tobacco 

harms (see 5.3.5) further ensures their particular needs will be continue to be prioritised.  
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable.  
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1  Not applicable.  
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 A. Delayed Procurement Committee Report; 
 B. Waiver RBCW043; 

C. Officer Decision Form; 
D. South East Directors of Public Health E-Cigarette Position Statement 
E. Climate Impact Assessment  

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 258



1 

Delay 

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ADULT CARE AND HEALTH SERVICES 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: COUNCILLORS TERRY AND HOSKIN 

DATE: 

TITLE: EXTENSION OF THE 0-19 (25) PUBLIC HEALTH NURSING SERVICE AND 
STOP SMOKING SERVICE CONTRACTS 

SERVICE: PUBLIC HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

AUTHOR: DAVID MUNDAY TEL: 

JOB TITLE: CONSULTANT IN PUBLIC 
HEALTH 

E-MAIL: David.munday@reading.gov.uk 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report sets out the decision to delay the procurement of the Berkshire West 0-19
(25) public health nursing service for 12 months and extend the current contract to
31st March 2022 and to delay the procurement of the Berkshire West Stop Smoking
Service for up to 12 months and to extend the current contract to 31st March 2022.

1.2 To inform Councillors of the reasons for delaying the re-procurement of the Berkshire 
West Joint 0-19 (25) Public Health Nursing Service and the Berkshire West Joint Stop 
Smoking Service that had recently commenced. Both procurements were due to deliver 
new Berkshire West joint contracts from 1st April 2021. 

1.3 To inform Councillors of plans to extend the existing 0-19 (25) Public Health Nursing 
Service and the existing Stop Smoking Service with the current provider in both 
contracts until the procurement exercise can be conducted to ensure a continued 
service during the period of deferment.  

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1 It is the decision of the Director of Adult Social Care & Health, in consultation 
with the Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport and the Lead 
Councillor for Children to delay the procurement of the Berkshire West 0-19 
(25) public health nursing service for 12 months and extend the current
contract to 31st  March 2022, to  allow bids for the new contract to be
advertised in April/May 2021 and enable the new contract to be in place for
April 2022.

2.2 It is the decision of the Director of Adult Social Care & Health, in consultation 
with the Lead Councillor for Health, Wellbeing & Sport, to delay the 
procurement of the Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service for up to 12 months 
and to extend the current contract to 31st March 2022. 

Appendix A

Page 259

mailto:David.munday@reading.gov.uk
mailto:David.munday@reading.gov.uk


2 
 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
0-19 (25) Public Health Nursing Service 
 

3.1 The 0-19 (25) service provides the Public Health nursing service to all residents in 
Reading aged 0-19 (and up to 25 for those with Special Educational Needs). This 
comprises of the health visiting and school nursing service. These services provide 
statutory elements such as the 5 mandated checks in infancy and the National Childhood 
Measurement Programme. It also provides wider non-mandated services such as well 
baby clinics, breast feeding support and health promotion in schools. 
 

3.2 The 0-19 (25) public health nursing service contract is currently due to expire on 30 
September 2020.  A new Berkshire West joint contract was due to be procured from 1 
April 2021 with in interim contract established to bridge the 6 months of Oct 20- Mar 
21. Lead Members have previously been briefed on these plans. 

 
3.3 The unprecedented Covid-19 emergency has directly impacted on commissioner 

resources needed to undertake a competitive tendering process within the usual 
timescales. Potential providers are also affected by key members of staff being 
unavailable, due to illness or redeployment into other roles. 

 
3.4 In light of the impact of Covid-19, commissioners sought advice from the procurement 

lead and now intend to seek an extension of the existing contract.  To ensure continuity 
of this key service and in discussion with the provider, commissioners intend to issue 
an interim contract with the current provider for a period of 18 months (Oct 20- Mar 22 
with a value £4.26m).  
 

Smoking Cessation Service 
 

3.5 Whilst the proportion of the population who smoke has fallen, tobacco smoking still 
remains the leading cause of premature death in the UK. Smoking accounts for 
approximately half of the difference in life expectancy between the lowest and highest 
income groups, and harm from smoking is concentrated in our most disadvantaged 
communities (Public Health England, 2019). Smoking prevalence is highest in routine 
and manual workers, where here in Reading, 1 in 4 people (28.3% in 2018) in routine 
and manual occupations are a smoker, compared to 1 in 10 in managerial and 
professional occupations. Stop smoking services can contribute to reducing these health 
inequalities (NCSCT, 2013). 
 

3.6 The current stop smoking service contract, was due to end on the 31st March 2021. 
Hence a re procurement process was underway, to ensure a new contract was in place 
for the 1st April 2021. This new contract is intended to be co-commissioned across 
Berkshire West with Reading contributing the same annual value. 
 

3.7 As mentioned above, the unprecedented Covid-19 emergency has negatively impacted 
multiple factors across the system. This process requires significant consultation with 
colleagues in the NHS, many of whom are on the front line of this respiratory disease, 
but also colleagues across the council and voluntary sector who are also focused on 
front line operation. Commissioners resources needed to lead an efficient and 
competitive tendering process within the usual timescales has been impacted. Lastly, 
there is also a question about the resilience of potential providers following the 
aftermath of this disease to engage in a procurement process. Thus, more time is 
required to better assess the resilience of the workforce need to purse this activity.  
 

3.8 In light of the impact of Covid-19, commissioners sought advice from the procurement 
lead for Reading Borough Council and have jointly agreed to delay the tender process. 
With the option to review the current landscape every 3 months in view of whether 

Page 260



3 
 

proceeding would be possible. To ensure continuity of this key service and in discussion 
with the provider, commissioners propose to issue an extension to the current contract 
for a period of a maximum 12 months. If on review in July/ August 2020 it is deemed 
possible to initiate a smoking contract by 1st October 2021, then the contract would 
only be extended by 6 months. 
 

4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current Position: 
 Two Berkshire West procurements have been commenced due to deliver new contracts 
 for April 2021 
 
4.2 Options Proposed 

Delay the procurement of the 0-19 (25) public health nursing service for 12 months, and 
Stop smoking service up to 12 months, with a new joint Berkshire West contract to start 
on 1 April 2022 for both contracts  

  
4.3 Other Options Considered 
 
4.3.1 Continue with procurement of new contracts at this time.  
 

This option has been explored with partners in the three local authorities and where 
appropriate, potential providers. There is consensus that going ahead with a 
procurement exercise at this time would not guarantee a fair procurement process and 
would particularly disadvantage any potential NHS provider whose staff are subject to 
redeployment, in addition to loss of capacity due to self-isolation or illness. The impact 
of this public health emergency on providers’ resilience and ability to engage in a 
competitive process at this time, risks excluding the best provider for the contract 
which ranges from 5 years to 10 years in duration. This in turn would negatively impact 
the health and wellbeing of our residents across Reading Borough Council.  

 
4.3.2 Defer procurement for a shorter period of time (for example 3 months) 
 

This option has been explored and discounted for 0-19s contract, due to the uncertain 
duration of the Covid-19 emergency and the disruption caused, as well as the fact that 
the service is performing well, as measured by national metrics and delivering essential 
services to children, young people and families.   
 
For the smoking contract, which relies less on NHS colleagues for delivery of the 
contract, there is a desire to continue this process as soon as practically possible to do 
without compromising the procurement process. As we do not have not timescales on 
how long this hiatus period will last, a three-month review clause has been agreed to 
review the landscape and decided whether a six month or 12 month delay is required. 
Thus, a maximum of 12 months has been requested.  
 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 These contracts support the third or Reading Borough Council’s Strategic aims. By 

delaying the procurements proposed, the sixth strategic aim is supported because it 
will ensure the council enters into contracts which are fit for purpose. 

 
3. To protect and enhance the lives of vulnerable adults and children 
6. Ensuring the Council is fit for the future 

 
 
 
 

Page 261



4 
 

6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The delay of the procurement of both of these contracts will not have a notable impact 

on the environment or climate change. More broadly, a successful smoking cessation 
service will reduce the involvement of the tobacco industry in the local economy which 
has benefits in reduced reliance on their global supply chains.  

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 The planned delay of the procurement does not require consultation with the public as 

the services for residents will continue to be delivered without interruption due to 
extending existing contracts. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 This is not required for the planned delay of the procurements as services currently in 

existence will continue to be offered to all residents. Full health needs assessments 
are being undertaken for the procurements which will highlight an issues of equality 
and allow services to be specified accordingly. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The authority to enter Reading Borough Council into a contract for the 0-19 service and 
 the smoking cessation service is delegated within the Council’s constitution to the 
 Director of Children’s Services and the Director of Adult Care and Health Services 
 respectively. 
  
9.2 To ensure a continued service for Reading residents, Reading Borough Council will need 
 to enter into directly awarded interim contracts with both of the current providers to 
 cover the period of time between current contract end date and the point when 
 procurements can secure new contracts for Reading (April 2022). Direct award of 
 such interim contracts sits outside of usual procurement law, but cabinet office 
 advice at this time is that due to the Coronavirus pandemic it is permissible to 
 undertake these direct awards. 
 
9.3 It is planned that the Director of Children’s Services and the Director of Adult Care and 
 Health Services will use their delegation to enter Reading Borough Council into these 
 contracts 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The current value of the 0-19 contract is £2.84m per annum. The Medium Term Financial 

Plan did not identify a saving against this contract associated with the re-procurement 
on a Berks West footprint in April 21. It is planned that the interim contract to ensure 
continuity of the service up to April 22 will be of the same financial value and therefore 
a delay of 12 months has a neutral financial impact 

 
10.2 The current value of the smoking cessation contract is £100k per annum. The Medium 

Term Financial Plan did not identify a saving against this contract associated with the 
re-procurement on a Berks West footprint in April 21. It is planned that the interim 
contract to ensure continuity of the service up to April 22 will be of the same financial 
value and therefore a delay of 12 months has a neutral financial impact 

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 Nil 

Page 262



Appendix B Classification: OFFICIAL 

 Waiver to Contract Procedure Rules v2 Aug 2019 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

RBCW043 

A waiver to Contract Procedure Rules is a permission not to comply with certain Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) when awarding or extending a contract. It is not an authority 
to enter into a contract without further relevant approval. 

Instructions: 
1. Complete this request form including signature by the Assistant Director, Deputy Director or

Executive Director as appropriate.
2. Send the form to the Assistant Director for Procurement and Contracts for review and approval

as appropriate.
3. Procurement will retain a central record of approved waivers and send confirmation of the

approved waiver to the service.
4. Retain the signed waiver record with all relevant contract documentation.

Requested information to be completed by Contract Manager/ Project Officer. 

Contract name: Stop Smoking Service 

Supplier: Solutions 4 Health 

Contract Value: Up to £100K pa 

Annual Saving: £0. 

Proposed Start Date: 1 April 2021 

Proposed End Date: 31 March 2022 

Service: Public Health 

Exec Director: Seona Douglas 

Author of this request: 
Yasmine Illsley, Public Health Programme Officer, Mobile 
07812462819 

1. Which Contract Procedure Rule(s) are you seeking a waiver from?

(1) Subject to Contracts Procedure Rule 9(1) (c), for a procurement valued over £10,000 but
below £100,000, at least 3 written tenders or quotations shall be invited before a formal purchase
order is issued specifying the supplies, services or works to be provided.

2. Why do you think a waiver is justified?

The current stop smoking service contract expires at the end of March 2021. The principle of jointly 
commissioning for Public Health services have been agreed by the 3 Chief Executives across all three 
local authorities last year. To that end, the recommendation for this contract is to jointly commission 
the next iteration of the contract in partnership with the two other Councils in the Berkshire West area. 

That procurement is planned to take place over the next 18 months with an anticipated start 

date of 1 April 2022. This new contract was originally expected to be procured for a start date of 1 

April 2020, 

The COVID-19 emergency has led to the three authorities agreeing that that the extensive 

detailed work to design, procure and implement this new contract could not be feasibly resourced 

Business Case for a Waiver to Contract Procedure Rules 

Page 263



Appendix B Classification: OFFICIAL 

 Waiver to Contract Procedure Rules v2 Aug 2019 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

RBCW043 

at the same time as they, the current service provider and other potential bidders are having to 

devote their attentions to the response to the pandemic. 

The delay in the start date of the jointly commissioned contract leaves Reading Borough 

Council in a position where an interim, 12 month contract is required to provide the services for the 

period between the end of the current contract and the start of the new jointly commissioned 

contract. 

At the time of requesting the waiver, there is less than 8 months to go before a new contract 

and contractor must be in place. Although this does leave sufficient time for a relatively simple 

quotation exercise to be conducted, no preparation has yet been undertaken for such a procurement 

which would normally require several months of preparation prior to the launch of the 

competitive phase. The Council has only one officer with the required public health specialist 

knowledge and expertise to lead the development of an updated service specification and undertake 

the procurement process. That officer is currently required to support the Public Health consultant 

with the COVID19 response, as well as oversee the current provider’s business continuity work, as 

part of contract management responsibilities and will also be the lead officer feeding into the joint 

procurement exercise. 

It is unlikely that any new provider would be seriously interesting in taking over and mobilising a 

contract for such a short term, so the likelihood of any genuine competition for the contract 

is low. 

A waiver is therefore justified to allow the direct negotiation of a new contract, with the current 

incumbent provider on the basis of continuing to deliver the stop smoking service on broadly similar 

lines to the current contract. 

A waiver is therefore sought to make a direct award to the current contract provider for a minimum of 

6 months, up to a maximum of 12 months, to allow sufficient time for a new joint contract for Berkshire 

West to be put in place, and ensure stability of the current stop smoking service. By tendering for a 

joint contract with other local authorities in Berkshire West, we will secure better value for residents 

and a more efficient and joined-up service in the longer term. 

3. How does your proposal demonstrate value for money?

Please state benchmarking work / cost comparison to other suppliers for the same service to show 
value for money.  

The cost and benefits to residents of continuing with the current service provider for a 

further 12 months maximum, outweigh any potential benefits that an alternative procurement could 

generate at this time. The reputational and financial risks to RBC of not making a contract award at 

this time are judged to be unacceptably high as there would be no service in place for a period of 

12 month. as t 

Please also confirm that you have the budget available to fund the proposed contract and confirm the 
budget source. 

4. What are the legal risks associated with the waiver?

(Please address the risk of challenge within the supply market in question for this value of contract 
when justifying your proposal) 

Page 264



Appendix B Classification: OFFICIAL 

 Waiver to Contract Procedure Rules v2 Aug 2019 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

RBCW043 

The contract value is well below that requiring an OJEU advertised procurement process so 

the risk of any successful challenge is extremely low. 

[Advice should be sought from the Procurement and/or Legal team as appropriate] 

5. Appendices (if appropriate)

 Options Appraisal 

 Benchmarking Information 

 Committee or other relevant decision 

 Legal Briefing 

 Other, please detail 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Authority of the Assistant Director/ Deputy Director/ Executive Director 

I authorise a waiver to CPRs as outlined above / subject to the following conditions: 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Signed: 

Date: 10-11-2020 

Position/ Job Title: Consultant in Public Health 

Authority of the Assistant Director for Procurement and Contracts 

I authorise a waiver to CPRs as outlined above / subject to the following conditions: 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Signed: 
Date: 11-11-2020 

Position/ Job Title: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PROCUREMENT & CONTRACTS 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: OFFICIAL 

1 

Classification: OFFICIAL 

OFFICER’S DECISION 

Subject Stop Smoking Contract 

Decision by Consultant in Public Health (Assistant Director, Adult Care and Health 

Services) 

Non-key decision 

Portfolio Councillor Graham Hoskins, Lead Member for Health, Wellbeing & Sport 

Authority CPR 18.1 provides authority for Assistant Directors to award the contract. 

Decision A direct award of the contract for the Stop Smoking service be made to the 

current provider (Solutions 4 Health) for six months (from 1 April 2021 to 30 September 

2021), with an option to extend by a further six months (from 1 October 2021 to 31st March 

2022). 

Purpose     Refer to Waiver Ref. RBCW043. 

Reasons   Refer to Waiver Ref. RBCW043. 

Consultation    N/A.  

A public consultation exercise was carried out in September/October 2020 which informs 

the development of the new Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service contract that is due to 

start no later than 1 April 2022.  

Equalities Analysis Assessment N/A. 

An EIA will be carried out as part of the procurement for the new Berkshire West Stop 

Smoking Service contract that is due to start no later than 1 April 2022. 

Signature 

Date of decision 29th January 2021 

Appendix C

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



South East Tobacco Control Network
Spring 2021

SOUTH EAST 
OF ENGLAND  
POSITION STATEMENT 
ON ELECTRONIC  
CIGARETTES 
2021

Appendix D

Page 269



6. World Health Organisation 22

	 6.1	What	is	Article	5.3?	 22

7. Best Practice Guidance 24

	 7.1	What	are	the	key	messages?	 24

	 7.2	Children	and	Young	People	 25

	 7.3	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	 26

	 7.4	Primary	and	Secondary	Care	Settings	-	Smokefree	NHS	 28

	 7.5	Mental	Health	Trusts	 32

	 7.6	Maternity	 34

	 7.7	Workplaces	 36

8. Training and Advice on Usage 38

	 8.1	Training	 38

	 8.2	Guidance	on	Usage	 39

9. Communication 40

	 9.1	Primary	Messages	 40

	 9.2	Secondary	Messages	 41

10. Myth Busting 42

11. Useful Contacts  43

1. Foreword  4

2. Executive Summary 5

3. Introduction 6

 3.1	What	is	the	purpose	of	the	Position	Statement?	 7

4 Latest Evidence 8

 4.1	What	are	e-cigarettes?	 8

 4.2	What	do	we	know	about	the	use	of	e-cigarettes	in	adults?	 9

 4.3	Are	children	and	young	people	using	e-cigarettes?	 10

 4.4	Is	there	a	“gateway”	effect	for	children	and	young	people?	 10

 4.5	How	effective	are	e-cigarettes	at	helping	smokers	to	quit	smoking?	 10

 4.6	What	do	we	know	about	e-cigarettes	and	COVID-19?	 11

 4.7	How	safe	are	e-cigarettes?	 12

 4.8	What	are	‘Heat-not-Burn’	products?	 13

 4.9	What	types	of	e-cigarettes	are	there?	 14

 4.10	Do	e-cigarettes	have	/	pose	a	fire	or	explosion	risk?	 15

5 Regulation 16

 5.1	How	are	e-cigarettes	regulated	in	the	UK?	 16

 5.2	Why	is	the	role	of	Trading	Standards	important?	 18 

 5.3	Where	can	you	report	side	effects	and	safety	concerns	with	e-cigarettes?	 18		

 5.4	What	is	the	law	for	sale	of	e-cigarettes	to	children	and	young	people	(under	18	years)?	 19  

	 5.5	What	were	the	concerns	reported	in	the	United	States	in	2019	and	could	it		happen	in	the	UK?	 20

C O N T E N T SC O N T E N T S

32

How to use this document

This Position Statement has been designed for a range of stakeholders  as a guide to assist in 
developing organisational policies and/or individual practice. Readers may not wish to read the 
document in its entirety, but refer to specific sections most relevant to their organisation or needs. 

Navigational tools have been used to make your journey through the document as easy as possible: 
for example, embedded links to the references or the contents icon             at the top left hand side of 
each page, takes readers back to the contents page wherever you are in the document.

2

P
age 270



Our organisations work individually and 
together to reduce the impact that smoking 
has on our communities. We are pleased to 
champion this statement and hope it will 
encourage a consistent approach in how 
organisations promote, regulate and advise on 
e-cigarettes across the South East. 

Smoking	has	an	enormous	personal	and	financial	
impact,	both	for	the	individual	and	for	society.	
Between	2016	and	2018,	more	than	35,300	
deaths	were	attributable	to	smoking	each	year	
in	the	South	East.	The	total	annual	cost	of	
smoking	to	the	NHS	across	the	region	is	about	
£386.9m,	of	which	£140.2m	is	due	to	more	than	
62,600	hospital	admissions	for	smoking	related	
conditions.	

Evidence	is	building,	from	PHE’s	annual	
independent	reviews	to	support	from	the	Royal	
Colleges,	showing	a	consistent	picture	of	how	
e-cigarettes	are	helping	smokers	to	give	up	
smoking	tobacco	by	switching	to	vaping.	Vaping	
is	not	completely	risk	free	but	is	far	less	harmful	
than	smoking.	Non-smokers,	therefore,	should	not	
start	vaping.	Smokers	who	choose	to	quit	using	

1 . 	 F O R E W O R D

4

2 . 	 E X E C U T I V E 	 S U M M A R Y	

e-cigarettes	are	likely	to	gain	the	most	benefit	by	
switching	completely	and	accessing	free	support	
from	their	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services.

We	understand	that	people	have	concerns.	
The	statement	addresses	this	by	reporting	
what	we	know	about	vaping	and	e-cigarettes.	
It	provides	the	latest	information	about	safety,	
regulation	and	effectiveness	as	a	quitting	aid.	It	
is	intended	to	signpost	you	to	reliable	advice.	
The	UK	has	some	of	the	tightest	regulations	for	
nicotine-containing	vaping	products.	We	rely	
on	the	continued	vigilance	of	our	enforcement,	
legal	and	regulatory	authorities	to	prevent	
young	people	from	starting	to	vape	and	ensure	
products	are	safe.			

We	are	grateful	to	the	South	East	Tobacco	
Control	Network,	on	behalf	of	the	South	East	
Association	of	Directors	of	Public	Health,	
for	producing	the	statement.	We	hope	that	
colleagues	across	the	South	East	will	use	this	
to	develop	their	local	policies	and	practice	
and	ensure	that	we	have	a	consistent	regional	
approach	in	supporting	the	use	of	this	important	
tool	to	reduce	smoking.	

Helen Atkinson
Chair	of	Association	of	Directors	of	Public	Health	
South	East	Tobacco	Control	Network	
Director	of	Public	Health,	Portsmouth	City	Council	
 
Dr Alison Barnett
Regional	Director	and	NHS	Regional	Director	of	
Public	Health
Public	Health	England	South	East	
 
Anne Eden
Regional	Director
NHS	South	East

There can be no doubt, the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic has shone a bright light on 
health inequalities; with those, who are the most 
disadvantaged, being the hardest hit. Health 
inequalities are largely avoidable and taking 
action to reduce them will be of paramount 
importance for the recovery phase of the 
pandemic response.  Smoking is the single largest 
driver of health inequalities in England.  The 
more disadvantaged a person is, the more likely 
they are to smoke, suffer from smoking related 
disease, and face a premature death. 

Electronic	cigarettes	are	an	effective	and	popular	
method	for	quitting	smoking	tobacco,	yet	the	
perception	of	harm	caused	by	them,	compared	
with	smoking	tobacco,	is	increasingly	out	of	step	
with	the	current	evidence-base.	This	has	led	to	
health	and	social	care	professionals	delivering	
variable	advice	in	relation	to	the	products.	
Electronic	cigarettes	are	far	less	harmful	than	
smoked	tobacco.	Whilst	not	risk	free,	based	on	
the	latest	evidence	available,	electronic	cigarettes	
carry	a	fraction	of	the	risk	of	tobacco	smoking.	
Those	risks	can	be	much	reduced	by	only	using	
regulated	e-cigarettes	and	vaping	liquids.

5

It	steers	through	the	latest	evidence,	best	
practice	guidance,	the	relevant	regulations	and	
summarises	the	key	communication	messages.

The purpose of this comprehensive guidance is 
to provide a South East public health consensus 
on electronic cigarettes, to help organisations 
develop their own policies and practice, ensuring 
a similar approach and communication messages 
on their promotion, regulation and advice.

P
age 271



The rapid growth in the use of electronic 
cigarettes (commonly known as e-cigarettes, 
vapes or vaporisers), in England reflects their 
popularity and efficacy amongst smokers. 
They have also now become the most popular 
aid to stop smoking used by people trying to 
quit smoking, with greater use than Nicotine 
Replacement Therapy (NRT) and going alone 
without any help. However, e-cigarettes have 
proved to be controversial, attracting both 
support and criticism from health organisations, 
health professionals and across wider society. 
This has led to public and professional 
misunderstanding, where many people and local 
health providers think e-cigarettes are as harmful, 
or more so, than smoking tobacco, despite the 
current evidence-base indicating that they are 
a fraction of the risk. In turn, health and social 
care staff are delivering variable advice in relation 
to e-cigarettes and organisations are therefore 
adopting a variety of policies and approaches to 
their use that is inconsistent.

The South East Tobacco Control Network, 
representing all the Local Authority public 
health teams in the region, acknowledged 
that the whole system across the South East, 
would benefit from adopting a coordinated 
evidence-based approach to e-cigarettes. 

Despite	smoking	rates	in	most	communities	in	
the	South	East	falling,	with	12.2%1	of	adults	
smoking	overall,	tobacco	continues	to	remain	
a	major	public	health	issue.	It	is	the	single	
biggest	preventable	cause	of	death	and	ill	health	
in	England,	leading	to	over	35,000	deaths	in	
the	South	East1.		Smoking	is	the	largest	single	
contributor	to	health	inequalities,	accounting	for	
half	the	difference	in	life	expectancy	between	
those	living	in	the	most	and	least	deprived	
communities.2	Smokers	are	more	likely	to	come	
from	disadvantaged	groups	and	therefore	their	
habit	can	contribute	to	them	living	in	poverty.		
Smoking	rates	are	also	higher	among	the	
unemployed,	those	with	routine	and	manual	
jobs,	and	those	with	no	formal	qualifications	
compared	to	those	with	a	degree3. 

There	are	two	key	policy	drivers:	the	national	
Towards	a	Smokefree	Generation:	A	Tobacco	
Control	Plan	for	England	(2017-22)2	commits	to	
‘maximise	the	availability	of	safer	alternatives	
to	smoking’,	while	the	NHS	Long	Term	Plan4 
has	prioritised	preventative	action	and	
highlighted	the	contribution	the	NHS	can	make	
to	tackling	tobacco	dependence,	including	the	
option	for	inpatients	to	switch	to	e-cigarettes.	
In	delivering	the	NHS	Long	Term	Plan,	
Sustainability	and	Transformation	Partnerships	
(STPs)	and	Integrated	Care	Systems	(ICSs)	
require	a	population	view	of	health,	reducing	
smoking	prevalence	provides	a	clear	focus	for	
collaboration	between	local	government	and	
the	NHS.	A	new	national	tobacco	control	plan	is	
anticipated	this	summer	(2021)	and	the	role	of	
e-cigarettes	as	one	means	to	help	smokers	quit	
tobacco	is	expected	feature	significantly.

1PHE	(2021)	Tobacco	Control	Profiles	Smoking	attributable	mortality	in	
the	South	East	Region	
2Department	of	Health	and	Social	Care	(2017)	Towards	a	smoke-free	
generation:	a	tobacco	control	plan	for	England	
3NHS	Digital	(2018)	Statistics	on	smoking	in	England	
4NHS	(2019)	NHS	Long	Term	Plan

3.1 What is the purpose of the  
       Position Statement? 

The	purpose	of	this	guidance	is	to	provide	a	South	
East	public	health	consensus	on	e-cigarettes,	to	
help	organisations	develop	their	own	policies	
and	practice	which	follow	a	similar	approach	and	
unify	communication	messages	to	the	public	on	
the	promotion	and	advice	on	e-cigarettes.	The	
guidance,	which	aims	to	consolidate	what	we	
know	about	the	evidence	to	date,	seeks	to	provide	
a	range	of	stakeholders	across	the	South	East	
with	up	to	date	information	and	confidence	they	
need	when	dealing	with	e-cigarettes	in	a	clear	and	
consistent	way.	In	doing	so,	it	will	provide	smokers	
of	tobacco	across	the	South	East	region,	with	the	
information	to	make	an	informed	decision	about	
any	associated	risks	of	e-cigarettes	to	their	health	
and	offer	advice	on	a	viable	harm	reduction	option.

3 . 	 I N T R O D U C T I O N

6 7

To achieve the 
Government’s ambition 
for a smokefree 
generation, where adult 
smoking rates reach 5% 
or below, e-cigarettes 
will have an important 
role to play.

P
age 272

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towards-a-smoke-free-generation-tobacco-control-plan-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towards-a-smoke-free-generation-tobacco-control-plan-for-england
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/3/gid/1938132885/ati/302/iid/113/age/202/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/3/gid/1938132885/ati/302/iid/113/age/202/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630217/Towards_a_Smoke_free_Generation_-_A_Tobacco_Control_Plan_for_England_2017-2022__2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630217/Towards_a_Smoke_free_Generation_-_A_Tobacco_Control_Plan_for_England_2017-2022__2_.pdf
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-2019
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/


4.1 What are e-cigarettes?

E-cigarettes	are	a	battery-powered	device	that	
heats	a	solution,	usually	containing	nicotine,	
to	produce	a	vapour	that	is	inhaled	by	the	user	
and	simulates	the	sensation	of	smoking5.	An	
e-cigarette	user	is	often	referred	to	as	a	‘vaper’	
with	the	action	referred	to	as	‘vaping’.	Other	
components	of	the	solution	are	vegetable	
glycerine,	propylene	glycol	and,	usually,	
flavourings.	Unlike	tobacco	cigarettes,	they	do 
not	contain	tobacco,	and	using	an	e-cigarette	
does	not	involve	burning,	meaning	they	don’t	
produce	tar	or	carbon	monoxide	which	are	two	
of	the	most	harmful	components	of	tobacco	
smoking.	Further	information	on	types	of	devices 
can	be	found	on	NHS	Smokefree	or	see	Section	
4.9	for	further	details. 

As	the	market	matures,	it	is	expected	to	see	
further	development	in	the	efficacy	of	devices	
and	solutions	to	deliver	nicotine.	Nicotine	salts	
aim	to	replicate	the	hit	provided	by	smoking	a	
cigarette	by	enabling	nicotine	to	be	absorbed	
much	faster	than	previous	products.		They	
allow	e-cigarette	users	to	receive	higher	
concentrations	of	nicotine	without	the	harsh	
effects	on	the	throat.		

4 . 	 L A T E S T 	 E V I D E N C E	

The	health	and	social	care	community	
must	remain	vigilant	to	the	emergence	of	
other	products	that	can	be	vaped.	Vaping	
illicit	substances,	such	as	‘spice’	or	THC	
(tetrahydrocannabinol),	or	black-market	
e-liquids,	carries	unknown	risks.	THC	containing	
e-cigarette	products	are	linked	to	most	cases	
and	played	a	major	role	in	the	outbreak	of	
e-cigarette,	or	vaping	product	use-associated	
lung	injury	(EVALI)	in	the	US	during	2019.	See	
Section	5.5	for	further	details	on	EVALI

4.2 What do we know about the use  
       of e-cigarettes in adults?

In	2020,	there	were	approximately	3.2	million	
adult	e-cigarette	users	in	Great	Britain,	most	
of	whom	were	ex-smokers	(58.9%)	or	smokers	
(39.8%)	–	the	latter	are	often	known	as	dual	users.	
Only	0.3%	of	those	who	have	never	been	smokers	
are	current	e-cigarette	users6.	Among	adult	
e-cigarette	users	who	are	also	current	smokers,	
the	main	reasons	reported	for	using	the	devices	
was	to	cut	down	(24%),	quit	smoking	(14%)	or	
save	money	(9%)	compared	to	smoking6. 

3.2 million adult e-cigarette users in Great Britain

5ASH	(2018)	Briefing:	Electronic	Cigarettes	

58.9% 
ex-smokers

0.3%  
never	smoked

39.8% 
smokers

6 ASH	(2020)	Use-of-e-cigarettes-vapes-among-adults-in-Great-
Britain-2020.pdf	(ash.org.uk).	

8 9

P
age 273

https://www.nhs.uk/smokefree/help-and-advice/e-cigarettes
https://smokefree.gov/quit-smoking/ecigs-menthol-dip/ecigs
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html#what-we-know
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html#what-we-know
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html#what-we-know
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/E-Cigarettes-Briefing_PDF_v1.pdf
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Use-of-e-cigarettes-vapes-among-adults-in-Great-Britain-2020.pdf
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Use-of-e-cigarettes-vapes-among-adults-in-Great-Britain-2020.pdf


4.3 Are children and young people  
       using e-cigarettes?

While	experimentation	with	e-cigarettes	has	
increased	among	young	people	since	2015,	the	
majority	of	11-18-year	olds	have	never	tried	
(87.5%)	or	are	unaware	of	e-cigarettes	(6.2%);	
this	has	barely	changed	since	2017.	Current	
regular	use	of	e-cigarettes	among	11-18	year	olds	
is	higher	among	current	smokers	(41.8%)	than	
former	smokers	(11.0%),	and	it	is	very	low	 
in	never	smokers	(0.7%)7. 

Among	young	people	who	have	tried	e-cigarettes,	
most	are	using	it	‘just	to	give	it	a	try’	(49.8%)	and	
not	because	they	think	it	‘looks	cool’	(12.1%)7.  
They	are	unlikely	to	choose	e-cigarettes	because	
they	are	easier	to	access	(1.0%)	or	cheaper	(0.8%)	
than	tobacco	cigarettes.	Regular	use	remains	
low	with	just	1.6%	of	11–18	year	olds	using	
e-cigarettes	more	than	once	a	week,	reducing	to	
only	0.1%	among	never	smokers⁷.		

In the UK, it is illegal to sell or allow proxy 
purchases of e-cigarettes to those under 18.  
There are also restrictions on the marketing  
and promotion of the products⁸. See Section 5.4 
for further information on regulation.

4.6 What do we know about e-cigarettes  
     and COVID-19?

The	relationship	between	smoking,	nicotine	
and	COVID-19	has	been	the	subject	of	much	
research	although	there	has	been	limited	focus	
on	e-cigarettes	and	COVID-19	to	date.	It	is	
therefore	unknown	at	this	stage	whether	vaping	
makes	someone	more	susceptible	to	severe	
disease	if	you	become	infected	with	COVID-19.

E-cigarette	use,	as	with	smoking	tobacco,	involves	
repetitive	hand-to-face	movements.	This	provides	
greater	risk	of	a	route	of	entry	into	the	body	for	
viruses.	Therefore,	to	reduce	the	risk	of	contact	
with	COVID-19,	PHE	recommend13	e-cigarettes	
users	should:
•	Wash	hands	more	frequently	than	usual,	for	 
			20	seconds,	with	soap	and	water	(or	use	hand	 
			sanitiser	if	soap	is	not	available).
•	Clean	the	e-cigarette	regularly.
•	Not	share	any	e-cigarette	devices.

4.4 Is there a “gateway” effect for  
      children and young people? 

There	are	concerns	among	professionals	and	the	
public	about	e-cigarettes	having	a	gateway	effect	
–	in	other	words,	providing	a	stepping	stone	
for	young	people	to	take	up	smoking	tobacco.		
This	is	an	area	which	is	being	closely	monitored	
nationally,	and	some	Local	Authorities	are	also	
tracking	rates	using	local	surveys.		There	is	little,	
if	any,	evidence	(at	least	in	the	UK)	that	young	
people	or	non-smokers	are	becoming	addicted	
to	nicotine	or	introduced	to	smoking	through	
use	of	e-cigarettes.	If	e-cigarettes	were	having	
a	gateway	effect,	one	would	expect	to	see	
rising	rates	of	tobacco	smoking	among	young	
people.		In	2018,	2%	of	11-15-year	olds	smoked	
regularly,	reducing	from	3%	in	2016⁹.		

4.5 How effective are e-cigarettes at  
       helping smokers to quit smoking?

E-cigarettes	are	now	the	most	popular	aid	to	
quitting	smoking	in	England10	and	research	has	
shown	using	an	e-cigarette,	along	with	behavioural	
support,	can	be	twice	as	effective	for	quitting	
smoking	compared	to	using	NRT	(i.e.	patches,	gum,	
and	spray)	at	a	one	year	follow-up11.

In 2017, over 50,000 
smokers, who may otherwise 
have carried on smoking, 
stopped smoking with a 
vaping product12.

⁷ASH	(2021)	YouthEcig2020	 
⁸Department	of	Health	and	Social	Care	(2016)	Article	20	Tobacco	products	directive:	restrictions	on	advertising	electronic	cigarettes	
⁹NHS	Digital	(2019)	Smoking,	drinking	and	drug	use	among	young	people	in	2018	
10Smoking	Toolkit	Study	(2019)	Trends	in	electronic	cigarette	use	in	England
11Hajek,	P.,	Philips-Waller,	A.,	Przulj,	D.,	Pesola,	F.,	Meyers-Smith,	K.,	Bisal,	N.,	Li,	J.,	Parrott,	S.,	Sasieni,	P.,	Dawkins,	L.,	Ross,	L.	and	Goniewicz,	L.	(2019)	
A	Randomized	Trial	of	E-Cigarettes	versus	Nicotine-Replacement	Therapy	
12PHE	(2021)	Vaping	in	England:	an	evidence	update	including	vaping	for	smoking	cessation 13PHE	(2020)	COVID-19:	advice	for	smokers	and	vapers	

There is currently no evidence that 
COVID-19 can be caught from passive 
exposure to e-cigarette vapour, but in the 
absence of evidence, PHE recommend 
that e-cigarette users avoid exhaling 
clouds of vapour in the presence of others.

1 0 1 1

P
age 274

https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/YouthEcig2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/proposals-for-uk-law-on-the-advertising-of-e-cigarettes/publishing-20-may-not-yet-complete
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/smoking-drinking-and-drug-use-among-young-people-in-england/2018
http://www.smokinginengland.info/latest-statistics/
https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1808779
https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1808779
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962221/Vaping_in_England_evidence_update_February_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-advice-for-smokers-and-vapers/covid-19-advice-for-smokers-and-vapers


14Committee	on	Toxicity	of	Chemicals	in	Food,	Consumer	Products	and	the	Environment	(2020).	COT	E(N)NDS	statement	(food.gov.uk)	
15Royal	College	of	Physicians	(2016)	Nicotine	without	smoke:	Tobacco	harm	reduction
16The	National	Academies	of	Sciences	Engineering	and	Medicine	(2018)	Public	Health	Consequences	of	E-Cigarettes

4.7 How safe are e-cigarettes?

E-cigarettes	are	far	less	harmful	than	smoked	
tobacco.	Yet,	there	are	misconceptions	
among	a	large	proportion	of	the	public	that	
e-cigarettes	are	equally	or	more	harmful	than	
smoking,	and	this	has	led	to	health	and	social	
care	professionals	delivering	variable	advice	
in	relation	to	the	products.		While	not	risk	
free,	based	on	the	latest	evidence	available,	
e-cigarettes	carry	a	fraction	of	the	risk	of	
tobacco	smoking12.  

A	2020	report14		from	the	Committee	on	Toxicity	
of	Chemicals	in	Food,	Consumer	Products,	and	
the	Environment	(COT)	reviewed	the	global	
evidence	on	e-cigarette	products	to	date	and	
concluded	that	they	are	significantly	less	harmful	
than	smoking	but	are	not	risk	free.		The	report	
emphasised	that	switching	completely	from	
smoking	to	vaping	is	likely	to	convey	substantial	
health	benefits.

The	Royal	College	of	Physicians	report	on	
tobacco	harm	reduction	concluded	that	“the	
magnitude	of	this	risk	is	likely	to	be	very	
small	in	relation	to	that	from	tobacco	smoke,	
and	the	hazard	to	health	arising	from	long-
term	vapour	inhalation	from	the	e-cigarettes	
available	today	is	unlikely	to	exceed	5%	of	
the	harm	from	smoking	tobacco.”15

4.8 What are ‘Heat-not-Burn’ products? 

The	latest	alternative	nicotine	delivery	systems	
are	called	“Heat-not-Burn”	products.	Heat-
not-Burn	or	‘heated	tobacco’	products	are	also	
electronic	delivery	devices	but,	unlike	e-cigarettes,	
do	contain	tobacco	leaf	and	heat	it	to	a	high	
temperature,	without	setting	it	alight.	They	heat	
a	small	plug	of	tobacco,	often	contained	in	a	‘pod’	
or	a	stick	which	looks	like	a	very	small	cigarette,	to	
below	300	degree	Celsius,	producing	an	inhalable	
vapour.	Because	these	devices	heat	rather	than	
burn	the	tobacco,	they	are	likely	to	produce	far	
fewer	toxicants	than	traditional	cigarette	smoking.	
It	is	likely	that	these	will	be	attractive	to	some	
smokers	who	like	the	taste	of	real	tobacco	and	
do	not	find	other	consumer	products,	such	as	
e-cigarettes,	appealing.

The	US	National	Academies	of	Sciences	
Engineering	and	Medicine	have	said	“Lab	tests	of	
EC	(e-cigarettes)	ingredients,	in	vitro	and	short-
term	human	studies	suggest	that	e-cigarettes	
are	likely	to	be	far	less	harmful	than	combustible	
tobacco	cigarettes.”16

One	assessment	of	data	on	emissions	from	
cigarettes	and	e-cigarettes	calculated	lifetime	
cancer	risks	and	concluded	that	cancer	risks	
from	e-cigarettes	were	largely	under	0.5%	of	the	
risk	of	tobacco	smoking.	E-cigarettes	can	release	
aldehydes	if	the	solutions	are	overheated,	but	
the	overheating	generates	an	aversive	taste	so	is	
rare	in	real-world	use.	Currently,	there	have	been	
no	identified	risks	to	bystanders	from	passive	
e-cigarette	use12.  

Heated	tobacco	or	‘Heat-not-Burn’	products,	
heat	tobacco	to	a	level	just	below	combustion,	
meaning	they	don’t	release	the	harmful	products	
of	combustion.	Compared	to	cigarettes,	research	
suggests	heated	tobacco	products	expose	users	
to	lower	levels	of	particulate	matter	and	harmful	
components	of	tobacco	smoking12.	Current	
research	suggests	heated	tobacco	products	
release	greater	levels	of	harmful	components	
than	e-cigarettes,	but	research	is	limited	and	
further	evidence	independent	of	commercial	
interests	is	needed12. 

These	devices	are	manufactured	almost	
exclusively	by	the	tobacco	industry.	At	
the	moment,	there	is	limited	independent	
evidence	about	the	safety	or	effectiveness	
for	cessation	of	Heat-not-Burn	products.	
Because	the	devices	contain	tobacco,	they	
come	with	all	the	long-term	health	concerns	
of	tobacco, so it is recommended these 
should not be used. 

1 2 1 3

Because	these	
devices	heat	
rather	than	burn	
the	tobacco,	
they	are	likely	
to	produce	far	
fewer	toxicants	
than	traditional	
cigarette	smoking.

P
age 275

https://cot.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/COT%20E(N)NDS%20statement%202020-04.pdf
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/nicotine-without-smoke-tobacco-harm-reduction
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29894118/
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/nicotine-without-smoke-tobacco-harm-reduction


17 National	Fire	Chiefs	Council	(2017)	Smoking,	Vaping	and	Tobacco	Position	Statement	
18 Office	for	Product	Safety	and	Standards	(2021)	Consumer	safety	awareness	campaigns	materials	
19	PHE	(2015)	E-cigarettes:	an	evidence	update
20	PHE	(2021)	Vaping	in	England:	an	evidence	update	including	vaping	for	smoking	cessation	
21	Cochran	Review	(2020)	Electronic	cigarettes	for	smoking	cessation	

4.9 What types of e-cigarettes are there?
  
There	are	a	variety	of	models	available.	Table	1.	describes	the	four	main	types	of	e-cigarettes	on	the	
market	alongside	the	‘Heat	not	Burn’	electronic	device	described	in	Section	4.8.

Table 1. 

‘Cig-a-like’ 
products 

‘Tank’ models 
or vape pens

‘Mods’, or 
advanced 
personal 

vaporisers 

Heat not BurnPod systems

The	first	
generation	of	
e-cigarettes	were	
designed	to	closely	
resemble	tobacco	
cigarettes.	They	
include	non-
rechargeable	
disposable	models	
and	reusable	
models	with	
rechargeable	
atomisers	and	
replaceable	
cartridges.	The	
use	of	‘cig-a-
like’	products	is	
now	relatively	
uncommon.

These	are	compact	
rechargeable	
devices,	often	
shaped	like	a	USB	
stick	or	a	pebble	
and	operating	
with	e-liquid	
capsules.	They	are	
simple	to	use	and	
to	maintain.

4.10 Do e-cigarettes have / pose a fire  
        or explosion risk? 

As	with	any	rechargeable	device,	such	as	mobile	
phones	and	laptops,	it’s	important	to	charge	
e-cigarettes	with	the	right	charger,	and	not	to	
leave	it	unattended	while	charging.	Devices	
should	be	bought	from	reputable	suppliers	and	
users	should	avoid	generic	charging	equipment.	
There	have	been	reported	cases	of	e-cigarettes	
causing	fires,	but	far	fewer	than	the	number	
caused	by	cigarettes,	which	are	the	most	
common	cause	of	lethal	house	fires.	The	National	
Fire	Chiefs	Council	has	published	a	position	
statement	on	the	safety	of	e-cigarettes17.

The	Office	for	Product	Safety	and	Standards	and	
the	Chartered	Trading	Standards	Institute	are	
campaigning	to	raise	awareness	of	e-cigarette	
battery	safety18.	They	have	issued	five	top	tips	
and	campaign	materials	to	prevent	battery	
explosion	or	fire:
1.	Only	use	the	charger	that	came	with	your	 
	 e-cigarette.	Never	charge	your	e-cigarette	with	 
	 a	phone,	tablet	or	other	device	charger.
2.	Regularly	inspect	the	batteries	in	your	 
	 e-cigarette	and	replace	them	if	they	get	 
	 damaged	or	wet.
3.	Don’t	charge	your	e-cigarette	overnight	or	 
	 leave	it	charging	unattended.	Unplug	your	 
	 e-cigarette	once	its	fully	charged.
4.	Protect	your	e-cigarette	from	extreme	 
	 temperatures.
5.	Store	spare	e-cigarette	batteries	in	a	plastic	 
	 case.	Keep	them	away	from	other	metal	 
	 objects.

Useful Resources:
1	In	the	Government’s	Tobacco	Control	Plan	 
	 for	England2,	PHE	was	asked	to	update	its	 
	 2015	review	of	e-cigarettes19,	and	other	novel	 
	 nicotine	delivery	systems,	every	year	until	 
	 the	end	of	2022.	The	latest	annual	update	by	 
	 of	the	e-cigarette	evidence	review	by	leading	 
	 independent	tobacco	experts	was	published	in	 
	 February	202120	and	looks	at	the	prevalence	of	 
	 e-cigarettes	use	among	young	people	and	 
	 adults.	It	also	reviews	research	literature	on	 
	 the	effect	of	vaping	on	smoking	cessation	 
	 and	reduction.
2	In	2020,	a	Cochrane	review21	was	published	 
	 that	evaluated	the	effect	and	safety	of	using	 
	 electronic	cigarettes	to	help	people	who	 
	 smoke	achieve	long-term	smoking	abstinence.	

There have been 
reported cases of 

e-cigarettes causing 
fires, but far fewer than 
the number caused by 

cigarettes, which are the 
most common cause of 

lethal house fires.

1 4 1 5

An	e-cigarette	
with	a	
rechargeable	
atomiser	and	
a	tank,	which	
needs	to	be	
filled	with	an	
e-liquid.

A	more	complex	
tank	model	which	
can	be	manually	
customised,	
for	example	by	
adjusting	the	
power	on	the	
device.

These	products	
are	electronic	
devices	that	
contain	tobacco	
leaf	and	heat	
it	to	a	high	
temperature,	
without	setting	
it	alight,	
producing	an	
inhalable	vapour.	
Because the 
devices contain 
tobacco, it is 
recommended 
these should not 
be used.

P
age 276

http://www.cfoa.org.uk/22205
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consumer-safety-awareness-campaigns-materials#e-cigarettes-battery-safety-campaign
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733022/Ecigarettes_an_evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962221/Vaping_in_England_evidence_update_February_2021.pdf
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD010216.pub4/full?cookiesEnabled


S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2016 No. 507 

CONSUMER PROTECTION 
The Tobacco and Related Products Regulations 2016 

Made - - - - 
18th April 2016 

Laid before Parliament 
22nd April 2016 

Coming into force - - 
20th May 2016 

CONTENTS 
PART 1 

Introduction 
 

1. Citation and commencement 2. Interpretation 
3. Meaning of producer and supplier etc. 4. Meaning of unit and container pack and the surfaces of a pack 

 

PART 2 
Labelling of tobacco products 

 

5. Combined health warnings on tobacco products for smoking 

6. Range and rotation of combined health warnings 
7. General warnings and information messages on tobacco products for smoking 

8. Position of general warning and information message on cigarettes and hand 

rolling tobacco 
9. Labelling of large cigars and individually wrapped cigars and cigarillos 

10. Health warning on smokeless tobacco products 
11. General conditions applicable to all health warnings on tobacco products 

12. Images of tobacco products targeted at consumers 
 

PART 3 Emissions, additives and other prohibited ingredients and products 

 

13. Maximum emission levels of cigarettes 14. Measurement and verification of emission levels 
15. No flavoured cigarettes or hand rolling tobacco etc. 
16. No vitamins, colourings or prohibited additives in tobacco products 

17. Tobacco for oral use  

5.1 How are e-cigarettes regulated in the UK? 

NRT	products	(i.e.	patches,	gum,	and	spray)	
deliver	nicotine	without	the	harmful	toxins	found	
in	tobacco.	Many	of	these	are	medically	licensed	
for	use	for	smoking	cessation	by	the	Medicines	
and	Healthcare	Products	Regulatory	Agency	
(MHRA).	The	MHRA	is	the	competent	authority	
for	a	notification	scheme	for	e-cigarettes	and	
refill	containers	in	Great	Britain	and	Northern	
Ireland	and	is	responsible	for	implementing	
the	majority	of	provisions	under	Part	6	of	the	
Tobacco	and	related	Products	Regulations	
(TRPR)	(2016)22	and	the		Tobacco	Products	and	
Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	(Amendment)	(EU	
Exit)	Regulations	(2020)23.

The	TRPR	introduced	rules	which	ensure:	
•	Minimum	standards	for	the	safety	and	quality	 
	 of	all	e-cigarettes	and	refill	containers	 
	 (otherwise	known	as	e-liquids).	
•	That	information	is	provided	to	consumers	so	 
	 that	they	can	make	informed	choices.	
•	An	environment	that	protects	children	from	 
	 starting	to	use	these	products.		

5 . 	 R E G U L A T I O N	

The	2020	regulations	amend	the	Tobacco	
Products	and	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	
(Amendment	etc)	(EU	Exit)	Regulations	(2019)24 
to	implement	the	obligations	of	the	Withdrawal	
Agreement	and	the	Northern	Ireland	Protocol	
in	law.	This	amends	the	way	in	which	the	TRPR	
(2016)22	apply	in	Great	Britain	and	Northern	
Ireland.		Products	that	require	a	notification	
are	limited	to	the	e-cigarette	product	and	
component	elements	sold	separately	that	
specifically	contain,	or	could	contain,	nicotine	
in	the	form	of	e-liquid.	Therefore,	e-cigarette	
products	such	as	disposable	units	and	tanks	
will	require	a	notification;	however,	e-cigarette	
equipment	such	as	mouthpieces,	batteries	
and	other	elements	that	would	qualify	as	an	
individual	component	will	not.	

From	1st	January	2021:		
•	Producers	placing	products	on	the	Northern	 
	 Ireland	market	will	be	required	to	notify	using	the	 
	 EU	Common	Entry	Gate	(EU-CEG)	system	for	the	 
	 notification	of	tobacco	and	e-cigarette	products.	
•	Producers	placing	products	on	the	Great	Britain	 
	 market	will	be	required	to	notify	on	the	Great	 
	 Britain	domestic	system.	
•	New	products	intended	for	both	Great	Britain	 
	 and	Northern	Ireland	markets	will	need	to	 
	 be	notified	on	both	systems.	Notifiers	will	be	 
	 required	to	pay	one	fee	if	they	notify	in	relation	 
	 to	placing	products	on	one	of	the	Great	Britain	 
	 or	Northern	Ireland	markets	and	the	same	one	 
	 fee	if	they	notify	in	relation	to	placing	products	 
	 on	the	two	markets.		
  

Retailers	do	not	need	to	submit	information	for	any	products	they	sell	unless	they	also	qualify	as	
a	producer.	The	TRPR	(2016)22	does	not	cover	nicotine-containing	products	that	are	authorised	as	
medicines.		The	TRPR	(2016)	is	currently	subject	to	a	post	implementation	review	and	its	remit,	
therefore,	may	change25.  

Part	6	of	the	TRPR	(2016)22	sets	out	the	
requirements	for	e-cigarettes	and	refill	
containers.	The	current	regulations	include	
minimum	standards	for	the	safety	and	quality	of	
all	e-cigarettes	and	refill	containers	(otherwise	
known	as	e-liquids),	this	includes:	
•	Restrict	e-cigarette	tanks	to	a	capacity	of	no	 
	 more	than	2ml.	
•	Restrict	the	maximum	volume	of	nicotine- 
	 containing	e-liquid	for	sale	in	one	refill	container 
	 to	10ml.
•	Restrict	e-liquids	to	a	nicotine	strength	of	no	 
	 more	than	20mg/ml.	
•	Ban	certain	ingredients	including	colourings,	 
	 caffeine	and	taurine.	
•	Nicotine	doses	must	be	delivered	at	consistent	 
	 levels	under	normal	conditions	of	use,	require	 
	 information	is	provided	to	consumers	so	that	they	 
	 can	make	informed	choices,	include	new	labelling	 
	 requirements	and	warnings.	
•	Products	must	contain	information	on	instructions		
	 or	use,	storage,	recommendation	that	the	product	 
	 is	not	for	use	by	young	people	and	non-smokers,	 
	 contra-indications,	possible	adverse	effects,	a 
	 ddictiveness	and	toxicity.	
•	Seek	to	provide	an	environment	that	protects	 
	 children	from	starting	to	use	these	products.	
•	Require	nicotine-containing	products	or	their	 
	 packaging	to	be	child-resistant	and	tamper	evident.	
•	Require	all	producers	(anyone	who	manufactures	 
	 or	imports	these	products	or	who	re-brands	any	 
	 product	as	their	own)	of	e-cigarettes	and	e-liquids	 
	 be	notified	to	MHRA	before	they	can	be	sold.	

22 UK	Government	(2016)	The	Tobacco	and	Related	Products	Regulations	2016	  
23 UK	Government	(2020)	The	Tobacco	Products	and	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	(Amendment)	(EU	Exit)	Regulations	2020	 
24	UK	Government	(2019)	The	Tobacco	Products	and	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	(Amendment	etc.)	(EU	Exit)	Regulations	2019	

25 UK	Government	(2021)		A	consultation	on	the	Tobacco	and	Related	Products	Regulations	2016	and	the	Standardised	Packaging	of	Tobacco	
Products	Regulations	2015	

Make 
informed 
choices 

1 6
1 7

P
age 277

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/507/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/507/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1316/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/41/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tobacco-and-related-products-legislation-introduced-between-2015-to-2016-reviewing-effectiveness/consultation-on-the-tobacco-and-related-products-regulations-2016-and-the-standardised-packaging-of-tobacco-products-regulations-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tobacco-and-related-products-legislation-introduced-between-2015-to-2016-reviewing-effectiveness/consultation-on-the-tobacco-and-related-products-regulations-2016-and-the-standardised-packaging-of-tobacco-products-regulations-2015


5.2 Why is the role of Trading Standards 
     important? 
 
Trading	Standards	teams,	based	in	Local	
Authorities,	have	an	important	role	in	consumer	
safety.	Their	work	is	informed	by	the	TRPR	
(2016)22	which	covers	labelling,	size	and	nicotine	
content	of	the	liquids,	but	also	other	legislation	
relevant	to	e-cigarettes	are	the	Restriction	
of	Hazardous	Substances	in	Electrical	and	
Electronic	Equipment	(Amendment)	Regulations	
(2019)26.	These	regulations	are	enforced	by	Local	
Authorities	Trading	Standards	teams.	This	work	
includes	supporting	any	notification	reports	made	
in	relation	to	the	safety	of	e-cigarettes.	

Trading	Standards	teams	across	the	South	
East,	have	been	involved	in	a	Department	of	
Health	and	Social	Care	project	looking	at	the	
compliance	of	products	on	the	marketplace.	
Inspections	provide	a	degree	of	assurance	of	
the	products	which	are	available	to	smokers	
wishing	to	switch	to	e-cigarettes	and	the	rigor	
by	which	local	shops	are	restricting	sales	of	
e-cigarettes	to	under	18s.	It	is	particularly	
important	if	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	
and	health	and	social	care	professionals	are	
recommending	their	clients	to	switch	or	
working	with	local	e-cigarette	shops.	  

5.4 What is the law for sale of e-cigarettes  
     to children and young people  
       (under 18 years)?
  
The	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	(Age	of	Sale	and	
Proxy	Purchasing)	Regulations	2015	introduced	
a	minimum	age	of	sale	of	18	years	for	nicotine	
inhaling	products	such	as	e-cigarettes.	The	
age	of	sale	restrictions	applies	to	nicotine	
inhaling	products	(defined	as	any	device	which	
is	intended	to	enable	nicotine	to	be	inhaled	
through	a	mouthpiece)	and	certain	component	
parts	such	as	nicotine	refill	cartridges	and	
nicotine	refill	substances,	often	called	‘e-liquids’.	
It	does	not	cover	component	parts	such	as	
batteries	or	charging	devices	and	it	does	not	
apply	to	tobacco	products	because	age	of	sale	
laws	already	exists	for	such	products.	

These	Regulations	include	exemptions	for	
products	that	are	licensed	as	medicines	and	set	
a	statutory	review	of	the	Regulations	within	5	
years	of	their	coming	into	force.	

5.3 Where can you report side effects and  
      safety concerns with e-cigarettes?  

Consumers	and	health	and	social	care	
professionals	should	report	side	effects	and	
safety	concerns	with	e-cigarettes	or	refill	
containers	to	MHRA	through	the	Yellow	Card27 
reporting	system.	You	can	also	report	products	
suspected	to	be	defective	or	non-compliant	
to	your	local	Trading	Standards	Team	or	to	
TPDsafety@mhra.gov.uk. 

The	Regulations	extend	the	proxy	purchasing	
offence	in	the	Children	and	Families	Act	
2014	to	cover	e-cigarettes.	Enforcement	
officers	may	issue	a	fixed	penalty	notice	to	
someone	committing	a	proxy	purchasing	
offence	and	the	Proxy	Purchasing	of	Tobacco,	
Nicotine	Products	etc.	(Fixed	Penalty	Amount)	
Regulations	2015	set	the	amount	of	the	fine	
at	£90.	These	enforcement	arrangements	for	
e-cigarettes	mirror	legislation	already	in	place,	
to	stop	the	sale	of	tobacco	to	young	people	
under	the	age	of	18	years.	

26 UK	Government	(2019)	The	Restriction	of	the	Use	of	Certain	Hazardous	Substances	in	Electrical	and	Electronic	Equipment	(Amendment)	Regulations	2019	
27 MHRA	(2021)	Yellow	Card	Scheme	-	MHRA	

1 8 1 9

P
age 278

https://yellowcard.mhra.gov.uk
mailto:TPDsafety%40mhra.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/492/regulation/2/made?subject=
mailto:https://yellowcard.mhra.gov.uk?subject=


2 0 2 1

5.5 What were the concerns reported in the  
      United States in 2019 and could it  
        happen in the UK?  

In	2019,	an	outbreak	of	severe	vaping-induced	
lung	injury	(e-cigarette,	or	vaping,	product	use-
associated	lung	injury	(EVALI))	occurred	in	the	
US.	Data	from	health	departments	in	the	US	
showed	a	sharp	rise	in	symptoms	or	cases	of	
EVALI	in	June	2019,	a	peak	in	September	2019,	
and	a	gradual,	but	persistent	decline	since	then.	
The	Centers	for	Disease	Control	and	Prevention	
(CDC)	is	investigating	the	outbreak	and	will	
continue	to	update	guidance	as	more	is	known	
about	EVALI.	Vitamin	E	acetate	(added	to	vaping	
liquid,	especially	tetrahydrocannabinol	(THC)	
oil)	is	strongly	linked	to	the	EVALI	outbreak.	
However,	evidence	is	not	sufficient	to	rule	out	
the	contribution	of	other	chemicals	of	concern,	
including	chemicals	in	either	THC	or	non-THC	
products,	in	some	of	the	reported	EVALI	cases.	
National	and	state	data	from	patient	reports	and	
product	sample	testing	suggest	THC-containing	
e-cigarette	products,	particularly	from	informal	
sources	like	friends,	family,	or	in-person	or	online	
dealers,	are	linked	to	most	EVALI	cases	and	play	
a	major	role	in	the	outbreak.	

The	main	chemicals	under	suspicion	in	the	
US,	such	as	THC	and	Vitamin	E	acetate	oil,	are	
not	permitted	in	regulated	e-cigarettes	in	this	
country.	E-cigarettes	containing	nicotine	are	
more	tightly	regulated	in	the	UK	than	in	the	
US,	and	the	medicines	regulator,	the	MHRA,	
is	responsible	for	overseeing	the	tobacco	
regulations.	Similar	restrictions	on	e-cigarettes,	
as	in	the	UK,	apply	in	European	States	and	no	
vaping	related	cases	like	in	the	US	have	been	
reported	to	the	European	Monitoring	Centre	for	
Drugs	and	Drug	Addiction	(EMCDDA)	by	its	EU	
Early	Warning	System	Network	to	date.	Useful 

The	illicit	drugs	market	is	global,	and	it	is	
possible	that	similar	products	to	those	in	
the	US	are	available	in	England,	which	is	
why	PHE	warned	of	this	new	and	serious	
threat	and	continue	to	monitor	carefully	
the	situation	in	the	UK.	In	January	2020,	
the	MHRA	sent	a	letter	to	professional	
organisations28	asking	healthcare	
professionals	to	be	vigilant	for	and	report	
any	adverse	reactions	associated	with	
e-cigarettes	or	vaping.

28 MHRA	(2020)	MHRA	Letter	
29	UK	Government	(2020)	The	Tobacco	Products	and	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	(Amendment)	(EU	Exit)	Regulations	2020	-	Draft	Explanatory	Memorandum
30	MHRA	(2021)	E-cigarettes:	regulations	for	consumer	products	
31	PHE	(2021)	Tobacco	products	and	e-cigarette	cross-border	sales:	registration	-	GOV.UK	(www.gov.uk)	

Useful Regulation Resources:
•	The	UK	Government	have	published	an	 
	 Explanatory	Memorandum		which	explains	the	 
	 changes	from	a	policy	perspective.29 
•	The	MHRA	have	published	guidance30	on	how	 
	 to	get	an	e-cigarette	on	the	market	in	Great	 
	 Britain	and	Northern	Ireland,	including	the	 
	 notification	scheme	and	reporting	problems	 
	 with	e-cigarette.
•	PHE	have	published	guidance31	on	registration	 
	 for	the	supply	of	tobacco	products	and	an	 
	 e-cigarette	cross-border	sales.	

P
age 279

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tobacco-products-and-e-cigarette-cross-border-sales-registration
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tobacco-products-and-e-cigarette-cross-border-sales-registration
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tobacco-products-and-e-cigarette-cross-border-sales-registration


6.1 What is Article 5.3? 

In	order	to	protect	people	from	the	harm	caused	
by	addictive	substances	such	as	tobacco,	the	
World	Health	Organisation	(WHO)	implemented	
the	world’s	first	global	health	treaty	by	enacting	
the	Framework	Convention	on	Tobacco	Control	
(FCTC32)	.	Article	5.3	is	a	key	element	of	the	
treaty	which	sets	out	actions	that	should	be	taken	
to	protect	the	public	from	the	influence	of	the	
tobacco	industry.	Professionals	and	organisations	
in	the	UK,	who	are	involved	in	provision	or	supply	
of	tobacco	or	nicotine	products	or	play	a	role	
in	protecting	and	promoting	public	health	and	
wellbeing	should	familiarize	themselves	with	this.				

Some	e-cigarette	products,	such	as	the	Heat	
not	Burn	products,	are	manufactured	by	
tobacco	companies.		

Organisations	should	encourage	their	staff	
to	familiarise	themselves	with	the	WHO	
Article	5.3	and	be	mindful	of	approaches	by	
the	industry	which	seeks	to	influence	local	
decision	makers,	encourage	public	health	
resources	to	be	spent	on	a	narrow	range	
of	activities	or	attempt	to	frame	itself	as	a	
legitimate	partner	in	addressing	smoking	
related	issues.		If	you	require	further	help	
or	advice	with	this	issue,	contact	your	Local	
Authority	public	health	team.

6 . 	 W O R L D 	 H E A L T H 	 O R G A N I S A T I O N	

Useful Article 5.3 Resources:
•	Action	on	Smoking	and	Health	(ASH)	has	 
	 produced	a	toolkit33	explaining	the	WHO	 
	 Article	5.3,	which	is	aimed	at	Local	Authorities,	 
	 but	is	useful	for	all	partners.	It	includes	 
	 templates	to	help	with	communication,	 
	 mapping	and	policy	development.		
•	In	2019,	HM	Revenue	and	Custom	(HMRC)	 
	 produced	guidance34	on	interactions	with	the	 
	 tobacco	industry.

32 WHO	(2013)	Framework	Convention	on	Tobacco	Control
33	ASH	(2018)	Toolkit:	Article	5.3	of	the	WHO	Framework	Convention	on	Tobacco	Control
34 HMRC	(2019)	Article_5_3_guidance		

Protect	the	
public	from	the	
influence	of	the	
tobacco	industry.

2 2 2 3

P
age 280

https://www.who.int/fctc/text_download/en/
https://www.who.int/fctc/text_download/en/
https://www.who.int/fctc/text_download/en/
https://ash.org.uk/local-resources/toolkit-article-5-3-framework-convention-tobacco-control/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/844161/Article_5_3_guidance_v3_6_FINAL_External.pdf


7.1 What are the key messages? 

 

E-cigarettes	should	only	be	
used	as	an	aid	to	stop	smoking	
completely,	but	if	you’ve	never	 
smoked,	don’t	use	an	e-cigarette.

7 . 	 B E S T 	 P R A C T I C E 	 G U I D A N C E	

7.2 Children and Young People

7.2.1 What policies should apply for schools and 
other children settings?

It	is	recommended	that	schools	and	colleges	
have	a	policy	on	e-cigarettes,	which	could	
be	included	in	the	existing	school	policy	
on	drugs,	alcohol	and	tobacco.	NICE	Public	
Health	Guidance	2335		covers	school-based	
interventions,	which	provides	some	context.		
Schools	are	encouraged	to	prohibit	e-cigarettes,	
recognising	that	the	sale	of	these	products	
is	prohibited	for	under-18s.		Schools	should	
consider	supporting	students	with	nicotine	
withdrawal,	through	NRT.	This	can	also	be	
included	in	the	school’s	policy.	It	is	advised	to	
liaise	with	your	Local	Authorities	Public	Health	
team	for	further	guidance.		

7.2.2 What is the advice for vulnerable children 
and young people (including Looked After Children, 
Young People Not in Education or Training, 
Excluded Children, Young Offenders)? 

Following	on	from	the	recommendations	in	Section	
7.2.1,	this	group	needs	special	consideration	due	
to	increased	likelihood	of	high	smoking	prevalence	
rates9.		Any	young	person	wishing	to	quit	smoking	
tobacco	should	be	encouraged	to	seek	support	
from	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	and	use	licensed	
NRT.	Refer	to	Section	11	for	contact	details	of	
Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	in	the	South	East	of	
England	Region.	

2 4 2 5

For	children	and	young	
people,	e-cigarettes	are	not	
recommended.

E-cigarettes	are	far	less	harmful	
than	smoking	but	are	not	
without	some	risks.

Evidence	still	shows	that	
e-cigarettes	carry	a	small	fraction	
of	the	risk	of	smoking	which	kills	 
220	people	in	England	each	day.	

Using	an	e-cigarette	that	
contains	nicotine	is		more	likely	
to	result	in	a	successful	quit	
attempt	than	willpower	alone.

It	is	recommended	that	adults	who	use	or	work	
in	child	and	youth	settings	avoid	e-cigarette	
use	in	front	of	children36.	Local	Authorities	
may	wish	to	consider	protecting	children	and	
young	people	by	promoting	e-cigarette	free,	
as	well	as	smokefree,	play	areas.		Any	policy	
on	e-cigarettes	should	take	account	of	those	
parents/guardians	who	are	using	e-cigarettes	
to	quit	smoking.	Careful	consideration	needs	
to	be	given	to	the	communication	messages	to	
avoid	alienating	those	parents/guardians	who	
are	trying	to	quit	smoking	tobacco.	

It	is	important	to	use	regulated	
e-liquids	and	never	risk	adding	
substances.

People	who	wish	to	use	
e-cigarettes	should	be		advised	
that	although	these	products	
are	not	licensed	drugs,	they	are	
still	regulated.		

2 5

35 NICE	(2010)	Public	Health	Guideline	23	-	Smoking	prevention	in	Schools
36 PHE	(2016)	Use	of	e-cigarettes	in	public	places	and	workplaces 

• • 

• 
• 

• • 

• 

P
age 281

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph23
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-e-cigarettes-in-public-places-and-workplaces


7.3 Local Stop Smoking Services

7.3.1 What is the advice for Local Stop  
          Smoking Services?
 
Local	Stop	Smoking	Services37	continue	to	be	
cost-effective	and	smokers	are	up	to	3	times	
more	likely	to	quit	using	these	services	than	
quitting	alone.	Typically,	these	services	have	
been	built	around	the	principle	of	a	universal	
offer	of	support	available	for	all	smokers	over	
a	4-12	week	period,	with	a	combination	of	
behavioural	support	and	pharmacotherapy	(NRT	
or	Varenicline	(Champix©))	delivered	by	trained	
Stop	Smoking	Advisers.	

To	maximise	opportunities	for	successful	
quit	attempts	and	given	the	rise	in	popularity	
of	e-cigarettes,	as	a	minimum,	Local	Stop	
Smoking	Services	could	offer	an	‘e-cigarette	
friendly’	approach.	This	involves	being	open	
to	the	use	of	e-cigarettes	by	those	who	wish	
to	do	so,	providing	behavioural	support	and	
offering	stop	smoking	medications	alongside	
an	e-cigarette	if	chosen	by	the	individual.	
Further	information	is	available	in	the	
National	Centre	for	Smoking	Cessation	and	
Training	(NCSCT)	briefing38	on	e-cigarettes	
for	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services.

7.3.2 What is the advice for Local Stop Smoking 
Services working with e-cigarette retailers? 

Shops	that	sell	e-cigarettes	can	be	a	source	of	
information	about	new	products,	regulation,	costs	
and	technical	support.	The	NCSCT	has	produced	
a	guide39	for	commissioners	and	providers	
of	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	on	working	
with	these	shops.		This	has	been	published	
specifically	for	commissioners	and	providers	who	
are	interested	in	using	e-cigarettes	as	a	part	of	
smoking	cessation	services	and	how	to	work	
with	e-cigarette	shops	in	a	way	which	maintains	
compliance	with	WHO	Article	5.3	(see	Section	6	
for	further	details	on	Article	5.3).		

The	Independent	British	Vape	Trade	Association	
(IBVTA)40	is	a	not-for-profit,	non-political	
trade	association	whose	members	are	free	
from	ownership	or	control	by	the	tobacco	
and	pharmaceutical	industries.	They	provide	
credible	knowledge	and	guidance	to	support	
the	independent	e-cigarette	sector	and	promote	
constructive	interaction	between	this	industry	
sector	and	the	scientific	community,	vapers,	
regulators,	policy	makers,	and	the	general	public.

Refer	to	Section	11	for	contact	details	of	Local	
Stop	Smoking	Services	in	the	South	East	of	
England	Region.
 

To	ensure	the	offer	is	effective,	e-cigarettes	could	
be	discussed	as	an	option	(alongside	the	other	stop	
smoking	medications)	and	Local	Stop	Smoking	
Services	should	consider:	
•	Promoting	their	services	as	supporting	the	use	 
	 of	e-cigarettes	to	support	quit	attempts.	
•	Having	basic	information	and	knowledge	about	 
	 the	safe	use	of	e-cigarettes	(NCSCT	online	 
 training	available).	
•	Working	with	local	e-cigarette	shops,	be	aware	 
	 of	what	they	have	to	offer	and	signpost	e-cigarette	 
	 users	to	receive	more	detailed	information	and	 
	 instruction	on	use.		Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	 
	 can	provide	impartial	information	on	local	 
	 e-cigarette	retailers	in	the	locality.				
•	Being	engaged	in	programmes	where	local	 
	 e-cigarette	retailers	offer	vouchers	or	starter	 
	 packs	to	promote	e-cigarettes	to	help	smokers	 
	 quit.		Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	could	offer	 
	 cessation	support	alongside	e-cigarette	use	to	 
	 increase	the	chances	of	quitting	successfully.	
• Ensuring Trading Standards teams are working  
 with local e-cigarette shops so remain  
 compliant with current regulations. Refer to  
 Section 5 for further information.

7.3.3 Can Local Stop Smoking Services use 
e-cigarette starter packs?

Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	can	provide	
behavioural	support	for	smokers	who	have	
chosen	e-cigarettes	as	part	of	their	quit	attempt.		
The	approach,	which	has	been	shown	to	be	
effective,	provides	the	best	chance	of	stopping	
smoking	successfully.	A	recent	study,	known	as	
the	Trial	of	Electronic	Cigarettes	(TEC)	trial11,	
funded	by	the	National	Institute	of	Health	
Research	(NIHR),	has	looked	at	whether	Local	
Stop	Smoking	Services	can	benefit	from	the	
inclusion	of	e-cigarettes	as	part	of	the	cessation	
offer	for	smokers	wishing	to	quit.		The	study	
found	that	e-cigarettes	were	more	effective	than	
combination	NRT.	One	year	sustained	validated	
quit	rates	were	18%	in	the	e-cigarette	group	and	
10%	in	the	NRT	group.	When	participants	who	
quit	smoking	using	non-allocated	products	were	
excluded	(i.e.	participants	in	the	NRT	group	who	
used	an	e-cigarette	and	vice	versa),	the	quit	rates	
were	18%	vs	8%.	The	study	recommended	that	
e-cigarette	starter	packs	are	an	effective	and	
cost-effective	treatment,	and	services	should	
consider	them	as	a	part	of	their	treatment	
options.	A	helpful	summary	of	the	trial	and	some	
common	questions	and	answers41	for	those	
considering	this	approach	has	been	produced	to	
accompany	the	full	TEC	study.		

37	NHS	(2021)	Local	stop	smoking	services 
38 NCSCT	(2016)	Electronic	cigarettes:	A	briefing	for	stop	smoking	services

39	NCSCT	(2019)	Working	with	vape	shops:	A	guide	for	commissioners	and	stop	smoking	services
40	IBVTA	(2021)	About	Us	–	Independent	British	Vape	Trade	Association 
41 NIHR	(2019)	Trial	of	E-Cigarettes	(TEC)	briefing 

2 6 2 7

P
age 282

https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Working%20with%20vape%20shops%2002.10.18%20update.pdf
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Working%20with%20vape%20shops%2002.10.18%20update.pdf
https://elearning.ncsct.co.uk/e_cigarettes-launch
https://elearning.ncsct.co.uk/e_cigarettes-launch
https://www.nhs.uk/better-health/quit-smoking/find-your-local-stop-smoking-service/
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Electronic_cigarettes._A_briefing_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Working%20with%20vape%20shops%2002.10.18%20update.pdf
https://www.ibvta.org.uk/about-us/
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Trial%20of%20E-Cigarettes%20(TEC)%20briefing.pdf


7.4 Primary and Secondary Care Settings 
- Smokefree NHS

7.4.1 Primary Care

All	primary	care-based	healthcare	professionals	
should	provide	advice	to	smoking	patients	on	the	
relative	risks	of	smoking,	and	they	may	wish	to	
discuss	e-cigarettes	as	one	of	the	means	of	stopping	
smoking.	Ideally,	they	should	also	provide	a	referral	
to	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	where	these	exist	
(see	Section	8	for	further	details	on	Training	and/or	
Section	11	for	contact	details	of	Local	Stop	Smoking	
Services	in	the	South	East	of	England	Region).

Patients	choosing	to	use	an	e-cigarette	in	a	
quit	attempt	should	be	advised	that	seeking	
behavioural	support,	alongside	e-cigarette	use,	
increases	the	chances	of	quit	success	further.	
If	using	e-cigarettes	to	quit,	the	anticipated	
final	outcome	should	still	be	to	quit	nicotine	
consumption	in	any	form	whether	cigarettes,	
e-cigarettes	or	NRT.

Community	pharmacy	teams	should	encourage	
all	known	smokers	to	consider	the	benefits	of	
stopping	smoking	and	refer	to	Local	Stop	Smoking	
Services	where	appropriate.	For	those	pharmacies	
with	e-cigarettes	available	to	purchase,	these	must	
be	regulated/MHRA	approved	products	only	(see	
Section	5	for	further	details	on	Regulation).

Primary	care	organisations	are	encouraged	to	develop	
their	own	Smokefree	and	e-cigarette	policies.	

NICE	Guidance	9242	recommendations	for	health	and	
social	care	workers	in	primary	care	settings	for	people	
who	smoke	and	who	are	using,	or	are	interested	in	
using,	a	nicotine-containing	e-cigarette,	to	explain	that:	
•	Although	these	products	are	not	licensed	 
	 medicines,	they	are	regulated	by	the	Tobacco	and	 
	 Related	Products	Regulations	(2016)22.
•	Many	people	have	found	them	helpful	to	quit	 
	 smoking	cigarettes.
•	People	using	e	cigarettes	should	stop	smoking	 
	 tobacco	completely,	because	any	smoking	is	harmful.
•	The	evidence	suggests	that	e	cigarettes	are 
	 substantially	less	harmful	to	health	than	smoking	 
	 but	are	not	risk	free.	
•	The	evidence	in	this	area	is	still	developing,	 
	 including	evidence	on	the	long-term	health	impact.

42 NICE	Guideline	92	(2018)	Stop	smoking	interventions	and	services
43 RCGP	(2017)	RCGP	Position	Statement	on	the	use	of	electronic	nicotine	vapour	products	(E-Cigarettes)	
44 RPS	(2020)	E-Cigarettes 
45 BMA	(2020)	BMA	|	E-cigarettes:	balancing	risks	and	opportunities	

2 8 2 9

Useful Primary Care Resources:
•	The	Royal	College	of	General	Practitioners	(RCGP)	 
	 Position	Statement43	on	the	use	of	electronic	 
	 nicotine	vapour	products	(e-cigarettes)	(2017)	 
	 recommends	that	Primary	Care	Clinicians	may	 
	 wish	to	promote	the	use	of	e-cigarettes	as	a	 
	 means	of	stopping	smoking.	
•	The	Royal	Pharmaceutical	Society	(RPS)	 
	 e-cigarette	policy	(2020)44		recommends	to	 
	 pharmacists	that	e-cigarettes	are	used	as	one	of	 
	 several	harm	reduction	options	in	the	short- 
	 term	to	encourage	smokers	to	stop	using	tobacco	 
	 products,	but	people	should	be	advised	that	 
	 e-cigarettes	are	not	risk-free	and	made	aware	of	 
	 all	the	smoking	cessation	options	available	to	them.
•	The	British	Medical	Association	(BMA)	published	 
	 a	paper	(2020)45		that	outlines	the	regulation	 
	 of	e-cigarettes	and	argues	for	an	approach	that	 
	 seeks	to	minimise	their	risks	while	maximising	their	 
	 potential	to	reduce	the	health	burden	associated	 
	 with	smoking.	

P
age 283

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/chapter/Recommendations#advice-on-ecigarettes
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/-/media/Files/Policy/2017/RCGP-E-cig-position-statement-sept-2017.ashx?la=en
https://www.rpharms.com/recognition/all-our-campaigns/policy-a-z/e-cigarettes
https://www.bma.org.uk/what-we-do/population-health/drivers-of-ill-health/e-cigarettes-balancing-risks-and-opportunities


7.4.2 Secondary Care 

As	many	as	25%	of	patients	in	acute	hospital	beds	
are	smokers46. The	NHS	Long	Term	Plan4	commits	
the	NHS	to	help	people	to	quit	whilst	admitted	to	
hospital.	By	2023/24,	all	people	admitted	to	hospital	
who	smoke	will	be	offered	NHS-funded	tobacco	
treatment	services.	

As	NHS	hospital	sites	have	continued	to	become	
smokefree,	it	is	recognised	that	e-cigarettes	can	have	
a	role	to	play	in	supporting	patients,	staff	and	visitors	
to	refrain	from	smoking	tobacco	whilst	on	site.	
Therefore,	NHS	Trusts	are	encouraged	to	develop	
their	own	Smokefree	Site,	Nicotine	Management	 
or	e-cigarette	Policies	to	provide	guidance	to	 
the	organisation.	

NHS	Trusts	may	wish	to	contact	local	public	health	
teams	within	the	Local	Authority	for	help	and	advice	
in	developing	a	policy	and	approach.	PHE	does	not	
prescribe	to	any	one	policy,	but	it	is	up	to	each	NHS	
Trust	to	decide	what	works	best	for	their	staff	and	all	
users	of	their	sites.	

This	is	in	line	with	guidance47		from	the	Care	
Quality	Commission	(CQC)	which	recommends:	
“e-cigarettes should not routinely be treated in 
the same way as smoking. It is not appropriate to 
prohibit e-cigarette use in health services as part of 
smokefree policies.” 

It is important for NHS Trusts to make a clear 
distinction between smoking tobacco and using an 
e-cigarette.	There	are	useful	resources	from	NCSCT	
including	‘vaping	allowed’	communications	that	
can	be	used	around	the	hospital	sites	to	promote	
an	alternative	space.	Allowing	e-cigarettes	in	all	or	
part	of	the	hospital	grounds	can	support	compliance	
with	the	smokefree	policy.	It’s	important	to	strike	
a	balance	that	works	for	everyone,	including	staff,	
patients	or	visitors.	There	is	also	the	option	of	
supplying	e-cigarettes	on	site,	which	will	help	support	
smokefree	policies.		Some	NHS	Trusts	have	gone	
further	by	having	stand-alone	e-cigarette	shops	
based	within	the	Trust	site.	For	those	NHS	Trusts	
with	e-cigarettes	available	to	purchase,	these	must	
be	regulated/MHRA	approved	products	only	(see	
Section	5	for	further	details	on	Regulation).

48 Royal	College	of	Psychiatrists	(2018)	Hiding	in	plain	sight	
49 British	Thoracic	Society	(2020)	Tobacco	and	Smoking		
50 PHE	(2018)	Creating	a	smokefree	NHS:	how	e-cigarettes	can	help 
51 Smokefree	NHS	/	Treating	Tobacco	Dependency	Task	Force	(2019)	Vaping_Standard_for_NHS  
52 NICE	Public	Health	Guidance	48	(2013)	Smoking:	acute,	maternity	and	mental	health	services	
53 PHE	(2016)	Use	of	e-cigarettes	in	public	places	and	workplaces:	advice	to	inform	evidence-based	policy	making
54 The	National	Fire	Chiefs	Council	(2018)	973_Guidance_note_-_E-cigarettes_use_in_smokefree_NHS_settings

46 British	Thoracic	Society	(2016)	Smoking	Cessation	Audit	Report:	Smoking	cessation	policy	and	practice	in	NHS	hospitals		
47 CQC	(2017)	Brief	guides	for	inspection	teams  

3 0 3 1

Useful Secondary Care Resources:
•	The	Royal	College	of	Physicians:	Hiding	in	Plain	 
	 Sight	(2018)48		report	reviews	treating	tobacco	 
	 dependency	in	the	NHS	and	advocates	the	use	 
	 of	e-cigarettes.	
•	The	British	Medical	Association	(BMA)	published	 
	 a	paper	(2020)45	that	outlines	the	regulation	 
	 of	e-cigarettes	and	argues	for	an	approach	that	 
	 seeks	to	minimise	their	risks	while	maximising	their	 
	 potential	to	reduce	the	health	burden	associated	 
	 with	smoking.	
•	The	British	Thoracic	Society	have	published	 
	 a	position	statement	on	tobacco	and	smoking	 
	 (2020)49,	this	includes	support	of	harm	reduction	 
	 strategies	and	acknowledgement	of	the	201518	 
	 report	from	PHE	where	the	recommendation	is	for	 
	 smokers	who	have	tried	other	methods	of	quitting	 
	 without	success,	may	want	to	consider	e-cigarettes	 
	 to	stop	smoking	tobacco.		

•	PHE	have	provided	advice	to	creating	a	smokefree	 
	 NHS	and	how	e-cigarettes	can	help	(2018)50
•	Smokefree	NHS	/	Treating	Tobacco	Dependency	 
	 Task	Force	have	published	a	position	statement	on	 
	 the	use	of	e-cigarettes	(2019)51
•	NICE	Public	Heath	Guidance	48	(2013)52	covers	 
	 helping	people	to	stop	smoking	in	acute,	maternity	 
	 and	mental	health	services.	It	promotes	smokefree	 
	 policies	and	services	and	recommends	effective	 
	 ways	to	help	people	stop	smoking	or	to	abstain	 
	 from	smoking	while	using	or	working	in	secondary	 
	 care	settings.
•	PHE	has	developed	five	principles53	for	the	use	of	 
	 e-cigarettes	in	public	places	and	workplaces	that	 
	 can	be	used	as	a	guide.		
•	The	National	Fire	Chiefs	Council	has	produced	 
	 guidance54	on	e-cigarette	use	in	smokefree	 
	 NHS	settings.	

P
age 284

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/hiding-plain-sight-treating-tobacco-dependency-nhs
https://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/quality-improvement/clinical-resources/smoking-cessation/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/19/creating-a-smokefree-nhs-how-e-cigarettes-can-help/
http://www.freshne.com/images/stories/Vaping_Standard_for_NHS.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph48
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/768952/PHE-advice-on-use-of-e-cigarettes-in-public-places-and-workplaces.PDF
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/NFCC%20Guidance%20publications/Health/E-cigs%20in%20NHS/973_Guidance_note_-_E-cigarettes_use_in_smokefree_NHS_settings.pdf
https://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/document-library/quality-improvement/audit-reports/smoking-cessation-2016/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/nhs-trusts/brief-guides-inspection-teams#safe


7.5 Mental Health Trusts 

In	England,	1	in	3	cigarettes	is	smoked	by	a	person	
with	a	mental	health	condition	and	support	to	stop	
smoking	must	be	the	overriding	priority55.	Although	
evidence56	shows	that	prevalence	has	reduced	
from	44%	in	2007	to	34%	by	2014,	that	is	more	
than	double	national	adult	prevalence.	The	Mental	
Health	and	Smoking	Partnership	reported	that	
smoking	prevalence	in	mental	health	units	was	as	
high	as	70%57.	Nearly	two	thirds	(61%)	of	smokers	
with	long-standing	mental	health	conditions	want	
to	quit58	but	they	are	less	likely	to	be	successful55.  
A	recently	published	Cochrane	Review59	looked	
at	how	stopping	smoking	affects	people’s	mental	
health	and	found	that	by	quitting	they	may	
experience	improvements,	such	as	reductions	in	
anxiety	and	depression	symptoms.		

The	NHS	Long	Term	Plan4	commits	that	by	2023/24,	
a	universal	smoking	cessation	offer	will	be	available	
as	part	of	specialist	mental	health	services,	including	
option	of	switching	to	e-cigarettes	in	line	with	
guidance	from	PHE.		 

Useful Mental Health Trusts Resources:
•	In	the	Government’s	Tobacco	Control	Plan	for	 
	 England2,	PHE	was	asked	to	update	its	2015	review	 
	 of	e-cigarettes16,	and	other	novel	nicotine	delivery	 
	 systems,	every	year	until	the	end	of	2022.	In	the	 
	 2020	annual	update62,	leading	independent	tobacco	 
	 experts	looked	at	research	literature	on	vaping	 
	 among	people	with	mental	health	conditions
•	In	2020,	PHE	published	guidance63	on	using	 
	 e-cigarettes	in	NHS	mental	health	organisations.	 
	 This	advice	was	endorsed	by	members	of	the	 
	 Mental	Health	and	Smoking	Partnership.
•	The	Mental	Health	and	Smoking	Partnership	have	 
	 published	a	position	statement	on	the	use	of	 
	 e-cigarettes	(2017)64

The	Royal	College	of	Psychiatrists	has	published	
guidance60	on	e-cigarettes	for	patients	with	severe	
mental	illness,	recommending	that	psychiatrists	tell	
patients	who	smoke	that	e-cigarettes	may	help	them	
to	quit,	particularly	when	used	with	stop	smoking	
treatments	and	are	safer	than	continuing	to	smoke.		
In	line	with	this,	and	NICE	Public	Health	Guidance	
4561,	it	is	recommended	that:	
•	All	Mental	Health	Trusts	have	a	policy	which	allows	 
	 the	use	of	e-cigarettes	on	trust	sites.	These	policies	 
	 should	be	clear	on	what	e-cigarette	products	can	be	 
	 used,	where	on	site	use	is	allowed	and	whether	the	 
	 trust	will	proactively	provide	e-cigarettes	to	patients.	
•	Patients’	smoking	status	is	asked	and	recorded	on	 
	 admission	with	advice	and	alternative	nicotine	 
	 products	provided,	this	could	be	either	NRT	or	 
	 an	e-cigarette.	
•	All	patients	who	smoke	should	be	offered	a	referral	 
	 to	a	Local	Stop	Smoking	Service.	Where	patients	 
	 already	use	e-cigarettes	on	admission	(Refer	to	 
 Section	11	for	contact	details	of	Local	Stop	Smoking	 
	 Services	in	the	South	East	of	England	Region),	allow	 
	 them	to	continue	to	use	e-cigarettes.	They	do	not	 
	 need	a	stop	smoking	intervention	unless	they	are	 
	 also	smoking	tobacco.	
•	All	patients	and	staff	should	be	provided	with	clear	 
	 information	on	the	differences	between	smoking	 
	 and	e-cigarettes	and	relative	risks.	
•	Patients	should	be	made	aware	that	they	can	use	an	 
	 e-cigarette	alongside	NRT	or	varenicline	(Champix©),	 
	 if	this	is	the	most	effective	way	for	them	to	alleviate	 
	 nicotine	withdrawal	and	remain	smokefree	during	 
	 their	admission.	
•	Patients	who	wish	to	continue	to	smoke	while	on	 
	 leave	from	the	hospital	should	be	supported	to	use	 
	 e-cigarettes	or	NRT	in	line	with	NICE	Public	Health	 
	 Guidance	4561. 
•	Staff	should	be	encouraged	to	undertake	regular	 
	 refresher	training	in	smoking	cessation,	including	 
	 the	use	of	e-cigarettes,	see	Section	8	for	further	 
	 details	on	training.		

55 Royal	College	of	Physicians	and	the	Royal	College	of	Psychiatrists	
(2013)	Smoking	and	mental	health	
56 Richardson,	S.,		McNeill,	A.	and	Brose,	L.	(2019)	Smoking	and	quitting	
behaviours	by	mental	health	conditions	in	Great	Britain	(1993-2014).
57 Mental	Health	and	Smoking	Partnership	(2020)	MHSP	Reports	–	
Smokefree	Action	Coalition	
58 NHS	Digital	(2011)	Health	Survey	for	England	-	2010,	Respiratory	
health	
59 Taylor		GMJ,	Lindson		N,	Farley		A,	Leinberger-Jabari		A,	Sawyer		K,	
te	Water	Naudé		R,	Theodoulou		A,	King		N,	Burke		C,	Aveyard		P.	
Smoking	cessation	for	improving	mental	health.	Cochrane	Database	of	
Systematic	Reviews	(2021).
60 Royal	College	of	Psychiatrists	(2019)	The	prescribing	of	varenicline	
and	vaping	(electronic	cigarettes)	to	patients	with	severe	mental	illness	
61 NICE	Public	Health	Guidance	45	(2013)	Smoking:	harm	reduction

62 PHE	(2020)	Vaping	in	England:	an	evidence	update	including	mental	health	and	pregnancy
63 PHE	(2020)	Using	electronic	cigarettes	in	NHS	mental	health	organisations	
64 Mental	Health	and	Smoking	Partnership	(2017)	Partnership-Statement-on-E-cigarettes	

By quitting people 
may experience 
improvements, 
such as reductions 
in anxiety and 
depression 
symptoms.

3 2 3 3

P
age 285

https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/smoking-and-mental-health
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/smoking-and-mental-health
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30352340/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30352340/
https://smokefreeaction.org.uk/smokefree-nhs/smoking-and-mental-health/mhspresources/mhsp-reports/
https://smokefreeaction.org.uk/smokefree-nhs/smoking-and-mental-health/mhspresources/mhsp-reports/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2010-respiratory-health
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2010-respiratory-health
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD013522.pub2/full#CD013522-abs-0002
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD013522.pub2/full#CD013522-abs-0002
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD013522.pub2/full#CD013522-abs-0002
https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD013522.pub2/full#CD013522-abs-0002
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/position-statements/ps05_18.pdf?sfvrsn=2bb7fdfe_4
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/position-statements/ps05_18.pdf?sfvrsn=2bb7fdfe_4
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph45
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/869401/Vaping_in_England_evidence_update_March_2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-cigarettes-use-by-patients-in-nhs-mental-health-organisations/using-electronic-cigarettes-in-nhs-mental-health-organisations
http://smokefreeaction.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/FINAL-Partnership-Statement-on-E-cigarettes.pdf


7.6 Maternity 

In	the	South	East,	latest	data	shows	9.7%	of	
women	were	smoking	at	the	time	of	delivery65. 
Smoking	during	pregnancy	can	harm	the	baby	
in	the	womb	from	the	moment	of	conception.	
While	nicotine	in	cigarettes	is	addictive,	almost	
all	the	harm	from	smoking	comes	from	the	
toxic	chemicals	in	tobacco	smoke.	As	outlined	
in	Section	4,	e-cigarettes	don’t	produce	tar	or	
carbon	monoxide	which	is	the	most	harmful	
part	of	smoking	for	developing	babies.	Stopping	
smoking	tobacco	is	one	of	the	best	things	a	
woman,	and	her	partner,	can	do	to	protect	the	
health	of	their	baby	throughout	pregnancy	 
and	beyond.	

While	licensed	NRT	products	are	the	
recommended	option,	if	a	pregnant	woman	
chooses	to	use	an	e-cigarette	to	help	her	
quit	smoking	and	stay	smokefree,	the	
Royal	College	of	Midwives’	advice66 is that 
she	should	be	supported	to	do	so	and	
that	regulated	e-cigarettes	products	are	
used	(See	Section	5	for	further	details	on	
Regulation).		It	is	important	to	recognise	
that	using	an	e-cigarette,	and	carrying	on	
smoking	tobacco,	does	not	provide	health	
benefits	with	anyone	who	is	using	both	(dual	
use).	The	users	should	be	being	strongly	
encouraged	to	stop	smoking	tobacco	as	
soon	as	they	can.		If	a	pregnant	woman	
feels	able	to	stop	using	an	e-cigarette	
(or	to	switch	to	NRT)	without	going	back	
to	smoking	tobacco,	then	she	should	be	
encouraged	to	do	so.	However,	if	relapse	is	
likely	to	cause	the	woman	to	start	smoking	
tobacco	again,	then	she	should	continue	to	
use	e-cigarettes.

Useful Maternity Resources:
•	In	the	absence	of	an	evidence-base,	 
	 health	professionals	can	use	guidance	 
	 and	recommendations	from	the	Smoking	in	 
	 Pregnancy	Challenge	Group	on	e-cigarettes	 
	 use.	This	is	made	up	of	organisations	such	as	 
	 the	Royal	College	of	Midwives,	Royal	College	 
	 of	Obstetricians	and	Gynaecologists	and	the	 
	 Royal	College	of	Paediatrics	and	Child	Health.	 
	 They	have	produced	a	wealth	of	information	 
	 and	resources	on	the	use	of	e-cigarettes	 
	 before,	during	and	after	pregnancy,	including	 
	 key	messages67		for	health	professionals.	 
	 Health	professionals	can	also	sign	up	for	regular	 
	 information	briefings.
•	In	the	Government’s	Tobacco	Control	Plan	for	 
	 England2,	PHE	was	asked	to	update	its	2015		  
	 review	of	e-cigarettes16,	and	other	novel	 
	 nicotine	delivery	systems,	every	year	until	 
	 the	end	of	2022.	In	the	2020	annual	update61,	 
	 leading	independent	tobacco	experts	looked	 
	 at	research	literature	on	vaping	among	 
	 pregnant	women.

The 2020 PHE systematic review62 showed a 
lack of evidence on the prevalence of vaping 
in pregnancy in England, the effects of vaping 
on smoking during pregnancy and following 
childbirth, and on the effects of vaping on 
maternal health or pregnancy outcomes.	As	in	
other	populations,	pregnant	women	who	vape	
are	likely	to	do	so	to	stop	smoking.	Vaping	in	
pregnancy	is	very	rare	among	those	who	have	
not	smoked.	The	review	acknowledged	a	need	to	
address	the	lack	of	nationally	representative	data	
on	vaping	in	pregnancy	in	England.	In	addition,	it	
highlighted	the	inconsistent	attitudes	of	health	
professionals	to	vaping	in	pregnancy	to	show	
that	guidance	is	urgently	needed.

There	is	no	current	reason	to	believe	that	using	
an	e-cigarette	would	compromise	breastfeeding.	
Women	who	use	e-cigarettes	following	birth	
should	not	be	discouraged	from	doing	so	if	it	
means	they	stay	quit	and	maintain	a	smokefree	
home.		There	is	currently	no	evidence	of	harm	to	
others	from	exposure	to	e-cigarette	vapour	and	
any	risks	are	likely	to	be	extremely	low.	However,	
the	evidence	about	the	exposure	to	second-hand	
tobacco	smoke	from	cigarettes	during	pregnancy	
is	well	established	and	increases	the	risk	of	
stillbirth,	miscarriage	and	sudden	infant	death.

The	NHS	Long	Term	Plan4	commits	the	NHS	to	
help	people	to	quit	whilst	admitted	to	hospital.	
By	2023/24,	all	people	admitted	to	hospital	
who	smoke	will	be	offered	NHS-funded	tobacco	
treatment	services.	This	model	will	be	adapted	
for	expectant	mothers,	and	their	partners,	with	
a	new	smoke-free	pregnancy	pathway	including	
focused	sessions	and	treatments.

65 PHE	(2021)	Tobacco	Control	Profiles	Smoking	status	at	time	of	delivery
66 Royal	College	of	Midwives	(2019)	Position	Statement	–	Support	to	Quit	Smoking	During	Pregnancy	 67 PHE	(2021)	Tobacco	Control	Profiles	Smoking	status	at	time	of	delivery

3 4 3 5

P
age 286

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/3/gid/1938132900/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/302/are/E10000025/iid/93085/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1
http://Royal College of Midwives (2019) Position Statement - Support to Quit Smoking During Pregnancy 
https://smokefreeaction.org.uk/smokefree-nhs/smoking-in-pregnancy-challenge-group/smoking-in-pregnancy-challenge-group-resources/e-cigarettes-in-pregnancy/


7.7 Workplaces 

Legislation,	under	the	Health	Act	200668,	that	
prohibits	smoking	in	enclosed	public	places	and	
workplaces,	on	public	transport	and	in	vehicles	
used	for	work,	is	based	on	conclusive	scientific	
evidence	of	the	direct	health	harm	caused	to	
bystanders	through	the	inhalation	of	secondhand	
smoke.	E-cigarette use is not covered by this 
smokefree legislation as e-cigarettes do not 
burn tobacco and do not create smoke. 

It is recommended that policies are kept under 
regular review, to take account of developments 
in the evidence base and changes in the 
regulatory environment.

68 UK	Government	(2006)	Health	Act 69 ASH	(2015)	Will	you	permit	or	prohibit	electronic	cigarette	use	on	your	premises?

Ensure	policies	are	
informed	by	the	

evidence	on	 
	 health	risks	to	

bystanders.
3 6 3 7

Policies	and	practice	on	e-cigarette	use	
in	workplaces	are	evolving	and	need	
to	continue	to	do	so	in	the	light	of	the	
emerging	evidence.	Public	PHE	has	
developed	five	principles36	that	can	be	used	
by	organisations	to	guide	policy	making	on	
the	use	of	e-cigarettes	in	workplaces:
1. Make clear the distinction between  
 vaping and smoking. 
2. Ensure policies are informed by the  
 evidence on health risks to bystanders. 
3. Identify and manage risks of uptake by  
 children and young people. 
4. Support smokers to stop smoking and  
 stay smokefree. 
5. Support compliance with smokefree law  
 and policies. 

Useful Workplace Resources:
•	The	briefing	Will	you	permit	or	prohibit	 
	 electronic	cigarette	use	on	your	premises?69  
	 has	been	produced	by	ASH	and	the	 
	 Chartered	Institute	of	Environmental	Health	 
	 (CIEH)	for	organisations	considering	 
	 permitting	or	prohibiting	the	use	of		
	 electronic	cigarettes	by	their	staff,	clients	or	 
	 customers,	or	generally	on	their	premises

P
age 287

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/28/contents
https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/briefings/will-you-permit-or-prohibit-e-cigarette-use-on-your-premises/


8 . 	 T R A I N I N G 	 A N D 	 A D V I C E 	 O N 	 U S A G E

8.1 Training

Health	professionals	are	key	motivators	and	a	
source	of	health	information	to	patients,	but	
with	so	much	media	attention	and	emerging	
research	it	is	difficult	to	feel	confident	that	the	
correct	and	most	up	to	date	advice	is	being	
given.		As	outlined	in	Section	4,	most	people	use	
e-cigarettes	as	a	means	to	quit	smoking	and	the	
type	of	device,	nicotine	strength	and	flavour	will	
vary	to	meet	individual	needs	and	preferences.		
NICE	have	identified	a	division	among	some	
professionals	that	either	see	e-cigarettes	as ‘an 
unproven harm reduction strategy’ or	other	
professionals	regarding	e-cigarettes	as	a	useful 
resource to help smokers quit70.	The	NCSCT	
recommends	that	practitioners	be	open	to	
electronic	cigarette	use	among	smokers	trying	to	
quit,	particularly	if	they	have	tried	other	methods	
of	quitting	and	failed’37. 

8.2 Guidance on Usage 

The	e-cigarette	market	is	not	static	but	
continually	evolving,	with	new	sophisticated	
technology	and	faster	nicotine	delivery	systems.	
Sealed	e-liquid	cartridges	or	refillable	tank	
systems	may	contain	no	nicotine	or	up	to	20mg/
ml	of	nicotine	and	a	variety	of	flavours.	Most	of	
the	latest	(3rd	generation)	devices,	can	easily	
be	modified	to	adapt	to	individual	needs	but	
acquiring	the	technique	and	correct	use	of	the	
product	is	essential	for	efficacy.		Stop	Smoking	
Advisers	and	health	professionals	are	not	
expected	to	be	experts	in	e-cigarette	use	but	
should	signpost	smokers	who	wish	to	quit	using	
e-cigarettes	to	reputable	e-cigarette	shops.	

Health	professionals	are	encouraged	to	support	a	
smoker’s	quit	attempt	using	e-cigarettes,	if	that	is	
their	preference	and	also	refer	them	to	Local	Stop	
Smoking	Services	where	they	can	increase	the	
likelihood	of	quitting	successfully.		NCSCT	online	
training	provides	evidence	based	and	effective	
advice	for	professionals	and	a	further	e-cigarette	
briefing	that	offers	comprehensive,	detailed	
information	for	Local	Stop	Smoking	Services,	
health	professionals	and	e-cigarette	users.	

The	amount	of	nicotine	required	by	e-cigarette	
users	will	depend	on	the	device	and	the	users’	
smoking	habits.		The	NCSCT	suggests	as	‘a	rough	
guide,	most	20-a-day	smokers	find	that	18mg/
ml	(1.8%)	is	sufficient38.	This	corresponds	with	
Houezec’s	suggestions72:	

Note:	the	suggestions	are	merely	a	starting	point.		In	2019	
ASH	reported	that	24%	of	e-cigarette	users	who	used	
nicotine	used	a	strength	of	13-20	mg/ml	but	most	(64%)	
used	a	lower	strength	between	1-12	mg/ml.		Stop	Smoking	
Services	are	encouraged	to	provide	quit	support	to	
e-cigarette	users	and	can	use	a	combination	of	e-cigarettes	
and	NRT	to	support	a	quit	attempt.	Those	who	combine	
e-cigarettes	with	behavioural	support	are	likely	to	achieve	
the	highest	successful	quit	rates38.

The	NCSCT71	offer	a	short	e-learning	
training	for	health	professionals	to	equip	
them	with	the	knowledge	and	clinical	
guidance,	to	provide	advice	on	the	safety	
and	effectiveness	of	different	e-cigarette	
devices	for	users	to	consider.		This	training	
is	also	suitable	for	Stop	Smoking	Advisers	
to	offer	combined	behavioural	support	
alongside	e-cigarette	use	if	preferred.	

70 NICE	Guideline	92	(2018)	Stop	smoking	interventions	and	services	–	evidence	reviews	for	advice	on	e-cigarettes	on	general	sale	
71 NCSCT	(2018)	E-cigarettes:	a	guide	for	healthcare	professionals 72	Taken	from	Le	Houezec,	J.	(2018)	Vape	shops	and	their	role	in	Public	Health.	The	E-Cigarette	Summit,	London

3 8 3 9

Amount Smoked:  Suggested nicotine dose: 
4-5	cigarettes	a	day		 6mg/ml	
10	cigarettes	a	day		 12	mg/ml	
15	cigarettes	a	day		 16	mg/ml	
20	cigarettes	a	day		 18-20	mg/ml	
More	than	20	a	day		 20mg	&	recommend	adding	a	patch	

P
age 288

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92/evidence/c-advice-on-ecigarettes-on-general-sale-pdf-4788920848
https://elearning.ncsct.co.uk/e_cigarettes-stage_1
https://www.e-cigarette-summit.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/82/2019/11/16.05-Jacques-Le-Houezec.pdf


9 . 	 C O M M U N I C A T I O N

When	talking	about	e-cigarettes,	it	is	important	
to	use	the	correct	terminology	to	ensure	the	
language	used	matches	the	community	of	users.	
Originally	‘e-cigarettes’	was	the	most	common	
term	used,	however	more	recently	people	
refer	to	them	as	‘vapes’	or	‘vaporisers’,	and	an	
e-cigarette	user	as	a	‘vaper’.	

 9.2 Secondary Messages

9.2.1 Long term use
•	Although	some	health	risks	from	e-cigarette	use	 
	 may	yet	emerge,	these	are	likely,	at	worst,	to	be	a	 
	 small	fraction	of	the	risks	of	smoking.	This	is	 
	 because	e-cigarette	vapour	does	not	contain	the	 
	 products	of	combustion	(burning)	that	cause	lung	 
	 and	heart	disease,	and	cancer,	unlike	cigarettes.

9.2.2 Regulation 
•	E-cigarettes	and	e-liquids	in	the	UK	are	tightly	 
	 regulated	by	MHRA	under	UK	Tobacco	and	 
	 Related	Products	Regulations	(TDPR)	(2016)22	and	 
	 Tobacco	Products	and	Nicotine	Inhaling	Products	 
	 (Amendment)	(EU	Exit)	Regulations	(2020)23.	Unlike	 
	 other	countries,	such	as	the	US,	where	these	 
	 products	are	not	regulated.	Context	and	caution	 
	 needs	to	be	applied	when	comparing	countries’	 
	 experience	of	e-cigarettes.	
•	The	MHRA	has	not	permitted	any	e-cigarette	 
	 products	containing	cannabinoids	or	Vitamin	E	 
	 acetate	oil,	which	are	the	chemicals	implicated	in	 
	 the	US	cases.	
•	Anyone	that	experiences	adverse	side	effects	from	 
	 e-cigarettes	should	be	strongly	encouraged	to	 
	 report	these	using	the	Yellow	Card	Scheme.
•	PHE	recommends	that:		
	 o	For	people	who	vape	CBD:	Although	CBD	is	 
	 	 less	tightly	regulated,	if	experiencing	symptoms	 
	 	 or	are	concerned,	the	vaper	should	stop.	
	 o	For	people	who	vape	THC:	If	vaping	THC	(or	 
	 	 an	unknown	liquid	which	could	contain	THC),	it	 
	 	 can	be	hazardous.	These	are	the	products	most	 
	 	 implicated	in	the	US	outbreak.	If	the	vaper	feels	 
	 	 unwell	or	has	any	difficulty	breathing	after	vaping	 
	 	 THC,	go	to	A&E	and	tell	them	precisely	what	the	 
	 	 product	was	they	were	using.

9.2.3 Second-hand e-cigarettes exposure
To	date	there	is	no	evidence	of	harm	to	health	from	
second-hand	e-cigarettes	exposure	and	any	risks	are	
likely	to	be	very	low	to	by-standers.	The	2018	PHE	
review73		concluded	that	nicotine	levels	in	second-
hand	vapour	were	at	non-detectable	levels	compared	
to	second-hand	smoke	from	cigarettes.

9.2.4 Children and young people / Non smokers 
•	There	is	no	evidence	that	use	of	e-cigarettes	is	 
	 leading	to	an	increase	of	smoking	in	young	people.	 
	 E-cigarettes	have	proved	to	be	an	important	 
	 gateway	out	of	smoking,	not	into	it.
•	E-cigarette	use	amongst	11-18	years	old	who	have	 
	 never	smoked	and	use	an	e-cigarette	more	than	 
	 once	a	week	is	negligible.

9.2.5 Pregnant women
•	E-cigarettes	are	a	great	deal	safer	than	smoking,	but	 
	 we	don’t	know	yet	if	there	are	any	risks	to	the	 
	 foetus	from	exposure	to	e-cigarette	vapour,	 
	 therefore,	licensed	stop	smoking	medications	 
	 are	currently	the	recommended	option	for	 
	 quitting.	However,	the	Royal	College	of	Midwives	 
	 recommends	that	if	a	pregnant	smoker	chooses	 
	 to	use	an	e-cigarette	to	quit	smoking	and	stay	 
	 smokefree,	then	she	should	be	supported	to	do	so.
•	The	Smoking	in	Pregnancy	Challenge	Group	has	 
	 produced	a	range	of	leaflets	with	advice	before,	 
	 during	and	after	pregnancy.	 

9.2.6 Fire risk
•	E-cigarette	fires	are	recorded	at	the	discretion	of	 
	 individual	fire	rescue	services	in	the	UK.	To	date	 
	 recorded	numbers	show	that	they	occur	in	low	 
	 numbers	and	are	vastly	outweighed	by	fires	caused	 
	 by	smokers’	materials.
•	As	with	all	rechargeable	electrical	devices,	the	 
	 correct	charger	should	be	used,	and	the	device	 
	 should	not	be	left	charging	unattended	or	overnight.	 

73 PHE	(2018)	Evidence	review	of	e-cigarettes	and	heated	tobacco	products	2018: 

4 0 4 1

9.1 Primary Messages

The	advice	from	PHE	is:
	 o	 For	smokers:	Smokers	should	stop	 
	 	 smoking	completely.	Getting	expert	 
	 	 support	combined	with	using	an	 
	 	 e-cigarette	doubles	your	chances	of		
	 	 quitting	successfully.	
	 o	 For	people	who	use	nicotine	 
	 	 containing	e-cigarettes	and	are	still	 
	 	 smoking	(dual	users),	you	should	 
	 	 stop	and	switch	completely	to	 
	 	 e-cigarettes,	then	come	off	nicotine		
	 	 when	you	are	confident	you	won’t	 
	 	 relapse	to	smoking.
	 o	 If	you	have	never	smoked:	Don’t	use	 
	 	 e-cigarettes.

E-cigarette	use	in	the	UK	has	increased	
year	on	year	and	is	now	the	most	
popular	method	of	quitting	smoking.

Evidence	shows	that	e-cigarettes	are	
far	less	harmful	than	smoking	tobacco	
but	are	not	without	some	risks.		Those	
risks	can	be	much	reduced	by	only	
using	regulated	e-cigarettes	and	vaping	
liquids.

E-cigarettes	are	an	effective	method	for	 
quitting	smoking	tobacco.

• 

• 

• 

• 

P
age 289

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-cigarettes-and-heated-tobacco-products-evidence-review/evidence-review-of-e-cigarettes-and-heated-tobacco-products-2018-executive-summary


1 0 . 	 	 M Y T H 	 B U S T I N G

There	are	lots	of	inaccuracies	and	misconceptions	
about	e-cigarettes,	this	Position	Statement	aims	
to	address	this	in	the	South	East.	However,	the	
following	useful	resources	also	aim	to	clear	up	
some	common	myths	about	e-cigarettes:

Action on Smoking and Health (2018) Briefing 
on electronic cigarettes.	Available	from:	https://
ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/smoking-
cessation-treatment/stopping-smoking/ash-
briefing-on-electronic-cigarettes-2/

Cancer Research UK (2019) E-Cigarette FAQ’s. 
Available	from:	https://www.cancerresearchuk.
org/health-professional/awareness-and-
prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-
for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_
ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-
1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0 

National Centre for Smoking Cessation Training 
(2016) Electronic cigarettes: A briefing for stop 
smoking services. Available	from:	https://www.
ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Electronic_cigarettes._A_
briefing_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf	

National Institute of Health Research (2019) 
Information for specialist stop-smoking services 
that are considering providing e-cigarette 
starter packs: recommendations from the Trial 
of E-cigarettes (TEC).	Available	from:	https://ash.
org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Trial-of-E-
Cigarettes-briefing-with-QAs.pdf	

Public Health England (2019) Clearing up 
some myths around e-cigarettes.	Available	
from:	https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.
uk/2018/02/20/clearing-up-some-myths-
around-e-cigarettes/	

Public Health England (2020) 8 things to know 
about e-cigarettes.	Available	from:	https://
publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/05/8-
things-to-know-about-e-cigarettes/	

Royal College of Physicians (2019) RCP advice 
on vaping following reported cases of deaths 
and lung disease in the US.	Available	from:	
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/
rcp-advice-vaping-following-reported-cases-
deaths-and-lung-disease-us

FRESH (2019) Smokefree NHS / Treating 
Tobacco Dependency Task Force position 
statement on the use of E-cigarettes.	Available	
from:	http://www.freshne.com/images/stories/
Vaping_Standard_for_NHS.pdf	

UK Centre for Tobacco & Alcohol Studies (2019) 
The truth about e-cigarettes.	Available	from:	
https://www.sciencefocus.com/the-human-
body/the-truth-about-e-cigarettes/	

4 2 4 34 3

1 1 . 	 U S E F U L 	 C O N T A C T S

Local Stop Smoking Services

Local	Stop	Smoking	Services	available	in	the	South	East	are:

Bracknell Forest  

Brighton and Hove  

Buckinghamshire  

East Sussex  

Hampshire  

Isle of Wight  

Kent  

Medway  

Oxfordshire 

Portsmouth  

Reading  

Slough  

Southampton  

Surrey  

West Berkshire  

Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead 

West Sussex  

Wokingham 

https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com

  
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/support-improve-your-health/
help-stop-smoking

https://www.livewellstaywellbucks.co.uk/Service/29/stop-smoking

  
https://oneyoueastsussex.org.uk/services/quit-smoking/

  
https://www.smokefreehampshire.co.uk

  
https://www.healthylifestylesiow.co.uk

  
https://www.kentcht.nhs.uk/service/one-you-kent/one-you-smokefree/

  
https://quit.abettermedway.co.uk

 
https://www.stopforlifeoxon.org

 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/services/health-and-care/health/quit-smoking/

  
https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com

https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com

  
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/health-social-care/health/stopping-smoking/

https://oneyousurrey.org.uk

https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com

RBWMsmokingcessation@berkshire.nhs.uk	

 
https://www.westsussexwellbeing.org.uk/topics/smoking/services-for-west-sussex

https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com

P
age 290

https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/smoking-cessation-treatment/stopping-smoking/ash-briefing-on-electronic-cigarettes-2/
https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/smoking-cessation-treatment/stopping-smoking/ash-briefing-on-electronic-cigarettes-2/
https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/smoking-cessation-treatment/stopping-smoking/ash-briefing-on-electronic-cigarettes-2/
https://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/smoking-cessation-treatment/stopping-smoking/ash-briefing-on-electronic-cigarettes-2/
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/awareness-and-prevention/e-cigarette-hub-information-for-health-professionals/e-cigarette-faqs?_ga=2.1675889.1595490042.1582035173-1395253017.1582035173#E-cig_faqs0
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Electronic_cigarettes._A_briefing_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Electronic_cigarettes._A_briefing_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Electronic_cigarettes._A_briefing_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Trial-of-E-Cigarettes-briefing-with-QAs.pdf
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Trial-of-E-Cigarettes-briefing-with-QAs.pdf
https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Trial-of-E-Cigarettes-briefing-with-QAs.pdf
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/20/clearing-up-some-myths-around-e-cigarettes/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/20/clearing-up-some-myths-around-e-cigarettes/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/20/clearing-up-some-myths-around-e-cigarettes/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/05/8-things-to-know-about-e-cigarettes/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/05/8-things-to-know-about-e-cigarettes/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/05/8-things-to-know-about-e-cigarettes/
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/rcp-advice-vaping-following-reported-cases-deaths-and-lung-disease-us
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/rcp-advice-vaping-following-reported-cases-deaths-and-lung-disease-us
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/rcp-advice-vaping-following-reported-cases-deaths-and-lung-disease-us
http://www.freshne.com/images/stories/Vaping_Standard_for_NHS.pdf
http://www.freshne.com/images/stories/Vaping_Standard_for_NHS.pdf
https://www.sciencefocus.com/the-human-body/the-truth-about-e-cigarettes/
https://www.sciencefocus.com/the-human-body/the-truth-about-e-cigarettes/
https://www.kentcht.nhs.uk/service/one-you-kent/one-you-smokefree/ 
https://www.smokefreelifeberkshire.com
https://oneyousurrey.org.uk


South East Tobacco Control Network

Accountability and acknowledgements:	The	South	East	
Association	of	Directors	of	Public	Health	provides	the	
governance	to	this	document	and	has	sought	to	develop	a	
comprehensive	Position	Statement	on	electronic	cigarettes	
which	will	enable	the	wider	system	to	support	smokers	to	quit	
using	the	range	of	evidence-based	products	available.		

This	is	the	first	regional	Position	Statement	on	electronic	
cigarettes	and	was	developed	by	a	number	of	individuals.	We	
would	like	to	thank	the	following	for	their	contributions:
•	Alison	Freemantle	-	Community	Pharmacy,	South	Central
•	Angela	Gammage	-	Public	Health	England,	South	East
•	Caroline	Stevenson	–	West	Berkshire	District	Council
•	Claire	Hurcum	–	Medway	Council
•	Debbie	Hill	-	Portsmouth	Hospital	University	NHS	Trust
•	Debbie	Smith	–	Kent	County	Council
•	Emma	Dillner	–	Buckinghamshire	Council	
•	Jason	Mahoney	–	Public	Health	England,	South	East
•	Karen	Simmonds	-	Public	Heath	England,	South	East
•	Rebecca	Robb	–	Brighton	and	Hove	City	Council
•	Sarah	Preece	–	Hampshire	County	Council
•	Stephen	Pinel	–	Oxfordshire	County	Council
•	Suzie	Watt	–	Wokingham	Borough	Council
•	Vicky	Salt	–	Action	on	Smoking	and	Health	(ASH)

Position Statement Review: This	Position	Statement	has	been	
prepared	by	South	East	Tobacco	Control	Network,	using	the	most	
up	to	date	information	available	at	time	of	publication.	This	is	a	
rapidly	evolving	area	of	tobacco	control	and	South	East	Tobacco	
Control	Network	is	committed	to	monitoring	emerging	evidence	
and	research	and	will	update	this	position	statement	annually.

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



Date:20.9.21

CONSIDERATIONS        
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?       
Use drop down list  

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL        
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

1 ENERGY USE

* More energy will be consumed or emissions generated (by RBC or
others) = Negative Impact
* No extra energy use is involved or any additional energy use will be
met from renewable sources = Nil Impact
* Energy use will be reduced or renewable energy sources will
replace existing fossil fuel energy = Positive Impact

Nil

Consider:
▫ Energy efficiency measures
▫ Renewable energy
▫ Reducing demand for energy

No extra energy use is involved

2 WASTE GENERATION 

* More waste will be generated (by RBC or others) = Negative
Impact
* No waste will be generated = Nil Impact
* Less waste will be generated OR amount of waste that is reused/
recycled will be increased = Positive Impact

Low Positive

Consider:
▫ Re-usable/recycled goods
▫ Recycling facilities
▫ Reducing/reusing resources

3 USE OF TRANSPORT

* RBC or others will need to travel more OR transport goods/people
more often/further = Negative Impact
* No extra transport will be necessary = Nil Impact
* The need to travel, the use of transport and/or of fossil fuel-based
transport will be reduced = Positive Impact

Low Positive

Consider:
▫ Use of public transport                       
▫ Reducing need to travel or
transport goods
▫ Alternative fuels/electric
vehicles/walking and cycling

Travel by Stop Smoking Advisors is either walking or 
use of public transport.
Advisors also provide support by telephone and can 
post out Nicotine Replacement Therapy to service 
users.

CONSIDERATIONS        
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?       
Use drop down list

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL        
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

4 HEATWAVES

* Increased exposure of vulnerabe people and/or infrastructure to
heat stress = Negative Impact
* No increase in exposure to heat stress = Nil Impact  * 
Reduced exposure of vulnerable people and/or infrastructure to heat 
stress = Positive Impact

Low Positive
Greater need for cooling, 
ventilation, shading and 
hydration methods

Advisors will carry water bottles, face to face clinics are 
held indoors.

5 DROUGHT

* Water use will increase and/or no provision made for water
management = Negative Impact
* Levels of water use will not be changed = Nil Impact
* Provision made for water management, water resources will be
protected = Positive Impact

Nil
Greater need for water 
management and perhaps 
reserve supplies

N/A to this project

6 FLOODING

* Levels of surface water run-off will increase, no management of
flood risk = Negative Impact
* Levels of surface water run-off & flood risk are not affected = Nil
Impact 
* Sustainable drainage measures incorporated, positive steps to
reduce & manage flood risk = Positive Impact

Nil

Consider flood defence 
mechanisms or alternative 
arrangements (business 
continuity)

N/A to this project

7 HIGH WINDS / STORMS

* Exposure to higher wind speeds is increased or is not managed =
Negative Impact
* No change to existing level of exposure to higher wind speeds = Nil
Impact 
* Exposure to higher wind speeds is being actively managed &
reduced = Positive Impact

Nil
Greater need for stabilisation 
measures, robust structures 
resilient to high winds

N/A to this project

8 DISRUPTION TO SUPPLY 
CHAINS

* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is
increased = Negative Impact
* No change in exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods
and services = Nil Impact 
* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is
reduced = Positive Impact

Low Negative

Source key goods and services 
locally as it reduces exposure to 
supply chain disruption and 
boosts the local economy

Nicotine Replacement Therapy supply is delivered by 
national suppliers. Any national disruption will impact 
delivery

Net High Positive

Guidance on Assessing the Degree of Negative and Positive Impacts:

Medium Impact (M)

High Impact (H)

The impact of Stop Smoking Advisor travel on emissions is 
managed by use of public transport, provision of telephone 
support and posting out of Nicotine Replacement Therapy. 
There may be a supply chain disruption for NRT nationally due 
to transportation issues that are outside the control of the 
Service.  

* Relates to major capital assets (larger buildings and infrastructure projects)

* Affects service performance (e.g.: energy use; waste generation, transport use) by more
than c.10%

* Relates to medium-sized capital assets (individual buildings or small projects)

* Affects delivery of corporate commitments
* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Medium

* Affects corporate performance (e.g.: energy; waste; transport use) by more than c.10%

* Affects delivery of regulatory commitments

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Significant or High

* National publicity (good or bad)

* No impact on capital assets; or relates to minor capital assets (minor works)
* Local publicity (good or bad)

Project / Proposal Name or Reference: Smokefree Berkshire

Your Name:Tarana Afzali 
completed by the Service provider)

* No impact on service or corporate performance

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT 
THE ABILITY OF READING TO 
WITHSTAND:

1. IMPACT ON CARBON EMISSIONS

2. IMPACT ON RESILIENCE TO THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT:

Low Impact (L)
Note: Not all of the considerations/ criteria listed below will necessarily be relevant to your project

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Low or none
* No publicity

Weighing up the negative and positive impacts of your project, 
what is the overall rating you are assigning to your project?:

This overall rating is what you need to include in your report/ 
budget proposal, together with your explanation given below.

In the box below please summarise any relevant policy 
context, explain how the overall rating has been derived, 
highlight significant impacts (positive and negative) and explain 
actions being taken to mitigate negatives and increase 
positives. This text can be replicated in the 'Environment and 
Climate Impacts' section of your Committee Report, though 

Appendix E

Page 293



This page is intentionally left blank



                                
  

READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

DATE OF MEETING: 8th October, 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: BERKSHIRE SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY 2021-26 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Karen Buckley 
 

TEL:  

JOB TITLE: Acting Consultant in 
Public Health 
 

E-MAIL: Karen.buckley@reading.gov.
uk  

ORGANISATION: Reading Borough Council 
 

  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report presents the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26 (annexed as 

Appendix A) for approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 

1.2 Following publication of the Governments national suicide prevention strategy - 
Preventing Suicide in England, a cross governmental strategy to save lives (HM 
Government, 2012), councils were given the responsibility of developing local suicide 
strategies and action plans through their work with Health and Wellbeing Boards, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and wider partners.  
 

1.3 This strategy has been developed through the work of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention 
Group, that has representation of partners across the system, and is founded upon local 
data, intelligence and knowledge. 

 
1.4 Appendix A: Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26 

Appendix B: Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26: Equality Impact Assessment  
Appendix C: Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26: Climate Assessment 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board, having considered the Equality Impact 
Assessment (annexed as Appendix B) and the Climate Assessment (annexed as 
Appendix C) approves the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2021-26) as set 
out in Appendix A. 
 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Following the publication of the Governments national strategy for England, Preventing 

Suicide in England, a cross governmental strategy to save lives (HM Government, 2012) all 
local authorities are responsible for developing suicide prevention plans through the work 
of their Health and Wellbeing Boards, Clinical Commissioning Groups and wider partners. 
It is also reinforced by the Mental Health Taskforce’s report to NHS England, The Five 
Year Forward View for Mental Health (NHS England, 2016). 

 

Page 295

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Karen.buckley@reading.gov.uk
mailto:Karen.buckley@reading.gov.uk


3.2 The national strategy stresses the importance of engaging with a wide network of 
stakeholders to develop and deliver these strategies and plans to reduce suicide. Locally, 
this takes the form of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Group.     

 
 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1.1 This strategy builds on the previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2020) 

and serves as a refresh of that strategy, where we take forward the key underlying 
principles and identify new priorities. 

 
4.2 The vision for this strategy is ‘To reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the life 

course and ensure better knowledge and action around self-harm’. 
 
4.3  The strategy has been developed by the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Group, who have 

worked together to identify key priority areas, derived from local data, intelligence, 
trends and action. A small subgroup of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering 
Group was responsible for further defining the content for each of the 
priorities and providing regular updates to and receiving feedback, from the 
main steering group.   

 

4.4 The priorities of the national suicide prevention strategy (2012), and subsequent progress 
reports are the guiding principles to how we work to prevent suicide across Berkshire.  

 
The 7 principles for this strategy;  
 
1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups  
2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups  
3. Reduce access to the means of suicide  
4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide  
5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour  
6. Support research, data collection and monitoring  
7. Reduce rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk 

 
 
4.4 The five core priority areas principally address the national priority to tailor approaches 

to improve mental health in specific groups, but the commitment remains to all of the 
national principles and reducing suicide rates across all population groups. Our local 
intelligence has demonstrated a need to focus on the following key areas; 
 

1. Children and Young People  
2. Self-harm 
3. Females 
4. Economic stresses 
5. People bereaved by suicide  

 
4.5 Whilst these are the agreed strategic priorities across Berkshire, there will remain a need 

to monitor trends and risk factors, particularly from the impacts of COVID-19 and to 
respond to latest changes.  

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 
 

5.1 The strategy directly contributes to current priority 4 – ‘Reducing deaths by 
suicide’ of the Health and Wellbeing Boards strategic aims. The strategy will 
directly contribute to priority 4 and 5 in the new Berkshire West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy; 

Priority 4 – Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children 
and young people 

Page 296



Priority 5 - Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults 
 
5.2 The strategy directly meets this aim through the vision ‘To reduce deaths by suicide in 

Berkshire across the life course and ensure better knowledge and action around self-
harm’.  

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Plan does not address climate impact directly or 

indirectly, as it is focussed upon reducing suicide and self-harm across the life course. It 
is not foreseen that the strategy will have an impact on carbon emissions or resilience to 
the effects of climate change. The climate assessment is as Climate Assessment Appendix 
C. 

 
 
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1 Whilst there has been no formal public consultation, as was done previously, this strategy 

has a local focus and contains the perspectives from professionals working in the 
statutory, private and third sector organisations. Colleagues who support people who 
have been directly affected by suicide have also been involved, who we have worked 
with sensitively to engage this group with this strategy. The strategy reflects the 
commitments of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Group who worked together on 
identifying the key priorities, which have been derived from reviewing local data, 
intelligence, and information. 

 
A small subgroup of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group was responsible for 
further defining the content for each of the priorities and providing regular updates to 
and receiving feedback, from the main steering group. 

 
7.2 Not applicable 
 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy focusses upon five priority areas that have 

been chosen due to local data, intelligence and evidence, but the commitment remains 

to reduce suicide for all residents across Berkshire. Whilst the strategy will have impact 

on population groups with protected characteristics that have been prioritised, there is 

no negative impact foreseen. Equality and diversity has been consistently considered 

throughout the development of this strategy. The Equality Impact Assessment is annexed 

as Appendix B. 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Not applicable 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
11.1 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (NHS England, 2016). 

National strategy for England, Preventing Suicide in England, a cross governmental 
strategy to save lives (HM Government, 2012) 

 

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



Berkshire
Suicide
Prevention
Strategy 
2021-2026

Page 299



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy2 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 3

Contents
 Impact of COVID-19          47

 Debt and poor mental health         49

 Benefits            50

 Socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour      51

 Gambling           52

 Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide   53

 Specialist Suicide Bereavement Support        56

 Support for those impacted by suicide in the workplace      57

 Glossary           58

 Berkshire Wide Action Plan         59

Authors

Karen Buckley – Acting Consultant in Public Health, Reading Borough Council  

Katie Badger – Trainee Programme Officer, Public Health, Reading Borough Council

Rachel Johnson – Senior Programme Officer, Public Health and Wellbeing, West Berkshire Council  

Janette Searle – Preventative Services Development Manager, Public Health and Wellbeing, Reading Borough Council

Sarah Shildrick - Public Health Intelligence Manager, Berkshire West Public Health Hub

Acknowledgements

We must particularly thank the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Working Group who led the development and 

content of this strategy. We must also acknowledge our colleagues on the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering 

Group who helped to navigate the strategic direction of this strategy. Acknowledgements also extend wider to 

additional partners who also gave up their time to contribute to the development of this strategy and action plan.

Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Working Group

Charlotte Littlemore - Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council  

Fiona Price – Age UK Berkshire

Giovanni Ferri - NHS East Berkshire CCG  

Holli Dalgliesh – Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council   

Jennie Green – Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust  

Patricia Pease - Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust  

Richard Tredgett – Reading Samaritans  

Sarah Shildrick – Berkshire West Public Health Hub  

Sue McLaughlin – Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

Yvonne Mhlanga - NHS Berkshire West CCG 

 Authors            3

 Acknowledgements          3

 Foreword           6

 Executive summary          7

 Background           11

 National context          11

 Impact of COVID-19          12

 Suicide rates in England and Wales        13

 Age and gender England and Wales        13

 Suicide rates in Berkshire          15

 Age and gender Berkshire         17

 Occupation group          20

 Seasonal variation          21

 Deprivation           21

 Real-time surveillance system data        22

 Berkshire audits and deep-dive analyses        25

 Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018)         25

 Berkshire 0-25 Audit (2020)         26

 Berkshire female deaths deep-dive analysis (2021)      26

 Local development of this strategy        26

 Methodology           28

 Principles           28

 Vision            28

 Priority areas for action          29

 Governance           29

 Priority Area 1: Children and young people       30

 Experience of adversity or trauma        31

 Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic        33

 Neurodiversity           34

 Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning and ace (LGBTQ+)    35

 Transitioning from childhood to adulthood       35

 Priority area 2: Self-harm         37

 Young people and self-harm         38

 Understanding self-harm and its link to suicide risk      39

 Hospital admissions for self-harm        41

 Mental health and self-harm         42

 Priority area 3: Female suicide deaths        43

 Perinatal mental health          43

 Domestic abuse           45

 Parental or carer stress          43

 Priority area 4: Economic factors        46

P
age 300



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy4 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 5

Sandra Weldon – CCSS    

Selina Patankar-Owens – Reading University  

Sophie Wing-King –Bracknell Forest Council  

Ross Little – Berkshire West Hub

Steve Melanophy – Network Rail 

Sue McLaughlin - Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

Sultana Pasha  -  MTR Elizabeth Line

Sushma Acquilla – Berkshire West Hub

Victoria Charlesworth – Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

William Ayella – Slough Borough Council    

Hazel Walsh Atkins, Wokingham SoBS 

Yvonne Mhlanga - NHS Berkshire West CCG 

Zoe Byrne – Victim Support 

 

Additional partners 

Andy Fitton – NHS Berkshire West CCG  

Hayley Rees – Wokingham Council  

Jenny Fennessy – Kooth  

Karen Keuhne – Wokingham Borough Council  

Katherine Davis – Bracknell Forest Council  

Lauren Rochat -  Reading Borough Council  

Liz Tait - Reading Borough Council  

Susannah Jordan - East Berkshire Frimley CCG  

Valbona Dimiri -  Reading Borough Council

Directors of Public Health

Meradin Peachey - Director of Public Health for Berkshire West

Stuart Lines - Director of Public Health for Berkshire East

Public Health Consultants 

Anna Richards – Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead

Charlotte Pavitt – Bracknell Forest Council

Heema Shukla – Bracknell Forest Council

Ingrid Slade – Wokingham Borough Council

Matthew Pearce – West Berkshire Council

Sarah Rayfield – West Berkshire Council

Suzanne Foley – Slough Borough Council

Sushma Acquilla – Berkshire West Hub

David Munday – Reading Borough Council 

Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group 

Alexandra Beever – Thames Valley Police  

Alison Kramer – Network Rail   

Annalise Steggall - Royal Berkshire Hospital  

Annie Yau-Karim – Bracknell Forest Council   

Barbara Denyer - Samaritans of Bracknell, Wokingham, Ascot & Districts

Belinda Dixon – Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council   

Catherine Williams – Victim Support   

Charlotte Littlemore  - Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council  

Chris Allen – Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust  

David Colchester – Thames Valley Police  

Debbie Daly – NHS Wokingham CCG 

Debbie Hartrick - NHS East Berkshire CCG  

Deirdre Race - Frimley Health NHS foundation trust  

Garry Poulson – Volunteer Centre West Berkshire

Gemma Dummet – Wokingham Borough Council

Giovanni Ferri – NHS East Berkshire CCG  

Gwen Bonner – Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 

Gwen Wild - The Coroners’ Courts Support Service

Hazel Walsh Atkins - Wokingham Sobs

Heather Craddock - Trust House Reading  

Ian Stiff -Victim Support

Janette Searle – Oxfordshire Mind

Jerry Dixon – Newbury Samaritans 

Jillian Hunt - Bracknell Forest Council  

Jo Tippett – Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust  

Jonathan Groenen – Thames Valley Police  

Jules Twells - Samaritans Central Office, Wales & Western 

Karen Buckley - Reading Borough Council  

Katie Badger – Reading Borough Council   

Katie Simpson - South Meadow Surgery  

Kimberley Carter – Network Rail  

Monica Wyatt - Samaritans of Bracknell, Wokingham, Ascot & Districts

Nadia Barakat – NHS Frimley CCG  

Natasha Berthollier – Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 

Nic Wildin-Singh – Thames Valley Police  

Lara Stavrinou – Compass Recovery College, Reading Borough Council  

Patricia Pease – Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust  

Rachel Johnson – West Berkshire Council   

Reuben Pearce - Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 

Richard Tredgett - Reading Samaritans  

Ryan Dunstan – NHS Frimley CCG 

Sally Murray - NHS Berkshire West CCG    

P
age 301



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy6 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 7

Suicide prevention remains a key public health issue both locally and nationally. Strong multi-agency working, public 

health leadership and robust suicide prevention plans are core to this prevention. This suicide prevention strategy for 

Berkshire encompasses these core elements and sets out our action locally to reduce suicide and self-harm, based 

on local intelligence, data and strategic priorities.

There were 26.8 years of life lost per 100,000 population from suicide across Berkshire on average between 2017-

19. Age specific rates are broadly in line with the England average, peaking in the 50-59-year-old age band before 

decreasing until the age of 80 plus years. Real time surveillance system (RTSS) data tells us that within Berkshire, 

female suicides have increased year on year since it started being collected in 2017. 

Since the publication of our previous suicide prevention strategy, a Berkshire wide suicide audit has been undertaken 

(in 2018). Because of the concerns highlighted in this audit and routine RTSS monitoring a female deep-dive analysis 

was undertaken. NHS England also supported a 0-25 audit because of national trends reflected locally too.  This 

local data and intelligence have been central to the development of the priorities of this refreshed strategy, and 

in collaboration with system partners. Research and data monitoring will continue to be a key focus for suicide 

prevention within Berkshire, providing opportunity to review approaches and prioritise efforts accordingly. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated existing inequalities in suicide risk and has posed new challenges for 

different groups within the population. The impact of the pandemic on mental health and suicide risk across the 

lifecourse remains largely unknown, therefore monitoring and mitigation of risk it is a priority for this strategy.

This strategy builds on the previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2020) and serves as a refresh of that 

strategy, where we take forward the key underlying principles and identify new priorities. These were developed by 

working with our key partners across the system and making good use of local data and intelligence. 

There are seven priority areas for action recommended by the national suicide prevention strategy and subsequent 

progress reports as follows:

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups  

2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups  

3. Reduce access to the means of suicide  

4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide 

5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour 

6. Support research, data collection and monitoring

7. Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator for suicide risk

This strategy principally focusses upon the second priority area – ‘tailor approaches to improve mental health in 

specific groups’, but the commitment remains to all principles and reducing suicide for all groups. 

The vision for this strategy is ‘To reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the lifecourse and ensure better 

Executive SummaryForeword

In England, 5,691 people tragically took their own lives in 20191. Reducing this number is of upmost importance 

nationally and locally and remains a key public health priority. Locally we have seen an increase in female suicide 

rates, and growing concern over the suicide rates in younger age groups, with the suicide rate in the 20-29 year-old 

age group being significantly higher than all other age groups (2015-2019).

Suicide is one of the most tragic events for families, friends and communities, with life-long consequences. Those 

bereaved by suicide are particularly vulnerable to suicide attempts and death by suicide, therefore support for those 

grieving is of paramount importance. 

We know that individual’s health and wellbeing has been significantly affected throughout the course of the pandemic 

and will continue to be affected in the long-term. This strategy recognises this, and across Berkshire, partners and 

communities will continue to work resolutely towards mitigating the impact of the pandemic on suicide risk. 

All stages of life have been considered to develop this strategy and action plan, with the acknowledgement that 

risk factors at all stages of life must be considered to develop a truly preventative approach. Everyone in society has 

a part to play in preventing suicides, whether it is a member of the public asking “Are you OK”, investing in good 

mental wellbeing programmes, removing the triggers, supporting young people through the transitional period into 

adulthood, or ensuring prompt treatment from mental health services.

This strategy helps the people and professionals of Berkshire to understand some of the factors that contribute to 

suicide in Berkshire and raises awareness of how we can all contribute to preventing deaths by suicide.

Stuart Lines - Director of Public Health for Berkshire East

Meradin Peachey - Director of Public Health for Berkshire West.
 

1 Suicide rates in England and Wales 2019 registrations. ONS. Available Suicides in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk). Last accessed 31/08/21

P
age 302



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy8 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 9

2c)  Support the system to adopt a needs-led approach for neurodiverse children and young people, particularly 

 in the prevention and early intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the community.

2d)  To explore improving data capture on sexual orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote this across the 

 suicide prevention system.

2e)  To work with local organisations and charities who work with the LGTBQ+ community on suicide prevention.  

2f )  To raise awareness of the impact of the transitional period (children moving into adulthood) on the mental 

 health impact and the risks of suicide during this period for children and young people. 

2g)  To link with the work across the BOB and Frimley ICS on the ease of access to shared care records across 

 system partners for transition population (children moving into adulthood).

2h)  To support higher education establishments within Berkshire, including universities to adopt a needs-led 

 approach to neurodiversity.

Priority area 2: Self-harm

3a) Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and encourage help seeking behaviour and self-care.

3b)  Help friends, family and professionals understand the physical and emotional signs of self-harm, how they 

 can help and where they can get support.   

3c)  Explore the impact of self-harm on parents and siblings on their own mental health and wellbeing.

3d)  Regularly review local intelligence and data on self-harm at the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group, 

 ensuring additional relevant data from a wide range of sources are included (e.g. development of RTSS to 

 include self-harm, ambulance service data, primary care and schools).

3e)  Working with Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the prevention of self-

 harm by increasing resilience and general coping skills and support for those who self-harm.

Priority area 3: Female Suicide Deaths

4a)  Link with the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, Berkshire West (BOB) and Frimley local maternity systems on 

 suicide risks in the perinatal period.

4b)  To explore data collection on the perinatal period; risk factors and the link to suicide including data captured 

 in the RTSS.

4c)  Promote the need for clear pathways and knowledge exchange between domestic abuse and mental health 

 services.   

4d)  Improve data collection of domestic abuse data in RTSS.  

4e)  Include domestic abuse indicators in the Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the link between 

 domestic abuse and suicide.

4f )  Provide information to domestic abuse services on how to respond to concerns where clients may be self-

 harming or considering suicide (whether the client is a victim, survivor, perpetrator or child or young person).

4g)  Raise awareness of the information, resources and services available for parents and carers who are 

 experiencing stress, through inputting into local campaigns. 

knowledge and action around self-harm’. In order to achieve this vision, this strategy is centred upon local data, 

trends and action, and has 5 core priority areas agreed across the 6 local authorities, forming a Berkshire wide action plan.

1. Children and Young People; including the impact of trauma and adversity, recovery from COVID-19, 

 neurodiversity, LGBTQ+ and transitions

2. Self-harm; as a risk factor, groups vulnerable to self-harm, hospital admissions, mental health, young people 

 and self harm

3. Female suicide deaths; including perinatal mental health, domestic abuse, parental or carer stress

4. Economic factors; including the impact of COVID-19, debt and poor mental health, benefits, socio-economic 

 disadvantage and gambling

5. Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide; including local suicide bereavement support,   

 specialist suicide bereavement support, and those impacted by suicide in the workplace

Recommendations

The following are recommendations for this strategy, which will form the Berkshire wide action plan for 2021-26.

Overarching recommendations:

1a)  To continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through RTSS data and 

 respond to any identified trends.

1b)  To continue to monitor the wider trends emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on people’s mental health 

 and suicide risk across the lifecourse, and to support the system to take action where required.

1c) To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit.  

1d)  Undertake regular reviews of information, resources and channels for people affected by suicide.

1e)  Hold an annual multi-agency conference on a range of topics to share information and best practice and 

 raise awareness to the risks for suicide.

1f )  Invite additional partners across the System within Berkshire, including the voluntary and community sector 

 to join the Suicide Prevention Group for improved cross-topic working.

1g) Set up sub-groups of the Suicide Prevention Group, informed by local intelligence and data, where there is 

 a need to focus upon a risk factor or group within the population.

Priority area 1: Children and Young People

2a)  To raise awareness of the link between trauma and adversity, and suicide across the life course. 

2b)  Continued investment into the Be Well campaign to encourage the importance of looking after emotional 

 wellbeing, in addition to signposting to local mental health services and support in order to prevent self-

 harm and suicide in children, young people, and women. 

P
age 303



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy10 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 11

Background

National context

Every suicide is a tragedy. It has life changing impacts for those bereaved, and profound impacts on communities 

and services. Suicide is preventable, not inevitable. Strong multi-agency partnership working, suicide prevention 

groups and a robust strategy are key to this prevention. 

The 2012 national suicide prevention strategy – ‘Preventing suicide in England: A cross government outcomes 

strategy to save lives’ (DHSC 2012)2 alongside five subsequent progress reports (DHSC 2014, 2015, 2017, 2019, 2021) 34567

sets out seven areas for priority and action, that all local suicide prevention plans should cover on a long-term basis, 

which are the guiding principles in this strategy:

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups 

2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups 

3. Reduce access to the means of suicide 

4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide 

5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour 

6. Support research, data collection and monitoring

7. Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator for suicide risk

A practical resource for suicide prevention planning produced by Public Health England (2020)8 recommends short 

term actions with a co-ordinated whole systems approach for local plans, alongside the seven priority areas of the 

national strategy in the long-term. 

The most recent national confidential inquiry into suicide and safety in mental health (NCISH) 2021 provides findings 

relating to people who have died by suicide in the UK between 2008 and 20189. The report recommends that tackling 

inequalities remains a priority, areas should continue to understand the specific needs for different groups, monitor 

demands for mental health providers and engage with the voluntary and community sector. Plans must also address 

the specific needs of the populations they cover.

Priority area 4: Economic Factors 

5a) Work with colleagues to raise awareness of the risk between debt, mental health and suicide risk among 

 frontline professionals and the wider public. Awareness raising needs to;  

 • reduce the stigma of ‘being in debt’ and signpost to access debt and benefit advice and support. 

  This information also needs to be shared with frontline professionals  

 • encourage people in debt to reach out for help to reduce impact on mental health  

 • encourage people with poor mental health to reach out for debt advice  

5b)  Support frontline professionals to feel comfortable about talking about debt and financial problems and the 

 link to poor mental health and suicide risk and what support is available. 

5c)  Support Berkshire local authorities with a single point of access information site around money matters. 

5d)  Ensure compassionate debt collection.  Make sure the process is supportive and aims to steer residents to 

 places that can provide help and support. Support vulnerable groups at increased risk of debt including 

 people with long-term conditions or disabilities.

5e)  Work with key partners to actively promote services that provide help around navigating the benefits system 

 and potentially increasing people’s incomes.  

5f )  Make sure that all parts of the health service where patients showing suicidal intent first make contact, are  

 signposted or triaged appropriately using a process that includes debts and other economic stresses as risk 

 factors. 

5g)  Work with system partners on the early identification and support of people who are at increased risk of debt 

 and financial concerns (e.g. unemployed or people with long-term conditions) as early as possible and offer 

 effective support to manage personal finances through appropriate referral pathways.  

5h)  Monitor local data and intelligence on levels of problem gambling within Berkshire and its link to suicide. 

Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide

6a)  Ensure our local bereavement offer is culturally and ethnically appropriate for different groups within 

 communities to develop resources and services.  

6b)  Continued support to the volunteer led local SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a peer-to-peer 

 support service.    

6c)  Building in bereavement support to extend to wider family members, friends and communities. 

6d)  Continue to commission suicide bereavement support services and monitor its impact.

6e)  Explore training opportunities for colleagues and workplaces impacted by suicide. 

6f )  Work with Thames Valley Police and other first responders to a suicide, to share appropriate resources with 

 employers.

2  Preventing Suicide in England: A cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2012) Available Suicide prevention strategy for  
 England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 31/08/21
3   Preventing suicide in England: One year on First annual report on the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives. HM Government (2014) Available First annual report 
 on the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21
4  Preventing suicide in England two years on: Second annual report on the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2015)  
 Available Suicide prevention: second annual report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21
5  Preventing suicide in England: Third progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2017) Available Suicide  
 prevention: third annual report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21
6  Preventing suicide in England: Fourth progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2017) Available
 Preventing suicide in England: fourth progress report of the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21
7  Preventing suicide in England: Fifth progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Available Suicide  
 prevention in England: fifth progress report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21
8  Local Suicide Prevention Planning: A Practical Resource. PHE (2020) Available PHE_LA_Guidance_25_Nov.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 18/08/12
9  National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health. Annual report: 2021 The University of Manchester (2021). Available NCISH | Annual report 2021: England,  
 Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

P
age 304



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy12 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 13

The definition of suicide used for National Statistics includes all deaths from intentional self-harm for persons aged 

10 years and over and deaths caused by injury or poisoning where the intent was undetermined for those aged 

15 or over. Figures are based on the date on which the death was registered rather than the date which the death 

occurred.   All deaths cannot be defined as caused by suicide until certified by a Coroner following an inquest, and 

so the death cannot be registered as a suicide until the inquest is complete. This can take months or even years, and 

this delay between death, inquest, and registration will have been further increased during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

In July 2018, the standard of proof used by coroners to determine if a death was caused by suicide was lowered. This 

may in part account for increases in the numbers of deaths recorded as suicides before and after this date, although 

the impact of this change appears to be relatively minor13.  Initial findings suggest that the increases in suicide in 

2018 appeared to begin prior to the July change indicating a real increase in numbers not attributable to the coding 

change.

  

The suicide rate in England and Wales in 2019 was 11 per 100,000. Rates increased from the previous year for both 

males and females. Males accounted for three-quarters of suicides in England and Wales in 2019 and the male suicide 

rate in England was the highest seen since 2000. The suicide rate for males in the South East increased significantly 

to 16.8 per 100,000 from 13.5 per 100,000 in 2018. 

Age and Gender England and Wales

Since the early 1980s rates in suicide by age have shown a consistent pattern, peaking among the middle-aged 

(40-54 years) before decreasing until the ages of 80-84, from which they begin to rise.  Male suicide rates have seen 

a recent increase since 2017 in those aged 10 to 24 years, 25 to 44 years and 45 to 64 years although there has been 

an overall decrease in suicides since a peak in the late 80’s. There was a marked decrease in female suicides between 

1981 and the mid 1990’s which was mainly driven by a decrease in rates in females aged over 44. Suicide rates in the 

10 to 24 and 25 to 44-year-old age group have been historically low and stable.   In 2019, the female suicide rate for 

those aged 10 to 24 years in England and Wales was the highest recorded since 1981. The rate has increased by 93.8% 

from 1.6 deaths per 100,000 in 1981 to 3.1 deaths per 100,000 in 2019. The rate among females aged 25 to 44 years 

saw a significant increase from 4.5 to 6.1 deaths per 100,000 between 2016 and 2019. 

Suicide Rates in England and Wales

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated inequalities in suicide risk and has presented new challenges for different 

groups of the population10, therefore monitoring impact and taking early action must be of paramount importance.

 

The COVID-19 Mental Health and Wellbeing Recovery Action Plan sets out a broad plan covering 2021 to 2022 

in response to the mental health impacts of the pandemic, which will form the foundation for future policy 

development and delivery as knowledge and understanding of the impacts of the pandemic as it grows. Actions 

and commitments within the plan aim to support people at risk of self-harm or suicide. This includes supporting the 

population to take action and look after their mental wellbeing, preventing the onset of mental health difficulties 

and supporting specialist services to continue to expand and transform to meet needs11. 

In 2020, the NCISH Team was particularly concerned with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and measures 

to control transmission, e.g. lockdowns12. They published a report comparing the months pre-lockdown (January-

March 2020) to post-lockdown (April-August 2020), concluding that there was no evidence of the large national rise 

in suicide post-lockdown that many feared. Although suicide rates appeared to be higher in 2020 than in 2019, the 

context was an upward trend noted pre-pandemic, alongside improvements in local data capture. An important 

caveat to this NCISH finding was that the national team could not rule out higher rates in some local areas or 

population subgroups, with the possibility of elevated rates for some being masked by suppressed rates for others. 

The Chair of the National Suicide Prevention Strategy Advisory Group has also recommended particular vigilance 

regarding data on suicide rates in younger people and in those with previous contact with secondary mental health 

services. Another caveat is that other data sets indicate an increase in risk factors for suicide – such as poorer mental 

health and increased economic pressure – linked to COVID-19, and this could lead to increased suicide rates in the 

longer term.  

Recommendation 1a: To continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through 

RTSS data and respond to any identified trends.

Recommendation 1b:  To continue to monitor the wider trends emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on people’s 

mental health and suicide risk across the lifecourse, and to support the system to take action where required.

Impact of COVID-19

10 One year on: How the coronavirus pandemic has affected wellbeing and suicidality. Samaritans (2021). Available Samaritans_Covid_1YearOn_Report_2021.pdf Last
 accessed 17/08/21
11 COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action plan Our plan to prevent, mitigate and respond to the mental health impacts of the pandemic during 2021 to 2022. 
 HM Government (2021). Available COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action plan (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 17/08/21
12  Suicide in England since the COVID-19 pandemic - early figures from real-time surveillance NCISH (2020) Available display.aspx (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed 02/09/21 13  Change in the standard of proof used by coroners and the impact on suicide death registrations data in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics. 

P
age 305



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy14 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 15

Table 1 shows the number of deaths in Berkshire local authorities due to suicide over a rolling three-year time 

period. There was a total of 198 deaths from suicide in Berkshire between 2017 and 2019. This translates to an age-

standardised rate of 8.7 per 100,000 population. There has been a non-statistically significant increase in the rate from 

2016-1814.

In 2017-19, rates were highest in Reading and West Berkshire. Wokingham has the lowest rate of suicide. There 

were 26.8 years of life lost per 100,000 population from suicide across Berkshire on average between 2017-19. West 

Berkshire has the highest average life years lost at 33 per 100,000 population. However, this is not significantly higher 

than the South East or England average.

It is important to note that it is difficult to make clear comparisons between areas due to the random fluctuation that 

can be seen in statistics calculated from small numbers. None of the differences between areas described above or 

seen in table 1 are statistically significant.

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

Suicide Rates in Berkshire
Figure 1: Suicide patterns by age

Source: Office for National Statistics – Suicides in England and Wales 2019

Nationally, the percentage of suicides caused by hanging, strangulation and suffocation has increased in recent years. 

These account for 62% of suicides among males and 47% of suicides among females. The second most common 

method of suicide is poisoning, accounting for 16% of male suicides and 33% of female suicides.

Age-specific suicide rates by sex and five year
age groups, England and Wales, registered in 2019

Ag
e-

sp
ec

ifi
c 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

Age Group

Persons

Male

Female

Number of deaths Age-standardised rate per 
100,000

Years of life lost due to suicide, 
age-standardised rate

15-74 years: per 10,000
population (3-year average)

2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19

England 13846 14047 14788 9.6 9.6 10.1 30.8 31.3 33.0

South East 
Region 2230 2194 2299 9.4 9.2 9.6   

Bracknell 
Forest

32 27 28 10.4 9.1 9.1 28.4 23.6 26.3

Slough 30 38 31 7.7 10.1 8.9 29.8 34.2 25.7

Windsor and
Maidenhead

33 33 32 8.5 8.5 8.0 34.3 32.2 25.4

Reading 33 28 38 8.0 7.2 9.9 23.9 18.6 26.2

West
Berkshire

35 35 40 8.4 8.5 9.7 26.8 28.8 32.9

Wokingham 35 29 29 8.1 6.7 6.8 22.9 21.4 24.0

Berkshire 198 190 198 8.5 8.3 8.7 27.7 26.5 26.8

Table 1: Suicides in Berkshire

14 ONS, analysed by Public Health

P
age 306



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy16 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 17

Figure 3: Suicide rates in Berkshire West Local Authorities

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

Age and Gender Berkshire

Since the 1980s age-specific suicide rates in England have shown a consistent pattern, peaking among the middle-

aged (40-54 years) before decreasing until the ages of 80-84, from which they begin to rise. In order to assess age-

specific suicide rates in Berkshire, it is necessary to pool together five years’ worth of data. This is done to reduce the 

chance of identifying differences that have occurred at random within the data, which is more likely to happen when 

numbers are relatively small. It allows identification of statistically significant differences between groups.

When looking at this data over time, the rates of suicide across Berkshire have remained relatively stable since 2001-03. 

Rates in Slough have stayed close to the national and regional averages since 2001-03. Rates in Windsor and 

Maidenhead decreased significantly below national and regional averages in 2008-10 and 2012-14, but are now in 

line with the national and regional averages (2017-19). Rates in Bracknell Forest similarly dropped significantly below 

national and regional averages for the two consultative time periods of 2006-08 and 2007-09 and then again in 2012-

14, but again are now in line with the national and regional averages in the time period up to and including 2017-19. 

Figure 2: Suicide rates in Berkshire East Local Authorities

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

Rates in Reading have stayed close to the national and regional averages since 2001-03. Rates in West Berkshire 

dropped significantly below national and regional averages for the two consecutive time periods of 2013-15 and 

2014-16, but are back in line with national and regional averages in the time period up to and including 2017-19. 

Rates in Wokingham are consistently below the regional and national averages, being significantly lower between 

2001 and 2007 and again between 2010 and 2015. They remain lower in the time period up to and including 2017-19 

although the difference is no longer significant.

Age-standardised mortality from suicide and injury
of undetermined intent per 100,000 Berkshire
East Local Authorities

Ag
e-

st
an

da
rd

ise
d 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

England

South East

Bracknell Forest

Slough

Windsor & Maidenhead

3-year time period

Age-standardised mortality from suicide and injury of
undetermined intent per 100,000 Berkshire West
Local Authorities

Ag
e-

st
an

da
rd

ise
d 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

England

South East

Wokingham

West Berkshire

Reading

3-year time period

P
age 307



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy18 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 19

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

The numbers of female suicides at a local authority level are very small. There were 41 female suicides across all 

Berkshire local authorities between 2017 and 2019. Age-standardised rates can only be calculated for Reading, and 

Windsor and Maidenhead local authorities for this time period, as these are the only local authorities with 10 or 

more female suicides. The 2017-19 female suicide rate for Reading is 5.5 per 100,000 and the rate for Windsor and 

Maidenhead is 5 per 100,000. These figures are both in line with England (4.9 per 100,000) and the South East Region 

(4.8 per 100,000). 

Figure 4: Age-specific suicide rates

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

Age-specific suicide rates in Berkshire generally show a similar pattern to the national picture. They peak in the 

50-59-year-old age band before decreasing until the age of 80 plus years. In Berkshire, suicide rates in the 40-49-year-

old age group (57 per 100,000) and in the 50-59-year-old age group (63 per 100,000) are significantly higher than the 

average for all age groups (37 per 100,000). Nationally, suicide rates in males aged 10 to 24 years, and 25 to 44 years 

have been increasing since 2017. In 2019, the suicide rate among females aged 10 to 24 years in England and Wales 

is the highest recorded since 1981. In Berkshire, the suicide rate in the 20-29-year-old age group is significantly higher 

(55 per 100,000) than the average for all age groups. 

In England, three quarters of all suicides are male suicides. In Berkshire between 2017 and 2019, the male age-

standardised suicide rate was 14.1 per 100,000 which is lower than the rate for England (15.5 per 100,000) and similar 

to the rate for the South East (14.6 per 100,000). The proportion of suicides that were male suicides for Berkshire local 

authorities between 2017 and 2019 range from 69% in Windsor and Maidenhead to 90% in Slough. Age-standardised 

rates for male suicides range from 11.1 per 100,00 in Wokingham and Windsor and Maidenhead, to 16. 6 per 100,000 

in Bracknell Forest. Numbers are too small to detect any statistically significant differences between Berkshire local 

authorities, or between Berkshire local authorities and the regional and national averages but do suggest some 

variation between areas in both the male suicide rate and the proportional of all suicides that are male suicides.

Age-specific suicide rates by ten-year age groups
Berkshire 2015-19 (5-year pooled data)

Ag
e-

sp
ec

ifi
c 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Age band

Male deaths Male age-standardised
rate per 100,000

Proportion of all deaths
by suicide that are

male deaths

2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19

England 10392 10592 11145 14.7 14.9 15.5 75% 75% 75%

South East 
Region 1643 1606 1707 14.3 13.9 14.6 74% 73% 74%

Bracknell 
Forest

30 24 24 19.7 16.9 16.6 94% 89% 86%

Slough 26 34 28 13.0 17.9 16.0 87% 89% 90%

Windsor and
Maidenhead

20 21 22 10.7 11.1 11.1 61% 64% 69%

Reading 27 20 28 13.2 10.4 13.8 82% 71% 74%

West
Berkshire

27 28 32 13.5 14.0 15.8 77% 80% 80%

Wokingham 25 19 23 12.0 9.1 11.1 71% 66% 79%

Berkshire 155 146 157 13.7 13.2 14.1 78% 77% 79%

Table 2: Male suicides

P
age 308



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy20 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 21

A count of the number of suicides in Berkshire by the season in which death occurred does not reveal any seasonal 

variation, ranging from 70 in the Winter to 95 in the Autumn (see Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation in England. It is an overall 

measure of deprivation experienced by people living in every Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA), or neighbourhood, 

in England. All neighbourhoods are ranked according to their level of deprivation and are grouped into 10 equal 

groups (deciles). These groups describe each area based on which decile of the IMD it falls into. Group 1 being the 

most deprived 10% and group 10 being the least deprived 10%. 

Neighbourhoods in Berkshire are not evenly distributed across these 10 national deciles with neighbourhoods 

in some Local Authority areas in Berkshire being heavily skewed towards the least deprived deciles. Therefore, to 

assist in looking at suicide data in Berkshire by deprivation, Berkshire neighbourhoods have been ranked in order 

of deprivation when compared to all other neighbourhoods in Berkshire. They have been split into 5 equal groups 

(quintiles) in order to describe each neighbourhood in terms of how deprived it is in relation to all other Berkshire 

neighbourhoods. Group 1 neighbourhoods are the least deprived in Berkshire, group 5 neighbourhoods are the 

most deprived in Berkshire. 

Suicide rates are lowest amongst people living in the least deprived areas (32 per 100,000 in quintile 5) and higher 

amongst those living in the more deprived areas (49 per 100,000 in quintiles 1 & 2), although this is not statistically significant. 

Figure 5: Suicide rates by deprivation

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

Seasonal Variation

Office of National Statistics (ONS) death registration statistics categorise a person’s occupation using the Standard 

Occupational Classification (SOC) 2010. The analysis below looks at the Major SOC Group of people who have died 

from suicide or an injury of undetermined intent who were resident in Berkshire and who died between 2015 and 

2019. Anyone aged less than 16 has been excluded. ‘Student’ is not included in the SOC so this category has been 

added based on the occupation recorded on the death registration. This resulted in 237 deaths being included in the 

analysis based on data on deaths registered between 2015 and 2019. 

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

In Berkshire, between 2015 and 2019, a quarter of people dying from suicide had an occupation group of ‘Skilled 

Trades Occupations’ (26%).

Occupation Group

Major Occupation Group

Deaths from 
suicide and 

injury of 
undetermined 
intent 2015-19

% of all deaths 
from suicide 
and injury of 

undetermined 
intent

Lower
limit

Upper
limit

Administrative and Secretarial Occupations * * * *

Associate Professional Occupations 31 13% 9% 18%

Caring, Leisure and Other Service Occupations 18 8% 5% 12%

Elementary Occupations 26 11% 8% 16%

Managers, Directors and Senior Officials 22 9% 6% 14%

Process, Plant and Machine Operatives 20 8% 6% 13%

Professional Occupations 30 13% 9% 17%

Sales and Customer Service Occupations * * * *

Skilled Trades Occupations 61 26% 21% 32%

Student 14 6% 4% 10%

Total Deaths 237

Table 3: Major Occupation Groups

Deprivation

Suicide rates by deprivation quintile within Berkshire 2015-19
(5-year pooled data)

Cr
au

de
 ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00

Deprivation quintile (1 is most deprived)

P
age 309



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy22 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 23

Almost 80% of suspected suicides had information detailing relationship status collected via the RTSS. Of those with known 

relationship status, 40% were single (35% of females and 43% of males). Relationship status varies by gender with females 

been significantly more likely to be in a relationship (not including marriage and civil partnerships) than males.

Figure 7: Suspected suicides by relationship status and gender

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data

67% of suspected suicides occurred in a person’s own home, 20% occurred in a place accessible by the general 

public and the remainder occurred in a communal establishment or hotel.  Analysis of method of suicides indicate 

a similar pattern to the national picture with hanging, strangulation, and suffocation recorded for 66% of suspected 

suicides and poisoning recorded for 20% of suspected suicides. 

As part of RTSS, information is collected on medical history of the individual including known illnesses, contact with 

health services, and anything else that may be relevant. There is also a section for describing the circumstances leading 

up to the death. These are extracted and summarised to provide a description of any individual circumstances that 

may be relevant to the potential suicide. For the purpose of this strategy, these circumstances have been grouped 

into 10 categories. This will not be a full and complete picture of the circumstances leading to individual deaths but 

will be indicative of patterns at a population level that may warrant further investigation.

From the 187 potential suicides where information was provided around the relevant medical history and/or the 

circumstances leading to death, 41% had multiple or complex mental health issues. A further 33% have a history 

of anxiety and/or depression. Other reported factors included alcohol or substance misuse in the absence of any 

other recorded mental health issue (7%) and poor physical health (6%). Previous suicide attempts were mentioned in 

relation to 22 deaths (12%). Direct links to the Covid-19 pandemic were flagged in 8 suspected suicides. 

Because of the delay between a death by suicide being counted in the ONS data, Local Real Time Surveillance Systems 

(RTSSs) have been developed to allow early data capture and sharing of information amongst key partners working 

on suicide prevention. This means that ahead of a formal verdict, organisations involved in suicide prevention work 

can review incidents so that trends or patterns can be spotted and acted on quickly, e.g. in terms of enhanced 

surveillance or additional promotion of support to groups at higher risk.  

 

Details of suspected suicides are usually gathered by a police officer attending the scene of a sudden death, but 

sometimes by a coroner’s officer receiving a sudden death report, or by a member of hospital staff. What information 

is available regarding an individual’s background and circumstances is very much dependent on what relatives or 

close friends are available to share, and how well informed they may be. 

In addition to demographic information such as gender and age, the RTSS in Berkshire captures marital status, 

occupation, local authority area of residence, GP details, known contact with mental health services, and any other 

information on circumstances which appears may be relevant to the suicide at the time of compiling the initial 

report. Since March 2020, any known impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on the individual are also noted, e.g. reduced 

access to support, impact of isolation, additional economic or other stresses.

280 suspected suicides were recorded in the Berkshire RTSS between 1st January 2017 and 27th May 2021. Two 

thirds were male. However, the gender difference in suicides recorded in the RTSS notably reduced in 2020 with 39% 

of all suspected suicides being female suicides. This can be compared to 21% of all suspected suicides being female 

suicides in 2017. The gender difference became no longer statistically significant in 2020 and this trend appears to 

be continuing into the early part of 2021.  Suspected suicides amongst females have increased year on year since 

Berkshire RTSS data began been collected in 2017

Figure 6: Suspected suicides by gender

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data

Berkshire RTSS Data - percentage of deaths by gender

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f d
ea

th
s

Year of death

Real-Time Surveillance System Data

Female

Male

%
 o

f s
us

pe
ct

ed
 su

ic
id

es
 w

ith
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
st

at
us

 re
co

rd
ed

Relationship status

Female

Male

Suspected suicides 2017 to end May 2021 - relationship status
Percentage of those with known relationship status

P
age 310



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy24 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 25

The purpose of suicide audits is to review coroner court reports to gain richer demographic, risk and protective factor 

intelligences than can be derived from the ONS data sets or from RTSS data. Deep-dive analysis is done where audit 

or RTSS data indicates concerns that require further investigation.

Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018)

The most recent Berkshire Suicide Audit covered coroner verdicts across the period 1st April 2014 through to 31st 

March 2018 and included a review of 241 hearings. 

• The Berkshire profile broadly matched the national profile in terms of gender. 

• Some age variations were noted but not at a statistically significant level.

• No statistically significant difference was found between suicide rates in areas of relative deprivation in Berkshire. 

• The majority of people included were either in full-time work (24%), unemployed (20%) or retired (18%). 

• 80% of all of those who were employed had a job title recorded and 43% of these worked in a skilled trade. 

• 6% of all people included were recorded as being in education at the time of death.  

The 2018 Audit highlighted the following personal and social factors as seen on a recurring basis in inquest reports:

• Relationship difficulties (67%)

• One or more mental health diagnosis (63%)

• One or more physical health condition (61%)

• History of self-harm (21%)

• Work-related stress (20%)

• Financial issues (19%)

• Involvement with police or courts (15%)

• Bereavement by suicide (6%)

This information is helpful in identifying risk factors which can help to target local interventions and signposting to 

support services to work towards preventing deaths by suicide. 

The 2018 Audit included a review of which services individuals were known to have been in contact with.

• 10% of all individuals were known to substance misuse services in their lifetime. 20% had a documented 

 history of alcohol misuse and 17% had documented history of drug misuse. 

• 51% of those who died and who were registered with a GP had seen their GP within 1 month prior to the 

 date of death (compared to 45% nationally). 

• 36% of all deaths occurred to people known to mental health services (compared to 33% nationally), and 

 31% of individuals had been in contact with mental health services in the 12 months prior to their death 

 (compared to 30% nationally).

This information is particularly useful in identifying which agencies to target for suicide prevention activities such as 

awareness training for staff, as well as potential locations for signposting material. It should be noted that the 2020-21 

deep dive analysis of female suicides (see below) suggests some changes in health support seeking behaviour since 

this audit was completed.

Berkshire Audits and Deep-dive Analyses
Figure 8: Suspected suicides by circumstances recorded at time of death

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data (data with underlying numbers of <5 have been suppressed)

It is likely that this data will be skewed towards the more immediately apparent factors with other, indirect 

contributing factors only coming to light through further investigation into the death. At inquest, for example, 

additional information is usually reported regarding the circumstances and personal characteristics of the person 

who died, although there is some variation between coroners’ courts and in how much information it is possible to 

confirm in individual cases.

Berkshire RTSS Data - circumtances recorded at time of death 
2017 to end May 2021

P
age 311



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy26 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 27

This deep-dive was based on RTSS data and further supplemented by further enquiries of GP practices, secondary 

mental health care (particularly Serious Incident Review findings), and of bereaved families where appropriate and 

possible, without re-traumatising. Further information from families was also gathered via contact with Berkshire’s 

specialist postvention service, where families elected to take up this service. Information was obtained from GP 

records for 80% of the women whose deaths were considered as part of this analysis. In most cases, however, little 

information was available from primary care sources to supplement what was already captured within the RTSS. 

Several GPs volunteered that the patient had not been seen by the practice for some time prior to death. Given the 

findings from the 2018 Berkshire audit that around half of the people included in that review had seen their GP within 

a month of their death, this may indicate a change in health supporting seeking behaviour during the COVID-19 

pandemic, a pattern which has been observed from other surveys over this period.

Across the period January 2020 to May 2021, female deaths were highest in Slough and Reading of the six Berkshire 

unitary areas, accounting for 26% and 37% of all female deaths respectively. Up until the age of 60, there is an 

increasing trend in the number of suicides by age. When considering 10-year age bands, deaths are highest in the 

40-49 and 50-59 year-old age groups, with these two groups accounting for 49% of deaths by suicide in females.

Although the numbers are too small to identify statistically significant themes, several issues were identified for more 

than one of the women who died:

a. A mental ill-health diagnosis and /or history of contact with mental health services (found to be the case for 

 all women where it proved possible to obtain further information from GP records)

b. Adverse Childhood Experiences - most often related to sexual abuse, but also loss of or separation from 

 parents

c. History of self-harm

d. History of alcohol or substance abuse

e. Parenting / carer stress

f. Financial stress

g. Domestic abuse

h. Workplace stresses and adjustment challenges, particularly for those in a health, care or other frontline role 

 (including childcare and police)

i. Neurodiversity

j. Bereavement and grief

k. History of disordered eating

l. Denial of suicidal intent at the time of last contact with services

Although clear and direct links to the impact of COVID-19 appear in only a small number of the cases considered 

so far, there may be other and more subtle links, such as have come to light where it has proved possible to have 

further discussion with bereaved relatives. As the pandemic and associated control measures have disrupted access 

to services for many people, this makes it more difficult to gather information about people’s circumstances just prior 

to death, e.g. via enquiries of primary care. The impact of COVID-19 remains an issue to consider.

Recommendation 1c: To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit. 

Recommendation 1d: Undertake regular reviews of information, resources and channels for people affected by 

suicide. This action is applicable to all areas of this strategy.

Berkshire 0-25 Audit (2020)

NHS England has co-ordinated a series of reviews into deaths from suicide by children and young people, including 

a Berkshire audit of people aged 0-25 who died by suicide in the period 2015-20. This focused work helps to mitigate 

against the risk of issues particularly pertinent to young people getting overlooked in an all-age approach, within 

which deaths by younger people are a minority.

For the Berkshire 0-25 Audit, information was drawn from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP), Berkshire Healthcare 

Foundation Trust, Thames Valley Police, and the Coroner’s Office. A total sample of 35 young people were included 

in the analysis. Analysis around ethnicity; and wider experience of adversity, trauma, and socio-economic risk factors 

were based on the CDOP qualitative sample of 7 young people. Key findings of the audit are highlighted below with 

an acknowledgement that caution needs to be given when deriving patterns from a relatively small sample size.

• Females were over-represented by comparison with national data (a trend mirrored in the female deep-dive 

 analysis summarised below)

• The Berkshire age profile did not align with the national picture, but indicated local peaks in the 15-19 and 

 mid 20s age ranges

• Young people from black or minority ethnic groups were over-represented by comparison to national data

• Data on faith, gender identity and sexuality were difficult to source

• Adverse childhood experiences (which includes domestic abuse, parental separation, involvement with 

 criminal justice, poverty within this audit) – were noted in 71% of cases

• Neurodiversity was an identified risk factor

• Postvention support for young people following a suicide attempt was indicated as an area for development.

Berkshire female deaths deep-dive analysis (2021)

RTSS data had highlighted an increase in the proportion of all suicides which are female suicides from 21% in 2017 to 

39% in 2020. Female suicides have shown a small but steady increase from 13  in 2017 to 24 in 2020. Whereas male 

suicides have not followed this increasing pattern but have overall decreased from 49 in 2017 to 38 in 2020. There is 

a continuing unusual pattern in the numbers of females dying by suicide in Berkshire, by comparison with previous 

years and by comparison with patterns in the RTSS data for other parts of the Thames Valley.

The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Group agreed in 2020 that the number of female suspected suicides in Berkshire 

was sufficiently unusual to convene a response group to look at cases in more depth. A sub-group was therefore 

formed to carry out a deep-dive review.

P
age 312



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy28 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 29

Vision: To reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the lifecourse and ensure better knowledge and 
action around self-harm. 

Priority areas for action

Rather than the 6 action plans from the last strategy across each local authority, there has been an agreement to 

agree common priorities for action across Berkshire.

Based on the local data, and what is happening locally, we have agreed to focus on 5 core priority areas. These 

principally address the national priority to tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups, but we 

remain committed to all our principles and reducing suicide rates across all population groups. Our local intelligence 

has demonstrated a need to focus on the following key areas;

1. Children and Young People 

2. Self-harm

3. Female suicide deaths

4. Economic factors

5. People bereaved or affected by suicide

Whilst these are our agreed strategic priorities across Berkshire, there will remain a need to monitor trends and risk 

factors, particularly from the impacts of COVID-19 and to respond to latest changes. 

Governance 

Our suicide prevention steering group is a well engaged group of stakeholders across the Berkshire system, including 

public health colleagues across the 6 local authorities, Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) colleagues across the 

2 CCG areas, representation from those bereaved suicide, and the voluntary sector. This group has worked to the 

evidence base and has responded flexibly to meet the changing patterns in deaths by suicide to prevent suicide.

Leads will be identified for each priority area, and working groups established to take these recommendations forward. 

The suicide prevention group will continue to have overall responsibility of the delivery of the recommendations set 

out in this strategy. 

Recommendation 1e: Hold an annual multi-agency conference on a range of topics to share information and best 

practice and raise awareness to the risks for suicide.

Recommendation1f: Invite additional partners across the System within Berkshire, including the voluntary and 

community sector to join the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group for improved cross-topic working.

Recommendation1g: Set up sub-groups of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group, informed by local 

intelligence and data, where there is a need to focus upon a risk factor or group within the population.

Local development of this strategy

Our previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2020 mirrors the national 2012 strategy, and so remains 

current as there has been no national update. This strategy is therefore a refresh of the previous strategy, using local 

data and intelligence to prioritise our efforts across Berkshire to reduce suicide risk. 

Methodology

This strategy has been developed with the view that it builds on and takes forward the information, knowledge and 

action that is covered in the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2020. In this sense, it is a refreshed strategy 

that benefits from utilising the expertise of members of the long-established Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering 

Group that has been in place for over five years. 

Whilst there has been no formal public consultation, as was done previously, this strategy has a local focus and contains 

the perspectives from professionals working in the statutory, private and third sector organisations. Colleagues 

who support people who have been directly affected by suicide have also been involved, who have worked with 

sensitivity to engage this group with this strategy. The strategy reflects the commitments of the Berkshire Suicide 

Prevention Steering Group who worked together on identifying the key priorities, which have been derived from 

reviewing local data, intelligence, and information. 

A small subgroup of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group was responsible for further defining the content 

for each of the priorities and providing regular updates to and receiving feedback, from the main steering group. 

Principles

This strategy is a refresh of our previous strategy, in that our priorities last time, and the priorities of the national 

strategy, are now our guiding principles to how we work to prevent suicide across Berkshire. The 7 guiding principles 

for this strategy are;

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups

2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

3. Reduce access to the means of suicide

4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide

5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour

6. Support research, data collection and monitoring

7. Reduce rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk 

Vision 

The suicide prevention group have acknowledged that there is a need for a more personalised strategic direction in how 

we prevent suicide locally, and that we need to consider risk factors across the whole lifecourse to truly prevent suicide. 

P
age 313



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy30 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 31

Priority Area 1: Children and young people
Groups highlighted to be at increased risk of death from suicide included young people who are bereaved, students, 

looked after children, young people who identify as LGBT. Previous self-harm was a crucial indicator of risk with 

around half of young people who had died by suicide having previously self-harmed.  

Within Berkshire, children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing is a strategic priority across the system. It 

is therefore important that this strategy and the work of the suicide prevention group collaborates with the system 

to ensure complementary action. This includes the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Reading, West 

Berkshire and Wokingham for which priority 4 is to ‘Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and 

young people’. Each of the three local authorities in the East (Bracknell Forest, Slough, and Windsor and Maidenhead) 

also have a strategy addressing children and young people and/or mental health as a priority for their areas. 

CCGs with system wide partners refresh their Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local 

Transformation Plans (CYP MH&WB LTP) and LTP’s cover investment within prevention, postvention and bereavement 

support for children and young people.

Key data relevant for the work of this strategy are presented under each priority area for action. A full list of local data 

around the risk factors in childhood and adolescent are presented in the suicide data deep-dive analysis JSNA. 

Five areas for action have been identified for Berkshire based on local data and intelligence; 

• Experience of adversity or trauma

• The impact of COVID-19

• Neurodiversity

• Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Questioning and Ace (LGBTQ+)

• Transitions

Experience of adversity or trauma

The 0-25 suicide audit (2020) identified that adverse childhood experiences (ACE’s) were present in 71% of the cases 

(CDOP sample of 7 young people). In addition, the female suicide deaths deep-dive analysis (2021) found that ACE’s 

were a theme common to more than one of the women who died. There is no universally agreed definition of ACE’s, 

but studies addressing issues have converged on the list below, as outline by the Early Intervention Foundation22: 

• physical abuse

• sexual abuse

• psychological abuse

• physical neglect

The UK has a relatively low rate of suicide by children and young people compared to other countries, however 

suicide is one of the leading causes of death in children and young people in the UK15. There has been growing 

concern over the rising rates of suicide and self-harm in children and young people16. Childline has reported that 

the number of referrals their counsellors have made to external agencies due to suicidal concerns has seen a steep 

increase since 2009/10 to 2018/19, from 283 to 3,518 referrals17. 

The Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health’s 2020 report into the State of Child Health notes that suicide in 

children and young people may be associated with many factors, including  poor mental health; self-harm; academic 

pressures or worries; bullying; social isolation; family environment and bereavement; relationship problems; substance 

misuse; or neglect. Adverse childhood experiences, stressors in early life and recent events also contribute to the risk. 

Suicide represents the extreme end point of mental ill-health in children and young people, there are many more 

that experience suicidal ideation, attempt suicide and an even higher number self-harming. Although most children 

and young people who self-harm may not take their own life, it is a strong risk factor for suicide in the future18. A 

retrospective study found that for every suicide death in the age range of 12 – 17 year olds, it is estimated that 

there are 100 and 1000 times more hospital attendances for self-harm for males and females respectively19. This is 

discussed in more detail within the self-harm chapter of this strategy. 

Good mental health and emotional wellbeing in children and young people can help build resilience, and in turn 

become a protective factor against suicide. The NHS five-year forward view recognises that children and young 

people are a priority group for mental health promotion and prevention. Early intervention and quick access to 

good quality care is vital – especially for children and young people. Waiting times should be substantially reduced, 

significant inequalities in access should be addressed and support should be offered while people are waiting for 

care20. 

The NCISH 2017 report on suicide by children and young people highlighted themes that should be specifically 

targeted for prevention21; 

• Support and management of family factors like mental illness or substance misuse 

• Childhood abuse 

• Bullying 

• Physical health 

• Mental ill health

• Alcohol or drug misuse 

15 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2020) State of Child Health. London: RCPCH. Available at: stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk Last accessed 10/08/21
16 Samaritans (2019) Suicide Statistics Report – Latest statistics from the UK and Northern Ireland. Surrey: Samaritans. Available at
 SamaritansSuicideStatsReport_2019_Full_report.pdf Last accessed 10/08/21
17 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2020) State of Child Health. London: RCPCH. Available at: stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk Last accessed 10/08/21
18 Bould H, Mars B, Moran P, Biddle L, Gunnell D. Rising suicide rates among adolescents in England and Wales. Lancet 2019; 394: 116–7
19 Geulayov G, Casey D, McDonald KC, et al. Incidence of suicide, hospital-presenting non-fatal self-harm, and community-occurring non-fatal self-harm in adolescents in England 
 (the iceberg model of self-harm): a retrospective study. The lancet Psychiatry 2018; 5: 167–74
20 NHS Five Year Forward View. NHS (2014). Available Five Year Forward View (england.nhs.uk) Last accessed 02/09/21
21 NCISH Suicide in Children and Young People. NCISH (2017) Available NCISH | Suicide by children and young people in England - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed 
 12/08/21

22  Adverse childhood experiences What we know, what we don’t know, and what should happen next. Early Intervention Foundation (2020).
 Available: adverse-childhood-experiences-summary (1).pdf. Last accessed 02/09/21

P
age 314



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy32 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 33

Many children and young people who have experienced ACE’s go on to lead healthy and productive lives. Protective 

factors, such as having a stable and caring child-adult relationship and feeling connected with others can build 

resilience. An enhancement of these factors has been shown to mitigate negative outcomes26. Across Berkshire 

there are a wealth of services and interventions in place to prevent and mitigate the impact and reduce harm for 

children and young people who are at risk of or have experienced trauma and adversity. This work is happening 

across schools, police, NHS and voluntary sector organisations.  Our role is therefore to complement this workstream 

and highlight the link between ACEs and suicide risk. 

Recommendation 2a: To raise awareness of the link between trauma and adversity, and suicide across the lifecourse.

Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdowns has raised concerns that children and young 

people’s mental health will be adversely affected and will need to be closely monitored27. It has been noted that 

outbreaks of suicidal thoughts have increased during lockdown, especially among young adults28. Additional 

stressors during the pandemic may include fears that a family member or oneself will develop COVID-19, the impact 

of bereavement, isolation, loneliness and loss of social supports, disruptions to care and support and fears about 

accessing it, school closure and exam disruption, and exposure to domestic violence and family tensions29. Many of 

these stressors are documented risk factors for suicide in children and young people and have potentially increased 

the risk of children experiencing ACE’s, therefore the impact must be monitored. 

A COVID-19 flag has recently been introduced for RTSS data locally for Berkshire. Since this has been introduced, 

no suicide cases have been flagged within the cohort of 0-25 as related to COVID-19, however there is a need to 

continue to record and monitor this. 

In response to the impact of the pandemic and concerns around mental and emotional wellbeing of children and 

young people, all Berkshire local authorities have committed to a mental wellbeing campaign “Be Well: Berkshire 

Emotional Wellbeing”.  The campaign aims to mobilise younger residents and women at risk of suicide across Berkshire 

to access support services, to help them stay mentally well during the Covid-19 pandemic and as we recover. Mental 

health support is also offered through Kooth, an online counselling and emotional wellbeing platform. Within 

Berkshire, the top presenting concerns in the year 2020/21 have been anxiety and stress, suicidal thoughts and self-

harm. There is a need to both ensure increased access to support as we recover from COVID-19 and ensure we link 

with the wider system to prevent suicide risk. 

Recommendation 2b:  Continued investment into the Be Well campaign to encourage the importance of looking 

• psychological neglect

• witnessing domestic abuse 

• having a close family member who misused drugs or alcohol

• having a close family member with mental health problems

• having a close family member who served time in prison

• parental separation or divorce on account of relationship breakdown.

 

ACE’s occur before the age of 18, however the effects are often experienced over the lifecourse. A toxic stress response 

can be triggered by these experiences in the acute phase. Adversities can affect development in numerous ways, 

with early exposures that are persistent over time more likely to lead to lasting impacts25. There is strong empirical 

evidence that links ACE’s with suicide across the lifecourse23 24.

Although there isn’t data available specific to ACE’s on a localised level, data relating to the numbers of Children in 

Need give an indication of the numbers of children experiencing trauma and adversity across Berkshire. On the 31st 

March 2020, nearly 7,000 children were identified as being in need across Berkshire, as shown in the table below. The 

most common primary need, accounting for over half of cases, was abuse or neglect. This was followed by family 

dysfunction and family being in acute stress which, combined, accounted for over 1,440 cases25.

Source: Department for Education

Local
authority

All
cases

Abuse or
neglect

Child
disability
or illness

Parents
disability
or illness

Family
in acute

stress

Family
dysfunc-

tion

Socially un-
acceptable 
behaviour

Low 
income

Absent 
parenting

Bracknell 
Forest

879 486 72 49 65 104 47 0 10

Reading 1451 713 111 68 225 131 44 c c

Slough 1589 1190 129 54 29 65 68 10 29

West
Berkshire

930 397 100 12 136 198 38 0 49

Windsor and
Maidenhead

883 421 73 21 128 194 13 0 33

Wokingham 1039 519 96 52 124 49 c 0 35

Berkshire 
Total 6771 3726 581 256 707 741 210 10 156

Table 4: Children in need by primary need at initial 
assessment, Berkshire 2020

23  Adversity in childhood is linked to mental and physical health throughout life BMJ 2020; 371 doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3048 (Published 28 October 2020)
24  Ports KA, Merrick MT, Stone DM, et al. Adverse Childhood Experiences and Suicide Risk: Toward Comprehensive Prevention. Am J Prev Med. 2017;53(3):400-403. doi:10.1016/j. 
 amepre.2017.03.015
25  NHS Digital calculated using ONS mid-2020 population estimates

26 The evidence behind Adverse Childhood Experiences. Available: Evidence-based early years intervention - Science and Technology Committee - House of Commons
 (parliament.uk) Last accessed 10/08/21
27  BMA. The impact of COVID-19 on mental health in England; Supporting 1 services to go beyond parity of esteem.
 2020 Available [bma-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-mental-health-in-england.pdf ] Last accessed 10/08/21
28  Covid-19: Suicidal thoughts increased in young adults during lockdown, UK study finds BMJ 2020Available at ]Covid-19: Suicidal thoughts increased in young adults during 
 lockdown, UK study finds | The BMJ Last accessed 02/09/21
29  Holmes EA, O’Connor RC, Perry VH, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science.
 The Lancet Psychiatry 2020; 7: 547– 60

P
age 315



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy34 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 35

Recommendation 2c: Support the system to adopt a needs-led approach for neurodiverse children and young 

people, particularly in the prevention and early intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the community.

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning and ace (LGBTQ+)

Data on the LGBTQ+ community at a local level is very limited and there is a reliance on national survey data to 

understand the needs of this group. Experimental statistics were published in May 2021 by the ONS looking at 

sexual orientation in the UK in 2019 using data from the Annual Population Survey. Younger people (aged 16 to 24 

were most likely to identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual (6.6% of all 16 to 24-year olds). Facts and figures presented by 

Stonewall, a UK based LGBTQ+ charity include the following findings which are particularly relevant to the topic of 

suicide in young LGBTQ+ people: 

• Half of LGBTQ+ people said that they’ve experience depression in the last year

• 2/3 bisexual women and just over half of bisexual men having experienced anxiety 

• Nearly half of LGBTQ+ pupils are bullied for being LGBTQ+ in Britain’s schools 

• More than 4/5 transexual young people have self-harmed 

• 3/5 lesbian, bisexual, and gay young people who are not transexual have self-harmed 

• More than 2/5 transexual young people have attempted to take their own life 

• 1/5 gay, lesbian and bisexual young people who are not transexual have attempted to take their own life. 

The lack of local level data and intelligence surrounding the needs of LGBTQ+ children and young people makes this 

group a priority for action, to better understand their needs, and reduce suicide risk.

Recommendation 2d: To improve data capture on sexual orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote this 

across the suicide prevention system.

Recommendation 2e: To work with local organisations and charities who work with the LGTBQ+ community on 

suicide prevention. 

 

Transitioning from childhood to adulthood

A key transitional period in the life course is when we transition from childhood to adulthood (aged 16-25). This 

period is often characterised by changes and adjustments as young people are often expected to make key life 

changing decisions as they move into higher and further education, employment and their living situations. This may 

also be a time of new challenges, particularly around increasing independence and responsibility, and developing 

self-esteem. 

During this period, young people may also transition with regards to their mental health treatment, from children’s 

mental health services to adult mental health services. Consequently, this can mean changes to treatment, support 

workers and where they access services37 38.  This can also increase the likelihood of young people not attending and 

after emotional wellbeing, in addition to signposting to local mental health services and support in order to prevent 

self-harm and suicide in children, young people, and women.

Neurodiversity

Neurodiversity was identified as a risk factor for suicide in the 0-25 suicide audit (2020), with further qualitative analysis 

recommended of the impact of waiting for an autism assessment on children and young people’s mental health and 

suicide risk.   Neurodiversity refers to the different ways the brain works and interprets information. It is often used 

as an umbrella term for a spectrum of conditions such as autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 

dyslexia, dyspraxia, tourette syndrome and complex tic disorders. It is estimated that 1 in 7 people (approximately 

15% of the UK population) are neurodiverse30. 

It is well documented throughout literature that neurodiverse conditions can increase the risk of suicide, for both 

adults and children and young people. NICE guidance recognises that people with autism are at higher risk of 

suicide31. Research also shows that late diagnosed adults appear to be at the highest risk of suicidal thoughts and 

behaviours, demonstrating the importance of identification and addressing needs at the earliest opportunity32.

Data on the number of children and young people with a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or education, 

health and care (EHC) plan for 2020/21 by primary need for pupils enrolled in schools and nurseries in Berkshire33 

gives an indication of the number of children that are neurodiverse. The most consistent pattern to emerge is for 

children with a primary need of Autistic Spectrum Disorder, with the majority of local authorities having higher 

rates of children with SEN support and or/statements/EHC plans with this as their primary needs than the regional 

average. The full local data on SEN and EHC plans can be found in the JSNA. 

There are a number of neurodiversity projects taking place within Berkshire. This includes a service redesign for East 

Berkshire Healthcare Children and Young People autism and/or ADHD services with a core focus to reduce waiting 

times for assessments and thus access to support. In Berkshire West all referrals are triaged at the BHFT CAMHs 

Common Point of Entry and referred to services as appropriate. Across Berkshire we have a wraparound offer of 

support with the provision of pre-assessment and post-diagnosis support; in the East through GEMS and in the West 

this is through Autism Berkshire, a voluntary sector organisation. There also exists a virtual Helpline, “SHaRON” that 

provides support for parents and carers of neurodiverse children and young people in Berkshire.

A needs-led rather than diagnosis led approach has been adopted throughout Berkshire, which means that families 

without diagnosis are also supported. This approach to neurodiversity allows for pre-diagnostic support to be put 

in place for children and young people once needs become apparent, through interventions such as changing 

environments to be more neurodiversity friendly and accessing peer networks. This support potentially reduces the 

risk of suicide for neurodiverse children and young people as interventions can be put in place as soon as needs are 

apparent and can reduce isolation experienced. 

30  Autism and.. Oxford Health (2021). Available Autism and.. - Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust. Last accessed 26/08/21
31  NICE (2018). NICE guidance on preventing suicide in community and custodial settings [NG105]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Available:
 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng105. Last accessed 04/08/21
32  Supporting autistic children and young people through crises: Autistica. Available: https://www.autistica.org.uk/downloads/files/Crisis-resource-2020.pdf Last accessed 
 17/08/21
33  Figures are for state-funded nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, non-maintained special schools and pupil referral units. They do not include independent schools

P
age 316



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy36 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 37

Priority area 2: Self-harm

Self-harm has been identified as a key priority and it’s an area that the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group 

have wanted to explore for a while, due to the high rates in some areas.  Self-harm is defined as an intentional act of 

self-poisoning or self-injury irrespective of the type of motivation or degree of suicidal intent. It is often difficult to say 

whether the self-harm act is suicidal as a person’s reasons and intentions when self-harming can change over time.  

According to the Samaritans, self-harm is often not suicidal but is a risk factor for later suicidality and young people 

who self-harm are more likely than others to die from suicide36.  Self-harm covers a wide range of behaviours that can 

cause injury or harm in some way, including isolated and repeated events. These can include37;

 

· cutting with sharp or blunt instruments (e.g. razor blades, broken glass, plastic utensils) 

· taking excessive amounts of over the counter medicines or prescribed drugs

· poisoning or ingesting 

· scratching (with fingernails or other objects)

· banging, hitting or punching themselves to break bones and bruise themselves 

· hair pulling, 

· causing bruises to the body, 

· interfering with wound healing, 

· sticking sharp objects into the body 

· inhaling substances (e.g. glue, aerosols, lighter fuel etc)

· swallowing inappropriate objects (e.g. razor blades)

· burning or scalding with hot water. 

 

Every episode of self-harm is different, and people will experience it in different ways. Whatever method is used, the 

underlying feelings and distress underlying the behaviour must be taken seriously. 

Self-harm and suicide attempts can also be detrimental to an individual’s long-term physical health for example, 

paracetamol poisoning is a major cause of acute liver failure. Overdosing in particular is extremely dangerous as it is 

difficult to predict how your body will cope and can be impossible to reverse.  Self-cutting can result in permanent 

damage to tendons and nerves. Many actions to prevent and reduce suicide will have physical health benefits for 

those who self-harm.

Self-harm is an important public health issue and often people keep self-harm a secret because of shame or fear of 

it being seen or being labelled or judged.  They may cover up their skin in order to avoid discussing the problem. 

Sometimes there are psychological scars that are difficult to cope with, often unseen by others.  Self-harm is not 

typically an attempt at suicide but self-harm is an important risk factor for suicide. 

disengaging from services. There is therefore an increase of worsening mental health, and thus increased suicide risk 

during this period.  It is therefore of importance that this transition is managed carefully and effectively so that the 

correct support and service is accessed and engaged with at the correct time.

University and work all present children and young people with new opportunities and challenges. For children and 

young people that face added risk factors at an individual level, such as those who have experienced trauma, or have 

special educational needs, they can be particularly vulnerable to experiencing a challenging transition34.  A successful 

transition can help build resilience, self-confidence and self-esteem35 which in turn can act as protective factors for 

mental ill health and suicide risk. 

Locally, The University of Reading can be used as an example to demonstrate these complexities. . The University’s 

student services run a variety of programmes to aid the transition for students. However, the university reports that 

the change from a home environment to campus life is sometimes a difficult transition, and is consequently a top 

reported student concern. Moving from one locality to another means a loss of support systems and friends, and can 

result in isolation.

There are additional complexities around transitioning medical care, if a student has existing difficulties, to a new 

locality and being able to access assessments for neurodiversity, where diagnosis was not arranged before arrival, in 

order to access the correct level of support.  

Recommendation 2f: To raise awareness of the impact of the transitional period (children moving into adulthood) 

on the mental health impact and the risks of suicide during this period for children and young people.

Recommendation 2g: To link with the work across the BOB and Frimley ICS on the ease of access to shared care 

records across system partners for transition population (children moving into adulthood).

Recommendation 2h: To support higher education establishments within Berkshire, including universities to adopt 

a needs-led approach to neurodiversity.

34   Bilsen J. Suicide and Youth: Risk Factors. Front Psychiatry. 2018;9:540. Published 2018 Oct 30. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00540
35   Improving transition from children to adult mental health services Learning,  messages and reflections from the LGA conference. Available at: https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/
   default/files/documents/39.2%20Improving%20transition%20from%20children%20to%20adult%20mental%20health%20services%20WEB.pdf. Last accessed 09/08/21

36  Samaritans: Pushed from pillar to post (2020). Available https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Samaritans_-_Pushed_from_pillar_to_post_web.pdf. Last accessed 16/09/21
37  https://wirralchildcare.proceduresonline.com/p_self_harm_suicide.html

P
age 317



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy38 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 39

Only a small proportion of young people who have harmed themselves report seeking help from medical or 

psychological services. There needs to be a greater understanding on where people can get appropriate and timely 

support for self-harm, as well as fully understanding what may prevent this group from accessing support. 

NHS England continues to work to ensure that every person who presents at an emergency department for self-harm 

receives a psychosocial assessment and is directed to appropriate support. And within South Central Ambulance 

Service (SCAS) a steering group is in place to evaluate training from an expert reference group to adapt and adopt 

content to different audiences, including universal clinician, social care and voluntary sector.

Understanding self-harm and its link to suicide risk

Those who repeat self-harm are at significantly greater risk of completing suicide than those who have a single 

episode. It can be difficult to differentiate behaviours where there is an intent to die (e.g. cutting with suicidal intent) 

from those where there is a pattern of self-harm with no suicidal intent (e.g. habitual self-cutting). Any intentional 

harm to the body counts as self-harm. ‘Minor’ self-harm can lead to progressively become more serious or frequent.  

Sometimes people harm themselves in ways that are dangerous, and they might accidently kill themselves (e.g. 

cutting too deep on certain parts of the body or overdosing). Young people in particular may lack judgement about 

the level of self-harm they have applied and this could lead to irreversible harm or accidental death.  

The Berkshire Suicide Audit found that 21% of people  who died by suicide had a history of self-harm, and previous 

self-harm is flagged in local RTSS data as a feature in the relevant medical history of those who have died.  

For these reasons, it is important to address concerns around self-harm early, support people to find alternatives and 

distractions to self-harm and identify what triggers self-harm. People who self-harm can also be supported to stay 

safe if they do self-harm (e.g. having a self-harm first aid kit available and pain relief, avoiding certain parts of the body 

etc) as well as when to avoid self-harming (e.g. when tired, or under the influence of alcohol). It might not be possible 

for someone who self-harms to stop doing so immediately, but they should be encouraged to get help.

Recommendation 3a: Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and encourage help seeking behaviour and 

self-care.

People self-harm for a range of reasons, for some it is a way of coping with difficult or distressing feelings, but 

research has shown that long term self-harm does not help to reduce that distress.  Some of the typical reasons why 

someone may self-harm are shown in table 5 below. 

Figure 9: Iceberg model
of self-harm and suicide
in young people
(University of Oxford, 2019)

Young people and self-harm
 

Public Health England (PHE) has also evidenced the continued increase in incidence of self-harm in the UK over the 

past 20 years, unlike trends in completed suicide38. Levels of self-harm among young people in the UK are among the 

highest rates in Europe. Trends in self-harm rates show that there has been an increase in self-harm, especially among 

young women where self-harm is more common.  According to PHE, those who self-harm in mid-late adolescence 

potentially face increased risk of developing mental health issues.

Analysis of data from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children survey for England (aged 11-15 years) conducted 

in 2014 found that 22% of 15 year olds reported that they have ever self-harmed.  In addition, nearly three times 

as many girls as boys reported that they had ever self-harmed (32% of girls compared to 11% of boys).  Findings 

from this survey also found that the likelihood of self-harming varied by socioeconomic status and structure of 

households, with incidence of self-harming associated with lower family influence39.

Establishing an accurate prevalence of self-harm is difficult to precisely determine. This is because there is a “hidden” 

population of young people who self-harm in the community but do not present to local services for treatment.  

This is illustrated in the Iceberg model of self-harm, in that for every young person that presents to hospital for self-

harm there are at least 10 further individuals who do not present at hospital for self-harm. At the tip of the iceberg 

are suicides, which are highly visible, beneath are higher rates of hospital-treated self-harm and at the base are very 

common but hidden self-harm (Hawton, 2019). 

38  Public Health England definitions
 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E06000047/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
39  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-behaviour-in-school-age-children-hbsc-data-analysis

Suicide

Self-harm
(presenting to 
clinical services)

Self-harm in 
the community
(not presenting 
to clinical 
services)

P
age 318



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy40 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 41

Hospital admissions for self-harm

Self-harm is one of the top five causes of acute hospital admissions in the UK (PHE, 2021). PHE state that those who 

self-harm have a 1 in 6 chance of repeat attendance at A&E within the year and one study showed a subsequent 

suicide rate of 0.7% in the first year which is 66 times the suicide rate in the general population40. This means that 

someone who has self-harmed is more likely to die by suicide compared to someone who has never self-harmed. 

The data below looks at the number of young people aged 10 to 24 who were admitted to hospital as a result of self-

harm (primary reason for admission). This counts number of admissions and not persons, a person may be admitted 

on multiple occasions during each time period. Indicators based on hospital admission may be influenced by local 

variation in referral and admission practices as well as variation in incidence. Data does not include attendances at 

Accident and Emergency which do not result in an admission. 

During 2019/20, there were 705 admissions of children and young people from Berkshire to hospital as a result of 

self-harm. Rates for each local authority since 2011/12 can be seen in the charts below. Rates of admission were 

significantly lower than the regional average for children and young people living in Slough, and Windsor and 

Maidenhead. Rates were higher than the national average but comparable to the regional average in Bracknell Forest 

and Wokingham. In Bracknell Forest, rates jumped from 2014/15 to 2015/16 and have risen again between 2018/19 

and 2019/20. Rates in Wokingham, however, have continued to remain above the national average. Rates in Reading 

and West Berkshire show a similar pattern to each other, increasing up to a peak in 2016/17, prior to falling back in 

line with national and regional averages.

Figure 11: Hospital admissions for self-harm (10-24-year olds)

Source: Public Health England

Source: Health Service Executive Ireland and Mental Health Foundation

Although the data shows that the majority of self-harm occurs among people aged under 18 and is strongly 

associated with puberty, especially in girls, self-harm can affect people of any age, social status gender identity, 

sexuality, race or culture.  People who self-harm may have a diagnosable mental health condition or they may have 

none. There are many people at risk of self-harm and these include:

· Women

· Young people 

· Older people

· People who have or are recovering from drug and alcohol problems

· People who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or gender reassigned 

· Socially deprived people living in urban areas

· Women of South-Asian ethnicity

· Individual factors (e.g. personality traits, family experiences, life events, exposure to trauma, cultural beliefs, 

 social isolation and income)

· Societal factors (e.g. education, housing, unemployment rates).

Source: Public Health England, 2021

There are some young people who are at more risk of self-harm (e.g. victims of abuse) because they are more at risk 

of anxiety and depression. And although self-harm appears to be less frequent in adults, self-harm can continue into 

adulthood, and certain methods of self-harm are associated with a greater risk of later suicide (Hawton 2012). 

Recommendation 3b: Help friends, family and professionals understand the physical and emotional signs of self-

harm, how they can help and where they can get support. 

Recommendation 3c: Explore the impact of self-harm on parents and siblings on their own mental health and wellbeing.

Reason Examples

Social problems

Being bullied, having difficulties at work or school, having difficult relationships with friends or family, 
coming to terms with sexuality, coping with expectations, wanting to have a break from difficult 
things in life, money worries, being in contact with the criminal justice system, housing, loneliness, 
excessive screen time, cyberbullying, lower family income, family breakdown, student debt

Trauma
Physical, emotional or sexual abuse, grief after death of a close family member or friend, having a 
miscarriage, have lost a loved one through suicide 

Psychological causes
Having repeated thoughts or voices telling them to self-harm, disassociating (losing touch with who 
they are and with their surroundings), borderline personality disorder, a way of punishing themselves, 
low self-esteem, struggling with stress, anxiety or depression 

Express difficult 
feelings

Trying to feel in control, reliving unbearable tension

Table 5: Reasons for self-harm

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm
(10-24 year olds) Berkshire East Local Authorities

D
ire

ct
ly

 st
an

da
rd

ise
d 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

England

South East Region

Slough

Bracknell Forest

Windsor & Maidenhead

40  Fingertips https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E06000047/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/cid/4/tbm/1

P
age 319



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy42 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 43

Within England and Wales, there has been a growing increase in female deaths by suicide. In 2019, the suicide 

rate among females and girls was 5.3 deaths per 100,000, up from 5.0 in 2018 and the highest since 200442. Risk 

and protective factors for suicide can affect men and women differently, therefore understanding the relationship 

between gender and these risk factors is of importance for effective suicide prevention. For example, risk factors such 

as domestic abuse disproportionally affect women43. 

Within Berkshire, male suicide rates are higher, but importantly have been decreasing, while the female rates have 

increased. The increase of female suicides seen locally is detailed above. Throughout the strategy there is due 

attention to males throughout the other principles and priorities, and many of the actions discussed within this 

section are also applicable to males.

The findings of the females deep-dive review have informed this priority, identifying three key areas for 

recommendation based on local need and gaps in intelligence – the perinatal period, domestic abuse and parental/

carer stress. Other risk factors identified through the female suicide deep dive are covered within this strategy in the 

other four priority areas. 

Perinatal mental health

In Berkshire, the female deep-dive and the work of the suicide prevention group has highlighted a gap in our 

knowledge on the perinatal period. 

The perinatal period refers to pregnancy and the first year following the birth of a child. Perinatal mental health 

problems are mental health problems that occur during this period. They affect up to 20% of new and expectant 

mothers and include a wide range of conditions including depression, anxiety, and psychosis. If left untreated, 

perinatal mental health issues can have significant and long-lasting impacts on the woman, the child, and the wider 

family. The latest confidential enquiry into maternal deaths in the UK and Ireland (2019) found that suicide is the 

second largest cause of direct deaths in mothers occurring during or within the 42 days at the end of pregnancy44.

Research has shown that in some mental disorders, such as postnatal depression, bipolar disorder and postnatal 

psychosis, there is an increased risk of suicidal ideation, suicidal attempt, or suicide45. Prevalence of mental illness 

varies by maternal age, with many studies finding a significant correlation between young age and depression or 

anxiety during pregnancy. Some studies have also found high rates of mental illness amongst older mothers46 . 

Agencies across the maternity system involved in the care of expectant and new mothers must carefully monitor and 

early identify suicide risk and potential risk factors, to reduce suicide risk within this group.

Priority area 3: Female suicide deaths 

Source: Public Health England

Data since 2011/12 has shown that admissions are highest in the 15-19-year-old age band, accounting for 54% of 

admissions (380 admissions) during 2019/20. 

Recommendation 3d: Regularly review local intelligence and data on self-harm at the Berkshire Suicide Prevention 

Steering Group, ensuring additional relevant data from a wide range of sources are included (e.g. development of 

RTSS to include self-harm, ambulance service data, primary care and schools). 

Mental health and self-harm

Mental health problems such as anxiety, depression, ADHD and eating disorders are common in young people who 

present at hospital for self-harm or who die by suicide41.  Other important factors present in this cohort are; alcohol 

misuse, emerging personality disorder, low self-esteem, poor problem solving and perfectionism. 

Recommendation 3e:  Working with Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the 

prevention of self-harm by increasing resilience and general coping skills and support for those who self-harm. 

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm
(10-24 year olds) Berkshire West Local Authorities

D
ire

ct
ly

 st
an

da
rd

ise
d 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

England

South East Region

Wokingham

Reading

West Berkshire

42  Saving lives, improving mothers’ care 2019 report (2019) Available MBRRACE-UK Maternal Report 2019 - WEB VERSION.pdf (ox.ac.uk). Last accessed 02/09/21
43  Orsolini, Laura et al. “Suicide during Perinatal Period: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Clinical Correlates.” Frontiers in psychiatry vol. 7 138. 12 Aug. 2016,
  doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00138
44  Biaggi A, Conroy S, Pawlby S, Pariante CM. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2016 Feb;191:62-77.
  doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014. Epub 2015 Nov 18. PMID: 26650969; PMCID: PMC4879174.
45   Orsolini, Laura et al. “Suicide during Perinatal Period: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Clinical Correlates.” Frontiers in psychiatry vol. 7 138. 12 Aug. 2016,
  doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.0013841  https://www.psych.ox.ac.uk/news/self-harm-in-children-and-adolescents-a-major-health-and-social-problem-of-our-time

P
age 320



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy44 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 45

Domestic abuse

The female deep-dive analysis for Berkshire also highlighted a gap in our knowledge on the links between suicide and 

domestic abuse locally. The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 came into force on the 30th April 2021, making vital changes 

to the act, going beyond criminal justice and encompassing family courts, housing and health, acknowledging the 

impact of domestic abuse on victims and survivors lives47. It is widely evidenced that domestic abuse victims and 

survivors are more at risk of suicide and suicidal thoughts. ONS figures estimate that approximately 2.3 million adults 

aged 16 to 74 years within England and Wales experience domestic abuse in the last year (ending March 2020); 

the true scale of this however remains unknown. Research focussing upon more than 3,500 women supported by 

Refuge, a charity supporting victims of domestic abuse, has shown that almost a quarter (24%) of those supported 

by the charity had felt suicidal, and 83% reported feelings of hopelessness and despair. Domestic abuse and suicide 

risk are clearly linked, therefore mental health services and those working with victims of domestic abuse should 

work together to mitigate this risk.

Recommendation 4c: Promote the need for clear pathways and knowledge exchange between domestic abuse 

and mental health services.

Transforming Health and Social Care in Kent and Medway partnership (STP) have researched the link between 

domestic abuse and suicide in their county. They found that suicide victims were categorised into four cohorts - 

current victims of domestic abuse, those who had historically experienced domestic abuse, perpetrators, and young 

people living in households where domestic abuse was occurring48. 

Children witness to or living in a household where domestic abuse is present is a highly traumatic experience and 

can lead to lasting harms and risk-taking behaviours throughout the lifecourse.  Perpetrators, as found in Kent, are 

also at risk of suicide, where the perpetrator is currently under investigation, or is being convicted of the abuse. It 

is clear therefore, that domestic abuse has a profound impact for those experiencing, witnessing and perpetrating, 

increasing risk immediately, and throughout the life course. Within Berkshire, further data collection is required locally 

in order gain a greater understanding of the links between domestic abuse and suicide for those impacted.

Recommendation 4d: Improve data collection of domestic abuse data in RTSS. 

Recommendation 4f: Include domestic abuse indicators in the Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the link 

between domestic abuse and suicide

Recommendation 4g: Provide information to domestic abuse services on how to respond to concerns where 

clients may be self-harming or considering suicide (whether the client is a victim, survivor, perpetrator or child or 

young person)

Recommendation 4a: Link with the BOB and Frimley local maternity system on suicide risk in the perinatal period.

In guidance for commissioners of perinatal mental health services, the Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health, 

drew together data from various research into the prevalence of perinatal mental health conditions to provide the 

overview of prevalence shown in the table below. By applying the national prevalence estimates to the total number 

of maternities in Berkshire, we can estimate numbers at a local level. These estimates do not consider socioeconomic 

factors or any other factors that may cause local variation in prevalence.  We cannot estimate the overall number 

of women in Berkshire with a perinatal mental health condition, as some women will have more than one of these 

conditions. 

Source: Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health, 2012/Office for National Statistics 1

Women who lack social support have been found to be at increased risk of antenatal and postnatal depression. 

Having a poor relationship with a partner is also a risk factor for postnatal depression46. The number of births which 

were outside of marriage or civil partnership and sole registered (by one parent only) in Berkshire during 2019 was 

375.  Risk factors outlined are likely to have been further affected by COVID-19 and the lockdown measures, and thus 

the potential to increase suicide risk, therefore should be monitored going forward.

Recommendation 4b:  To explore data collection on the perinatal period; risk factors and the link to suicide including 

data captured in the RTSS.

Condition

Rate per 1,000 (Joint 
Commissioning Panel 

for Mental Health 
report)

Berkshire
maternities (ONS, 

2019)

Estimated number of 
women in Berkshire 

with condition

Postpartum psychosis 2

713

21

Chronic serious mental illness 2 21

Severe depressive illness 30 311

Mild-moderate depressive illness and 
anxiety states

100-150 1,037-1,555

Post-traumatic stress disorder 30 311

Adjustment disorder and distress 150-300 1,555-3,110

Table 6: Rates of perinatal psychiatric disorder per 1,000 
maternities

46  NICE (2020) Postnatal and Antenatal depression – what are the risk factors? Available Risk factors | Background information | Depression - antenatal and postnatal | CKS | NICE. 
  Last accessed 26/08/21

47  Domestic Abuse Act 2021. Womens Aid. Available Domestic Abuse Act - Womens Aid. Last accessed 07/09/2021
48  Highlighting the relationship between domestic abuse and suicide: Progress and next steps (2021) Transforming Health and Social Care in Kent and Medway

P
age 321



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy46 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 47

Impact of COVID-19 

Some people are more economically or financially vulnerable than others, and this number is on the rise.  Individuals 

who are young, low-paid, Black, in self-employment and those with low education levels or live in large families have 

been disproportionately affected by the current COOVID-19 pandemic. These groups are more likely to have lost 

their jobs, not be working any hours or had their pay cut51.

During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, the number of people with low financial resilience (e.g. people with high 

levels of debt, low savings or erratic earnings) has increased by a third from 10.7 million to 14.2 million, representing 

more than a quarter of the UK adult population52.  The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on employment 

and income, with some survey respondents expecting to struggle to make ends meet and experience financial 

hardship. They may need to rely on foodbanks or take on additional debt in order to meet the shortfall.  In comparison, 

some other workers have been able to work from home and save money on commuting costs. Around 48% of adults 

have not been financially affected by COVID-19 and 14% have seen improvements to their financial position.

The chart below illustrates how the redundancy rate (persons) has risen from 3.9% in Feb-April 2020 to 5.5% in May 

– July 2020, a sharp rise to 13.3% between Aug-Oct 2020 and a slight drop to 11% between Nov 2020 and January 

2021 in the UK. The redundancy rate is the ratio of the redundancy level for the given quarter to the number of 

employees in the previous quarter, multiplied by 1,000.

Figure 12

Source: PHE Wider Impacts of COVID-19 on health (WICH) monitoring tool

Priority area 4: Economic factors
Parental or carer stress 

Parental or carer stress has been identified through the female deep-dive audit as a key risk factor for suicide. 

Anecdotal feedback within acute hospital teams in 2020 found that these stresses are particularly pertinent when 

parenting neurotypical children, and suicide attempts amongst older people are often linked to carer strain. 

Parental stress, anxiety and depression has also been found to have increased over the period of the COVID-19 

lockdown. The key concerns highlighted by parents in this report was around struggling with competing demands 

of meeting their child’s needs, home-schooling and work commitments.  Data has shown that the parents and carers 

from single adult households, and lower income families (<16,000 p.a), and those who have children with special 

educational needs and/or neurodevelopmental differences have been particularly vulnerable to elevated mental 

health symptoms49.  It is widely accepted that mental ill health is a risk factor for suicidal ideation and behaviour, 

therefore this increase in mental health symptoms must be acknowledged and monitored50.

There are a wide range of services within Berkshire that support parents and carers. Family information services are 

available, which provide free and impartial information and signposting for families. Easily accessible resources and 

information around available services are key for parents and carers accessing the support they need at the correct 

time, and the work of this strategy should consider this forum as a means to prevent suicide risks in this group. 

Recommendation 4h: Raise awareness of the information, resources and services available for parents and carers 

who are experiencing stress, through inputting into local campaigns. 

49  [1] Parental mental health worsens under new national COVID restrictions (2021). Available Parental mental health worsens under new national COVID-19 restrictions |
  University of Oxford Last accessed 26/08/21
50   Samaritans research briefing: Gender and Suicide (2021). Available ResearchBriefingGenderSuicide_2021_v7.pdf (samaritans.org) Last accessed 02/09/21

51  COVID-19 recession is having a disproportionate impact on most vulnerable. LSA (2020) Available: https://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2020/h-August-20/
  COVID-19-recession-is-having-a-disproportionate-impact-on-the-most-vulnerable Last accessed: 09/09/21
52  Financial lives 2020 survey. FCA (2020) Available: https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/research/financial-lives-2020-survey-impact-coronavirus Last accessed 09/09/21

UK Redundancy rate: ratio of redundancy level to
the number of employees by sex, Nov 2017- April 2021

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
,0

00
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

s

Females

Males

Persons

Quarter

P
age 322



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy48 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 49

Debt and poor mental health

Unmanageable debt is a risk factor for suicidal behaviour, with those in debt three times as likely to consider suicide 

than people not in problem debt (Mental Health Policy Institute (MMHPI), 2018). Unemployment, unmanageable 

debt and job insecurity are also risk factors for suicidal behaviour.

Across England, more than 1.5 million people are experiencing both problem debt and mental health problems. 

An estimated 46% of people in problem debt also have a mental health problem. Almost one in five (18%) people 

with a mental health problem are in problem debt. Financial problems are a common cause of stress and anxiety 

with people in this position not asking for help due to stigma around being in debt.  Suicide can be seen as a way 

out of debt for some people who are struggling and more than 100,000 people in England attempt suicide while in 

problem debt each year (MMHPI) (2018)54.

Long-term factors such as persistent poverty and financial insecurity can put people at an risk of becoming suicidal, 

as can sudden triggers like the intimidating and threatening letters people receive from lenders. Providing debt 

management advice and support to people in debt will help to reduce an individual’s risk of death by suicide, 

especially if they are experiencing poor mental health. There is a lot of support and help available for people, but 

awareness can be low.   

Recommendation 5a: Work with colleagues to raise awareness of the risk between debt, mental health and suicide 

risk among frontline professionals and the wider public. Awareness raising needs to; 

 • reduce the stigma of ‘being in debt’ and signpost to access debt and benefit advice and support. this 

  information also needs to be shared with frontline professionals 

 • encourage people in debt to reach out for help to reduce impact on mental health 

 • encourage people with poor mental health to reach out for debt advice 

Recommendation 5b: Support frontline professionals to feel comfortable about talking about debt and financial 

problems and the link to poor mental health and suicide risk and what support is available.

Recommendation 5c: Support Berkshire local authorities with a single point of access information site around 

money matters.

People who had a long-term condition or disability were three times as likely to have fallen behind on paying their 

council tax, compared to those without. People who receive an income-related benefit (e.g. universal credit) were 

almost four times as likely to have fallen behind on council tax compared to those not receiving benefits.

Recommendation 5d: Ensure compassionate debt collection.  Make sure the process is supportive and aims to 

steer residents to places that can provide help and support. Support vulnerable groups at increased risk of debt 

including people with long-term conditions or disabilities.

In the past, periods of economic uncertainty have seen increases in suicide rates, particularly among men. Economic 

factors, particularly unemployment have been shown as strong risk factors of suicide (e.g. Lewis G and Sloggett A, 

BMJ 1998; 317:1283). Suicide rates increased from a record low in 2006 post the economic recession suggesting the 

national recession could have been an influencing factor in the increase in suicides. Studies have found that local 

areas with greater rises in unemployment had also experienced higher rises in male suicides53.

The government’s furlough scheme has helped employers to pay peoples wages in order to reduce financial 

insecurity during the pandemic and period of economic upheaval. On the 30th March 2021, 49,700 jobs were 

furloughed across Berkshire and there has been a total of 164,500 jobs furloughed in total since 23rd March 2020 

across Berkshire.  The cumulative number of jobs on furlough across Berkshire local authorities ranges from 25,800 

for people living in Windsor and Maidenhead to 31,400 in Slough. Figures are based on the local authority of the 

business and not residence.

Source: HM Revenue and Customs

During the first national lockdown, women and young people were more likely to be furloughed and are more likely 

to face financial difficulties as recovery progresses (Women’s Budget Group, 2020, IFS, 2020, IFS 2020a). In the lowest 

earning 10% of employees, 80% were employed in a sector that was shut down or are not able to work from home, 

compared to 25% in the highest earning 10% (IFS) - (*Note this excludes key workers).

Local Authority Cumulative number of jobs on furlough

Bracknell Forest 23,100

Reading 31,300

Slough 31,400

West Berkshire 26,700

Windsor and Maidenhead 25,800

Wokingham 26,200

Berkshire total 164,500 

Table 7 Cumulative number of jobs on furlough at 31st March 
2021 (local authority of business)

53  Barr et al BMJ 2012; 345:5142 54   A silent killer. Money and mental health (2018) https://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/A-Silent-Killer-Report.pdf Last accessed 09/09/21

P
age 323



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy50 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 51

Socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour

The Berkshire suicide audit 2018 found that the majority of people with financial issues prior to death had ‘other 

debts’, such as student loan, loans and credit cards. Other reasons for financial issues included utility bills/rent, work 

related issues (business accounts, sick pay stopped), drug debt, gambling, bankruptcy and being the victim of a 

scam.   The Berkshire Suicide Audit also showed that between 2007 and 2018, the percentage of suicides that were 

amongst people who were unemployed ranged from 11% to 38%. If we consider this against the fact that 4% of 

the overall population in Berkshire are unemployed, then people who are unemployed are over-represented in the 

number of suicides in Berkshire.

Figure 15: Financial issue (s) prior to death across audit years

Source: Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018)

It is well recognised that the reasons why people die by suicide are complex, arising from a wide range of 

psychological, social, economic and cultural risk factors. People who are socioeconomically disadvantaged or who 

live in areas of socioeconomic deprivation have an increased risk of suicidal behaviour. Features of socioeconomic 

disadvantage include; low income, unmanageable debt, poor housing conditions, lack of educational qualifications, 

unemployment and living in a socioeconomically deprived area55. What is more, poor mental health makes it harder 

to deal with money problems and vice versa56.

Recommendation 5g:  Work with system partners on the early identification and support of people who are at 

increased risk of debt and financial concerns (e.g. unemployed or people with long-term conditions) as early as 

possible and offer effective support to manage personal finances through appropriate referral pathways. 

Benefits 

National government data shows that there is over £15 billion pounds of unclaimed benefits, in addition to unclaimed 

Universal Credit available. This could mean that many individuals and families are living on less money than they need 

to be and unnecessarily finding it difficult paying priority bills (e.g. heating and food). Barriers preventing people 

claiming the benefits they are entitled to include; 

• a lack of awareness about what benefits are available and the claims process.

• a perceived stigma around benefits creating a reluctance to consider them. This has particularly affected 

 people who have recently been struggling financially during COVID-19 pandemic. 

• a lack of access to or no IT skills which are necessary to access services online (e.g., digital applications)

The proportion of the population aged 16 to 64 across Berkshire who were claiming benefits during May 2021 was 

just under 5%. This is the same as the figure for the South East Region as a whole. There is some variation between 

Berkshire Local Authorities with the claimant counts being higher in Slough (8.4%) and Reading (6.4%).

Source: ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 2 July 2021]

Recommendation 5e: Work with key partners to actively promote services that provide help around navigating the 

benefits system and potentially increasing people’s incomes.  

Recommendation 5f: Make sure that all parts of the health service where patients showing suicidal intent first 

make contact, are signposted or triaged appropriately using a process that includes debts and other economic 

stresses as risk factors.

Bracknell 
Forest Reading Slough West

Berkshire
Windsor and 
Maidenhead Wokingham South East

Benefit
claimant
count

3,145 6,845 7,965 3,545 3,775 3,135 274,810

Percentage
of 16-64
year old
population

4 6.4 8.4 3.7 4.1 3 4.9 

Table 8: Berkshire Benefit claimants May 2021

Percentage

2007 - 2009 2008 - 2010 2009 - 2011 2012/13 - 
2013/14

2014/15 - 
2015/16

2016/17 - 
2017/18

Total 9% 6% <5% 24% 27% 13%

55  Dying from inequality. Samaritans (2017). Available:https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Samaritans_Dying_from_inequality_report_-_summary.pdf. Last accessed 
 09/09/21
56  Money and mental health, the facts. Money and mental health (2019). Available: https://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Money-and-mental-
 health-the-facts-1.pdf. Last accessed 09/09/21

P
age 324



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy52 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 53

Those who are bereaved by suicide face a higher risk of mental ill-health, suicide attempts and death by suicide.61, 62, 

63 The Support After Suicide Partnership summarises the particular challenges which mean that those bereaved by 

suicide are less likely to receive support from family and friends than others going through a bereavement. 64 Sudden 

deaths can lead to a complex bereavement, with those bereaved by suicide often experiencing particularly intense 

shock, as well as challenges linked to the stigma of suicide.65  These stigmatising factors can mean the bereaved person 

is avoided or feels judged, and connections with social and support networks are weakened. People’s awkwardness 

in discussing death is often magnified when the death is by suicide, and this can leave the person who is bereaved 

feeling especially isolated.  Conversely, high interest in the suicide – from communities and from the media – can 

make it difficult for people to grieve in private.  

 

Experiences of bereavement affect everyone in different ways but is usually characterised by grief. Grief is a process 

that people go through as they gradually adjust to loss. Again, grief is experienced differently by different people 

with people often moving in and out of the stages of grief and the range of associated emotions. Grief is an entirely 

normal process and there is no time limit on how long grief lasts.  However, sometimes people experience grief in a 

way that, rather than becoming manageable overtime, worsens and affect day-to-day living for a long time.

Throughout this strategy we have seen how bereavement can be a key factor contributing to death by suicide.  

Bereavement is highlighted in the Berkshire Suicide Audit, the Berkshire deep-dive into female suicides, and The 

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health’s reports into suicide amongst both children 

and young people and middle-age men.

Bereavement by suicide can be particularly devasting to the lives of those around the person who has died. People 

bereaved by suicide are at a greater risk of suicide themselves. Bereavement by suicide was highlight in 6% of 

subsequent suicides in the Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018). 

In 2020, Suicide Bereavement UK published a report entitled ‘From Grief to Hope: The collective voice of those bereaved 

or affected by suicide in the UK.’  66 The report lays out key findings and recommendation based on an online survey 

completed by over 7,000 people who have been bereaved by suicide. The number of people responding to the 

survey increased steadily by age band, peaking at age 45-54 before dropping off more rapidly for the 55-64 and 65+ 

age groups. 97% of respondents were White. Of non-White respondent, the majority (47%) reported their ethnicity 

as ‘multiple/mixed’. 89% identified as heterosexual and 75% were in paid employment. 33% had been bereaved by 

more than 1 suicide. The key survey findings are summarised in the following table below.

Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved
or affected by suicide 

Gambling
 

Gambling related harm is a risk factor for suicide and is a growing area of public health concern. In 2019/20, 11% of 

gamblers contacting the National Gambling Helpline said they had experienced suicidal thoughts, either currently 

or in the past57.

Additional funding is being made available to support treatment services for problem gambling and to monitor the 

impact of COVID-19 on gambling behaviour. Gambling operators are putting in place additional measures to increase 

protections for those who might be at risk of gambling harm.   These were clear themes within the National Strategy 

to reduce Gambling Harms58 although there has been little progress on addressing gambling related suicide.

PHE have plans to publish an evidence review on gambling harms on the prevalence of gambling and associated 

health harms and their social and economic burden.  This work has been put on hold due to COVID-19.59

The National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health’s 2021 report on suicide by middle-

age men60 found a number of findings associating suicide with economic precursors. Overall, 57% of men were 

experiencing economic problems including unemployment, financial problems, or problems finding stable 

accommodation. Almost a third of men included in the study were unemployed at the time of death, with almost 

half of these unemployed for over 12 months. Twice the proportion of men were living in the most deprived areas of 

England (27%) compared to those living in the lest deprived areas (14%). Alcohol and drug misuse were particularly 

common amongst men who were unemployed, as it was amongst those who were bereaved, or had a history of 

violence or self-harm.

Recommendation 5h:  Monitor local data and intelligence on levels of problem gambling within Berkshire and its 

link to suicide.

 

57   Suicide awareness and prevention training.
  Gamcare (2020https://www.gamcare.org.uk/news-and-blog/news/gambling-charity-and-samaritans-launch-bespoke-suicide-awareness-and-prevention-training/
58   Reducing gambling harms. Gambling Commission (2021) https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/about-us/reducing-gambling-harms Last accessed 09/09/21
59  Progress report on the national strategy to reduce gambling harms. Gambling Commission (2021)
  https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/print/absg-progress-report-on-the-national-strategy-to-reduce-gambling-harms-year Last accessed 09/09/21
60   Suicide by middle aged men. NCISH (2021). Available NCISH | Suicide by middle-aged men - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk). Last accessed 02/09/21

61  Qin P, Agerbo E and Mortenson PB (2002) Suicide risk in relation to family history of completed suicide and psychiatric disorders:
 a nested case-control study based on longitudinal registers. Lancet 360: 1126–1130.
62  Pitman et al (2014) Effects of suicide bereavement on mental health and suicide risk The Lancet Psychiatry, 1(1): 86-94 http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/ article/
 PIIS2215-0366(14)70224-X/fulltext
63  Pitman et al (2016) Bereavement by suicide as a risk factor for suicide attempt: a cross-sectional national UKwide study of 3,432 young bereaved adults. BMJ Open 6:e009948. 
 doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2015-009948 http://bmjopen.bmj. com/content/6/1/e009948
64    Finding_the_Words.pdf (supportaftersuicide.org.uk)
65  Pitman et. Al. (2016) The stigma perceived by people bereaved by suicide and other sudden deaths: a cross-sectional UK study of 3,432 bereaved adults. Journal of
  Psychosomatic Research 87:22-29.
66  From Grief to Hope: The collective voice of those bereaved or affected by suicide in the UK Suicide Bereaved UK (2020). Available display.aspx (manchester.ac.uk)
  Last accessed 02/09/21

P
age 325



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy54 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 55

Survivors of Bereavement by Suicide (SoBS) is a national charity set up to offer support to adults bereaved by suicide. 

It is the only organisation offering peer-to-peer support to all those over the age of 18, impacted by suicide loss in 

the UK. It helps those bereaved by suicide to support each other, at the time of their loss and in the months and years 

that follow. SoBS offers peer led support groups, online virtual support groups, a national telephone helpline, online 

community forum and email support. It offers a unique and distinct service for bereaved adults across the UK, run by 

the bereaved for the bereaved. Suicide recognises no social, ethnic or cultural boundaries and neither does SOBS. The 

helpline and groups are open to all survivors of bereavement by suicide aged 18 years and over. 

 

Recommendation 6a: Ensure our local bereavement offer is culturally and ethnically appropriate for different 

groups working with communities to develop resources and services. 

 

Local SoBS groups exist to meet the needs and break the isolation experienced by those bereaved by suicide. It is 

a self-help organisation that aims to provide a safe, confidential environment in which bereaved people can share 

their experiences and feelings, so giving and gaining support from each other.  It also strives to improve public 

awareness and maintain contacts with many other statutory and voluntary organisations. Each local SoBS group 

needs to have 3 trained volunteers to run a group and they must have been bereaved by suicide for at least 2 years. 

Finding volunteers is a challenge given the commitment involved.   Each group is also responsible for finding suitable 

premises, funding itself, and following guidelines set by the national charity. This makes the group vulnerable, and we 

have a role to support this group.

  

There is currently one SoBS group in Berkshire, in Wokingham but they often support people from further afield 

where there is no closer group to join. The Wokingham SoBS group has been running for over 7 years, and its co-

ordinator is an active member of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Group. Numbers actively involved in the 

SoBS group fluctuate, with an average attendance rate of 15 people pre-COVID-19 and an average of 12 people 

attending the current virtual offer. The group has many recently bereaved members, but also members who were 

bereaved many years ago and have not had the opportunity to talk before - usually because of the stigma which still 

surrounds suicide. 

 

Recommendation  6b: Continued support to the volunteer led local SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a 

peer-to-peer support service.  

 

There is sometimes a tendency to assume that the impact of a suicide is confined to the close family and friends 

of the person who died, but there can be repercussions throughout wider networks, communities, places of work 

or study, and within services called upon to respond to a suicide in a professional capacity. In offering support to 

those affected, it is important not to make assumptions which limit how widely information about support is shared. 

People may identify with a suicide because of something they have in common with the person who died, without 

necessarily having had recent or frequent contact with that person. Over 7,000 individuals contributed to a study 

carried out by Suicide Bereavement UK, which illustrates this significant ripple effect67.

 

A range of national resources for people bereaved by suicide are available and are shared by our first responders 

Source: Suicide Bereavement UK, From Grief to Hope, 2020

Topic Finding

Impact

82% reported that suicide had a moderate or major impact on their lives

Serious adverse consequences included relationship break-up, unemploy-
ment and finical problems

Over a third reported mental health problems with this been particularly 
common for women

Link to
self-harm
and suicide

8% reported self-harming

38% had considered taking their own life

8% had made a suicide attempt

36% of those making a suicide attempt did so over a year after being
bereaved by suicide

Relationship
to deceased

The most common relationship reported was the loss of a friend to suicide

Participants who had lost friends were more likely to have experienced
multiple suicides and often reported feeling overlooked by services

Accessing
support

60% did not access support following a suicide

Over a third did not know what types of services were available

62% perceived the provision of local bereavement support to be inadequate

Support
requested

Immediate, proactive support is important

Some, not always ready to receive help straight away, said that information 
should be presented in an easily accessible format such as a booklet or
person to contact for support when they were ready

Ongoing bereavement support should be available with a follow up at 3, 6, 
12, or 18 months after the suicide occurred

Table 9: Key findings from Suicide Bereavement UK’s 2020 report

67  McDonnell S, Hunt IM, Flynn S, Smith S, McGale B, Shaw J (2020). From Grief to Hope: The Collective Voice of those Bereaved or Affected by Suicide in the UK. Manchester: 
  University of Manchester. Available at: https://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/From-Grief-to-Hope-Report-FINAL.pdf

P
age 326



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy56 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 57

A recent evaluation of the various components of the BOB-wide service found that the most valued features were: 

• A mechanism that connects families with services as soon as possible after the death 

• Practical support and advocacy (e.g. around inquests, collecting belongings, media interest)  

• Signposting to local services and organisations based on sound local knowledge 

• Emotional support to deal with loss, trauma and feelings of isolation, exacerbation of existing health problems 

 and the emergence of mental health problems.     

Suicide bereavement support will be re-commissioned from 2022 as a single service across the Thames Valley. This 

will generate some economies of scale, and also build in some flexibility for local co-ordinators to support one 

another across county boundaries to help manage peaks in demand. 

 

The current commissioned services focus on meeting the needs of ‘close relatives’ of people who have died by 

suicide. However, the providers have offered wider community support through forums and in response to some 

specific requests. In re-commissioning the service, we will explore how to tap into such expertise and experience for 

wider community benefit in future, whilst ensuring those in need of the one-to-one practical and emotional support 

following a suicide can still access this in a timely manner. 

 

Recommendation 6d:  Continue to commission suicide bereavement support services and monitor its impact. 

Support for those impacted by suicide in the workplace

There is recognition that staff may feel responsible for a suicide event, or not having done more to prevent it. Although 

these feelings are always misplaced, they can prolong the trauma if not managed effectively. Staff members may also 

experience anger, flashbacks and post-traumatic stress. 

Recommendation 6e: Explore training opportunities for colleagues and workplaces impacted by suicide. 

Recommendation 6f: Work with Thames Valley Police and other first responders to a suicide, to share appropriate 

resources with employers.

across Berkshire to a suspected suicide, e.g. coroners, funeral directors, police, doctors and bereavement counselling 

and support organisations. This includes ‘Help is at Hand’, a national publication which aims to provide people 

affected by suicide with both emotional and practical support68, as well as several other useful resources.  

Recommendation  6c: Building in bereavement support to extend to wider family members, friends and communities.

Specialist Suicide Bereavement Support 
 

There is now specific investment in developing support for people who are bereaved by suicide within the NHS Long 

Term Plan. Transformation funding has been issued to enable different parts of the country at different stages to 

develop suicide bereavement support services, and this will reach all areas by 2023-24. Berkshire has been in receipt 

of NHSE funding to develop suicide bereavement support since 2019-20 as part of the Berkshire Oxfordshire and 

Buckinghamshire (BOB) Integrated Care System.  

From the work of the Berkshire suicide prevention group we now have a specialist Bereaved by Suicide Support 

Service in place which provides advocacy and support for those bereaved by suicide. Current support for Berkshire 

residents bereaved by suicide includes the services of a Bereavement Liaison Co-ordinator within Thames Valley 

Police. The Co-ordinator works with officers involved in gathering RTSS data and establishes early contact (with 

consent) with bereaved individuals to offer a supportive presence. The Co-ordinator carries out an initial assessment 

of need and provides practical advice. This role has created additional capacity within the police to provide an 

accessible and consistent point of contact for individuals and families who may not be ready for signposting or 

referral into local support services at initial contact but may require such in the future. 

    

Local and ongoing practical and emotional bereavement support is provided by a Bereavement Liaison Supporter. 

The Liaison Supporter will remain alongside the bereaved as they access other services, supporting referral and 

fast tracking as appropriate, and maintaining a good overview of working relationships with other local providers. 

Preparing people for media involvement and interest is a key element of this role, as well as supporting navigation 

through the coroner’s court. Other areas of practical and emotional support are available, based on individual client 

need. 

 

The Berkshire Bereavement Liaison Support Service is currently provided by Victim Support and builds on an established 

and successful model of support for people bereaved by homicide. Any Berkshire resident can access the service. Adults 

are supported directly, and the service facilitates links to specialist children’s bereavement support services. A dedicated 

member of Victim Support staff is the primary point of contact with the service, but clients can contact Victim Support 24/7 

in the event of needing to talk to someone outside of the working hours of the project lead.

68  HIAH Booklet. Support after suicide (2021) HIAH_Booklet_2021_V5-1-2.pdf (supportaftersuicide.org.uk) Last accessed 09/09/21

P
age 327



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy58 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 59

This action plan is a continuously working document lead by the Suicide Prevention Steering Group who have 

the ultimate responsibility for delivery. Timeframes and specific indicators are to be defined by the group. For the 

purpose of this strategy the recommendations are listed below.

Berkshire Wide Action Plan

Age-specific mortality rate
The total number of deaths per 100,000 people of an age group

Age-standardised mortality rate
A weighted average of the age-specific mortality rates per 100,000 people and standardised to the 2013 European 

Standard Population. Age-standardisation allows for differences in the age structure of different populations and 

therefore allow valid comparisons to be made between geographic areas, the sexes, and over time.

Registration delay
The difference between the date which a death occurred and the date which a death was registered

Statistical significance
The term “significant” refers to statistically significant changes or differences based on unrounded figures. Significance 

has been determined using the 95% confidence intervals, where instances of non-overlapping confidence intervals 

between figures indicate the difference is unlikely to have arisen from random fluctuation

Years of life lost
Years of life lost is a measure of premature mortality and gives an estimate of the length of time a person would 

have lived had they not died prematurely. It can be used to compare the premature mortality experience of different 

populations and quantify the impact on society from suicide.

Glossary

Priority
Area Recommendation  Outcome   

1.
Overarching 
Aims

1.a) To continue to monitor the impact of 
COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through 
RTSS data and respond to any identified trends. 

Impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse 
further understood and trends responded to by the 
Suicide Prevention Group.

1.b)  To continue to monitor the wider trends 
emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on 
people’s mental health and suicide risk across 
the lifecourse, and to support the system to take 
action where required. 

Impact of COVID-19 on mental health and suicide 
risk further understood, support for the action taken 
where required across the system in place, informing 
the Suicide Prevention Group’s approach.

1.c) To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit. Suicide risk and trends identified and analysed, 
informing the Suicide Prevention Groups focus and 
approach.

1.d) Undertake regular reviews of information, 
resources and channels for people affected by 
suicide

Accurate, high quality information, resources and 
channels available for those affected by suicide.

1.e) Hold an annual multi-agency conference 
on a range of topics to share information and 
best practice and raise awareness to the risks for 
suicide.

Knowledge and understanding of focus areas 
improved. Awareness raising of focus areas.

1.f) Invite additional partners across the system 
within Berkshire, including the voluntary and 
community sector to join the Suicide Prevention 
Group for improved cross-topic working. 

The Suicide Prevention Group benefit from 
further insight and knowledge from additional 
organisations, informing their approach, and other 
groups benefit from our expert input.  

1.g) Set up sub-groups of the Suicide Prevention 
Group, informed by local intelligence and data, 
where there is a need to focus upon a risk factor or 
group within the population. 

Better understanding of, and potential reduction in 
suicide risk for identified risk factors or groups within 
the population.

2.
Children
and Young 
People

2.a) To raise awareness of the link between trauma 
and adversity, and suicide across the life course

Link between trauma and adversity across the life course 
is clear and understood by partners, professionals and 
the voluntary and community sector.

2.b) Continued investment into the Be Well 
campaign to encourage the importance of 
looking after emotional wellbeing, in addition to 
signposting to local mental health services and 
support in order to prevent self-harm and suicide 
in children, young people, and women.  

Emotional wellbeing improved as a preventative 
factor for children, young people and women’s 
suicide and self-harm risk.

2.c) Support the system to adopt a needs-led 
approach for neurodiverse children and young 
people, particularly in the prevention and early 
intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the 
community.

Neurodiverse children and young people pre-
diagnosis and supported and adaptations made for 
their needs, reducing suicide risk.

P
age 328



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy60 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 61

Priority
Area Recommendation  Outcome   

2.
Children
and Young 
People
(cont...)

2.d) To explore improving data capture on sexual 
orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote 
this across the suicide prevention system.

Improved understanding and insight into LGBTQ+ 
as a risk factor for suicide, informing the Suicide 
Prevention Groups focus and approach.

2.e) To work with local organisations and charities 
who work with the LGTBQ+ community on suicide 
prevention. 

Improved insight and knowledge into the LGBTQ+ 
community and suicide prevention and risk, 
informing the Suicide Prevention Groups focus and 
approach.

2.f) To raise awareness of the impact of the 
transitional period (children moving into 
adulthood) on the mental health impact and the 
risks of suicide during this period for children and 
young people.  

Improved knowledge and understanding on the 
impact of the transitional period on mental health 
and suicide risk for children and young people for 
partners, professionals and the education sector.

3.
Self-harm

3.a) Working with Mental Health Support Teams 
(MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the 
prevention of self-harm by increasing resilience 
and general coping skills and support for those 
who self-harm. 

School pupils at risk of self-harm or self-harming 
have improved coping skills, support and resilience.

3.b )Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and 
encourage help seeking behaviour and self-care.  

Those who self-harm feel able to seek help with less 
fear of stigma and have improved self-care.

3.c) Help friends, family and professionals 
understand the physical and emotional signs of 
self-harm, how they can help and where they can 
get support.

Friends, family and professionals are able to identify 
and understand self-harm, how they can help and 
where to get support. 

Those who self-harm feel better supported by 
professionals, their friends and family.

3.d) Explore the impact of self-harm on parents 
and siblings on their own mental health and 
wellbeing. 

Further understanding of the impact of self-harm on 
parents and sibling’s mental health and wellbeing, 
allowing future interventions into how to support 
these groups to be well informed.

3.e) Explore means to improve local intelligence 
and data on self-harm to be regularly reviewed at 
the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group.  

The Suicide Prevention Group able to respond 
to trends in self-harm and take action where 
appropriate.

4.
Female 
Suicides

4.a) Link with the BOB and Frimley local maternity 
systems on suicide risks in the perinatal period 

Awareness raised of the suicide risk in the perinatal 
period for local maternity systems.

Local maternity systems aware of the work of the 
Suicide Prevention Group.

4.b) To explore data collection on the perinatal 
period; risk factors and the link to suicide including 
data captured in the RTSS. 

Improved understanding and insight into the risk 
factors and link to suicide within the perinatal period.

4.c) Promote the need for clear pathways and 
knowledge exchange between domestic abuse 
and mental health services.    

Domestic abuse services and mental health 
services have an improved understanding of the 
links between domestic abuse and suicide and are 
confident in utilising the pathways between the 
services.

Priority
Area Recommendation  Outcome   

4.
Female 
Suicides
(cont...)

4.d) Improve data collection of domestic abuse 
data in RTSS.  

Improved understanding and insight into domestic 
abuse as a risk factor for suicide within Berkshire.

4.e) Include domestic abuse indicators in the 
Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the 
link between domestic abuse and suicide  

Improved understanding and insight into domestic 
abuse as a risk factor for suicide within Berkshire.

4.f) Provide information to domestic abuse 
services on how to respond to concerns where 
clients may be self-harming or considering suicide 
(whether the client is a victim, survivor, perpetrator 
or child or young person)  

Improved knowledge and understanding of suicide 
risk and self-harm for domestic abuse professionals 
for all groups affected.
Clients within the domestic abuse services who are 
at risk of self-harm or suicide feel better supported 
and able to access the services they need.

5.
Economic 
Factors

5.a) Work with colleagues to raise awareness of 
the risk between debt, mental health and suicide 
risk among frontline professionals and the wider 
public. Awareness raising needs to; 
• reduce the stigma of ‘being in debt’ and signpost 
 to access debt and benefit advice and support. 
 this information also needs to be shared with 
 frontline professionals   
• encourage people in debt to reach out for help 
 to reduce impact on mental health   
• encourage people with poor mental health to 
 reach out for debt advice
  

The risk between debt, mental health and suicide 
risk is further understood by frontline professionals 
and the wider public.

The stigma of ‘being in debt’ is reduced for both 
frontline workers and the wider public, therefore 
potentially increasing the number of those seeking 
help.

Frontline professionals feel confident to signpost to 
debt and benefit advice and support, encourage 
people to reach out for help, and for debt advice, 
therefore potentially increasing the number of those 
seeking help.

5.b) Support frontline professionals to feel 
comfortable about talking about debt and 
financial problems and the link to poor mental 
health and suicide, and what support is available.  

Frontline professionals feel comfortable and able to 
talk about debt and financial problems and can link 
this to poor mental health and suicide, and support 
available.

Those with poor mental health benefit from 
accessing debt and financial support where needed 
following conversations with frontline professionals, 
reducing suicide risk.

5.c) Support Berkshire local authorities with a 
single point of access information site around 
money matters.

There is a single point of access for information 
on money matters, allowing for up to date and 
consistent information being accessible to all.

5.d) Ensure compassionate debt collection.  Make 
sure the process is supportive and aims to steer 
residents to places that can provide help and 
support. Support vulnerable groups at increased 
risk of debt including people with long-term 
conditions or disabilities.

Reduction in stress and anxiety for those who are 
facing debt collection. 

Support and help highlighted to those facing debt 
collection, reducing stress and anxiety.

5.e) Work with key partners to actively promote 
services that provide help around navigating the 
benefits system and potentially increasing people’s 
incomes.   

Improved understanding of navigating the benefits 
system, therefore potentially increasing incomes and 
reducing financial stress, reducing suicide risk.

P
age 329



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy62 Berkshire Suicide

Prevention Strategy 63

Priority
Area Recommendation  Outcome   

5.
Economic 
Factors
(cont...)

5.f) Make sure that all parts of the health service 
where patients showing suicidal intent first make 
contact, are signposted or triaged appropriately 
using a process that includes debts and other 
economic stresses as risk factors.  

Identification of debt and economic stresses as 
risk factors upon first contact, therefore allowing 
professionals to have a better-informed approach to 
support, signposting and guidance, reducing suicide 
risk.

Self-help or advisors for debts and practical issues 
(housing, relationships) highlighted to patients, 
therefore potentially reducing anxiety and stress.

 5.g) Work with system partners on the early 
identification and support of people who are at 
increased risk of debt and financial concerns (e.g. 
unemployed or people with long-term conditions) 
as early as possible and offer effective support to 
manage personal finances through appropriate 
referral pathways.    

Reduction in debt and financial stresses as a risk 
factor for suicide for those who are at an increased 
risk.

5.h) Monitor local data and intelligence on levels 
of problem gambling within Berkshire and its link 
to suicide.  

Improved understanding of the levels of problem 
gambling and its link to suicide within Berkshire, 
informing the Suicide Prevention Group’s approach.

6.
Bereaved
by Suicide

6.a) Ensure our local bereavement offer is 
culturally and ethnically appropriate for different 
groups within communities to develop resources 
and services.

The local bereavement offer is available and 
accessible for all groups within Berkshire and has 
accessible resources and services.
Different groups within communities feel the 
services are culturally and ethnically appropriate.

6.b) Continued support to the volunteer led local 
SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a peer-
to-peer support service. 

Those bereaved by suicide can access and benefit 
from a peer-to-peer support service.

6.c) Building in bereavement support to extend to 
wider family members, friends and communities.  

Wider family members, friends and communities are 
able to access bereavement support, and feel able 
and supported in doing so, potentially improving 
their emotional and mental wellbeing.

6.d) Continue to commission suicide bereavement 
support services and monitor its impact. 

Bereavement support services are available and 
accessible across Berkshire, providing consistent 
support for those bereaved.

6.e) Explore training opportunities for staff 
impacted by suicide.

Training for staff impacted by suicide in place and 
being delivered where appropriate, potentially 
improving emotional and mental wellbeing for staff 
following suicide.

6f) Work with Thames Valley Police and other 
first responders to a suicide to share appropriate 
resources with employers  

Employers able to better support their staff who 
have been affected by suicide.

P
age 330



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy 
2021-2026

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
For advice on this document please contact Clare Muir on 72119 or email 
Claire.Muir@reading.gov.uk.  
 
Please contact the Project Management Office at pmo@reading.gov.uk for advice 
and/or support to complete this form from a project perspective. 

 
 
Name of proposal/activity/policy to be assessed: Berkshire Suicide Prevention 
Strategy 2021-26 
 
Directorate: Public Health and Wellbeing     
Service:  Directorates of Adult Care and Health Services and Council wide 
services 
 
 
Name:  Katie Badger  
Job Title:  Trainee Programme Officer Public Health 
Date of assessment: 09/09/21 
 

 

 
 

Version History 
 

Version Reason Author Date Approved By 

V1 Creation KB 07/09/21  

V2  Review KB 09/09/21  

     

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 333

mailto:Claire.Muir@reading.gov.uk
mailto:pmo@reading.gov.uk


 
 
Scope your proposal 
 
 

 What is the aim of your policy or new service/what changes are you 
proposing? 

The proposal is to adopt the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy for 2021-26, 
that builds on the previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-20), taking 
forward key underlying principles and identify new priorities. 

 
The priorities of the national suicide prevention strategy (2012), and subsequent 
progress reports are the guiding principles to how we work to prevent suicide 
across Berkshire.  

 
The 7 principles for this strategy;  
 

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups  

2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups  

3. Reduce access to the means of suicide  

4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide  

5. Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal 
behaviour  

6. Support research, data collection and monitoring  

7. Reduce rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk 
 

Through local data, intelligence and insight, five core priority areas have been 

identified as our focus for the strategy. The priority areas principally address the 

national priority to tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups, 

but the commitment remains to all of the national principles and reducing suicide 

rates across all population groups. Our local intelligence has demonstrated a need 

to focus on the following key areas; 

 

1. Children and Young People  

2. Self-harm 

3. Females 

4. Economic stresses 

5. People bereaved by suicide  

Whilst these are the agreed strategic priorities across Berkshire, there will remain 

a need to monitor trends and risk factors, particularly from the impacts of COVID-

19 and to respond to latest changes.  

 

Page 334



 

 

 

 

 

 

 Who will benefit from this proposal and how? 

The strategy is an important tool in: 

 Reducing suicide and self-harm for residents across Berkshire 

 Reducing identified suicide and self-harm risk factors for residents across 
Berkshire  

 Promoting partnership working to reduce suicide and self-harm for services 
in Berkshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 What outcomes does the change aim to achieve and for whom? 

 

The vision for the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26 is ‘To reduce 

deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the life course and ensure better knowledge 

and action around self-harm’. The strategy has been developed by the Berkshire 

Suicide Prevention Group, who have worked together to identify key priority areas, 

derived from local data, intelligence, trends and action (as above) 

The strategy is centred upon a lifecourse approach, recognising that suicide and 

self-harm affects all people from all walks of life.  

 

 Who are the main stakeholders and what do they want? 

- Those bereaved by suicide, as the strategy recognises this group as a priority 

- Berkshire residents, as the strategy recognises that suicide and self-harm 

affects people across the life course 

 

 

 

 

Page 335



 

  

Page 336



Assess whether an EqIA is Relevant 
How does your proposal relate to eliminating discrimination; advancing equality of 

opportunity; promoting good community relations? 

 

 Do you have evidence or reason to believe that some (racial, disability, 

sex, gender, sexuality, age and religious belief) groups may be affected 

differently than others? Make reference to the known demographic 

profile of the service user group, your monitoring information, research, 

national data/reports etc.  

 

Yes / No   (delete as appropriate) 

Groups have been identified through the development of the strategy through 

intelligence, data and input from partners within the Suicide Prevention Group 

that are at increased risk of suicide and self-harm. The data and intelligence 

informing this is set-out within the strategy and includes, local suicide audits, 

including a 0-25 audit and females deep dive, Real Time Surveillance Data from 

Thames Valley Police, national evidence and Public Health data. This has informed 

our priority areas for the strategy, alongside input from partners.  

 

 

 Is there already public concern about potentially discriminatory 

practices/impact or could there be? Make reference to your complaints, 

consultation, feedback, media reports locally/nationally. 

 

Yes  /  No   (delete as appropriate) 

 

 

If the answer is Yes to any of the above, you need to do an Equality Impact 

Assessment. 

If No you MUST complete this statement. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is not relevant because: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 337



Completing Officer___________________________ 

signed by Katie Badger 

 

 

Lead Officer_________________________________ 

 

 

Assess the Impact of the Proposal 
Your assessment must include: 

 Consultation 

 Collection and Assessment of Data 

 Judgement about whether the impact is negative or positive 

Think about who does and doesn’t use the service? Is the take up representative of 

the community? What do different minority groups think? (You might think your 

policy, project or service is accessible and addressing the needs of these groups, 

but asking them might give you a totally different view). Does it really meet their 

varied needs? Are some groups less likely to get a good service?  

How do your proposals relate to other services - will your proposals have knock on 

effects on other services elsewhere? Are there proposals being made for other 

services that relate to yours and could lead to a cumulative impact?  

 

Example: A local authority takes separate decisions to limit the eligibility criteria 

for community care services; increase charges for respite services; scale back its 

accessible housing programme; and cut concessionary travel.  

Each separate decision may have a significant effect on the lives of disabled 

residents, and the cumulative impact of these decisions may be considerable.  

This combined impact would not be apparent if decisions are considered in 

isolation. 

 

Consultation 

 

How have you consulted with or do you plan to consult with relevant groups and 

experts. If you haven’t already completed a Consultation form do it now. The 

checklist helps you make sure you follow good consultation practice.   

Consultation manager form - Reading Borough Council Dash 

Page 338

https://dash.reading.gov.uk/AchieveForms/?mode=fill&consentMessage=yes&form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-fbd43586-5d7c-4eed-8255-31280255d6ab/AF-Stage-a43c9b1e-2dc1-4885-8baf-3e09a3b4262f/definition.json&process=1&process_uri=sandbox-processes://AF-Process-fbd43586-5d7c-4eed-8255-31280255d6ab&process_id=AF-Process-fbd43586-5d7c-4eed-8255-31280255d6ab


Relevant groups/experts How were/will the 

views of these groups 

be obtained 

Date when contacted 

This strategy has a local focus 

and contains the perspectives 

from professionals working in 

the statutory, private and third 

sector organisations.  

Colleagues who support people 

who have been directly 

affected by suicide have also 

been involved, who we have 

worked with sensitively to 

engage this group with this 

strategy.  

Berkshire Suicide 

Prevention Group 

meetings 

 

Suicide Prevention 

Working Group meetings 

 

Via one to one meetings 

and email 

correspondence with 

partners and experts 

Ongoing - 2021 

Page 339



Collect and Assess your Data 

Using information from Census, residents survey data, service monitoring data, 

satisfaction or complaints, feedback, consultation, research, your knowledge and 

the knowledge of people in your team, staff groups etc. describe how the proposal 

could impact on each group. Include both positive and negative impacts.  

(Please delete relevant ticks) 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on racial groups 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes / No / Not sure 

Whilst race hasn’t been identified through the strategy as a specific area of focus, 

it recognises that suicide and self-harm affects all residents of all races within 

Berkshire. The strategy includes local suicide data on ethnicity.  

 

 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Sex and Gender identity 

(include pregnancy and maternity, marriage, gender re-assignment) 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes /  No / Not sure 

There is a priority area for female suicide within the strategy as this has been 

highlighted as an area for action through local data and intelligence, including a 

female deep-dive analysis. The actions within this strategy aim to reduce female 

suicide and risk, therefore having a positive impact for this group.  

 

 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Disability 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes / No / Not sure 

This proposal includes a section within the Children and Young People’s priority on 

neurodiversity, as this is an identified risk factor through the 0-25 suicide audit 

(2020). The recommendations this strategy makes are based on local insight and 

intelligence, and will have a positive impact on neurodiverse children and young 

people. 

 

 

 

Page 340



 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Sexual orientation (cover 

civil partnership) 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes /  No / Not sure 

This strategy covers LGBTQ+ for children and young people as a risk factor for 

suicide, based on data and evidence. The strategy makes recommendations to 

further understand suicide risk within this group, and work voluntary and 

community sector. Therefore this will have a positive impact for LGBTQ+ children 

and young people, as we are working towards reducing suicide and risk.  

 

 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on age 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes /  No / Not sure 

There is a chapter within the strategy that prioritises Children and Young People. 

The content and actions are focussed upon suicide risk for this group, and actions 

to reduce the risk. Therefore the strategy will have a positive impact on children 

and young people, by aiming to reduce suicide risk and improve emotional 

wellbeing and mental health. 

 

 

 

 

 Describe how this proposal could impact on Religious belief 

 Is there a negative impact? Yes / No / Not sure 

Whilst religion hasn’t been identified through the strategy as a specific area of 

focus, it recognises that suicide and self-harm affects all residents of all religions 

within Berkshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 341



Make a Decision 

If the impact is negative then you must consider whether you can legally justify it.  

If not you must set out how you will reduce or eliminate the impact. If you are not 

sure what the impact will be you MUST assume that there could be a negative 

impact. You may have to do further consultation or test out your proposal and 

monitor the impact before full implementation. 

 

(Delete numbers below which don’t apply) 

 

1. No negative impact identified – Go to sign off 

 

 

 

 

Completing Officer___________________________ 

signed by Katie Badger 

 

 

Lead Officer_________________________________ 

 

 

Page 342



Date:

09-Sep-21

CONSIDERATIONS                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?                 
Use drop down list                                           

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL                       
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

1 ENERGY USE

* More energy will be consumed or emissions generated (by RBC or 
others) = Negative Impact                                                                                                                                      
* No extra energy use is involved or any additional energy use will be 
met from renewable sources = Nil Impact                                                                                                            
* Energy use will be reduced or renewable energy sources will 
replace existing fossil fuel energy = Positive Impact

Nil

Consider:                                                       
▫ Energy efficiency measures                                        
▫ Renewable energy                                    
▫ Reducing demand for energy

2 WASTE GENERATION 

* More waste will be generated (by RBC or others) = Negative 
Impact                                                                                                                
* No waste will be generated = Nil Impact                                                                                                                            
* Less waste will be generated OR amount of waste that is reused/ 
recycled will be increased = Positive Impact

Nil

Consider:                                                       
▫ Re-usable/recycled goods                                           
▫ Recycling facilities                                  
▫ Reducing/reusing resources 

3 USE OF TRANSPORT

* RBC or others will need to travel more OR transport goods/people 
more often/further = Negative Impact                                                                                                                   
* No extra transport will be necessary = Nil Impact                                                                                                                      
* The need to travel, the use of transport and/or of fossil fuel-based 
transport will be reduced = Positive Impact 

Nil

Consider:                                                       
▫ Use of public transport                                    
▫ Reducing need to travel or 
transport goods                                
▫ Alternative fuels/electric 
vehicles/walking and cycling

CONSIDERATIONS                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?                 
Use drop down list

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL                       
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

4 HEATWAVES

* Increased exposure of vulnerabe people and/or infrastructure to 
heat stress = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* No increase in exposure to heat stress = Nil Impact                         * 
Reduced exposure of vulnerable people and/or infrastructure to heat 
stress = Positive Impact

Nil
Greater need for cooling, 
ventilation, shading and 
hydration methods

5 DROUGHT

*  Water use will increase and/or no provision made for water 
management = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* Levels of water use will not be changed = Nil Impact                                        
* Provision made for water management, water resources will be 
protected = Positive Impact

Nil
Greater need for water 
management and perhaps 
reserve supplies

6 FLOODING

* Levels of surface water run-off will increase, no management of 
flood risk = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* Levels of surface water run-off & flood risk are not affected = Nil 
Impact                                                                                                              
* Sustainable drainage measures incorporated, positive steps to 
reduce & manage flood risk = Positive Impact

Nil

Consider flood defence 
mechanisms or alternative 
arrangements (business 
continuity)

7 HIGH WINDS / STORMS

* Exposure to higher wind speeds is increased or is not managed = 
Negative Impact                                                                                                                    
* No change to existing level of exposure to higher wind speeds = Nil 
Impact                                                                                                              
* Exposure to higher wind speeds is being actively managed & 
reduced = Positive Impact

Nil
Greater need for stabilisation 
measures, robust structures 
resilient to high winds

8 DISRUPTION TO SUPPLY 
CHAINS

* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is 
increased = Negative Impact                                                                                                                    
* No change in exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods 
and services = Nil Impact                                                                                                                   
* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is 
reduced = Positive Impact

Nil

Source key goods and services 
locally as it reduces exposure to 
supply chain disruption and 
boosts the local economy

Net Nil

Guidance on Assessing the Degree of Negative and Positive Impacts:

Medium Impact (M)

High Impact (H)

The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Plan does not address 
climate impact directly or indirectly, as it is focussed upon 
reducing suicide and self-harm across the life course. It is not 
foreseen that the strategy will have an impact on carbon 
emmissions or resilience to the effects of climate change.

* Relates to major capital assets (larger buildings and infrastructure projects)

* Affects service performance (e.g.: energy use; waste generation, transport use) by more 
than c.10%

* Relates to medium-sized capital assets (individual buildings or small projects)

* Affects delivery of corporate commitments
* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Medium  

* Affects corporate performance (e.g.: energy; waste; transport use) by more than c.10%

* Affects delivery of regulatory commitments

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Significant or High         

* National publicity (good or bad)  

* No impact on capital assets; or relates to minor capital assets (minor works)
* Local publicity (good or bad)

Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy
Project / Proposal Name or Reference: Your Name:

* No impact on service or corporate performance

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT 
THE ABILITY OF READING TO 
WITHSTAND:

1. IMPACT ON CARBON EMISSIONS

2. IMPACT ON RESILIENCE TO THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT:

Low Impact (L)
Note: Not all of the considerations/ criteria listed below will necessarily be relevant to your project

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Low or none
* No publicity 

Weighing up the negative and positive impacts of your project, 
what is the overall rating you are assigning to your project?:

This overall rating is what you need to include in your report/ 
budget proposal, together with your explanation given below.

In the box below please summarise any relevant policy 
context, explain how the overall rating has been derived, 
highlight significant impacts (positive and negative) and explain 
actions being taken to mitigate negatives and increase 
positives. This text can be replicated in the 'Environment and 
Climate Impacts' section of your Committee Report, though 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



                                
  

READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

DATE OF MEETING:  8th October 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: ICP Unified Executive – September Chair’s Report 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Caroline Tack 
 

TEL: 07825060238 

JOB TITLE: ICP Programme Director 
 

E-MAIL: caroline.tack@nhs.net 

ORGANISATION: Berkshire West CCG 
 

  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to provide Health and Wellbeing Board members with an 

update on discussions and developments from the ICP Unified Executive meeting, the 
most senior ICP meeting within Berkshire West, attended by our collective Chief 
Executives and a number of directors on a monthly basis. This report ensures reporting 
links to the Health and Wellbeing Boards maintaining our collaborative working and 
supporting our overall governance structure. This report will feature as a regular standing 
agenda item, with the paper being presented by an attendee of the ICP Unified 
Executive. 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 Board members are asked to note the ICP Unified Executive Chairs Report.  

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 

N/A 

 
4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Board members are asked to note the ICP Unified Executive Chairs Report.  
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Health and Wellbeing Board members with an 

update on discussions and developments from the ICP Unified Executive meeting, the 
most senior ICP meeting within Berkshire West, attended by our collective Chief 
Executives and a number of directors on a monthly basis. This report ensures reporting 
links to the Health and Wellbeing Boards maintaining our collaborative working and 
supporting our overall governance structure. This report will also provide members with 
an update on progress in agreeing funding to support the Berkshire West Rapid 
Community Discharge service, a progress update on implementation of the Urgent and 
Emergency care strategy as well as work to date on joint commissioning initiatives. 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

No environmental or climate implications  
 

Page 345

Agenda Item 13



7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 

Not applicable 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Not applicable 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Not applicable 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Not applicable 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None  

 

Page 346



Page 1 of 3 
 

Unified Executive Meeting – August 2018 Un 

cutive 

ICP Unified Executive Chair’s Report – September 2021 

Title: ICP Unified Executive update  

Programme / Project 
Sponsor (SRO): 

Julian Emms, Chief Executive, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Author(s): Caroline Tack, ICP Programme Director 

Purpose: 
To brief Reading Health and Wellbeing board on key issues discussed at 
the Berkshire West ICP Unified Executive on 9th September 2021. 

Previously considered 
by: 

N/A 

The key points to note from the ICP Unified Executive on 9th September are as follows: 
 
Place based delegation 
 
A paper outlining to the ongoing work to define place-based decision-making plans and prepare for 
successful implementation was discussed at length with the group.  All members were supportive of the 
overall direction of travel but reiterated that the theory now needed to be translated into tangible 
examples in order to fully understand the implications for both organisations and patients.  Local authority 
partners felt this was particularly important for their Elected Members.  Given the maturity of the ICP in 
Berkshire West all members felt it was appropriate that plans for this area could be accelerated, 
particularly given some of the known system issues this could help resolve.  All partners were asked to 
commit time and resource to the development of this work 
 
Review of Urgent and Emergency Care strategy  
 
The chair of the Urgent and Emergency care (UEC) board presented a paper on progress against the 
Berkshire West Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy.  The Strategy remains a key strategic priority for the 
ICP. It was developed with input from all system partners based on the recommendations of a McKinsey 
“Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy and Bed Capacity Modelling Report” published in Jan 2019 which set 
out a high-level framework for a local Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy.  Broadly the original goals of 
the strategy remain valid however what has changed is that demand for services has gone up significantly 
since 2019.  Progress has been made on a handful of workstreams and within individual organisations, but 
integrated working has not. There are also a number of recommendations that haven’t been progressed for 
example integrated hubs and the appointment of a UEC Director with the appropriate budget authority.  It 
was highlighted that it might be useful to develop an implementation plan for the strategy so UE can see 
clearly how the work is progressing and any blockers that need resolving.  In conclusion it was agreed that a 
rapid piece of work was needed in the next few weeks with UEC board and wider Chief Executive colleagues 
to: 

 

Page 347



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

a) review the current Improvement Opportunities and progress and decide whether we want to 
stop/continue/accelerate them (informed by the best view of the impact they had had) and  
b) discuss the outstanding McKinsey recommendations and indeed any other new proposals people 
had and decide whether to adopt them as part of an updated strategy. 

 
This will be discussed again at the October meeting. 
 

Rapid Community Discharge 
 
A paper discussing funding the continuation of the RCD service to the end of Q4 was presented. All 
members were in agreement with the approach should it be needed.    It is understood that 
further funding to support hospital discharge should be announced as part of H2, however it is 
unclear whether this will cover the full costs of running the service until March.  It may therefore 
be necessary to re-visit the risk sharing approach outlined in the paper. A full business case for 

2022/23 will be necessary to support ongoing investment in to the service.  UE need oversight and 
assurance that that every pound spent on this service provides value for the system and patients. 
 
Joint Commissioning 
 
Local authority partners presented work completed to date focussing on:  
 

a) Nursing Bed Strategy  
b) Joint Health and Social Care Funding 

 
The Unified Executive agreed to work being undertaken in relation to Nursing Care Services for 
higher need residents of Berkshire West over the next 15 years.  Work has been undertaken to 
scope what is required to achieve the outcome of a strategy of need and delivery in Berkshire 
West.   There is sign up to draw up a strategy that delivers in the longer term, however resource is 
required to achieve the outcome and due to other competing demands, it was acknowledged this 
could not be considered until early 2022. 
 

The second area of work being undertaken is a Joint Funding Task and Finish Group to define 
criteria for NHS Funding where CHC is not applicable, but where healthcare needs are over and 
above those that can be met by universal NHS services and where potentially a joint package of 
health and social care should be agreed. The scope for this work has been agreed and a task and 
finish group established to take forward the work, led by the CCG. The timescale for this work is 
31st December 2021.  The initial work has commenced looking at areas of good practice 
nationally. 

 
Next meeting 
The focus for the October meeting will be: 
 

• System Finances and Performance 

• Flagship priority projects update 

• MSK 

• Urgent and Emergency Care strategy – next steps 
 

Page 348



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Recommendation 

 
BOB CCC to note feedback from ICP Unified Executive Group in September 2021.  
 

 

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



                                

1 

 

 
READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

DATE OF MEETING: 8th OCTOBER 2021 
 

  

REPORT TITLE: INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 

REPORT AUTHOR: BEV NICHOLSON 
 

TEL: 07812 461464 

JOB TITLE:  
 

INTEGRATION PROJECT 
MANAGER 
 

E-MAIL: Beverley.nicholson@reading.gov.uk 
  

ORGANISATION: READING BOROUGH COUNCIL / BERKSHIRE WEST CCG 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Integration Programme – notably, 

progress made within the Programme itself, as well as performance against the national 
Better Care Fund (BCF) targets.   
 

1.2 The Reading Integration Board (RIB) Programme Plan Q1 progress update is provided for 
information (Appendix 1). 
 

1.3 We are currently working against the following 4 national BCF targets, based on 2020/21, 
whilst awaiting the release of the BCF Planning Guidance for 2021/22: 

 Reducing the number of non-elective admissions (NELs) to no more than 10,607 for the 
year (per 100,000 population).   

 No more than 571 people per 100,000 are placed into residential or nursing home 
placements.  

 That a minimum of 93% of people who received reablement support, remain at home, 
91 days after being discharged from hospital. 

 A minimum of 18 admissions per year to the Discharge to Assess independent living 
flats at Charles Clore Court. 

 
Performance against these targets has declined, with only one of the four, Residential 
Nursing, being met.  This is based on data reported in the Reading Integration Board (RIB) 
Dashboard for August 2021.   Further details are provided in Section 4 of this report.   
 

1.4 The Health Inequalities focused projects, identified in the RIB Programme Plan, are being 
aligned with the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy Action Plans, where appropriate, as 
well as working with system partners at Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) and Integrated 
Care Services (ICS) levels to support the wider priorities.  
 

1.5 Voluntary Care Sector Forums have commenced, in collaboration with Reading Voluntary 
Action (RVA), to enable our voluntary care sector to engage with the ongoing development 
and delivery of the Reading Integration Programme and the Health Inequalities focussed 
projects.  Future meetings are scheduled for, 24th November and 26th January. 
  

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board note the progress made in respect of the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) schemes and the Integration Board Programme of Work. 

Page 351

Agenda Item 14

mailto:Beverley.nicholson@reading.gov.uk


2 

 

  
3. POLICY CONTEXT 

 
3.1 The Better Care Fund Policy for 2021/22 has been published but we are awaiting the release 

of the national planning guidance, which will provide the detail required, such as the 
agreed financial envelope and BCF metrics for this year.   Based on early discussions with 
the BCF team, there is not expected change in the metrics, apart from including a measure 
in relation to admission avoidance, in place of the current Non-elective admissions (NELs) 
target, and a metric in relation to reducing Length of Wait (LoW) in hospital, once someone 
is declared medically optimised for discharge.  In line with the BCF National Conditions, 
once these are formally announced, the mandatory minimum funding streams will go into 
a pooled budget for 2021/22, which will be governed by an agreement under S75 of the 
NHS Act 2006 as in previous years.   
 

 
4. BCF PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 
4.1 Non-Elective Admissions (NELS) 

The annual target for the maximum number of Non-Elective admissions is 9,322 (per 
100,000 population).  Performance has deteriorated when compared to last year, when we 
were below target all year. However it should be noted that the target is reduced each 
year.  For 2020/21 the target was a maximum of 10,607 and we achieved 9,414.  The year 
end projections for 2021/22, based on performance for the first quarter to end of June, 
are 10,413.  We continue to work with system partners to avoid hospital admissions where 
possible.  The BCF Planning Guidance for 2021/22 is expected to introduce an admission 
avoidance measure in place of the NELs target.   The fall in performance is potentially due 
to increasing confidence in the population in relation to attending hospital. The charts 
below show current performance (chart 4.1.1) for 2021/22, performance for 2020/21 – 
during Covid (chart 4.1.2) and performance in 2019/20 - pre-Covid (chart 4.1.3).  It should 
be noted however, that based on the projections for this year, 2021/22, performance 
would demonstrate a 40% reduction in NELs, per 100,000 population, compared to 2019/20.  

 

BCF Target 1: NELS  

Total Non-elective spells per 
100,000 population 

Status - Performance is 11.7% away from meeting the target Red 

 

 
 (Chart 4.1.1) 

 
 

Page 352

file:///C:/Users/NichBev/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/6207B7F0.xlsx%23'BCF%20Metric%201%20(NELs)'!A1


3 

 

NELs April 2020 to March 2021 (During Pandemic), which shows significantly improved 
performance compared to 2019/20. 

 

 
    (Chart 4.1.2) 

 
NELs April 2019 to March 2020 (Pre-Covid): 

 
  (Chart 4.1.3) 

 
 
4.2 Admissions to Residential / Nursing Homes 

This target measured the number of people, per 100,000 of the Reading population, being 
placed into residential or nursing homes and was 113 to July 2021, a positive position start 
to the year with a projected performance of 340 against a maximum target of 571. 

  

 
BCF Target 2: Care Homes Admissions 

BCF Target 2: Care Homes 
Admissions 

Status - Performance exceeds the target Green 

Target performance per annum (no more than) 571 

Page 353



4 

 

 
 

 

 
4.3 Reablement – 91 Days 

Reablement services help older people (65+) to retain or regain their skills and 
confidence so they can learn to manage again after a period of illness at discharge from 
hospital. The service is usually provided in the person’s own home by a team of social 
care professionals. The target for this service is that 93% of service users remained at 
home, 91 days after a hospital discharge into the reablement service.   
 
Performance against this target, based on people discharged in March, still at home in 
June, improved to 84% from 76% in the previous period, but fell short of the target of 
93%.  There were 49 people discharged into community reablement care and of those 41 
remained at home after 91 days.  Sadly 5 of the 8 people, who did not remain at home, 
had passed away.  Performance rates without those service users being included would 
have met the target.  
 
 
 

BCF Target 3: 91 Days 

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were 
still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement / rehabilitation services 

Status - Performance is 9% away from meeting 
the target 

Amber 

 

Note:  performance figures are collected after 3 months (91 days) have elapsed from initial hospital discharge 

into reablement/rehab services. (e.g. outcome data from the March hospital discharges are reported in June)  

 

 
 

Page 354

file:///C:/Users/NichBev/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.MSO/7C3EE46D.xlsx%23'BCF%20Metric%203%20(91%20Days)'!A1


5 

 

 
 Note: This chart shows data to March 2021 as this is the cohort on which outcomes are measured in June.  The next update 

will show the statistic for patients discharged in April. 

 
4.4 Discharge to Assess (D2A) 
4.4.1 The minimum number of people placed in the commissioned Discharge to Assess beds at 

Charles Clore Court has not been met, due to the impact of some long stayers.  There are 
four independent living flats with carer support for people who are not able to return 
directly home after a period in hospital (Step down), or for people who require some 
additional support to avoid a hospital admission (Step up).  There was an increase in the 
average length of stay of service users to 15 weeks due to a number of factors such as a 
Covid outbreak, affecting both vulnerable service users and staff, and to some very 

complex cases for example a service user who has dementia and displaying  
challenging behaviours, or service users with no recourse to public funding, 
causing long delays in finding appropriate long-term care options, and therefore 
reducing the available capacity.  

 
In the previous year 2020/21 the average length of stay was 7 days.  A review of the 
discharge to assess offer is underway and learning from the experience with these flats is 
being used to inform the future model for Reading.  The aim will be to continue down the 
route of extra care independent living flats but to potentially increase the number to 
provide more flexibility, as well as provide a wrap around multi-disciplinary team 
approach to support service users moving on appropriately, following a strengths-based 
approach.  

 
 

Cumulative number of Step up / Step down beds Throughput 

Target performance per year (not less than) 18 

Status of Monthly performance Amber 

Cumulative number of cases FY to date 4 

  

Page 355



6 

 

 
 
 

 
 
4.4.2 The local discharge pathway metrics, signed off by Berkshire West system partners at the 

Rapid Community Discharge Steering Group, in order to monitor the impact of the service 
are as follows:- 
 

i. Pathway 0 – straight home from hospital, no care package required, no follow up required 
other than those arranged by the hospital. Local target of >75%  

ii. Pathway 1 – discharge to patient’s own home, with intermediate care and reablement 
services support, whilst assessments are taking place to enable them to live safely at home. 
The assessment should be done promptly (within 2 hours), with rapid (on the day) access to 
care and support as required.  The Community Reablement Team (CRT) provide the 
assessment and support. Local target of >16% 

iii. Pathway 2 - Discharge to a Community Hospital for people needing rehabilitation in a 
bedded setting. Local target of <8% 

iv. Pathway 3 –. People needing to be placed in a nursing or residential home – this should 
include patients who are either returning to a care home or are newly identified as 
requiring care home placement.   People needing to be placed in a D2A bed for further 
assessment would also be referred for Pathway 3.  Local target of <1% 

v. Number of patients discharged same day as MOFD – Local target of 95% 
vi. Number of patients on pathways 0 and 1 discharged back home – Local target of 91% 

 

Page 356



7 

 

The most important aspect of the hospital discharge process is to avoid bottlenecks in 
hospital and get people home as quickly and safely as possible, ensuring they are 
effectively supported, where necessary.  
 
Data for the ‘length of wait’ for discharge has been captured since the first week of 
March 2021 and the average length of wait for Reading patients awaiting discharge, as at 
July 2021, against Pathways 1 to 3, is shown in the table below: 
 

Pathway Average Length of Wait (days) 

1 – home with package of care 2.4  
(reduced by 1 day since last report) 

2 – community bedded setting with rehabilitation 1.5  
(slight increase from 1.4 in last report) 

3 – nursing / residential 24hr care 
3.0 

(Significant reduction from 10.6 in last 
report) 

 
The improved performance in hospital discharge lengths of wait, particularly for Pathway 
3, has been noted by neighbouring Local Authority system partners and a meeting 
arranged to share best practice.  
 
The overall Berkshire West percentage of same day discharges for, pathways 1 to 3, was 
19%.  The local target is 95% on all pathways, including Pathway 0.  A review of data is 
being undertaken, including methodology, to ensure alignment with the National metrics, 
pending detail within the planning guidance, which at the time of writing this report had 
not been released.  The revised metrics will be shared in due course.    
 
As at the end of Quarter 1 (April to June 2021), 94% of patients were discharged home on 
pathways 0+1 for Reading, against a target of 91% as a minimum, and this was an 
improvement of 2% on the last quarter.  
 
Performance for Reading, as at the end of Quarter 1 (April to June 2021), in comparison 
to the previous 2 quarters (Sept to Dec 2020, Jan to Mar 2021), is shown in the chart 
below:   

 

 
 
 

Reading continues to perform well, and above target, in respect of discharges on Pathway 
0, with 79% being discharged home, against a minimum target of 75%.  Pathway 1 
performance is also improving, although sits 1% below the minimum target of 16% in 
Quarter 1. Pathway 2 performance remains strong, and below the maximum target of 8% 
and Pathway 3 continues to improve, at 1% where ideally it should be below 1%.    

Page 357



8 

 

 
4.5 Impact of Local Community Reablement Schemes 

 
4.5.1   Residential Admissions after reablement 
 
 The reablement service has impacted positively on the avoidance of service users 

entering residential / nursing homes, following departure from their service, and there 
have been no admissions during the first quarter of 2021/22.  This remains significantly 
below the maximum target of 116 for Reading.   
 

Cumulative number of service users entered Residential / Nursing home following 
departure from the reablement service 

Target performance per year (not more than) 116 

Status of Monthly performance Green 

 

 
 
 
 

 4.5.2 The number of people accessing support through the Community Reablement Team 
(CRT) service is currently significantly below the expected level of not less than 1,200 
per year, with projections showing an intake of 879.  A review of the CRT service is 
underway, which will look at capacity and service delivery.  

  

Cumulative number of cases accessing CRT service 

Target performance per year (not less than) 1200 

Cumulative number of cases FY to date 293 

Average performance (based on performance to date) 879 

Status of Average performance Red 

Page 358



9 

 

 
 
 4.5.3 The average length of stay with the reablement services as at July 2021 continues to be 

positive at 3.32 weeks, against a maximum of 6 weeks, ensuring people are enabled to 
become as independent as possible through the support of the Community Reablement 
Team (CRT) service. 

 

Average service user length of stay with CRT service in weeks 

Target performance per month (no more than) 6.00 

Actual performance this month 3.32 

Status of Monthly performance Green 

 

 
 

4.6 Additional BCF Funding for accelerated Integration (iBCF) 
 

The targets were designed to reflect the impact of the iBCF funding’s investment in 
reablement services. We report on our progress against these targets in our quarterly iBCF 
returns. The position in July (Quarter 2 - July to September) has shown continued growth 
in the number of people receiving home care support, with significant improvement 
compared to the previous year.  

 

Marginal increase in home care packages 

Target performance per month for this quarter (not less than) 581 

Actual performance this month 608 

Status of Monthly performance Green 

Page 359



10 

 

 

 
 
 
4.7 PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 The Reading Integration Board Programme Plan was developed in partnership with 

stakeholders and was signed off at the Integration Board meeting in June 2021.  The 
Quarter 1 update against the projects is shown in Appendix 1.  The programme 
encompasses three key priorities; Multi-Disciplinary Teams wrapped around PCNs, 
Discharge to Assess future model for Reading and the Nepalese Diabetes project, along 
with a focus on health inequalities.   
 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS  
 While the Better Care Fund (BCF) does not in itself and in its entirety directly relate to the 

Health & Wellbeing Board’s strategic aims, Operating Guidance for the BCF published by 
NHS England states that: The expectation is that HWBs will continue to oversee the 
strategic direction of the BCF and the delivery of better integrated care, as part of their 
statutory duty to encourage integrated working between commissioners […] HWBs also 
have their own statutory duty to help commissioners provide integrated care that must 
be complied with.  

 
The Reading Integration Board (RIB) Programme Plan objectives are mapped to both the 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) priorities and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board proposed strategic priorities for 2021/22 to ensure alignment and effective 
reporting:   
 

Integrated Care Partnership Strategic Objectives 

 Promote and improve health and wellbeing for Berkshire West residents 

 Create a financially sustainable health & social care system 

 Create partnerships and integrate services that deliver high quality and accessible H&S Care 

 Create a sustainable workforce that supports new ways of working 
 

  
Top emerging priorities from the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

1. Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people 

2. Support individuals at high risk of negative outcomes to live healthy lives 

3. Help families and young children in early years 

4. Good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people 

5. Good mental health and wellbeing for all adults 
 

Page 360



11 

 

Progress updates on the RIB programme plan will continue to be provided on a regular basis 
through the agreed governance structures from Reading Integration Board to the Integrated 
Care Partnership and to Reading Health and Wellbeing Board.    
 
In addition, RIB is the key governance group who will develop and monitor the Reading 
Action Plans for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priorities 1 and 2.  The Action Plans are 
in development, engaging key stakeholders and identifying appropriate metrics.  It is 
expected that the final plans will be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 
2022. 
 

6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute 48 

refers). 
 
6.2 This report summarises the performance of the Better Care Fund and Integration 

Programme.  No new services are being proposed or implemented that would impact on 
the climate or environment, however input is being sought in relation to the development 
of the Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priority Action Plans for priorities 1 and 2, as well 
as cross referencing with the other workstreams for priorities 3 to 5.   

  
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
7.1 Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 places a 

duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out "any of its 
functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another way". 

 
7.2 In accordance with this duty it is the intention of Reading Integration Board to engage with 

stakeholders to ensure they are included in guiding integration in the locality, through 
feedback surveys and through the local and national voluntary sector organisations with 
which we work. Stakeholder engagement continues to be a key factor to effective 
integrated models of care, and engagement with all system partners is important to the 
Reading Integration Board.  

 
The annual Adult and Social Care Service survey was sent out in January 2021.  Responses 
are due to be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Integration Board will 
review the responses and incorporate the feedback, where appropriate, in the integration 
work plan.  

 
7.3 Healthwatch are undertaking a review focussed on people being discharged from hospital 

on pathways 1 to 3.  This review was due to start in June 2021, however it was delayed 
due to the requirement for additional data sharing agreements to be processed.   We are 
advised that a report will be submitted to the Integration Board once complete. It is 
expected that this will be during Quarter 3 (Oct to Dec 2021). A full report will be submitted 
to the Health and Wellbeing Board in due course.  

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

8.1 N/A – no new proposals or decisions recommended / requested  
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1      N/A – no new proposals or decisions recommended / requested.  
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) planning guidance for 2021/22 is still awaited.  Early indications 

are that there will be no significant changes in funding, although there will be some 
changes in relation to the BCF metrics.  We are working with the leads for the schemes 
funded through the BCF and with our finance colleagues to continue to deliver appropriate 

Page 361



12 

 

schemes within budget.  We are advised that the Planning Guidance will be released 
shortly, with an expected return date of the final Plans by 11th November 2021.    

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
11.1 The BCF performance data included in this report is drawn from the Reading Integration 

Board Dashboard – August 2021(Reporting data between April and July 2021) 
11.2 Appendix 1:  Reading Integration Board Programme Plan – Q1 update 2021/22 

Page 362



High Level Reading Integrated Board (RIB) Programme Plan 2021/22 7 High level Objectives, 15 Projects, 23 Project Activities, 44 Deliverables

(Agreed at RIB June 2021) =RIB/ICP Priority
Status 

2021/22

RIB Objective

Link with NHS Long 
Term Plan and ASC 
Green Paper (when 

published) Key Projects

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Project Activities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

Target Q2: 3 MDTS in place supporting PCNs in 
Reading

A

Demand for GP services and vaccination 
programme is placing increasing pressures on GP 
time and GP’s have less time to engage. 
Recent reorganisation of SR PCNs has delayed 
discussions as key roles have changed
BHFT lead – BB seconded into Urgent Care Role and 
role currently vacant.

Monthly project reporting through Project Team to 
RIB in place 

G

Case studies of good integrated practice developed to 
share with PCNs by end Q2.

NS BHFT are producing case studies, to be shared.

No. of patients discussed at  MDT (Max 15) A Baseline (Jan to Mar 2021)

Reduction in GP contacts for people that have been 
reviewed by an MDT

A Baseline and target to be agreed.

Reduction in number of non-elective admissions and 
ED attendances for cases reviewed by the MDT

A Baseline and target to be agreed.

Number of complex cases where Care Plans have 
been amended, with improved outcomes for people 
that have been reviewed through an MDT.

A Baseline and target to be agreed.

Mental Health Workers aligned with each PCN to refer 
into MDT

NS
3 Mental Health Workers have been recruited in 
Q2, and it is expected that the remainder will be in 
post by January 2022.

Each PCN  is aligned with a Social Worker. NS Baseline and target to be agreed.

Strategy for improved 
Engagement with PCN Clinical 
Directors in relation to 
Integration Priorities

Increased number of CDs engaged at RIB on a 
quarterly basis (baseline at March RIB).  

G
Two PCN leads engaged (AC/KI) and have taken on 
role of sharing information from RIB with their 
networks and feeding back into RIB.

Identify local projects to support 
the integrated approach to 
health and social care of Reading 
residents

Projects identified in partnership with PCNs based on 
PHM Analytics, through the Health Inequalities 
focussed work at RIB.

NS
Number of projects to be identified.  Links in with 
Health Inequalities work.

Establish 3 MDTs to wrap around 
PCNs in the Reading Locality

Wider health 
and care 

Integration 
initiatives

Integrated Care Service (BOB) 
and Integrated Care 

Partnership (Reading)

MDT Approach 

Clinical Director engagement at 
RIB

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB1,2 & 5

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB1,2 & 5

P
age 363



RIB Objective

Link with NHS Long 
Term Plan and ASC 
Green Paper (when 

published) Key Projects

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Project Activities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

      
    

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
   

  

Business Case to be developed for future model of 
D2A for Reading by 30/06/2021. 

A
Draft Business Case developed, currently a work in 
progress, engaging with system partners. 

Target performance per annum (no more than) 116 
Admissions to Residential / Nursing Homes

G

95% of Reading Patients discharged same day as 
Medically Optimised for Discharge

A
Engaging with Rapid Community Discharge (RCD) 
Team to support initiatives.

Voluntary Sector engagement agreed and mapped 
against discharge pathways by end of Q1 (30/06/2021)

A
Mapping and outline plan to be developed through 
VCS Forums.

VCS Forums scheduled - 3 per year; first forum to have 
taken place by end May 2021.

G
Future forums scheduled for 29th September, 24th 
November, 26th January.

Specification for CRT service review developed by end 
of Q1 (30/06/2021)

G

Strategic partner identified and project timeline 
completed by end of Q1 (30/06/2021)

G

Target performance per year (not less than) 1,200 
people, per annum, referred to the Community 
Reablement Team.

G

90% User satisfaction ("Satisfied" or "Very Satisfied") 
upon exit from reablement service

G

Effective Enhanced Care model to 
ensure timely hospital discharges 
or avoid hospital admissions and 
potentially reduce the number of 
Admissions to Residential/ 
Nursing Homes.

Map voluntary sector providers 
to align support offer / responses 
in relation to Discharge to Assess

A review of Community 
Reablement Team capacity and 
model of service delivery

Discharge to 
Assess - 

Future Model 
for Reading

DHSC Hospital discharge 
service: policy and operating 

model 
Updated 19 February 2021

Community 
Reablement 
(CRT) Service 

Review

LGA Adult Social Care 
Efficiency Programme and 

Community  health and care 
discharge and crisis care 
model: An investment in 

reablement

DHSC Hospital discharge 
service: policy and operating 

model 
Updated 19 February 2021 

Engagement of Voluntary Sector 
to support improved outcomes on 
discharge pathways 0 and 1, for 
Service Users

Review of D2A for Reading, 
proposal and implementation of 
future model.

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB2 & 5

Review of Community Reablement 
Team (CRT) service

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB2 & 5

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB2 & 5

P
age 364



RIB Objective

Link with NHS Long 
Term Plan and ASC 
Green Paper (when 

published) Key Projects

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Project Activities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

      
    

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
   

  

Average HbA1c for the selected cohort will be reduced 
by 5% by 31/03/2022

G

To bring the blood pressure of 50% of patients in 
range   by 31/03/2022

G

Group Consultations will continue as a method of 
supporting diabetics within practices  by 31/03/2022

G

The prevalence of AF in this cohort will increase by 
10% by 31/03/2022

G

Patients will have greater awareness of self 
management by 31/03/2022

G

PHM Dataset for Reading Population.
A

Priorities identified based on PHM Data insights. G
Project Plans drawn up and actioned in line with 
priorities. 

A

Analyst is using a PHM approach to analysing data for 
Reading localities. By September 2021.

G

Analyst is able to use Power BI effectively to produce 
intelligence to support prioritisation of activities and 
effective presentation to programme boards by 
September 2021.

A

The BCF Analyst is developing skills in relation to 
Population Health Management.  We are working 
towards the ability to access the right level of data 
through the analytical platform (Power BI) for 
Connected Care and a proposal will be put forward 
for a working group of PHM Analysts to work 
together across Berkshire West and BOB.

ICP 3 & 4
HWB 1 & 2

Identify all current projects in 
relation to Health Inequalities

Alignment of ongoing and planned Health Inequalities 
projects. By July 2021.

G

ICP 1 & 3
HWB 1 & 2

Covid Vaccination Hesitancy
Data collected weekly on uptake per ethnic group 
against cohorts and action taken is in line with data. 

G

ICP1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2 & 5

Engaging Voluntary Care Sector 
to support the needs of people in 
Reading based on a  PHM data 
driven approach.

Strategy by end of Q1 (By 30/06/2021), together with 
Action Plan and agreed timelines.

A

Voluntary Sector engagement is happening, with 
representation at the Forum and also within 
Working Groups to develop project plans and 
action plans linked to H&WBB/ICP Strategy. A 
document is yet to be drawn up in relation to the 
formal strategy for engagement.

Sub-Group created for RIB to 
agree priorities for Reading and 
develop specific project plans 
based on those priorities.

Develop PHM Analyst Capacity & 
Capability in Reading

South Reading Nepalese Diabetic 
Project

ICP 1  & 4
HWB1,2 & 5

Reducing 
Health 

Inequalities

Place Based Approaches for 
Reducing Health Inequalities 

(PBA), and PHE Health 
Inequities Guidance

ICP 1  & 4
HWB1,2 & 5

Using a Population Health 
Management Approach to identify 

areas of inequality within the 
Reading area.

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB1,2 & 5

P
age 365



RIB Objective

Link with NHS Long 
Term Plan and ASC 
Green Paper (when 

published) Key Projects

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Project Activities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

      
    

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
   

  

HealthWatch to  collect the 
experiences of Service Users in 
relation to the Discharge 
Pathways.

ICP 1 & 3
HWB 1 & 5

Identify what Service User 
feedback is available from 
HealthWatch and further 
engagement opportunities.

HealthWatch report agreed to enable evaluation of 
Service User experience in Reading (by Q4 2021)

G

Engage Service Users and Carers in 
co-production of services; 
ensuring representation at Boards 
and other events.  

ICP 1 & 3
HWB 1 & 5

Identify meetings and Boards 
where Service Users/Carers could 
be invited to take part.

Agendas include Service User/Carer feedback and 
enagement item, and Service User/Carer 
representatives invited to attend.

NS

Produce a High Level Strategy to 
develop what good engagement 
looks like in the Reading Locality 
and identify what is meaningful 
for Service Users and System 
Partners.

ICP1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2 & 5

Develop a Working Group 
involving Service Users/Carers 
and other key stakeholders

First Stakeholder Engagement Task & Finish Group 
Meeting to has taken place by the end of Q2

NS

ICP 1  & 2 Review of RIB Dashboard
RIB Dashboard  reviewed and updated in line with 
statutory BCF and local targets

G

ICP 1  & 2 Develop Summary Report for RIB
Summary report provided for each RIB meeting 
monthly

G

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1  & 5

Develop Suite of Population 
Health reports to be made 
available to system partners

Suite of Population Health Management reports made 
available to system partners (by 30/09/2021)

G

Identification of Digital Solutions, 
in partnership with other Social 
Care and Health Providers in the 
Berkshire West locality.

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2  & 5

Review of opportunities and 
benefits at RIB

25% Reduction in Admin time spent on populating and 
sharing discharge spreadsheets and other information 
(baseline needed)

A

Connected Care and Rapid Community Discharge 
project group are working together to develop 
functionality within Connected Care to provide live 
data and timely updates in relation to discharge 
pathways.  Direct feed of data from RBC into 
Connected Care is awaited.

Service User 
Engagement 
& Feedback

Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 

2007

Data and 
Digital 

Solutions

Integrating Care: Next steps 
to building strong and 

effective integrated care 
systems across England.  

Ensure regular and appropriate 
reporting of relevant datasets 
including a suite of Population 
Health focussed reports to 
support PCNs and system partners 
in identifying local activities that 
will have the most impact in their 
localities.

P
age 366



RIB Objective

Link with NHS Long 
Term Plan and ASC 
Green Paper (when 

published) Key Projects

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Project Activities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

      
    

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
   

  

Key Priority Areas

Link with ICP 
/ H&WB 
Strategy Key Sub Priorities RIB Deliverable Q1 Commentary

Reducing Non Elective Admissions 
(NELs)*

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2  & 5

Focus on admission prevention 
initiatives to support people to 
stay well and fit in their own 
homes.

Target of no more than 10,607 (per 100,000 
population) for the year.  

G

Reducing admissions to 
Residential / Nursing Homes

ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2  & 5

System wide partners focus on 
anticipatory care and crisis 
prevention.

No more than 571 people per 100,000 are 
permanently placed into residential/nursing homes

G

Discharge to Assess
ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2  & 5

Partners focus and system wide 
oversight and COVID funding to 
support 7 day working.

95% same day
Av. days on MOFD (RTG List)
No. bed days lost
75% (min) pathway 0
16% (min) pathway 1
8% (max) pathway 2
1% (max) pathway 3

A
Discharge to Assess service - Future Model to 
address current hospital discharge delays.

Effective Reablement Service
ICP 1,2,3 & 4
HWB 1,2  & 5

Patients are able to return home 
when MOfD, or to stay at home 
with support from reablement 
and therapy services to improve 
their physical mobility and 
independence, and to avoid 
admission to hospital. 

Outcome measure agreed with all partners: Post 91-
day review - 87% remain at home.

A

75% at end of April (January discharges). There 
were 39 people, out of 51 being discharged into 
reablement from hospital in January, who were still 
at home after 91 days in April.  Of the 12 people 
who were not still at home after 91 days, 5 had 
sadly passed away.

BCF 
Monitoring

Integrated Care Service (BOB) 
and Integrated Care 

Partnership (Reading) /

DHSC Hospital discharge 
service: policy and operating 

model 
(Updated 19 February 2021)

Improved Better Care Fund 
(iBCF)  – Principles of 

Discharge (28th October 
2020)

Business As Usual - BCF

P
age 367



bRAG Status Key: 

NS Not yet started
B Completed
R There is a problem but, at this time, we do not have a plan to address it
A There is a problem, but we have a plan to address it
G On Track

P
age 368



READING HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

DATE OF MEETING: 8th October 2021  

REPORT TITLE: Health and Wellbeing Dashboard – October 2021 

REPORT AUTHOR: Kim McCall TEL: 0118 937 3245 

JOB TITLE: Health and Wellbeing 
Intelligence Officer   

E-MAIL: kim.mccall@reading.gov.uk

ORGANISATION: Reading Borough Council 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report presents an update on the Health and Wellbeing Dashboard (Appendix A),
which sets out local trends in a format previously agreed by the Board to provide the
Board with an overview of performance and progress towards achieving local goals as set
out in the 2017-20 Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Reading. This strategy has now been
superseded by the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 and a new
dashboard report reflecting new priorities and actions put in place to support them will
shortly replace this standing report.

1.2 The appended document gives the Board a context for determining which parts of the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy it wishes to review in more depth, such as by requesting
separate reports. Identifying priorities from the Health and Wellbeing Strategy to provide
themes for Health and Wellbeing Board meetings is in line with the 2016 Peer Review
recommendation that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy should be used to drive the
agenda of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

That the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the following performance updates 
contained in the dashboard: 

 Estimated dementia diagnosis rate (aged 65+) has been updated with
monthly snapshots. 

 The following NHS Healthcheck indicators are updated each quarter
  People invited for a healthcheck
  People taking up a healthcheck
  People receiving a healthcheck

 Successful completion of alcohol treatment updated each quarter
 Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined

intent 
That the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the updates that have been included 
in this report. 

That the Health and Wellbeing Board notes that this HWB dashboard will be 
reviewed to reflect the priorities in the 2021-2030 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and replaced by a new dashboard report. 

Page 369

Agenda Item 15



 
  
 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 

3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 sets out the requirement on Health and Wellbeing 
Boards to use a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and a Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) to develop plans which: 
 improve the health and wellbeing of the people in their area;  
 reduce health inequalities; and 
 promote the integration of services.  

 
3.2 Reading’s 2017-20 Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out local plans as required under 

the Health and Social Care Act, and also addresses the local authority’s obligations under 
the Care Act 2014 to promote the wellbeing of individuals and to provide or arrange 
services that reduce needs for support among people and their (unpaid/family) carers in 
the local area. 

 
3.3 The current strategy is founded on three ‘building blocks’ – issues which underpin and are 

expected to be considered as part of the implementation plans to achieve all of the 
strategic priorities. These are: 
 Developing an integrated approach to recognising and supporting 

all carers 
 High quality co-ordinated information to support wellbeing 
 Safeguarding vulnerable adults and children 

 
3.4 The Strategy then sets out eight priorities: 

 Supporting people to make healthy lifestyle choices (with a focus on 
tooth decay, obesity and physical activity) 

 Reducing loneliness and social isolation 
 Promoting positive mental health and wellbeing in children and young 

people 
 Reducing deaths by suicide 
 Reducing the amount of alcohol people drink to safe levels  
 Making Reading a place where people can live well with dementia 
 Increasing breast and bowel screening and prevention services 
 Reducing the number of people with tuberculosis 

 
3.5 In July 2016, Reading’s Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to introduce a regular Health 

and Wellbeing Dashboard report – at each meeting - to ensure that members of the board 
are kept informed about the Partnership’s performance in its priority areas, compared to 
the national average and other similar local authority areas. The updated Health and 
Wellbeing Action Plan was also presented to the Board in full twice a year.  

 
3.6 A new Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy has now been agreed and a new, 

revised Health and Wellbeing Dashboard report will be developed to replace this as a 
regular report.  

 
 
4. CURRENT POSITION  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Dashboard provides the latest published and validated data available 
to support the Board to scrutinise and evaluate the performance of the Partnership against the 
agreed priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Some of the data used to measure 
public health outcomes, particularly for those indicators based on annual national survey and 
hospital data, goes through a process of checking and validation before publication, which can 
mean that it is published some time after it was collected. As changes to population health 
usually happen gradually this is usually adequate and appropriate, but in 2020 and 2021 in the 

Page 370



wake of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown change was rapid and it is possible that in some 
cases the outcomes reflected in the most recent data do not reflect the current picture.  
 
Public Health England’s ‘Wider Impacts of Coronavirus’ tool (WICH) is a collection of metrics 
that measure changes over time in key areas of health and wellbeing that may have been 
affected by the pandemic.  
 
Priority 1 
 

 
4.1 The percentage of adults in Reading who are overweight or obese increased in 2019 and 

2020 and is now similar to the national average. In 2019, the percentage of adults who 
meet criteria for being physically active remains similar to the England average. Smoking 
increased slightly in both the general population and amongst those in routine and 
maintenance professions, although the year-on-year change was too small to be 
considered reliable. 

 
4.2 As in previous periods, Reading is unlikely to meet local or national targets for the 

delivering NHS health checks to eligible residents (those aged 40-74 without certain 
specified diagnoses). The NHS health check assesses people’s risk of stroke, heart 
disease, kidney disease, diabetes and dementia, and leads to targeted advice. The 
position is of particular concern given the emerging evidence that those who have 
diabetes and contracted COVID19 appear to have worse clinical outcomes. This is also 
true for individuals with high blood pressure and for those carrying excess weight, all 
increasing the risk of mortality. The NHS Health Check programme is thus an invaluable 
way to identify people across Reading at increased risk of having undiagnosed 
comorbidities, and further benefiting from a conversation with a healthcare professional 
about healthy weight, physical activity and smoking cessation to reduce the impacts of 
COVID19. The immediate impacts of national lockdown that programmes such as NHS 
Health Checks were paused, further hampering efforts to reach national targets.  Efforts 
are now being made to reinstate Health Checks for the autumn months. Collaboration 
between the local authority and the CCG is underway to support this.  

 
 
Priority 2 
 

 
4.3 As described in previous reports, the results from the 2018/19 Adult Social Care survey 

were published in November 2019 and tell us that a higher proportion of respondents to 
the survey than previously have reported that they have as much social contact than they 
would like (47.1% compared to 41.4% the previous year). Furthermore, a larger proportion 
of respondents in Reading reported as much social contact as they would like compared 
with elsewhere in England. 

 
 
Priority 3 
 
4.4 The number and proportion of school children with social, emotional or mental health 

need increased in 2019 and 2020, with Reading now significantly above the England 
average. The increase appears to be concentrated in primary school children, while the 
proportion of secondary school children with social, emotional or mental health needs 
fell during the same period and is now it in line with the national average. 

 
 
Priority 4 
 
4.5 While the mortality rate for suicide and undetermined intent in Reading continues to be 

in line with the national average and average for local authority areas with similar levels 
of deprivation there have now been non-significant increases in the last two periods. The 
rate is now above the national average, although the difference is not statistically Page 371



significant. 45 deaths were recorded between 2018 and 2020, compared to 38 between 
2017 and 2019 and 28 between 2016 and 2018.  

 
4.6 Ahead of the publication of nationally validated data, Reading along with other areas 

across the Thames Valley monitors suicide rates via a Real Time Surveillance System 
based on police reports of deaths suspected to be by suicide. Comparator rates month by 
month have been tracked very closely since COVID-19 lockdown measures were put in 
place in England, and cases are being checked for possible COVID links. To date, there 
has been no increase in the overall Berkshire rates for 2020. 

 
 
 
 

Priority 5 
 

4.7 The proportion of people receiving alcohol treatment who successfully completed 
treatment began to decrease rapidly in the second half of 2019 and throughout 2020. 
Although the rate continues to be well below the England average there was an increase 
in successful completions in the most recent quarter, with more than 19% of those in 
treatment becoming free of dependence. The rate of hospital admissions where the 
primary diagnosis is an alcohol-related condition increased slightly in 2018/19, both in 
Reading and in England. The rate in Reading continues to be below the English average.  

 
4.8 As reported in the previous period, Reading’s commissioned drug and alcohol treatment 

provider has focused on keeping the people who use their services safe during the COVID 
outbreak. Change Grow Live (CGL) has seen an increase in referrals and people starting 
treatment. While low numbers of successful completions were expected for this period as 
they retained people in treatment to provide ongoing support through a period of 
increased social isolation and other pressures of lockdown, demand for support from both 
new and existing service users has increased.  

 
4.9 CGL is providing all support via phone or video call, including home detoxes and medical 

reviews. They have daily support groups, two of which are alcohol focused, and these are 
run via the Zoom app and can be joined via video or phone. CGL has successfully 
completed remote home alcohol detoxes and will continue to do so until it is safe to 
facilitate groups in the service, and now that residential treatment providers are opening 
again CGL is in a position to refer those who are not suitable for home detox to these. 
CGL continues to liaise with the Royal Berkshire Hospital and have a meeting planned to 
review pathways with their Alcohol and Drug lead in October. 

 
 
Priority 6 
 

4.10 The rate of diagnosis of dementia amongst those aged 65 and older has remained in line 
with the England average. Both rates fell slightly during the second quarter of 2020 and 
have not yet returned to the previous level. This seems likely to be related to the COVID-
19 lockdown.  

 
 
Priority 7 
 

4.11 Locally set targets for breast and bowel cancer screening, which have been set at 
minimum coverage standards, have been met. More than 10,000 people were screened 
for bowel cancer and 9,773 screened for breast cancer during 2019.  

 
 

Priority 8 
 

4.12 Although incidence of tuberculosis (TB) continues to be higher in Reading than elsewhere, 
the latest published data confirms ongoing improvement in line with targets. As a result, 
incidence of TB in Reading has more than halved since reaching a peak in 2008-10 of 38.4 
cases per 100,000 population (176 cases) to 17.8 cases per 100,000 in 2016-18 (87 cases).  

 
Page 372



 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO READING’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 This proposal supports Corporate Plan priorities by ensuring that Health and Wellbeing 

Board members are kept informed of performance and progress against key indicators, 
including those that support corporate strategies. 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 The recommended action will have no impact on the Council’s ability to respond to the 

Climate Emergency.    
 
7. COMMUNITY & STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1 A wide range of voluntary and public sector partners and members of the public were 

encouraged to participate in the development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and, 
as described above, a draft of the proposed Strategy was made available for consultation 
between 10th October and 11th December 2016. The indicators included in this report 
reflect those areas highlighted during the development of the strategy and included in 
the final version.  

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment is not required in relation to the specific proposal to 

present the dashboard in this format. However, it is anticipated that this will be one of 
the tools which Board members can use to monitor the success of the Health and 
Wellbeing strategy as a vehicle for tackling inequalities.  

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1     There are no legal implications. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The proposal to note the report in Appendix A offers value for money by ensuring that 

Board members are better able to determine how effort and resources are most likely to 
be invested beneficially in advance of the full Health and Wellbeing Dashboard.  

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
APPENDIX A – Health and Wellbeing Dashboard – October 2021 

Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank



Priority Indicator 
Target 

Met/Not Met
Direction 
of Travel

% adults overweight or obese Met Worse

% of adults physically active Met No change

% 4-5 year olds classified as overweight/obese Met No change

% 10-11 year olds classified as overweight/obese Not Met No change

Smoking status at the time of delivery Met No change

Age 15 smoking prevalence placeholder NA NA

Smoking prevalence - all adults - current smokers Met No change

Smoking prevalance - routine and manual - current smokers Not Met No change

People invited for an NHS Healthcheck Not Met No change

People taking up an NHS Healthcheck invite Met No change

People receiving an NHS Healthcheck Not Met No change

% of adult social care users with as much social contact as they would like Met No change

% of adult carers with as much social contact as they would like Not Met No change

Placeholder - Loneliness and Social Isolation NA NA

Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (primary school age) Not Met No change

Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (secondary school 
age)

Met No change

Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (all school age) Not Met No change

4. Reducing deaths by suicide
Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined 
intent 

Not met No change

Successful treatment of alcohol treatment Not Met Better

Admission episodes for alcohol related conditions (DSR per 100,000) Met No change

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia Not Met No change

No. Dementia Friends (Local Indicator) NA NA

Placeholder - ASCOF measure of post-diagnosis care NA NA

Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer Met Better

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer Met No change

8.Reducing the number of people 
with tuberculosis

Incidence of TB (three year average) Met No change

1. Supporting people to make 
healthy lifestyle choices

7.Increasing take up of breast and 
bowel screening and prevention 

services

2. Reducing loneliness and social 
isolation

6.Living well with dementia

3.Promoting positive mental health 
and wellbeing in children and young 

people

5.Reducing the amount of alcohol 
people drink to safer levels

Page 375



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

% adults overweight or obese Public Health Outcomes Framework Active Lives Survey Annual Low 2019-20 62.0 63.4 Met Worse 62.8 Not available

% of adults physically active Public Health Outcomes Framework
Active Lives Survey

Annual High 2019-20 66.6 64.0 Met No change 66.4 Not available

% 4-5 year olds classified as 
overweight/obese

Public Health Outcomes Framework
National Child 
Measurement Programme Annual Low 2019-20 21.7 22.0 Met No change 23.0 Not available

% 10-11 year olds classified as 
overweight/obese

Public Health Outcomes Framework
National Child 
Measurement Programme Annual Low 2019-20 36.4 36 Not Met No change 35.2 Not available

Smoking status at the time of 
delivery

Public Health Outcomes Framework
Smoking Status At Time 
of Delivery (SSATOD) 
HSCIC

Annual Low 2019-20 5.8 8.0 Met No change 10.4 11.2

Smoking prevalence - all adults - 
current smokers

Public Health Outcomes Framework
Annual Population Survey

Annual Low 2019 13.9 14.8 Met No change 13.9 Not available

Age 15 smoking prevalence 
placeholder

Public Health Outcomes Framework

Smoking prevalance - routine 
and manual - current smokers

Public Health Outcomes Framework
Annual Population Survey

Annual Low 2019 29.3 28.9 Not Met No change 23.2 Not available

People invited for an NHS 
Healthcheck

NHS Healthcheck - Fingertips dashboard
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed/data#page/0/gid/1938132726/pat/10039/par/cat-39-7/ati/102/are/E06000038

Quarterly High
2017/18 Q1 - 
2021/22 Q1

24.9% 90% Not Met No change 56.3% 60.7%

People taking up an NHS 
Healthcheck

NHS Healthcheck - Fingertips dashboard
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed/data#page/0/gid/1938132726/pat/10039/par/cat-39-7/ati/102/are/E06000038

Quarterly High
2017/18 Q1 - 
2021/22 Q1

57.6% 50% Met No change 44.2% 45.3%

People receiving an NHS 
Healthcheck

NHS Healthcheck - Fingertips dashboard
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed/data#page/0/gid/1938132726/pat/10039/par/cat-39-7/ati/102/are/E06000038

Quarterly High
2017/18 Q1 - 
2021/22 Q1

14.3% 43% Not Met No change 25.5% 26.9%

Back to HWB Dashboard

PRIORITY 1: Supporting people to make healthy lifestyle choices

P
age 376



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

% of adult social care users with 
as much social contact as they 
would like

Public Health Outcomes 
Framework/Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework

Adult Social Care Survey - 
England 

Annual High 2019-20 48.6 45.4 Met No change 45.9 46.1

% of adult carers with as much 
social contact as they would like

Public Health Outcomes 
Framework/Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework

Carers Survey Bi-Annual High 2018-19 32.0 38.5 Not Met No change 32.5 29.9

Placeholder - Loneliness and 
Social Isolation

NA TBC Annual NA NA

Back to HWB Dashboard

PRIORITY 2: Reducing Loneliness and Social Isolation

P
age 377



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Pupils with social, emotional and 
mental health needs (primary 
school age)

Children and Young People's Mental 
Health and Wellbeing

DFE Special Needs 
Education Statistics

Annual Low 2020 2.9% 2.3% Not Met No change 2.5%

Pupils with social, emotional and 
mental health needs (secondary 
school age)

Children and Young People's Mental 
Health and Wellbeing

DFE Special Needs 
Education Statistics

Annual Low 2020 2.9% 3.3% Met No change 2.3%

Pupils with social, emotional and 
mental health needs (all school 
age)

Children and Young People's Mental 
Health and Wellbeing

DFE Special Needs 
Education Statistics

Annual Low 2020 3.1% 3.0% Not Met No change 2.7%

Back to HWB Dashboard

Priority 3: Promoting positive mental health and wellbeing in children and young people

P
age 378



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Age-standardised mortality rate 
from suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent 

Public Health Outcomes Framework Public Health England 
(based on ONS)

Annual Low 2018-19 11.5 8.25 Not met No change 10.4 Not available

Back to HWB Dashboard

Priority 4: Reducing deaths by suicide

P
age 379



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Successful treatment of alcohol 
treatment

Public Health Outcomes Framework 
National Drug Treatment 
Monitoring System

Quarterly High
Q4 2020-
2021

19.3% 38.3% Not Met Better 35.3% Not available

Admission episodes for alcohol 
related conditions (DSR per 
100,000) 

Public Health Outcomes Framework 
Local Alcohol Profiles for 
England (based on HSCIC 
HES)

Annual Low 2018-2019 567 599 Met Worse 664 Not available

Back to HWB Dashboard

PRIORITY 5:Reducing the amount of alcohol people drink to safer levels 

P
age 380



Indicator Title Framework Source
Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT 
England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Estimated diagnosis rate for 
people with dementia 

Public Health Outcomes Framework/NHS 
Outcomes Framework

NHS Digital Monthly High Dec-20 62.2 66.7 Not Met No change 61.4

No. of Dementia friends NA (Local only) Local Report Quarterly High NA NA Not available Not available

PLACEHOLDER - Post diagnosis 
care

Back to HWB Dashboard

Priority 6: Living well with dementia

P
age 381



Priority 7: Increasing take up of breast and bowel screening and prevention services
Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 

updated
Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Cancer screening coverage - 
bowel cancer

Public Health Outcomes Framework
Health and Social Care 
Information Centre 
(HSCIC)

Annual High 2020 60.5% 52.0% Met Better 63.8% NA

Cancer screening coverage - 
breast cancer

Public Health Outcomes Framework
Health and Social Care 
Information Centre 
(HSCIC)

Annual High 2019 70.5% 70.0% Met No change 74.1% NA

Back to HWB Dashboard

P
age 382



Indicator Title Framework Source Frequency 
updated

Good 
performance 
low/high

Most recent 
reporting 
period

Most recent 
performance

Target Met/Not Met DOT England 
Average

2015 
Deprivation 
Decile 
Average

Incidence of TB (three year 
average)

Public Health Outcomes Framework Public Health England. Annual Low 2017-19 17.4 30 Met No change 8.6 6.0

Back to HWB Dashboard

Priority 8: Reducing the number of people with tuberculosis

P
age 383



Indicator number 93088

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Excess weight in adults Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2012-14 61 64.6

Back to HWB Dashboard 2013-15 63.4 65.4 64.8

2015-16 55.3 61.7 61.3

Data source Active Lives Survey (previously Active People Survey) Sport England 2016-17 59.2 61.8 61.3

* Note change in methodology in 2015-16 2017-18 55.7 63.5 62

2018-19 58.6 62.3

Denominator
Number of adults with valid height and weight recorded. Active lives Survey. Historical 
(before 2015-16) Number of adults with valid height and weight recorded.  Data are 
from APS year 1, quarter 2 to APS year 3, quarter 1 

2019-20 62 62.8

Numerator

Number of adults with a BMI classified as overweight (including obese), calculated 
from the adjusted height and weight variables. Active Lives Survey. Previously (before 
2015-16) from Active People survey. Adults are defined as overweight (including 
obese) if their body mass index (BMI) is greater than or equal to 25kg/m2.

50
52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66
68

2012-14 2013-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 384



Indicator number 93014

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name % Physically Active Adults Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2012 59.7 56

Back to HWB Dashboard 2013 56.6 56

2014 54.7 57

Data source Until 2015 - Active People Survey, Sport England 2015 59.3 58.5 57

2015-16 onwards - Active Lives, Sport England 2015-16* 64.8 66.4 66.1

* Note change in methodology in 2015-16 2016-17 68.7 67.2 66

Denominator Weighted number of respondents aged 19 and older with valid responses to questions 
on physical activity

2017-18 68.8 67 66.3

Numerator
Weighted number of respondents aged 19 and over, with valid responses to questions 
on physical activity, doing at least 150 MIE minutes physical activity per week in bouts 
of 10 minutes or more in the previous 28 days.

2018-19 63.9 67.2

2019-20 66.6 66.4

52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66
68
70

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) EnglandP
age 385



Indicator number 20601

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Child excess weight in 4-5 year olds Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2007/08 20.6 20.7 22.6

Back to HWB Dashboard 2008/09 22.5 21.6 22.8

2009/10 25.7 22.8 23.1

2010/11 25.7 22.2 22.6

2011/12 24.1 22 22.6

2012/13 21.8 21.6 22.2

2013/14 23.3 21.4 22.5

Data source National Child Measurement Programme 2014/15 22.6 21.3 21.9

2015/16 21.8 22

2016/17 22.9 22.6 22.6

Denominator
Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) measured in the National Child 
Measurement Programme (NCMP) attending participating state maintained schools in 
England.

2017/18 22.3 22.4

Numerator

Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) classified as overweight or obese in 
the academic year. Children are classified as overweight (including obese) if their BMI 
is on or above the 85th centile of the British 1990 growth reference (UK90) according 
to age and sex.

2018/19 22.5 22.6

2019/20 21.7 23

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

2007/082008/092009/102010/112011/122012/132013/142014/152015/162016/172017/182018/192019/20

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 386



Indicator number 20602

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Child excess weight in 10-11 year olds Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2007/08 33.6 30.8 32.6

Back to HWB Dashboard 2008/09 33.1 31.3 32.6

2009/10 36.2 32.5 33.4

2010/11 34.4 32.7 33.4

2011/12 35.4 32.6 33.9

2012/13 34 32 33.3

2013/14 34 32.1 33.5

Data source National Child Measurement Programme 2014/15 35.6 32 33.2

2015/16 37.4 - 34.2

2016/17 32.9 32.6 34.2

Denominator
Number of children in Year 6 (aged 10-11 years) measured in the National Child 
Measurement Programme (NCMP) attending participating state maintained schools in 
England.

2017/18 34.3 34.3

Numerator

Number of children in Year 6 (aged 10-11 years) classified as overweight or obese in 
the academic year. Children are classified as overweight (including obese) if their BMI 
is on or above the 85th centile of the British 1990 growth reference (UK90) according 
to age and sex.

2018/19 34 34.3

2019/20 36.4 35.2

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2007/082008/092009/102010/112011/122012/132013/142014/152015/162016/172017/182018/192019/20

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 387



Indicator number 93085

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name % of women who smoke at the time of delivery Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2010/11 7.2 14.4 13.5

Back to HWB Dashboard 2011/12 8.4 13.8 13.2

2012/13 7.4 13.2 12.7

2013/14 8.5 13 12

2014/15 7.4 12 11.4

2015/16 8 11.9 10.6

Data source 
Calculated by KIT East from the Health and Social Care Information Centre's return on 
Smoking Status At Time of delivery (SSATOD)

2016/17 6.8 12 10.7

2017/18 6.3 12 10.8

Denominator Number of maternities (estimated based on counts for CCGs) 2018/19 5.6 10.6

Numerator
Number of women known to smoke at time of delivery (estimated based on counts for 
CCGs)

2019/20 5.6 11.2 10.4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 388



Indicator number 92443

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Smoking Prevalence in Adults - Current Smokers Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2012 20.6 18.7 19.3

Back to HWB Dashboard 2013 20.4 17.7 18.4

2014 18.7 17.9 17.8

Data source Annual Population Survey 2015 17.6 16.7 16.9

2016 15.8 13.8 15.5

2017 13.6 13.2 14.9

2018 13 14.4

2019 13.9 13.9

Denominator

Total number of respondents (with valid recorded smoking status) aged 18+ from the 
Annual Population Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to 
improve representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey 
design and non-response.

Numerator

 The number of persons aged 18 + who are self-reported smokers in the Annual 
Population Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to improve 
representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey design and 
non-response.

0

5

10

15

20

25

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 389



Indicator number 92445
Outcomes Framework Local Tobacco Control Profiles

Indicator full name Smoking prevalence in routine and manual occupations - Current smokers Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2012 32.1 31.1

Back to HWB Dashboard 2013 36.1 30.1

2014 26.6 29.6

2015 26.7 28.1

2016 30.4 26 26.5

2017 27.6 23.7 25.7

2018 28.3 25.4

Data source Annual Population Survey 2019 29.3 23.2

Denominator Total respondents with a self-reported smoking status aged 18-64 in the R&M group. 
Weighted to improve representativeness. 

Numerator Respondents who are self-reported smokers in the R&M group. Weighted to improve 
representativeness

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 390



Indicator number 91111

Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name People invited for an NHS Healthcheck Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England Target

Back to Priority 1 2017/18 Q1 2.39 5.50 4.35 5.00

Back to HWB Dashboard 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q2 4.77 10.50 8.68 10.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q3 6.41 14.20 12.42 15.00

Data source PHE Fingertips - NHS Healthchecks 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q4 7.84 18.00 16.91 20.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q1 9.55 22.30 21.23 25.00

Denominator
Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check in the financial year.

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q2 10.65 27.00 25.58 30.00

Numerator Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check who were offered an 
NHS Health Check up to the current quarter from quarter 1 2015

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q3 11.42 30.90 29.53 35.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q4 12.67 35.50 34.20 40.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q1 13.99 40.70 38.82 45.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q2 16.26 46.00 43.50 50.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q3 17.69 50.20 47.72 55.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q4 21.00 54.50 51.67 60.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q1 21.01 54.60 51.87 65.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q2 21.01 55.40 52.63 70.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q3 22.40 57.20 53.87 75.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q4 24.63 58.40 54.75 80.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2021/22 Q1 24.89 60.70 56.26 85.00

90.00

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q22017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q32017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q42017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q12017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q22017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q32017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q42017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q12017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q22017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q32017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q42017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q12017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q22017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q32017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q42017/18 Q1 - 2021/22 Q1

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England Target

P
age 391



Indicator number 91735

Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name People taking up an NHS Healthcheck Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 1 2017/18 Q1 55.16 37.00 43.37

Back to HWB Dashboard 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q2 48.98 42.40 44.78

2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q3 50.53 45.90 46.71

Data source PHE Fingertips - NHS Healthchecks 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q4 56.99 48.20 47.94

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q1 59.25 47.00 46.89

Denominator Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check who were 
offered an NHS Health Check up to the current quarter from quarter 1 2013

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q2 62.50 46.10 46.37

Numerator
Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check who received 
an NHS Health Check up to the current quarter from quarter 1 2015.

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q3 62.53 47.10 46.57

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q4 63.65 47.60 46.92

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q1 66.11 47.20 46.55

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q2 66.11 46.70 46.21

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q3 68.29 46.80 46.03

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q4 63.18 46.20 45.84

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q1 63.19 46.20 45.78

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q2 63.20 45.90 45.64

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q3 60.41 45.20 45.42

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q4 57.56 44.90 45.46

2017/18 Q1 - 2021/22 Q1 57.55 44.20 45.27
0.00

10.00

20.00
30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00
80.00

90.00

100.00
Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 392



Indicator number 91112

Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name People receiving an NHS Healthcheck Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England TARGET

Back to Priority 1 2017/18 Q1 1.32 2.00 1.89 2.00

Back to HWB Dashboard 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q2 2.33 4.40 3.89 2.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q3 3.24 6.50 5.80 5.00

Data source PHE Fingertips - NHS Healthchecks 2017/18 Q1 - 2017/18 Q4 4.47 8.70 8.10 7.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q1 5.66 10.50 9.96 10.00

Denominator Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check who were 
offered an NHS Health Check up to the current quarter from quarter 1 2013

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q2 6.65 12.50 11.86 12.50

Numerator
Number of people aged 40-74 eligible for an NHS Health Check who received 
an NHS Health Check up to the current quarter from quarter 1 2015.

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q3 7.14 14.50 13.75 15.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2018/19 Q4 8.07 16.90 16.05 17.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q1 9.25 19.20 18.07 20.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q2 10.75 21.50 20.10 22.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q3 12.08 23.50 21.97 25.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2019/20 Q4 13.27 25.20 23.68 27.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q1 13.28 25.20 23.74 30.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q2 13.28 25.40 24.02 32.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q3 13.53 25.90 24.47 35.00

2017/18 Q1 - 2020/21 Q4 14.18 26.30 24.89 37.50

2017/18 Q1 - 2021/22 Q1 14.32 26.90 25.47 40.00

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00

2017/18
Q1

2017/18
Q1 -

2017/18
Q2

2017/18
Q1 -

2017/18
Q3

2017/18
Q1 -

2017/18
Q4

2017/18
Q1 -

2018/19
Q1

2017/18
Q1 -

2018/19
Q2

2017/18
Q1 -

2018/19
Q3

2017/18
Q1 -

2018/19
Q4

2017/18
Q1 -

2019/20
Q1

2017/18
Q1 -

2019/20
Q2

2017/18
Q1 -

2019/20
Q3

2017/18
Q1 -

2019/20
Q4

2017/18
Q1 -

2020/21
Q1

2017/18
Q1 -

2020/21
Q2

2017/18
Q1 -

2020/21
Q3

2017/18
Q1 -

2020/21
Q4

2017/18
Q1 -

2021/22
Q1

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England TARGETP
age 393



Indicator number 90280

Outcomes Framework
Public Health Outcomes Framework/Adult Social Care Outcome 
Framework

Indicator full name
% of adult social care users who have as much social contact as they 
would like according to the Adult Social Care Users Survey

Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 2 2010/11 41.4 - 41.9

Back to HWB Dashboard 2011/12 45.4 - 42.3

2012/13 43.9 - 43.2

Data source Adult Social Care Survey - England 2013/14 44.9 - 44.5

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21630 - Annex Tables 2014/15 41.5 - 44.8

2015/16 43.2 - 45.4

Denominator
The number of people responding to the question "Thinking about how 
much contact you've had with people you like, which of the following 
statements best describes your social situation?"

2016/17 45.2 - 45.4

Numerator
All survey respondents who responded to the question (adult social care 
users identified by LA) NHS Digital - Personal Social Services Adult Social 
Care Survey England

2017/18 41.4 46

2018/19 47.1 46.9 45.9

2019/20 48.6 46.1 45.9

30

35

40

45

50

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Reading England

P
age 394



Indicator number 90638

Outcomes Framework
Public Health Outcomes Framework/Adult Social Care Outcome 
Framework

Indicator full name
% of adult carers who have as much social contact as they would like 
according to the Adult Social Care Users Survey

Period Reading 
Fourth less 
deprived 
(IMD2015)

England

Back to Priority 2 2012/13 52.2 41.3

Back to HWB Dashboard 2014/15 36.6 38.5

2016/17 36.2 32.4 35.5

Data source Carers Survey 2018/19 32 32.5

Denominator

The number of people responding to the question "Thinking about how 
much contact you've had with people that you like, which of the following 
statements best describes your social situation?", with the answer "I have 
as much social contact as I want with people I like" divided by the total 
number of responses to the same question.

Numerator
All survey respondents who responded to the question (adult social care 
users identified by LA) NHS Digital - Personal Social Services Adult Social 
Care Survey England

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2012/13 2014/15 2016/17 2018/19

Reading Fourth less deprived (IMD2015) England

P
age 395



Indicator number 91871

Outcomes Framework Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Period Reading
IMD 4th less 
deprived decile

England 

Indicator full name
Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (primary school 
age)

2016 2.2% 2.0% 2.1%

2017 2.3% 2.0% 2.1%

Back to Priority 3 2018 2.4% 2.0% 2.2%

Back to HWB Dashboard 2019 2.6% 2.3%

2020 2.9% 2.5%

Data Source DFE Special Needs Education Statistics

Denominator Total pupils (LA tabulations)

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-
educational-needs-sen

Numerator Number of pupils with statements of SEN where primary need is social, 
emotional and mental health

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 396



Indicator number 91871

Outcomes Framework Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Period Reading
IMD 4th less 
deprived decile

England 

Indicator full name
Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (secondary 
school age)

2016 3.0% 2.2% 2.4%

2017 3.3% 2.0% 2.3%

Back to Priority 3 2018 3.2% 2.1% 2.3%

Back to HWB Dashboard 2019 3.2% 2.4%

2020 2.9% 2.7%

Data Source DFE Special Needs Education Statistics

Denominator Total pupils (LA tabulations)

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-
educational-needs-sen

Numerator 
Number of pupils with statements of SEN where primary need is social, 
emotional and mental health

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 397



Indicator number 91871

Outcomes Framework Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Period Reading
IMD 4th less deprived 
decile

England 

Indicator full name Pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs (all school age) 2015 3.0% 2.0% 2.0%

2016 2.9% 2.2% 2.3%

Back to Priority 3 2017 3.0% 2.1% 2.3%

Back to HWB Dashboard 2018 3.0% 2.2% 2.4%

2019 3.1% 2.5%

2020 3.1% 2.7%

Data Source DFE Special Needs Education Statistics

Denominator Total pupils (LA tabulations)

Numerator Number of pupils with statements of SEN where primary need is social, 
emotional and mental health

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-special-educational-needs-sen

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 398



Indicator number 41001.00

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name
Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined intent per 100,000 
population

Period Reading
4th less 
deprived IMD 
2015

England 

Back to Priority 4 2001-03 11.5 - 10.3

Back to HWB Dashboard 2002-04 10.7 - 10.2

2003-05 10.4 - 10.1

Data Source Public Health England (based on ONS) 2004-06 10 - 9.8

2005-07 9.6 - 9.4

Denominator ONS 2011 census based mid-year population estimates 2006-08 11.2 - 9.2

2007-09 10.9 - 9.3

Numerator Number of deaths from suicide and injury from undetermined intent 2008-10 8.8 - 9.4

ICD10 codes X60-X84 (age 10+), Y10-34 (age 15+). 2009-11 7.4 - 9.5

2010-12 7.7 - 9.5

2011-13 9.3 - 9.8

2012-14 9.8 - 10

2013-15 11 10.5 10.1

2014-16 9.9 10.2 9.9

2015-17 8 9.6 9.6

2016-18 7.2 9.6

2017-19 9.9 10.1

2018-19 11.5 10.4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2001-03 2002-04 2003-05 2004-06 2005-07 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2018-19

Reading England

P
age 399



Indicator number 92447

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework Period Reading
IMD 4th less 
deprived decile

England 

Indicator full name Successful completion of alcohol treatment 2010 29.30 34.30 31.40

2011 54.30 34.60 34.80

Back to Priority 5 2012 41.70 36.50 37.10

Back to HWB Dashboard 2013 42.50 37.70 37.50

2014 36.00 36.20 38.40

2015 38.30 40.50 38.40

Data Source National Drug Treatment Monitoring System 2016 44.70 38.20 38.70

2017 36.40 37.60 38.90

Denominator
Total number of adults in structured alcohol treatment in a one year 
period

2018 Q1 36.36 37.60 38.92

2018 Q2 35.80 38.90

Numerator 
Adults that complete treatment for alcohol dependence who do not re-
present to treatment within six months

2018 Q3 36.40 38.50

2018 Q4 44.30 37.80

2019 Q1 45.00 37.80

2019 Q2 43.20 38.20

2019 Q3 38.80 38.00

2019 Q4 39.50 37.90

2020 Q1 31.10 37.80

2020 Q2 24.54 37.30

2020 Q3 17.75 35.29

2020 Q4 15.20 35.30

2021 Q1 19.25 35.33

(NDTMS DOMES)

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Q1

2018
Q2

2018
Q3

2018
Q4

2019
Q1

2019
Q2

2019
Q3

2019
Q4

2020
Q1

2020
Q2

2020
Q3

2020
Q4

2021
Q1

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 400



Indicator number 91414

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions per 100,000 people Period Reading
IMD 4th less 
deprived decile

England 

2008/09 424 565 606

Back to Priority 5 2009/10 442 601 629

Back to HWB Dashboard 2010/11 466 598 643

2011/12 444 601 645

2012/13 511 585 630

2013/14 568 603 640

Data Source Health and Social Care information Centre - Hospital Episode Statistics.  2014/15 541 597 635

Via Local Alcohol Profiles for England 2015/16 599 612 647

Denominator Mid-Year Population Estimates (ONS) 2016/17 602 602 636

2017/18 534 632 600

Numerator 2018/19 567 600 664

Admissions to hospital where primary diagnosis is an alcohol-related condition or a 
seconday diagnosis is an alcohol-related external cause. Uses attributable fractions 
to estimate.

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 401



Indicator number 92949

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework / NHS Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia

Back to Priority 6
Back to HWB Dashboard

Data Source NHS Digital

Denominator Applying the reference rates to the registered population yields the number of people 
aged 65+ one would expect to have dementia within the subject population where:

Numerator Registered population
Patients aged 65+ registered for General Medical Services, counts by 5-year age and 
sex band from the National Health Application and Infrastructure Services (NHAIS / 
Exeter) system; extracted on the first day of each month following the reporting period 
end date of the numerator.

Reference rates: sampled dementia prevalence

Age 65+ age and sex-specific dementia prevalence rates. Source: MRC CFAS II.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

01
/0

3/
20

18

01
/0

4/
20

18

01
/0

5/
20

18

01
/0

6/
20

18

01
/0

7/
20

18

01
/0

8/
20

18

01
/0

9/
20

18

01
/1

0/
20

18

01
/1

1/
20

18

01
/1

2/
20

18

01
/0

1/
20

19

01
/0

2/
20

19

01
/0

3/
20

19

01
/0

4/
20

19

01
/0

5/
20

19

01
/0

6/
20

19

01
/0

7/
20

19

01
/0

8/
20

19

01
/0

9/
20

19

01
/1

0/
20

19

01
/1

1/
20

19

01
/1

2/
20

19

01
/0

1/
20

20

01
/0

2/
20

20

01
/0

3/
20

20

01
/0

4/
20

20

01
/0

5/
20

20

01
/0

6/
20

20

01
/0

7/
20

20

01
/0

8/
20

20

01
/0

9/
20

20

01
/1

0/
20

20

01
/1

1/
20

20

01
/1

2/
20

20

01
/0

1/
20

21

01
/0

2/
20

21

01
/0

3/
20

21

01
/0

4/
20

21

01
/0

5/
20

21

01
/0

6/
20

21

Reading IMD 4th less deprived decile England

P
age 402



Period Reading
IMD 4th less 
deprived decile

England 

31/03/2018 67.4 66.5 67.5

30/04/2018 68 66.4 67.3

31/05/2018 67.5 66.2 67.3

30/06/2018 67.6 66.5 67.6

31/07/2018 67.3 66.6 67.8

31/08/2018 67.1 66.6 67.8

30/09/2018 68.8 67.1 68.2

31/10/2018 68.7 67 67.9

30/11/2018 69.4 67.4 68.2

31/12/2018 69.8 67.3 68

31/01/2019 69.7 67.4 67.9

28/02/2019 70.1 67.4 67.9

31/03/2019 71.1 68.3 68.7

30/04/2019 70.9 67.8 68.4

31/05/2019 70.7 69.1 68.6

30/06/2019 70.7 69.3 68.7

31/07/2019 71.2 69.4 69

31/08/2019 70.9 69.8 69.1

30/09/2019 70.5 69.6 69.1

31/10/2019 69.7 68.9 68.4

30/11/2019 69.4 68.9 68.5

31/12/2019 69.4 68.6 68.1

31/01/2020 69.6 68.3 67.9

29/02/2020 69.2 67.6

31/03/2020 68.5 67.4

30/04/2020 65.6 65.4

31/05/2020 64.1 64

30/06/2020 63.1 63.5

31/07/2020 62.7 63.3

31/08/2020 62.3 63.1

30/09/2020 63 63

31/10/2020 62.3 62.9

30/11/2020 62.3 62.7

31/12/2020 62.5 62.5

31/01/2021 62.2 61.4

28/02/2021 62.2 61.2

31/03/2021 63.3 61.6

30/04/2021 63.2 61.7

31/05/2021 62.5 61.8

30/06/2021 62.4 61.9

P
age 403



Indicator number NA

Outcomes Framework NA

Indicator full name No. of Dementia Friends

Back to Priority 6
Back to HWB Dashboard

Data Source Locally Recorded

Definition No. of people who have completed a 45 minute training session and agreed to be a dementia friend

Period Actual 2019/20
Target 
2019/20

Jan-19 857 800

Mar-19 857 2,500

Jun-19 7859 5,000

Sep-19 8,182 7500

Jan-20 8,548 10,000

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

01/19 02/19 03/19 04/19 05/19 06/19 07/19 08/19 09/19 10/19 11/19 12/19 01/20

Actual 2019/20 Target 2019/20

P
age 404



Indicator number 91720.00

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer

Period Reading
Fourth less 
deprived

England

Back to Priority 7 2015 55.3 58.4 57.1

Back to HWB Dashboard 2016 55.8 59.5 57.9

2017 56.5 60.6 58.8

Data Source
Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter)/Public Health England

2018 56 60.6 59

2019 56.5 60.1

Denominator

Number of people aged 60–74 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) who are eligible for bowel screening at a given point in time (excluding 
those with no functioning colon (e,g, after surgery) or have made an informed 
decision to opt out.

2020 60.5 63.8

Numerator 
Number of people aged 60–74 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) with a screening test result recorded in the previous 2½ years

Target is the NHS England minimum coverage standard 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/service-spec-26.pdf

50

52

54

56

58

60

62

64

66

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Reading Fourth less deprived England

P
age 405



Indicator number 22001

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name  Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer

Period Reading
4th less 
deprived IMD 
2015

England 

Back to Priority 7 2010 73.6 78.6 76.9

Back to HWB Dashboard 2011 72.5 79.2 77.1

2012 73.6 79 76.9

2013 74.3 78.3 76.3

2014 73.3 78.1 75.9

Data Source Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter)/Public Health England 2015 73.4 77.7 75.4

2016 73.4 77.8 75.5

Denominator
Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of residence) 
who are eligible for breast screening at a given point in time.

2017 72.9 77.6 75.4

2018 71.2 77 74.9

Numerator 
Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of residence) 
with a screening test result recorded in the previous three years

2019 70.1 74.5

2020 70.5 74.1

Target is the NHS England minimum coverage standard https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/04/service-spec-24.pdf  

64

66

68

70

72

74

76

78

80

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Reading 4th less deprived IMD 2015 England

P
age 406



Indicator number 34

Outcomes Framework Public Health Outcomes Framework

Indicator full name Incidence of TB (three year average)

Period Reading
4th less 
deprived IMD 
2015

England 

Back to Priority 8 2000 - 02 23.1 7.4 12.7

Back to HWB Dashboard 2001 - 03 25.4 7.8 13.1

2002 - 04 26.4 8.2 13.5

2003 - 05 30.3 8.6 14.1

2004 - 06 31.1 8.9 14.7

Data Source Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance system (ETS) and Office for National Statistics 
(ONS)

2005 - 07 35.5 9.4 15

2006 - 08 35.4 9.7 15

Denominator Sum of the Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-year population estimates for 
each year of the three year time period

2007 - 09 37.9 10 15.1

2008 - 10 38.4 9.8 15.1

Numerator Sum of the number of new TB cases notified to the Enhanced Tuberculosis 
Surveillance system (ETS) over a three year time period

2009 - 11 36.4 9.5 15.2

2010 - 12 33 9.5 15.1

2011 - 13 34.1 9.2 14.7

2012 - 14 36.3 8.8 13.5

2013 - 15 34.7 7.7 11.9

2014 - 16 26.4 7.1 10.9

2015-2017 20.9 6.3 9.9

2016-2018 17.8 6 9.2

2017-2019 17.4 8.6

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Reading 4th less deprived IMD 2015 England

P
age 407



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2021
	5 Impact of Covid-19 in Reading
	Covid-19 – Update to the Health and Wellbeing Board
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Covid-19 patients in Royal Berkshire Hospital
	Slide Number 10
	Reading Vaccination Comparison
	Reading HWB 08 10 21 Vaccination Update
	BFfC Covid Impact HWB Oct 21

	6 Flu vaccine 2021-22 overview
	8 Berkshire West Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2021-30
	Appendix A Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021_2030
	Appendix B BW HWB Strategy 2021-2030  Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix C Berkshire West HWBS public engagement report

	9 Refresh of the Future in Mind Berkshire West Local Transformation Plan, improving the response to Children and Young Peoples Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health
	10 SEND Strategy and Inspection Update
	SEND Strategy 2022-2027
	SEND inspection letter

	11 Berkshire West Stop Smoking Service and E-cigarette Position Statement
	appx a Public Health Delayed Procurement Committee Report
	appx b Stop Smoking_CPR_Waiver_Business_Case_FINAL_SIGNED_Nov20
	appx c Officer_Decision_Stop Smoking Direct Award_Nov20
	appx d adph-south-east-position-statement-on-electronic-cigarettes-dps-v8-opt
	appx e Climate Impact Assessment (CIA) Tool_S4Hcompleted_
	2. Climate Impact Assessment


	12 Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-26
	Appendix A Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy final
	Appendix B Equality Impact Assessment Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy
	Appendix C Climate Impact Assessment (CIA) Tool
	2. Climate Impact Assessment


	13 ICP Unified Executive - September Chair's Report
	ICP UE 9th September 2021 - Chairs Report

	14 Integration Programme Update
	Appendix 1 - RIB Programme Progress (Q1)
	RIB Workplan
	Status Rating


	15 Health and Wellbeing Dashboard - October 2021
	HWB Dashboard October 2021




